

Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology

Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021 September 2021

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İşman Editor-in-Chief

Editors

Prof. Dr. Jerry WILLIS - ST John Fisher University in Rochester, USA Prof. Dr. J. Ana Donaldson - AECT President Professor Emerita Dr. Teresa FRANKLIN – Ohio University, Athens Assoc.Prof.Dr. Fahme DABAJ - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. İrfan Şimşek – Istanbul University – Cerrahpaşa, Turkey

Associate Editors Assoc. Prof. Dr. Amirul MUKMININ – Universitas Jambi, Indonesia Assoc. Prof. Dr. Aylin Tutkun ÜNAL - Uskudar University - Turkey





THE TURKISH ONLINE JOURNAL OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

September, 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

> Prof. Dr. Aytekin İşman Editor-in-Chief

> > **Editors**

Prof.Dr. Jerry Willis Prof.Dr. J. Ana Donaldson Professor Emerita Dr. Teresa Franklin Assoc.Prof.Dr. Fahme Dabaj Assoc.Prof.Dr. İrfan Şimşek

Associate Editors Assoc.Prof.Dr. Amirul Mukminin Assoc.Prof.Dr. Aylin Tutkun Ünal

ISSN: 2146 - 7242

Indexed by Education Resources Information Center – **ERIC**



Copyright © THE TURKISH ONLINE JOURNAL OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

All rights reserved. No part of TOJET's articles may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrival system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Published in TURKEY

Contact Address: Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN TOJET, Editor in Chief Sakarya-Turkey



Message from the Editor-in-Chief

Dear Colleagues,

We are very pleased to publish a Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021 conferences. These papers are about different research scopes and approaches of new developments and innovation in educational technology, teacher education and distance education. Call for Papers TOJET invites you article contributions.

Submitted articles should be about all aspects of educational technology. The articles should be original, unpublished, and not in consideration for publication elsewhere at the time of submission to TOJET. Manuscripts must be submitted in English. TOJET is guided by its editors, guest editors and advisory boards. If you are interested in contributing to TOJET as an author, guest editor or reviewer, please send your CV to tojet.editor@gmail.com.

September 2021 Prof. Dr. Aytekin ISMAN Sakarya University



Editorial Board

Editor in Chief

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İşman - Sakarya University, Turkey

Editors

Prof. Dr. Jerry Willis - ST John Fisher University in Rochester, USA Prof. Dr. J. Ana Donaldson - AECT President Professor Emerita Dr. Teresa Franklin - The Gladys W. and David H. Patton College of Education, Ohio University, Athens Assoc.Prof.Dr. Fahme Dabaj - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. İrfan Şimşek - Istanbul University - Cerrahpaşa, Turkey

Associate Editor

Assoc.Prof.Dr. Amirul Mukminin, Universitas Jambi, Indonesia

Editorial Board

Prof.Dr. Abdullah Kuzu - Turkey Prof.Dr. Adile Aşkım Kurt - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ahmet ESKICUMALI Prof.Dr. Ahmet Zeki Saka - Karadeniz Technical University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Akif Ergin - Başkent University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ali Al Mazari - Alfaisal University, Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Prof.Dr. Ali Ekrem Özkul - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Anela Nikčević-Milković - University of Zadar, Croatia Prof.Dr. Anil P. Gaikwad - Yashwantrao Chavan Maharashtra Open University, India Prof.Dr. Antoinette J. Muntjewerff - University of Amsterdam Prof.Dr. Arif Altun - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Arvind Singhal - University of Texas, USA Prof.Dr. Asaf Varol - Fırat University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Aytaç Göğüş - Okan University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Aytekin İşman - Sakarya University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Bashar H. Malkawi - University of Sharjah, Sharjah Prof.Dr. Brent G. Wilson - University of Colorado at Denver, USA Prof.Dr. Buket Akkoyunlu - Çankaya University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Carmencita L. Castolo - Polytechnic University of the Philippines, Philippines Prof.Dr. Cengiz Hakan Aydın - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Chang-Shing Lee - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Charlotte N. (Lani) Gunawardena - University of New Mexico, USA Prof.Dr. Chi - Jui Lien - National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Chih - Kai Chang - National University of Taiwan, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Chin-Min Hsiung - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Colin Latchem - Open Learning Consultant, Australia Prof.Dr. Colleen Sexton - Governor State University, USA Prof.Dr. Demetrios G. Sampson - University of Piraeus, Greece Prof.Dr. Dimiter G. Velev - University of National and World Economy, Bulgaria Prof.Dr. Don M. Flournoy - Ohio University, USA Prof.Dr. Dongsik Kim - Hanyang University, South Korea Prof.Dr. Emine Demiray - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Enver Tahir Rıza - Dokuz Eylül University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Eralp Altun - Ege University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Erkan Tekinarslan. Bolu Abant Izzet Baysal University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Fahriye Altinay - Near East University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Feng-chiao Chung - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Ferhan Odabaşı - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Finland Cheng - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Fong Soon Fook - Uniiversiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia Prof.Dr. Francine Shuchat Shaw - New York University, USA



Prof.Dr. Gwo - Dong Chen - National Central University Chung - Li, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Hafize Keser - Ankara University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Halil İbrahim Yalın - Cyprus International University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Hasan KARAL - Trabzon University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Heli Ruokamo - University of Lapland, Finland Prof.Dr. Henry H.H. Chen - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Hüseyin Yaratan - Cyprus International University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Ing. Giovanni Adorni - University of Genova, Italy Prof.Dr. Işıl Kabakcı - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. İsmail İpek - Istanbul Aydın University, Turkey Prof.Dr. J. Ana Donaldson - Former AECT President Prof.Dr. J. Michael Spector - University of North Texas, USA Prof.Dr. Jerry Willis - ST John Fisher University in Rochester, USA Prof.Dr. Jie-Chi Yang - National central university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Kinshuk - Athabasca University, Canada Prof.Dr. Kiyoshi Nakabayashi - Chiba Institute of Technology, Japan Prof.Dr. Kumiko Aoki - The Open University of Japan, Japan Prof.Dr. Kuo - En Chang - National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Kuo - Hung Tseng - Meiho Institute of Technology, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Kuo - Robert Lai - Yuan - Ze University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Liu Meifeng - Beijing Normal University, China Prof.Dr. Manoj Kumar Saxena - Central University of Himachal Pradesh, Dharamshala, Kangra, India Prof.Dr. Marina Stock Mcisaac - Arizona State University, USA Prof.Dr. Mehmet Ali Dikermen - Middlesex University, UK Prof.Dr. Mehmet Çağlar - Near East University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Mehmet Gürol - Yıldız Technical University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mehmet Kesim - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mei-Mei Chang - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Melissa Hui-Mei Fan - National central university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Min Jou - National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Ming - Puu Chen - National Taiwan Normal University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Murat Ataizi - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Murat Barkan - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mustafa Murat Inceoğlu - Ege University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Mustafa Şahin Dündar - Sakarya University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Nabi Bux Jumani - International Islamic University, Pakistan Prof.Dr. Nian - Shing Chen - National Sun Yat - Sen University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Paul Gibbs - Middlesex University, UK Prof.Dr. Petek Askar - Hacettepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Ramdane Younsi - Ecole polytechnique de Montreal, Canada Prof.Dr. Roger Hartley - University of Leeds, UK Prof.Dr. Rozhan Hj. Mohammed Idrus - Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia Prof.Dr. Rüçhan Gökdağ - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Saedah Siraj - University of Malaya, Malaysia Prof.Dr. Sello Mokoena - University of South Africa, South Africa Prof.Dr. Selma Koç - Cleveland State University, Cleveland Prof.Dr. Servet Bayram - Yeditepe University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Shan - Ju Lin - National Taiwan University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Sheng Quan Yu - Beijing Normal University, China Prof.Dr. Shi-Jer Lou - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Shu - Sheng Liaw - China Medical University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Shu-Hsuan Chang - National Changhua University of Education, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Stefan Aufenanger - University of Mainz, Germany Prof.Dr. Stephen Harmon - Georgia State University, USA Prof.Dr. Stephen J.H. Yang - National Central University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Sun Fuwan - China Open University, China Prof.Dr. Sunny S.J. Lin - National Chiao Tung University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Teressa Franklin - Ohio University, USA Prof.Dr. Toshio Okamoto - University of Electro - Communications, Japan

Prof.Dr. Toshiyuki Yamamoto - Japan



Prof.Dr. Tzu - Chien Liu - National Central University, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Vaseudev D.Kulkarni - Hutatma Rajjguru College, Rajguruunagar(Pune),(M.S.) INDIA Prof.Dr. Xibin Han - Tsinghua University, China Prof.Dr. Yalın Kılıç Türel - Fırat University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Yau Hon Keung - City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Prof Dr. Yavuz Akbulut - Anadolu University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Yavuz Akpinar - Boğaziçi University, Turkey Prof.Dr. Zehra Altınay - Near East University, TRNC Prof.Dr. Yen-Hsyang Chu - National central university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Yuan - Chen Liu - National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Yuan-Kuang Guu - National pingtung university, Taiwan Prof.Dr. Young-Kyung Min - University of Washington, USA Assoc.Prof.Dr. Aijaz Ahmed Gujjar - Sindh Madressatul Islam University, Pakistan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Amirul Mukminin - Universitas Jambi - Indonesia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Anupriya Jain - Manav Rachna International Institute of Research & Studies, India Assoc.Prof.Dr. Anita G. Welch - Ball State University, USA Assoc.Prof.Dr. Betul Ozkan Czerkawski, University of Arizona, Educational Technology Department, USA Assoc.Prof.Dr. Chen - Chung Liu - National Central University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Cheng - Huang Yen - National Open University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ching - fan Chen - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ching Hui Alice Chen - Ming Chuan University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Chiung - sui Chang - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Danguole Rutkauskiene - Kauno Technology University, Lietvenia Assoc.Prof.Dr. David Tawei Ku - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Devrim Akgündüz - İstanbul Aydın Üniversitesi, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Emete Gerçel - Near East University, TRNC Assoc.Prof.Dr. Eric Meng - National pingtung university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Eric Zhi Feng Liu - National central university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ezendu Ariwa - London Metropolitan University, U.K. Assoc.Prof.Dr. Fahad N. AlFahad - King Saud University Assoc.Prof.Dr. Gökhan Dağhan - Hacettepe University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Gurnam Kaur Sidhu - Universiti Teknologi MARA, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hao - Chiang Lin - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hasan Çalışkan - Anadolu University, Turkey Assoc.Prof.Dr. Hsin - Chih Lin - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Huey - Ching Jih - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Huichen Zhao - School of Education, Henan University, China Assoc.Prof.Dr. I - Wen Huang - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. I Tsun Chiang - National Changhua University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ian Sanders - University of the Witwatersrand, Johannesburg Assoc.Prof.Dr. Jana Birova - Comenius University in Bratislava, Slovakia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Jie - Chi Yang - National Central University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. John I-Tsun Chiang - National Changhua University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ju - Ling Shih - National University of Taiwan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Koong Lin - National University of Tainan, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Kuo - Chang Ting - Ming - HSIN University of Science and Technology, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Kuo - Liang Ou - National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Lan Li - Bowling Green State University, USA Assoc.Prof.Dr. Larysa M. Mytsyk - Gogol State University, Ukraine Assoc.Prof.Dr. Laura Giraldi - Università degli studi di Firenze, Italy Assoc.Prof.Dr. Li - An Ho - Tamkang University, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Li Yawan - China Open University, China Assoc.Prof.Dr. Mike Joy - University of Warwick, UK Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ming-Charng Jeng - National pingtung university, Taiwan Assoc.Prof.Dr. Norazah Mohd Suki - Universiti Malaysia Sabah, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Normaliza Abd Rahim - Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia Assoc.Prof.Dr. Noushad Husain - Maulana Azad National Urdu University, Hyderabad Assoc.Prof.Dr. Omid Noroozi - Wageningen University and Research, The Netherlands

Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ping - Kuen Chen - National Defense University, Taiwan



Assoc.Prof.Dr. Popat S. Tambade - Prof. Ramkrishna More College, India

- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Prakash Khanale Dnyanopasak College, INDIA
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Pramela Krish Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Seçil Kaya Anadolu University, Turkey
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Tzu Hua Wang National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Vincent Ru-Chu Shih National Pingtung University of Science and Technology, Taiwan
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Wu Yuin Hwang National Central University, Taiwan
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Ya-Ling Wu National pingtung university, Taiwan
- Assoc.Prof Dr. Yahya O Mohamed Elhadj AL Imam Muhammad Ibn Saud University, Saudi Arabia
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Zhi Feng Liu National Central University, Taiwan
- Assoc.Prof.Dr. Zülfü Genç Fırat University, Turkey
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Aaron L. Davenport Grand View College, USA
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Ali Abdalrhman Al Zebidi Al-Qunfudah University College, Saudi Arabia
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Alper Beyazıt Yeditepe University, Turkey
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Andreja Istenic Starcic University of Primorska, Slovenija
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Burçin Kısa Işık Gaziantep University, Turkey
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Chiu Pin Lin National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Chun Ping Wu Tamkang University, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Chun Yi Shen Tamkang University, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Chung-Yuan Hsu National pingtung university, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Dale Havill Dhofar University, Sultanate of Oman
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Dhaifallah S. Alsuhaymi Imam Abdulrahman bin Faisal University, Saudi Arabia
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Guan Ze Liao National Hsinchu University of Education, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Hsiang chin hsiao Shih Chien University, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Huei Tse Hou National Taiwan University of Science and Technology, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Jagannath. K Dange Kuvempu University, India
- Assist.Prof.Dr. K. B. Praveena University of Mysore, India
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Kanvaria Vinod Kumar University of Delhi, India
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Lotfi Salhi University of Gafsa, Tunisia
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Marko Radovan University of Ljubljana, Slovenia
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Min-Hsien Lee National central university, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Mohammad Akram Mohammad Al-Zu'bi Jordan Al Balqa Applied University, Jordan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Pamela Ewell Central College of IOWA, USA
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Pei-Hsuan Hsieh National Cheng Kung University, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Pey-Yan Liou National central university, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Phaik Kin, Cheah Universiti Tunku Abdul Rahman, Kampar, Perak
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Ping Yeh Tsai Tamkang University, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. S. Arulchelvan Anna University, India
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Sunil Kumar National Institute of Technology, India
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Tsung Yen Chuang National University of Taiwan, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Vahid Motamedi Tarbiat Moallem University, Iran
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Wong Kung Teck Sultan Idris Education University, Malaysia
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Yasin Aslan Sinap University, Turkey
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Yu Ju Lan National Taipei University of Education, Taiwan
- Assist.Prof.Dr. Zerrin Ayvaz Reis İstanbul University, Turkey
- Dr. Arnaud P. Prevot Forest Ridge School of the Sacred Heart, USA
- Dr. Balakrishnan Muniandy Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. Brendan Tangney Trinity College, Ireland
- Dr. Chan Shiau Wei Universiti Tun Hussein Onn Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. Chen Haishan China Open University, China
- Dr. Chin Hai Leng University of Malaya, Malaysia
- Dr. Chin Yeh Wang National Central University, Taiwan
- Dr. Chun Hsiang Chen National Central University, Taiwan
- Dr. Chun Hung Lin National Central University, Taiwan
- Dr. Danielle Aming Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University, USA
- Dr. Esra Telli Hacettepe University, Turkey
- Dr. Fairus Kamaruzaman Universiti Teknologi Mara, Malaysia
- Dr. Farrah Dina Yusop University of Malaya, Malaysia



- Dr. Fatma Bayrak Hacettepe University, Turkey
- Dr. Gökhan Akçapınar Hacettepe University, Turkey
- Dr. Hj. Issham Ismail Universiti Sains Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. Hj. Mohd Arif Hj. Ismail National University of Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. I-Hen Tsai National University of Tainan, Taiwan
- Dr. Jarkko Suhonen University of Eastern Finland, Finland
- Dr. Li Ying China Open University, China
- Dr. Milani M. Austria Casa College, Cyprus
- Dr. Mohammad Mozammel Haque International Islamic University Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. Noraini Nasirun Universiti Teknologi Mara Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. Norlidah Alias University of Malaya, Malaysia
- Dr. Pınar Nuhoğlu Hacettepe University, Turkey
- Dr. Rosnaini Mahmud Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia
- Dr. Sachin Sharma Faridabad Institute of Technology, Faridabad
- Dr. Seetharam Chittoor Jhansi Pushpa Navnit Shah Centre for Lifelong Learning, India
- Dr. Tam Shu Sim University of Malaya, Malaysia
- Dr. Tiong Goh Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand
- Dr. Vikrant Mishra Shivalik College of Education, India
- Dr. Zahra Naimie University of Malaya, Malaysia



Table of Contents

An Investigation into the Pre-Service Science Teachers' Material Design Skills and Attitudes towards the Course and Views <i>Emre YILDIZ, Nesrin ÜRÜN ARICI</i>	1
Covid-19 Educational Technologies in the Pandemic Era Hande ORTAY	10
Determination of the Leisure Time Satisfaction Status of Active Athletes Using the Sports Center Figen Yaman LESINGER, Azmiye YINAL, Aytekin İŞMAN	19
Evaluation of the Electronic Applications Used in the Turkish Education System in the Context of School Administration <i>Abdullah BALIKÇI</i>	28
Generic Competences at University. An Innovative Curricular Subject Proposal for their Development Paula CRESPÍ	42
Information Technology Teachers' Views on the Use of Tinkercad Selami ERYILMAZ, Gülhanım DENİZ	47
Instructors' Views on Distance Education during the Pandemic Period Betül ÖZAYDIN ÖZKARA	58
Learner Autonomy in an Asynchronous Distance Education Environment Implemented through Frequent Instructor-Involvement Sevim GÜNEŞ	70
Long-Term Effects on the Self-Perception of Biology Teachers about their Pedagogical Technological Content Knowledge (Tpack) Produced by an Online Teacher Development Program Daniel Fábio SALVADOR, Luiz Gustavo Ribeiro ROLANDO, Roberta Flavia Ribeiro Rolando VASCONCELLOS, Mauricio Roberto Motta Pinto Da LUZ	80
Mobile Learning Motivation and Mobile Self-Efficacy of Pre-Service Teachers Kübra OKUMUŞ DAĞDELER, Burak DELİCAN	91
Secondary School Teachers' and Students' Attitudes towards the Use of Interactive Whiteboard in EFL Classrooms Hasret ÇEKİCİ, Ayfer SU-BERGİL	104
Self-Regulation in Obligatory Online Education: A Discussion from Social Interaction Perspective <i>Nuray OKUMUS CEYLAN</i>	117
Teachers' Self-Efficacy in terms of Former Experience and Professional Development in the Turkish World Based on Talis 2018 Data: Sample of Turkey and Kazakhstan <i>Volkan Hasan KAYA</i>	125
The Adaptation of the Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) into Turkish: Validity and Reliability Studies Aylin TUTGUN ÜNAL, Nevzat TARHAN, Patrizia MURADİ, Ayşe Sena KURT	133
The Complex Image of Turkey on Chinese Media: Through the Lens of Xinhua News Agency Austin AO	147
The Effectiveness of Blended Learning on Students Achievement at SQU Mohamed E. AMMAR, Ali S. Al MUSAWI	155
The Evaluation of Hong Kong Students' Perception of Online Teaching Practice in Higher Education <i>Hon Keung YAU, Chung To AU</i>	162



What He Would Say if ... Silvio MORGANTI, Verena ZUDINI



An Investigation into the Pre-Service Science Teachers' Material Design Skills and Attitudes towards the Course and Views

Emre YILDIZ

Department of Science Education, Atatürk University, Turkey emre.yildiz@atauni.edu.tr

Nesrin ÜRÜN ARICI¹

Department of Science Education, Atatürk University, Turkey nurunarici@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to examine the effect of visual and digital materials designed within the scope of the Instructional Technologies and Material Design course on pre-service science teachers' attitudes towards the course and to determine the material design skills and their views on material design. In this study, tcase study was adopted, and the participant group was composed of 48 pre-service science teachers studying at a state university. In the research, the Attitude Scale towards Instructional Technologies and Material Design Course, material design assessment rubrics, and semi-structured interviews were used as data collection tools. The data are currently in the analysis phase and the dependent groups' t-test, descriptive statistics, and content analysis are used. As a result of the research, it was determined that the application of the cooperative material development was significantly effective in improving the attitudes of pre-service teachers towards the course. It was determined that the design scores of the teacher candidates are at a good level. Pre-service teachers think that the designs have positive aspects such as instructing, introducing different applications, developing imagination, entertaining, concretizing, providing permanent learning, motivating, and supporting professional development.

Keywords: Online education, digital learning, material design skills, pre-service science teachers, attitude, perception.

INTRODUCTION

Education teaching programs aim at raising individuals who are investigating, questioning, able to apply what they have learned to the problems encountered in daily life, producing effective solutions to problems, and structuring information (Aydoğdu, et al., 2019). Especially today, the teachers are effective in raising these individuals and in the process of behavior change. It is more important to provide these qualifications for the teachers during preservice undergraduate education rather than they are on the job (Gökbulut, Keserci & Akyüz, 2021). Therefore, pre-service teachers need to provide some skills in terms of their professional development. Thus, pre-service science teachers have the necessary knowledge and competencies related to their fields. In addition, their selfefficacy beliefs towards the teaching profession increase, they develop a positive attitude towards the profession. It helps them gain high-level skills such as creativity skills required by the teaching profession (Bakaç & Özen, 2016). One of the skills that pre-service teachers need to learn is to design materials suitable for the content of the course. Because of this, materials are important in science education to facilitate learning by visualizing concepts, performing them in a meaningful way, and helping the individual learn meaningfully (Gülen & Demirkuş, 2014). It has features such as stimuli in the classroom environment, shortening the time spent in teaching, reinforcing the knowledge, and making the knowledge permanent (Sahin, 2016). The materials may be visually, audibly, and digitally used by the course content. Also, the use of visual and digital materials in the education process is an important element that supports learning, accelerates learning, ensures the permanence of what has been learned, and makes the learning-teaching process more interesting (Duman, 2013). However, materials prepared in a digital environment may be more remarkable than other materials. Moreover, most studies in the literature show that digital learning materials are more effective in attracting and directing attention than non-digital learning materials (Coşkun & Alper, 2019). Digital materials are instructional materials that provide students with the opportunity to learn more than once and learn outside of school at their learning pace. It has also been thought of as a tool for online or offline learning activity through wired or wireless networks (Anttila, et al., ., 2012; Lin & Chen, 2017). In addition, they are the materials that provide the opportunity to teach by visualizing experimental studies that can cause dangerous results when brought to the classroom environment or when real models are not available (Lee, 2012; Ministry of Education, 2018; Sahin, 2016). While these materials are used during lectures, digital learning environments supported by diagrams help students to construct knowledge (Huang et al., 2012). It is possible to come across many studies in the literature about the materials used in the lessons. In these studies,

¹ Corresponding author



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

mostly branch teachers and pre-service teachers' perceptions, attitudes, competencies, usage levels, as well as the level of acceptance of technology in education were investigated (Gökbulut, Keserci & Akyüz, 2021; Instefjord & Munthe, 2017; Kabaran, 2020; Koray Gümüşoğlu, Akay, 2017; Mercado & Ibarra, 2019; Soydan, 2018; Şad, Açıkgül & Delican, 2015; Teo, Ursavaş & Bahçekapili, 2012; Yurdakul, 2011; Wang, Ertmer, & Newby, 2004). As a result, it has been determined that the use of materials generally has positive effects on students, as well as teachers and pre-service teachers have positive perceptions and attitudes toward the use of materials. In addition, there are teachers' opinions that digital materials should be used in education. Moreover, pre-service teachers stated that designing material increased their self-efficacy. They saw themselves at a sufficient level, and they were willing to design. In some studies, to be said that pre-service teachers are moderately competent in material design (Gökbulut, Keserci & Akyüz, 2021; Yurdakul, 2011). However, in some studies, it has been stated that they do not have adequate equipment for material design, and they have problems about designs (Brinkerhoff, 2006; Dursun Sarıtepeci, Durak & Seferoğlu, 2016). Therefore, there is a need to train pre-service teachers on digital content creation, Reisoğlu & Çebi, (2020), and material design (Keser & Çetinkaya, 2013). Because it is to increase the need for teachers day by day to improve the digital competencies of the students studying in the Ministry of Education, and it is to use digital technologies effectively in the learning-teaching process (Redecker, 2017). For pre-service teachers to be actively involved in digital societies, they need to be equipped with digital competencies as well as their pedagogical competencies in their professional careers (Instefjord & Munthe, 2017; Soydan, 2018). Because, in terms of both pedagogical and technical, the field of digital teaching is rapidly changing and developing (Cai, Fan & Du, 2017; Lin & Chen, 2017). In addition, it can be said that digitalization is the most in contact with life, and its effects are felt the most (Parlak, 2017).

In other words, the importance of digital competencies of educators comes from the rapid spread of digital learning. This situation increases the importance of digital materials (Gökbulut, Keserci & Akyüz, (2021; Sarıtaş & Barutçu, 2020). Accordingly, there is a need for digital educators who can integrate technology into education in the digital age (Ally, 2019). This situation makes it a necessity for pre-service teachers to have the skills to integrate technology into education (Duncan, 2010; Lin & Chen, 2017; Holzberger, Philipp & Kunter, 2013). Therefore, higher education teacher education programs make it necessary to help pre-service teachers develop their material design skills for digital learning (Becker et al., 2018; Bower, et al., 2013). In addition, there are targets for teachers in the Ministry of Education 2023 education vision. Among these goals, there is the training of teachers who have acquired a culture that using and developing digital content effectively, ensuring this culture is widespread in schools, associating digital materials with printed materials, and ensuring that digital materials are used as main teaching materials (Ministry of Education, 2018). Therefore, it is important to train teachers, because teachers, who have an important role in students' learning, need to be able to use technology effectively and integrate it effectively with teaching activities. In addition, it is considered important in terms of increasing the effectiveness of teaching and raising individuals who can use technology effectively as required by age (Kabaran, 2020). The Instructional Technologies and Material Design (ITMD) course partically provides these competencies to preservice teachers. In addition, pre-service teachers can design creative materials in groups and individually and improve students' creative thinking skills in this course (Yanpar, 2019).

Considering all these situations, this research aimed to examine the effects of visual and digital materials designed within the scope of Instructional Technologies and Material Design course on the attitudes of pre-service science teachers towards the course and to determine their material design skills and their views on material design. This study aims to find out answers to the following research questions:

- 1. What is the effect of pre-service science teachers' material designs on their attitudes?
- 2. What are the views of pre-service science teachers on material design?
- 3. What is the level of pre-service science teachers' ability to transfer their design skills to their designs?

METHOD

Research Design

In this study, a case study, one of the qualitative research designs, was used as it is the most appropriate approach to determine the effect of cooperative material design applications on pre-service science teachers' attitudes towards the course, material design skills, and opinions of material design. It is stated that case studies are suitable for research in the field of education since educational processes involve multiple situations or variables (Meriam, 2009). A case study is a method in which one or more situations, groups, events, or interconnected systems are studied in detail (Glesne, 2011; McMillan, 2000).

Participants

The participant group of the research consists of 48 third-year pre-service science teachers studying at a state university. The appropriate sampling method was used to include pre-service teachers in the study. This sampling method is an economical sampling method in terms of time, cost, and labor in which the researcher chooses a



situation that is close and easy to access (Büyüköztürk et al., 2015).

Data Collection Tools

Attitude Scale Towards Instructional Technologies and Material Design Course

The Attitude Scale towards Instructional Technologies and Material Design Course used in the research was developed by Çetin, Bahçeci, Kinay, and Şimşek (2013). The first group, in which the construct validity, internal consistency reliability, and item analysis studies of the scale were carried out, consisted of 358 students, the second group in which the concordance validity study was conducted, 79, and the third group, in which the test-retest reliability study was conducted, consisting of 106 students. In the concordance validity studies, the Attitude Scale towards Instructional Technologies developed by Metin, Kaleli Yılmaz, Coşkun, and Birişçi (2012) was used. Explanatory Factor Analysis and Confirmatory Factor Analysis were performed for construct validity studies. The calculated internal consistency Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient was between .94 for the whole scale and between .78 and .95 for the sub-dimensions of the scale; test-retest reliability was calculated between .90 for the whole scale and between .76 and .88 for the sub-dimensions of the scale. The scale consists of 33 items and the maximum score that can be taken from the scale is 165 and the minimum score is 33. For this study, confirmatory factor analysis was performed in validity studies and it was determined that the goodness of fit indices was within the desired range. The Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient for this study was calculated as .93. It was calculated as .99 for the usefulness sub-dimension, .95 for the liking sub-dimension, and .97 for the denial sub-dimension of the scale.

Material Design Assessment Rubrics

In the evaluation of material designs, material evaluation rubrics created by considering the existing material evaluation rubrics in the literature were used. When the rubrics were created, they were first presented to the opinion of the science field experts who conducted the material course. As a result of the opinions of two field experts, it was determined that several criteria should be adjusted. The criteria were adjusted as suggested by the experts. The evaluation of 10 materials previously developed using rubrics was carried out by two researchers independently of each other. The correlation between the evaluation results of the two researchers was examined and it was determined that there was a high level of positive correlation. The rubrics consist of 25 items in the form of a quadruple rating. The maximum score that can be obtained is 100 and the minimum score is 25.

Semi-Structured Interview

A semi-structured interview form was used to determine the opinions of pre-service teachers about the material, and digital material design collaboratively. Interview questions were prepared and presented to the opinion of two field experts. In line with expert opinions, it determined that it can use the interview questions as they formed. A pilot study was conducted with two pre-service teachers who had taken the course before. As a result of the analysis of the data obtained from the pilot application, it was determined that the questions were clear, and understandable. The interview form was presented to the pre-service teachers in the online environment and the opinions were taken online again. Before the answers were evaluated, the response time of the pre-service teachers for each question was examined.

Analysis of Data

In the analysis of the data obtained from the attitude scale towards the course, firstly, the normality values were examined. In the analysis of normality values, kurtosis-skewness coefficients, measures of central tendency, and Shapiro-Wilk test results were taken into account. Since the data provided the assumption of parametric tests, dependent groups t-test analysis was used in the analyses. Descriptive statistics (minimum-maximum values, mean, median, and standard deviation) were used in the analysis of data obtained from material design evaluation rubrics. SPSS 22 program was used in the analysis of quantitative data and the significance value was accepted as .05.

Content analysis was used in the analysis of the researcher's notes about the evaluations and the views of the preservice teachers about the designs. The data were analyzed independently by two researchers. The percentage of agreement between the analyzes of the two researchers was calculated with the Miles Huberman formula. The percentage of agreement for the researcher's notes was 79%, and the percentage of agreement for the opinions of the teacher candidates was calculated as 76%. It can be said that reliability is achieved if the compliance percentages are 70% or more (Miles & Huberman, 1994).

Application

The applications within the scope of the course were completed in eight weeks in the online environment. Preservice teachers were divided into heterogeneous groups of three, taking into account the variables of attitude towards the course, gender, and academic achievement. An explanation was given about cooperative work, material, and digital material design processes. Material design forms and evaluation criteria were shared with the



teacher candidates. The platform provided by the university where they can carry out their online cooperative work, Zoom, and Google Classroom, information about the applications. During the process, each group made two designs, one material, and one digital material. They came together on their chosen online platform to plan and realize the designs. Researchers were informed about this issue and participation links were shared. Researchers participated in the activities as observers at any time of the study and observed the collaborative working situations of pre-service teachers. The groups gathered and took the records of each meeting they worked on and shared them with the researchers. Groups were required to implement their digital materials but were not required to implement the design for the material (as they did not have the opportunity to come together in a real environment and create the material in three dimensions). Web 2.0 tools such as Canva, Coggle, Edpuzzle, Kahoot, Storyboardthat, Thinglink, Popplet, Scratch were used in the design of digital materials. The groups prepared the design forms for their designs in the desired format and shared them with the researchers the day before the material was presented. Researchers made a preliminary evaluation by examining the form. Each group was given one lesson hour (50 minutes) for the presentation of material designs. Presentation dates were determined by the researchers and if the group made its first presentation in the first week, it was planned to make its second presentation in the last week. During the presentations, the researchers continued their evaluations. Evaluations were carried out independently of each other and rubrics were used. In addition, the researcher notes about the evaluations were taken.

FINDINGS

Table 1 shows the results of the dependent groups' t-test analysis conducted for the first research question in which the effect of cooperative material design application on pre-service teachers' attitudes towards the course.

Sub-	Measurements	N	X	sd	df	t	p^*	
dimensions								
Usefulness	Pretest	48	41.27	13.82	17	19 765	000	
	Posttest	48	69.00	12.35	47	-16.203	.000	
Liking	Pretest	48	26.02	7.33	47	24 674	24 674	000
	Posttest	48	34.29	7.20	47	-24.074	.000	
Denial	Pretest	48	20.21	5.53	17	2 459	019	
	Posttest	48	22.25	5.82	47	-2.436	.018	
Total	Pretest	48	87.50	17.12	17	24 611	000	
	Posttest	48	125.54	16.39	4/	-24.011	.000	

Table 1: Dependent groups t-test analysis results of pre-service teachers' attitudes towards the course

According to the analysis results given in Table 1, the usefulness (t(47)=-18.265; p<.05; η^2 =.95), liking (t(47)=-24.674; p<.05; η^2 =.93) and denial (t(47)=-2.458; p<.05; η^2 =.11) and general attitudes (t(47)=-24.611; p<.05; η^2 =.93) was found to be statistically significant in increasing. The calculated eta-square effect sizes are classified as very large effects for the usefulness and liking sub-dimensions and general attitude, while they are classified as medium effects for the denial sub-dimension (Cohen, 1988). According to this, it can be said that the variability observed in the attitudes of the pre-service teachers towards the course is 95% for the usefulness sub-dimension, 93% for the liking sub-dimension, 11% for the denial sub-dimension, and generally 93% due to the collaborative material development practices.

The analysis results of the design scores of the pre-service teachers are given in Table 2.

Table 2: Analysis results of pre-service teachers' design scores								
Design Type	Min	Max	Median	Х	Sd			
Materiel	54.00	90.00	78.50	77.02	10.38			
Digital	37.00	97.00	73.50	74.50	19.86			
Material								

As can be seen from the analysis results given in Table 2, it was determined that the minimum design score of the pre-service teachers was 54.00 for material and 37.00 for digital material, and the maximum design score was 90.00 for material and 97.00 for digital material. It can be said that the material (X=77.02, sd=10.38) and digital material (X=74.50, sd=19.86) design scores of the teacher candidates are at a good level.

The results of the content analysis of the evaluations of the designs made by the pre-service teachers are given in Table 3.



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

Theme	Code	Material	Digital Material
		\mathbf{f}^*	f^*
Situations That Are	Enjoyable	12	8
Good In Designs	Suitable for subject content	11	6
	More visual	-	6
	Permanent	-	6
	Remarkable	10	3
	Easy to apply	8	5
	Highly educative	4	1
	Original	4	4
	Associated with daily life	4	2
	Truthful	3	1
	Concretizing abstract concents	3	1
	Concretizing abstract concepts	-	5
	suitable for student level	2	1
	Competitive	2	
	Intriguing	2	1
	Can be used in different stages	1	-
	_		
	Suitable for students of different levels	1	-
	Updatable	1	-
	Emphasis is used correctly	1	1
	Rich in content		3
Total		66	51
Situations That Need	Not relevant to the subject	3	4
Improvement In	A and in a final an analy	2	4
Designs	Application is not enough	2	4
	Not original	2	-
	Not remarkable	2	-
	Language is not clear	1	-
Total		10	8

Table 3: Content analysis results of the evaluations of the designs made by the pre-service teachers

*Researchers have expressed more than one opinion.

According to the results of the analysis given in Table 3, it was determined that the materials designed by the preservice teachers were fun, suitable for the subject content, remarkable, and easy to apply. It was determined that the digital materials designed by the pre-service teachers were fun, suitable for the subject content, visual, permanent, and easy to apply. It has been determined that teacher candidates' designs should be developed in terms of suitability for the subject and inadequacy of implementation.

The analysis results of pre-service teachers' views on designs are given in Table 4.

 Table 4: Analysis results of pre-service teachers' views on designs

Theme	Code	f^*
Positive Aspects of Design	Instructive	16
	Introduce the different applications	15
	Developing the imagination	14
	Enjoyable	12
	Concretization	11
	Ensuring permanent learning	11
	Motivate	10
	Support professional development	10
	Developing communication skills	9
	Providing active learning	9



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

	Introduce different materials	8
	Increase self-confidence	6
	Ensuring responsibility	5
	Increase the interest in technology	5
Total		141
Aspects of Designs that Need	Difficulty of working online	10
to be Improved	Connection problems	6
-	Lack of theoretical knowledge	5
	More studies	4
	Scarcity of programs	4
	Inability to determine common time	4
	Difficulty using the program	3
	Less lesson time	3
	Problems in group work	3
	Insufficient computer knowledge	2
	Materials are not original	2
	Not feeling enough	1
	Insufficient foreign language	1
	knowledge	
	Inability to generate creative ideas	1
	No need to improve	8
Total	•	57

* Pre-service teachers expressed more than one opinion.

According to the results of the analysis given in Table 4, pre-service teachers think that the designs have positive aspects such as instructing, offering different applications, developing imagination, entertaining, concretizing, providing permanent learning, motivating, and supporting professional development. It was determined that the prospective teachers thought that the aspects of the designs such as the difficulty of working online, connection problems, and insufficient theoretical knowledge should be improved.

CONCLUSIONS

As a result of the evaluation of pre-service science teachers' material design skills, attitudes, and opinions towards the course, the following has been reached:

The result showed that material design applications by collaboration increase the attitudes of pre-service science teachers such as usefulness and enjoyment. In addition, it has been revealed that the sub-dimensions of usefulness and enjoyment greatly affect their general attitudes. This result is similar to other studies (Bakaç & Özen, 2016; Güneş & İskenderoğlu, 2014; Metin, et al., 2012). However, the denial sub-dimension had a moderate effect, contrary to the studies of Güneş & İskenderoğlu (2014). One of the reasons for the increase in the usefulness and enjoyment sub-dimensions may be that the lesson was pleasurable and enjoyable for the pre-service science teachers and contributed to their professional development. It may be caused by the fact that pre-service teachers were given tasks that they had rarely encountered before, such as designing three-dimensional material and preparing computer-aided presentations. In the study of Bakaç & Özen, (2016), It was shown that the pre-service classroom and social sciences teachers designed more materials by considering the level of student development to concretize to course, compared to the other pre-service teachers studying in other branches, and this situation had a positive effect on their attitudes towards the ITMD course.

Another result is that , the digital material and non-digital material design scores of the pre-service teachers are at a better level. Due to the fact that when the designs of the pre-service teachers were assessed, it was determined that designed the non-digital materials could be fun, remarkable, and easy to apply. In addition, while the designs of the digital materials were fun, visual, permanent, and easy to apply.

This result is similar to the study (Çelik & Aytin, 2014; Demirkan, 2019; Yordming, 2017) in which pre-service teachers expressed their views on what pre-service teachers found useful, remarkable, and interesting digital teaching materials. However, when the designs were examined, it was determined that they needed to improve situations such as the inadequacy of their application to the subject.

As a result of the opinions of the pre-service teachers about the designs they made in the ITMD course, they stated that the designs had positive aspects that were instructive, offering different applications, developing imagination, entertaining, concretizing, providing permanent learning, motivating and supporting professional development.



This result is in line with the views of (Güneş & İskenderoğlu, 2014; Uzunöz, Aktepe & Gündüz, 2017) that the ITMD course contributes positively to the perspectives of pre-service teachers on educational environments. They stated that the considerable contribution of the ITMD course was to provide them with teaching experience and to gain a sense of teaching. At the same time, it showed that pre-service teachers strongly agree that the ITMD course was beneficial, and they enjoyed this course. However, they also stated that there was difficulty in studying online, they had connection problems, got lack theoretical knowledge, and need to improve.

According to the results of the study, different contributions were made to the collaborative designs of pre-service science teachers within the scope of the ITMD course. Most of these contributions are the gains related to cognitive and affective domains. In other words, besides concretizing the concepts, the materials; contributes to learning by having fun, supporting creative thinking, using it in measurement and evaluation, arousing curiosity, improving visual memory, learning by doing, and increasing motivation (Dere, 2019). However, it is thought that it would be beneficial to allocate more time for pre-service teachers to develop their material design skills and to make practical programs in the ITMD course. In this direction, it is recommended that such practices should be continued, since pre-service teachers present and share their designs in ITMD courses in the classroom environment, making a significant contribution to their professional development. In addition, in the ITMD course, individual applications for preparing 2D, 3D, and digital materials can be made and an environment where they can evaluate the teaching materials together with their friends can be provided. In this way, it can be ensured that the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of teacher candidates towards preparing materials can be improved. In addition, necessary support can be provided for pre-service teachers to implement the materials they have made in the internship schools they attend.

REFERENCES

- Anttila, M., Valimaki, M., Hatonen, H., Luukkaala, T., & Kaila M. (2012). Use of web-based patient education sessions on psychiatric wards. *International Journal of Medical Informatics*, 81(6), 424-433. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2012.02.004
- Bakaç, E., & Özen, R. (2016). The relationship between preservice teachers' attitudes towards instructional technology and material design course, creativity perceptions and self-efficacy beliefs. Abant İzzet Baysal Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.11114/jets.v6i12.3661
- Becker, S. A., Brown, M., Dahlstrom E., Davis, A., DePaul, K., Diaz, V. & Pomerantz, J. (2018). NMC Horizon Report: 2018 Higher Education Edition. CO: EDUCAUS.
 - https://library.educause.edu/~/media/fles/library/2018/8/2018horizonreport.pdf.
- Brinkerhoff, J. (2006). Effects of a long-duration, professional development academy on technology skills, computer self-efficacy, and technology integration beliefs and 202 practices. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 39(1), 22-43. DOI:10.1080/15391523.2006.10782471
- Bower, M., Highfield, K., Furney, P., & Mowbray, L. (2013). Supporting pre-service teachers' technologyenabled learning design thinking through whole of programme transformation. *Educational Media International*, *50*(1), 39-50. https://doi.org/10.1080/09523987.2013.777183
- Cai, Z., Fan, X., & Du, J. (2017). Gender and attitudes toward technology use: A meta-analysis. *Computers & Education*, 105, 1-13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2016.11.003
- Büyüköztürk, Ş., K. Çakmak, E., Akgün, Ö. Erkan, Karadeniz, Ş., & Demirel, F. (2015). *Scientific Research Methods*. Ankara: Pegem A.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Coşkun, T. K., & Alper, A. (2019). Usage of digital learning material in special education. *Ozel Egitim Dergisi*, 20(1), 119-142. DOI: 10.21565/ozelegitimdergisi.423349.
- Çelik, S., & Aytin, K. (2014). Teachers' Views on Digital Educational Tools in English Language Learning: Benefits and Challenges in the Turkish Context. *Tesl-Ej*, 18(2), https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1045127.pdf
- Çetin, B., Bahçeci, B., Kinay, İ., & Şimşek, Ö. (2013). Development of attitudes towards instructional technologies and material development course scale (ATITMDCS): A study of validity and reliability. *International Journal of Social Science*, 6(2), 697-713. DOI: 10.30918/AERJ.92.21.064
- Duman, G. B. (2013). Material development and effective use of materials in teaching Turkish as a foreign language. *Journal of Mother Tongue Education*, *1*(2), 1-8. http://www.anadiliegitimi.com/tr/download/article-file/14868
- Duncan, A. (2010). Teacher preparation: Reforming the uncertain profession. *Education Digest*, 75, 13–22.
- Dursun, Ö. Ö., Kuzu, A., Kurt, A. A., Güllüpinar, F., & Gültekin, M. (2013). Views of school administrators' on FATIH projects pilot implementation process. *Trakya University Journal of Education*, 3(1), 100-113. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/article-file/200367.
- Glesne, C. (2011). Becoming qualitative researchers: An introduction. Boston, MA: Pearson.



- Gökbulut, B., Keserci, G., & Akyüz, A. (2021). Digital material design competencies of academicians working at the faculty of education and teachers. *Journal of Social Sciences and Education*, 4(1), 11-24. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/article-file/1710473
- Gülen, S., & Demirkuş, N. (2014). The effects of visual material on students' achievement in "the solar system and beyond: mystery of space" unit. *YYU Journal Of Education Faculty*, *11*(1), 1-19. https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/download/article-file/146224
- Güneş, G., & İskenderoğlu, T. A. (2014). Attitudes of pre-service primary school mathematics teachers towards instructional technologies and material design lesson. *Journal of Gazi University Gazi Education Faculty*, *34*(3).
- Holzberger, D., Philipp, A., & Kunter, M. (2013). How teachers' self-efficacy is related to instructional quality: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *105*(3), 774.
- Huang, H. S., Chiou, C. C., Chiang, H. K., Lai, S. H., Huang, C. Y., & Chou, Y. Y. (2012). Effects of multidimensional concept maps on fourth graders' learning in web-based computer course. *Computers* and Education, 58, 863-873. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.10.016.
- Instefjord, E. J., & Munthe, E. (2017). Educating digitally competent teachers: A study of integration of professional digital competence in teacher education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 67, 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2017.05.016.
- Kabaran, G., G., (2020). Developing and evaluating the effectiveness an in-service trainings program for digital material design. *Dissertation Thesis, Muğla Sıtkı Koçman University*.
- Koray Gümüşoğlu, E., Akay, E., (2017). Measuring technology acceptance level of teachers by using unified theory of acceptance and use of technology. *Online Submission*, 5(4), 378-394. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED581330.pdf
- Lee, K. (2012). Augmented reality in education and training. TechTrends, 56(2), 13-21. https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s11528-012-0559-3.pdf
- Lin, M. H., & Chen, H. G. (2017). A study of the effects of digital learning on learning motivation and learning outcome. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education*, 13(7), 3553-3564. DOI: 10.12973/eurasia.2017.00744a
- McMillan, J.H. (2000). *Educational research: Fundamentals for the consumer*. USA: Longman. http://educationinpakistan.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/edrefu.pdf
- MEB, (2018). 2023 Education vision.https://2023vizyonu.meb.gov.tr/doc/2023_EGITIM_VIZYONU.pdf
- Mercado, M. G. M., & Ibarra, F. P. (2019). ICT-pedagogy integration in elementary classrooms: Unpacking the pre-service teachers' TPACK. / IRJE/ Indonesian Research Journal in Education/, 29-56. DOI: https://doi.org/10.22437/irje.v3i1.6506
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation. Jossey Bass.
- Metin, M., Yilmaz, G. K., Coskun, K., & Birisci, S. (2012). Developing an attitude scale towards using instructional technologies for pre-service teachers. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET*, 11(1), 36-45. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ976568.pdf
- Metin. M., Kaleli Yilmaz, G., Coşkun, K. & Birişçi, S. (2012). Developing an attitude scale towards using instructional technologies for pre-service teachers. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 11(1), 36-45. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ976568.pdf
- Miles, M. B. & Huberman, A. M. (1994). *Qualitative data analysis: An expande sourcebook*.. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Parlak, B. (2017). Dijital çağda eğitim: Education ın digital age: an analysıs on opportunities and applications. Suleyman Demirel University The Journal of Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, 22(Kayfor 15 Özel Sayısı), 1741-1759. https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/articlefile/1019075
- Redecker, C. (2017). European framework for the digital competence of educators: DigCompEdu. In Y. Punie (Ed.), EUR 28775 EN. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. https://doi.org/10.2760/159770.
- Reisoğlu, İ., ve Çebi, A. (2020). How can the digital competences of pre-service teachers be developed? Examining a case study through the lens of DigComp and DigCompEdu. Computers & Education, 156, 103940. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103940
- Sarıtaş, E., & Barutçu, S. (2020). Digital transformation in education and students' readiness to learn online: A research on Pamukkale University students in the period of pandemic. *Journal of Internet Applications* and Management, 11(1), 5-22. DOI: 10.34231/iuyd.706397.
- Sarıtepeci, M., Durak, H., & Seferoğlu, S. S. (2016). Examination of Teachers' in-Service Training Needs in the Field of Instructional Technology: An Evaluation in Light of Applications Implemented at FATIH Project. *Turkish Journal of Computer and Mathematics Education*, 7(3), 601. DOI: 10.16949/turkbilmat.277873.



- Soydan, C. (2018). Investigation of digital material development processes of field teachers in guidance of information technologies teacher. (Master's thesis, Ondokuz Mayıs University, Institute of Educational Sciences). http://libra.omu.edu.tr/tezler/122583.pdf
- Şad, S. N., Açıkgül, K., & Delican, K. (2015). Senior preservice teachers' senses of efficacy on their technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK). *Journal of Theoretical Educational Science*, 8(2), 204-235. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5578/keg.9480
- Şahin, S. (2016). Information Technologies in Education. I-II. Ankara: Pegem Akademi.
- Teo, T., Ursavaş, Ö. F., & Bahçekapili, E. (2012). An assessment of pre-service teachers' technology acceptance in Turkey: A structural equation modeling approach. *Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 21(1), 191-202. http://researchrepository.murdoch.edu.au/id/eprint/48415
- Uzunöz, A., Aktepe, V., & Gündüz, M. (2017). Candidate teachers' views on professional achievements in instructional technologies and material design a qualitative study. *Journal of Qualitative Research in Education*, 5(3), 317-339. DOI:10.14689/issn.2148-2624.1.5c3s14m
- Wang, L., Ertmer, P. A., & Newby, T. J. (2004). Increasing preservice teachers' self-efficacy beliefs for technology integration. *Journal of Research on Technology In Education*, 36(3), 231-250. https://doi.org/10.1080/15391523.2004.10782414.
- Yanpar, T. (2011). Instructional technologies and material development. Ankara: Anı.
- Yordming, R. (2017). Teachers' perspective towards digital teaching tools in Thai EFL classrooms. *International Journal of Languages, Literature and Linguistics, 3*(2), 45-48. doi: 10.18178/ijlll.2017.3.2.108



Covid - 19 Educational Technologies in the Pandemic Era

Hande Ortay

PdD Student, İstanbul Yeni Yüzyıl University, Faculty of Economics and Administrative Sciences, Department of Political Science and International Relations, Istanbul, Turkey handeortay611903@gmail.com ORCID: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9553-5910

ABSTRACT

In a globalized world, an advanced point is reached by arguing about the production and consumption of information. Information technologies used in the production of information are also increasingly diversified. Information technologies have a serious role in the formation of today's conditions. The expansion of these technologies helps to improve many jobs, vital changes. In this way, it is seen that many business processes are getting better in speed, time, and even spatial situations.

On the other hand, a new type of corona virus (COVID-19), which originated in Wuhan, Hubey Province, China, has been declared a global epidemic, spreading rapidly all over the world. The pandemic process which began in December 2019 and is still ongoing today has brought with it many disadvantages. As the world grapples with an epidemic of corona virus, the rate of increase in cases in China has come to a standstill and the process of normalization has begun. There is no doubt that information technologies have contributed to this situation. The effects of the outbreak have also profoundly affected educational institutions. In our country, Primary School, Secondary School, Secondary Education and higher education institutions are working on the implementation of distance learning methods.

In addition, educational technology according to the situations that arise during the course of the pandemic; globalizing world, educational policy, educational technology, and the concept of remote education, the importance of educational technology, distance education distance education and emergency, concrete and abstract learning technologies, teachers and educational technology, the situation in the world of educational technology research, distance education, technology, events, relationships, the process of universities in the overall assessment of the pandemic discussion and conclusion with recommendations in higher education, the economic dimension in the context of the evaluations reviewed.

The main goal of the research is to determine what higher education institutions should do by revealing the differences in risk management, the reactions they will give, and methods they will use. It is of great importance, especially in terms of directing the work to be done after the pandemic outbreak.

Keywords: Covid-19 Pandemic, Educational Technologies, Current Trends in Educational Technology, Distance Education, 21th Century Learning Teaching Skills

1. INTRODUCTION

Globalization seriously affects the structure and life of today's society in its positive and negative aspects. Currently, we are witnessing a historical phenomenon that is held together with the British Industrial Revolution in terms of its social, political, geographical and economic effects, described as a process of transition to the new "age of Informatics" or a trans-industrialsociety.

This phenomenon is more noticeable by the radical change in the technology base on which the business process of the production structure is based. Unorthodox developments in Information Technology have a decisive role in this change. "Globalization" which means that a certain civilization, economic or political norm, value judgment or institutional structure becomes the only model, the only value judgment, structure that is valid in this context, is intertwined with the reformation change process mentioned above. The constant progress of technology has brought people closer, as well as the interaction has been involuntary. Education and training practices also keep up with changes; reorganization is studied by almost all nations.

In education-training, the absolute truths approach is replaced by more sensitive emotion-based approaches. Believing in the necessity of the integrity of nature, societies are asked to acquire an appropriate way of life with nature for all species of living beings. In this context, students should have the ability to participate effectively in "learning", such as producing technology to be involved with technology. Students must be planned, programmed and growtheir acquired equipment as a "Citizen of the World".



It is a planned process designed to improve students understanding and use of technologies, their ability to create solutions to possible problems, and their confidence. Technology, as knowledgeable members of people, helps them develop enlightened and resourceful. The definition and application of educational technology varies from country to country. The reasonis because of cultural differences. Globalization is expected to bring together the diversity between countries in educational technology at a common point.

What is our country's place in the globalizing world? Turkey which is trying to find a place in the new order is one of the countries that live in the hottest form. Being able to keep up with theage of technology and being among the countries that are competent in renewal is our only strategic method. In this direction, education has an important place, especially unique to providing people with technology literacy competence. Qualified manpower will be able to minimize the problems of economic, political, internal, cultural and technological conflict that globalization will cause, and our country will be able to take advantage of this situation.

1.1. PURPOSE OF RESEARCH

The purpose of this study the use of new technologies are transferred to the field of education and educators, benefit, required to be very well trained to inform you to obtain and maintain the quality of service is very significant for improving the quality of education. The useof modern technology in education is the development of recommendations for students to learn easier and faster, as well as to ensure job satisfaction, eliminating the shortcomings of educators.

1.2. IMPORTANCE

It is related to the advancement of technological developments in educational institutions, the upward movement of changes in the field of education, and the well-known conceptual and practical dimensions of the process of the impact of these technologies on learning. People are often the users of changes that an insufficient number of people or organizations have put forward in the name of theory or practice. How this use became widespread was one of the study topics of the social sciences and theories were developed. It is hoped that this research will contribute to the development of an appropriate model for the possible repercussions of world developments in virtual higher education in the conditions of our country.

1.3. SAMPLING

The universe of research consists of articles on educational technologies published in SSCI journals. First, journals containing articles published by researchers in the field of educational technologies were identified, and articles published in these journals in the last decade were investigated. Magazines, articles while examining lists of educational technology primarily in thefield covered by the SSCI are removed, then the name is "in the COVID-19 pandemic, education, educational technologies, learning, teaching, current trends in educational technology, teacher, learner, distance learning, internet, computer, 21st century teaching and learning skills, technology, research contains the word" magazines have been identified. For this reason, 121 journals were identified as part of the research that included studies in the field of educational technologies, and 674 articles published in these journals between 2000-2020 were carefully studied in terms of various variables.

1.4. ANALYSIS OF THE DATA

By analyzing the content within the scope of the study, the data obtained from the examinedarticles were analyzed using descriptive statistical methods (%). As for the data stored in the created database, percentage ratios of the data are presented to correspond to the answer of each research question.

2. GLOBALIZING WORLD

As a word, the concept of globalization means the siege, winding, integration of the whole. In general, it is defined as the spread of material and spiritual values and the accumulations formed within these values across the world, crossing national borders. The idea of universalization of ideas such as the political system to be adopted, democracy, human rights, religion and secularism, environmental consciousness, common thoughts about the functioning of various markets in countries and the connections of these markets to each other is included in the phenomenon of globalization. The uninhibited development in communication and transport technologies is both the engine and product of globalization. For these reasons, globalization is recognized as the socio-economic and political system of the 21st century. The final act of Uruguay round also brings with it a legal order that guarantees the protection ofpatents and similar intellectual property rights all over the world (WTO). Moreover, the same promissory note sets out the rules for which areas of economic activity to what extent and under what conditions the state can provide support, and also sets out the sanctions that will be applied atthe international level to states that do not comply with these rules (WTO). Information technology, advanced material technologies, biotechnology, which constitute the source of the transformation in production systems and business process, are an indicator of "globalization". The "globalization" process another aspect of geography emitting an entire world



of manufacturing activities the giant transnational or multinational companies, as a world-system is the role played in the settlement of this process. These companies which originated from countries that dominate science and technology are thede facto owners of today's technology-world technology. It is seen that a political process in which the National motif is increasingly gaining strength is intertwined with the process of "globalization". Moreover, nations that see that they cannot maintain their competitive abilities alone are pursuing regional blockades. Regional blockades, in this sense, are the new political- economic-social formulation of the ability to protect national interests. In short, "globalization" on the one hand, and on the other hand, the process of creating a world dominated by inter-bloccompetition is witnessed. The European Union (EU), the Association of Southeast Asian Nations, and the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA) are the main blocs. It is clear that the blocks are formed on the axis of countries with the superiority of Science-Technology-Industry, and more often by the coming together of countries with this quality. Countries that are excluded from the bloc are countries that do not have the ability to industry science and technology, and in a world controlled by regionally consolidated power centers, these countries will have almost no right tolife. Turkey which has not been able to convert its candidacy status to full membership in the European Union for more than 40 years is one of the countries that have experienced the problem of finding a place in the blocky world.

3. EDUCATION POLICIES

In recent years, when rapidly developing technologies brings societies closer and inter- community interaction is inevitable, the sovereignty of educational systems to the individual is discussed by almost all nations. In teaching, the unconditional truths approach is replaced by more sensitive intuitive approaches. Then, believing in the necessity of natural integrity, people acquire all living species and a way of life compatible with nature. In this context, the difference between learning and teaching is remarkable. In learning, while the student is decisive, the teacher takes this role in teaching. This situation, which should not be considered a detail, requires that the school be transformed into a learning environment, not a teaching environment. In this environment, the concept of "Teacher" is replaced by the concept of "Learning Partner", and student participation becomes important. These new conditions require the learning partner to have an identity that can be effective guidance does not consider the exam as a trump card or threat to the student, and considers it part of the learning process as it allows the economic situation that constantly equips itself with changes. The new millennium willbe the stage for the achievements of societies consisting of individuals who can not only avoid responsibility thinking about usefulness, but also feel the beauty of differences, discover themselves, make peace with them, reconcile, productive, solve problems, and feel the universality of aesthetic criteria. Fears are growing that today's technology revolution will lead to widespread unemployment around the world. These fears are especially expressed in Europe, where despite all the measures taken, the number of unemployed cannot be reduced and the proportion of the total population in the 15-64 age group is more than 35% (Employment in Europe 2002). Even in the United States, where the unemployment rate is still half the European average, there are those who suggest that 3 out of 4 jobs will be lost to robots and computers. As a matter of fact, looking at the technology revolutions in the world over the last 200 years, it is seen that every revolution has created a lot of new jobs. It is important that the new technology can train people of the quality they want. This requires very serious teaching and education efforts.

4. CONCEPT OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY AND ITS PLACE IN DISTANCE EDUCATION

In education-training, technological tools are used to increase qualifications. It is believed that the use of modern technological tools in education will facilitate learning. Regardless of formal education or non-formal education, at this point, the tools and equipment used cover new technological products. Recently, views such as educational technology and technology in education have become used interchangeably. "Technology in education" usually means theuse of technology products in different services in the field of education. This term does not mention a technology specifically for educational science. "Technology is a discipline based on regularly designing, implementing, evaluating and developing teaching learning processes together with the necessary road stages in order to achieve the decision making goals that deal with the entire educational program. Recently, increasing technology is gaining a separate place in the European Union. Especially in the last 30 years, the European Union has emerged as a model of technology-centric educational technology. Educational technology, educational technology, educational technology, by organizing them in such a way as to eliminate the diversity of individual culture, talent, intelligence, understanding in those selected as the target audience. Accordingly, the educational culture, talent, applies in the European Union.

4.1. IMPORTANCE OF EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

Advances in science and technology also require a number of changes in educational practices. The use of technology in the learning environment is increasing. Educational technology is related to the learning process and helps achieve the goals set. But there is adifference between the concept of educational technology and the concept



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

of educationaltechnology. "Instructional technology" is a term related to technology that is regulated depending on the fact that "teaching" is a sub-concept of education and takes into account the specific aspects of certain teaching disciplines, for example, "science teaching technology". "Educational technology" is the related element (manpower, information, methods, techniques,tools, equipment, etc.) in order to systematically analyze problems that include all aspects of thephenomenon of "human learning" and develop solutions to them is a complex process that develops implements and evaluates appropriate designs by running to work. The term "educational technology" emphasizes a discipline related to learning-teaching processes. On the other hand, the term "instructional technology" refers to the effectiveness of guiding learning in the teaching of a subject (Alkan, 1998:16; Yılmaz, 2007:156-158). According to another definition, "Educational Technology predicts the most efficient and effective service of the elements that will create a purposeful and planned teaching" (Doğdu and Arslan, 1993:7). It is an indisputable fact that the use of tools and tools in teaching increases learning. The benefits of using tools during teaching activities can be briefly listed as follows: they provide a multiple learning environment: tools help to achieve permanent learning by increasing the number of senses involved in the learning process (Yalın, 2003:82; Yılmaz, 2007: 156-158). Because according to research, to keep time constant, people remember 10% of what they read, 20% of what they hear, 30% of what they see, 50% of what they see and hear, 70% of what they say, and 90% of what they do and say (Çilenti, 1991:36; Yılmaz, 2007: 156-158). They help students meet their individual needs: Students have different learning needs. For this reason, notall students benefit equally from the same learning and teaching activities. Some of the students can learn by listening to the lesson and discussions, some by seeing, some by reading, and some students can learn when the information is presented with different tools. As the number of tools and accessories used in teaching increases, the probability that each student will have a teaching channel that matches their individual learning needs increases. They attract attention: If the teaching is presented by audiovisual means, it will attract theattention of the students and motivate the student by creating emotional reactions for the student. It is expected that students learning willbe more permanent and more effective with a well-organized learning environment and tools. The more sensory organs of an individual are addressed, the better learning is from this point of view, it is necessary to be very careful about describing people as talented or incompetent. Because being successful or unsuccessful for many times occurs not because the main brain model is insufficient, but as a result of whether this person corresponds to other brain models or basic programs that he or she has a relationship with. If mutual communication cannot be achieved, it will also be difficult for what has been learned to be kept in the brain and remembered later.

4.2. EMERGENCY DISTANCE EDUCATION AND DISTANCE EDUCATION

With the covid-19 pandemic, it was observed that the existing educational systems in the world and in Turkey were unprepared to ensure the continuity of education in all circumstances, and that learners were physically separated from their schools, teachers and other learners (Bozkurt ve Sharma, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:116). In addition, during the crisis (emergency), it was observed that misinformation about distance education spread at the same speed as the virus; decisions taken by creating arguments on these concepts are tried to ensure crisis management. Applications made with false concepts to save the day in the short term will eventually face greater disadvantages in the long term (Coeckelbergh, 2020; Daniel, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:116). In this context, it is thought that conceptual discussions are important inorder to prevent the negative perception of distance education and the negative experiences that students and teachers who experience distance education for the first time will experience. In general, pandemic psychology has three stages: fear, explanation, and action (Strong, 1990; Bozkurt, 2020:116). In this context, urgent distance education practices can be characterized as the stage of action of stakeholders related to education. In light of these considerations, it is important to define applications made during the covid-19 crisis as urgent distance education (Bozkurt and others, 2020; Hodges, Moore, Lockee, Trust & Amp; Bond, 2020;Bozkurt, 2020:116), so as not to turn to the wrong applications through misconceptions (Bates, 2008; Bozkurt, 2019a; Bozkurt and others, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:116) and not to increase the current negative thoughts about distance education. Distance education applications in Turkey and has established a long history (Bozkurt, 2017; Bozkurt, 2020:116) dates to the period of human history from the perspective of unstructured learning very ancient, although it has a history of about 300 years in the context of structured learning (Bozkurt, 2019b; Bozkurt, 2020:116). In order to better understand and interpret the discussions surrounding the relevant concepts, it is necessary to mention the important differences between the concepts of immediate distance education and distance education. Although these two concepts are similar, they have subtle but important details thatseparate from each other (Bozkurt & Amp; Sharma, 2020; Bozkurt and others, 2020; Hodges and others, 2020; Huang, Liu, Tlili, Yang & Amp; Wang, 2020; QAA, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:116). These distinctions Bozkurt et al (2020) described as follows: The first distinction is that immediate distance education is a necessity, but distance educationis an option. The second important distinction is that urgent distance education tries to create workarounds for the current need while distance education tries to create ongoing and permanent solutions within the framework of lifelong learning. The third distinction is that while emergency distance education is an effort to keep educationafloat with the available opportunities in a time of crisis, distance education is an effort to make education sustainable with planned and systematic activities for a specific purpose, theoretical and practical accumulation specific to the field.



Finally, the concept of distance education the English equivalent of the fourth immediate distinction, "emergency remote education" with the concept of distance education English equivalent of the concept of "distance education" concept. Although the concept of distance is expressed in the same word in Turkish, the concept of "distance" emphasizes physical distancewhile the concept of "distance" emphasizes physical, interactive and psychological distance. After the pandemic, the new normal, planned educational actions in the context of blended learning (Bonk & Amp; Graham, 2012; Bozkurt 2020:117) applications, as well as HyFlex (flexible hybrid) (Beatty, 2014; Maloney & Amp; Joshua Kim; 2020: Bozkurt 2020:117) an orientation towards the application is expected to be. Although online distance education applications offer solutions such as openness, accessibility, and flexibility in education, the need for self-directed and self-managed skills (Knowles, 1975; Bozkurt, 2020:117) highlights the HyFlex learning model in the context of the new normal learner choosing what content they can access. However, especially self-directed and self-directed learning skills applications that require more supporting learners in practice which caters to adult learners and learners K12-level guidance to provide meaningful learning experiences, it should be noted that it is important for. In addition, it is believed that the flexible roles that new traditional educational institutions will take on and the efforts of learners to access information from different environments will add more value to informal learning processes. One of the best examples of the need for certain skills, such as self-directed and self-directed learning, is described by a 13-year-old eighth grader (Mintz, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:117). He stated that the current education system was flawed and that he learned better through distance education. He also stated that during distance learning, he had the opportunity to explore his strengths and weaknesses, had more autonomy and control over the learning process, could communicate with other learners using online technologies and be involved in collaborative learning processes. Mintz noted that in addition to these definitions, students who are distracted in the learning process and teachers who cannot fully control these learners can devote more time to their lessons and do not experience a waste of time in the process, and stressed that remonitoring course records provides great flexibility. One of the events observed during the pandemic is comparisons between distance educationand face-to-face training. At this point, when approached from a critical point of view, the success indicators of most universities in the context of Turkey, as well as the quality of education and educational materials, are open to discussion. Therefore, comparing distance education and face-toface education is an artificial basis for discussion. According to a meta- analysis study by Russel (Bozkurt, 2020:118), there is no difference between educational technologies and distance education with face-to-face training when configured correctly. As explained in the theory of equality in interaction, learner-learner, and learner or teach teaches-content interaction is one of the types in meaningful learning experiences can take place even at high levels when provided quality educational interaction (Anderson, 2003;Bozkurt, 2020:118). In light of these considerations, improving quality in content and learning processes, strengthening educational interaction and communication can be considered as the largest investment in the future of education in the world and in Turkey. The effect can last a very long time (Azevedo et al.; 2020: Bozkurt, 2020: 118) with thispandemic, the largest social experiment in the history of the world took place naturally with approximately 1.6 billion students (Anderson 2020; Zimmerman, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:118). Along with this process, it is inevitable that these experiences will be reflected in the general educational paradigm in the long term. Each crisis creates some opportunities in its continuation. In this context, many failures as well as success stories and experiences (Ferdig, Baumgartner, Hartshorne, Kaplan-Rakowski ve Mouza, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:118) can be turned into an opportunity (Keskin ve Özer Kaya, 2020; Telli ve Altun, 2020; Reimers ve Schleicher, 2020; Bozkurt, 2020:118). However, the pandemic draw lessons from what happened to critically evaluate (Costello, Brown, Donlon and Girme 2020; Bozkurt 2020:118), and in this context has become essential to develop new policies (Eren, 2020; Bozkurt 2020:118).

4.3. CONCRETE AND ABSTRACT EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGIES

One of the most common situations during the Covid-19 pandemic was the introduction of solutions based on online education technologies, especially within the scope of emergency distance education. The perception that technology-oriented solutions will be solutions to problems in education is not a pandemic-specific situation (Mishra, Koehler, & Kereluik, 2009; Rushby, 2013; Teräs, & Curcher, 2020; Weller, 2020). Reactions at the time when the pandemicreached its peak and training was interrupted were often no different, and it was thought that only technology-oriented solutions would eliminate the problems experienced. As mentioned above, unlike emergency distance education, distance education is a set of planned and purposeful practices carried out within the framework of a system approach. Apart from this, educational technologies are not just concrete technologies (for example, computer, smart phones, and learning management systems) also consist of abstract technologies (e.g., educational theories, approaches, strategies) (Bozkurt, 2020). Therefore, one of the points that should be considered in the new normal is the introduction of concrete technologies. Examples of common use of concrete technologies that reflect the direct invisible part of educational technologies. Examples of common use of concrete technology include the use of learning management systems are effective in presenting content to the masses (Almaiah, Al-Khasawneh & Althunibat, 2020), they also have a number of limitations in the context of



supporting social learning processes and creating a learning ecology. In this context, the need to design teaching/learning with concepts such as blended learning, flipped learning is important in the context of achieving effective learning outcomes as well as successful andlearner satisfaction.

4.4. TEACHER AND EDUCATIONAL TECHNOLOGY

Currently, the speed of development of science and technology has reached an incredible dimension. Science and Technology Society are changing society's expectations, even its culture. Educational institutions and individuals must also keep up with this change. It is essential that teachers are trained very well before the service and use the developing science and technologyto maintain this quality within the service. The use of new technologies by transferring them to the field of education is extremely important in terms of improving the quality of education and training. The use of modern technology in education will make it easier for students to learn faster, as well as provide job satisfaction for teachers. Integrating teachers and technology in modern education will help improve the quality of education. Davis (2003) stated that using information and communication technologies in teacher education will help equip society with the human qualities it needs in the information age. Educational technology aims to use advances in science and technology, inventions made in educational activities. As a result, individuals who follow technological innovations and adapt to innovations are brought up. The role of teacher has changed in today's education system. Now, instead of passing information to he student, the teacher is in the position of a guide showing ways to access information. In parallel, the training of teachers has changed (Yılmaz, 2007: 161-162). It is not possible to think about the education system independently of society and social needs. All countries organize school and teaching activities in a style that will respond to changing modern production styles and methods. Rapid changes in the economic, social and technological fields in our age also affect social and educational institutions, and educational systems also feel the need to renew them (Duman, 1991:1; Yilmaz, 2007: 161-165). No matter how advanced the technology is, the classroom environment cannot be run without a teacher. The important thing is how the teacher will take a position in the face of this rapid development. In the face of developing and changing science and technology, studies showthat classroom teachers cannot educate themselves according to these developments and have significant deficiencies in their use of educational technologies (Yılmaz, 2007: 162). The importance of technology education in Turkey is not understood. This education, in most cases today, is viewed with a traditional understanding away from the concept of technology; in the age of technology, a functioning devoid of technology culture continues. One of the main reasons for this is that school administrators and supervisors are unfamiliar with the subject; the second is the lack of education of teachers working in the field. There are two main dimensions of teacher training: quantity and quality. Past examples in Turkey show that practices that emphasize only the size of quantity by ignoring quality are practices that address the problem of teachers in one dimension. These practices create effects that go back rather than improve the quality of education. Thus, while the teacher requirement seems to be met formally, the unqualified workforce entering the system also leads to the product of the education system being unqualified. In this regard, it is necessary to focus on the quality dimension as well as the quantity in meeting the teacher requirements needed in technology education (Uluğ, 2000:8; Yılmaz, 2007: 161-165). Teachers have been the cut who closely follow the changes that are taking place today and have to comply with the change the most. Like other people, teachers have to deal with the effects of both past events and current events in today's global environment. In this environment, teachers ' task includes complex elements such as protecting children and young people from the identity of the society in which they live, as well as preparing them for the global world in question. This places new burdens on teachers. Teachers need to improve themselves in order to handle this burden. If we want to create a qualified structure, we have to use qualified material.

5. GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF UNIVERSITIES DURING THE PANDEMIC PROCESS

During the pandemic, the transition of universities to distance education was rapid. 121 out of 189 universities (64%) on 23 March 2020, 41 (21.6%) on 30 March 2020, 25 (13.2%) on 6 April 2020 switched to distance education. In 2019-2020 spring semesters, the number of courses to be opened formally in higher education institutions is 736.341 while with the transition to distance education 663.808 courses are opened and 90.1% of courses are given by distance education. Looking at the application areas of the courses opened, it was found that 91% in Social Sciences, 78% in science, 77% in engineering sciences and 54% in Health Sciences. In the distance education process in higher education institutions, student evaluation methods have also been varied. 66% of the assessments were online exams, 91% were homework, 83% were projects, and 58% were quizzes. Assessment methods given show that more than one assessment methodis used in one course (YÖK Assessment Report, 2020).

6. CONTROVERSY AND CONCLUSION

An instructor is the person who will determine the future of a country. All members of the community find shape in their hands, grow and develop about the future of the country. Today's science and technology is rapidly changing. Day by day, the old ones are being renewed and changed. These changes lead people to live more comfortably. Because of that a number of changes have also occurred in the duties of the teacher. It is likely to be



said that the current instructors are seriously inadequate in terms of using educational technology. For this reason, the necessary importance should be given to the educational technologies or material development courses taught in their faculties. The number and time of courses related to the subject should be increased. Their instructors, in particular, should reveal their reasons for not using technological tools and equipment. If there are educators who do not tend to use tools and equipment, a different way should be followed to eliminate this attitude. Instructors should update, deepen their knowledge and skills, follow technological developments closely throughout their professional lives, and, if necessary, provide in-service training for teachers. In this way, they will have knowledge about the use of tools and equipment; as a result, they will befree from prejudices such as "if I use this tool, I will break it" and remove the barrier between students. With a separate emphasis, seminars should be organized to ensure that instructors benefit from educational technology. In this way, the relevant units should be made more effective and the instructors should try to eliminate the missing ones. Therefore, the relevant units should be made more effective and the instructors should try to eliminate the missing ones. The standards of educating instructors must be set. The advancement of technology foresees getting rid of the rote program understanding and preparing the utility according to effective learning principles and training instructors in this direction. If the aim of Modern education is to educate people who produce, use and are creative, the understanding of teaching should also have this goal and strive to achieve this goal.

7. SUGGESTIONS

Educational technology centers which are considered to be existing or new can be developed by taking into account the functions determined as a result of this article. Educational technology centers can also be a guide in determining how best to use new technologies in the context of the country's economic situation needs and cultures. It is also very important to enrich the teaching-learning processes in Instructor Training Institutions. By developing strategies and plans, they can perform their functions by ensuring that future educators are prepared to usenew tools in their training processes.

REFERENCES

Alkan, C. (1997). Eğitim Teknolojisi (5. Baskı). Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık.

- Alkan, C. (1998). Eğitim Teknolojisi. Ankara: Anı Yayıncılık.
- Almaiah, M. A., Al-Khasawneh, A. and Althunibat, A. (2020). Exploring the Critical Challenges and Factors Influencing the E-Learning System Usage During COVID-19 Pandemic. Education and Information Technologies. (Erişim adresi: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/s10639-020-10219-y.pdf, Erişim tarihi: 4 Şubat 2021).
- Anderson, J. (2020). The Coronavirus Pandemic is Reshaping Education. Quartz. (Erişim adresi: https://qz.com/1826369/how-coronavirus-is-changing-education/, Erişim tarihi: 25 Nisan 2021).
- Anderson, T. (2003). Getting the Mix Right Again: An Updated and Theoretical Rationale for Interaction. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 4(2). (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v4i2.149, Erişim tarihi: 14 Mart 2021).
- Bates, T. (2008). What do you Mean by.....? Online Learning and Distance Education Resources. (Erişim adresi: https://www.tonybates.ca/2008/07/07/what-is-distance-education/, Erişim tarihi: 4 Ocak 2021).
- Beatty, B. (2014). Hybrid Courses with Flexible Participation: The Hyflex Course Design. In L. Kyei-Blankson & E. Ntuli (Eds.), Practical Applications and Experiences in K-20 Blended Learning Environments (pp. 153-177). Hershey, PA: IGI Global.
- Bonk, C. J. and Graham, C. R. (2012). The Handbook of Blended Learning: Global Perspectives, Local Designs. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bozkurt, A. (2020). Educational Technology Research Patterns in the Realm of the Digital Knowledge Age. Journal of Interactive Media in Education, (In Press). (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.5334/jime.570, Erişim tarihi: 25 Mart 2021).
- Bozkurt, A. (2020). Koronavirüs (Covid-19) Pandemi Süreci ve Pandemi Sonrası Dünyada Eğitime Yönelik Değerlendirmeler: Yeni Normal ve Yeni Eğitim Paradigması. *Açıköğretim Uygulamaları ve Araştırmaları Dergisi, 6*(3), 112–142.
- Bozkurt, A. and Sharma, R. C. (2020). Emergency Remote Teaching in a Time Of Global Crisis Due to Coronavirus Pandemic. *Asian Journal of Distance Education*, *15*(1), 1-6. (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.3778083, Erişim tarihi: 7 Nisan 2021).
- Çilenti, K. (1991). Eğitim Teknolojisi ve Öğretim. Ankara: Kadıoğlu Matbaası.
- Coeckelbergh, M. (2020). The Postdigital in Pandemic Times: A Comment on the Covid-19 Crisis and its Political Epistemologies. *Postdigital Science and Education*, 1-4. (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-020-00119-2, Erişim tarihi: 2 Mart 2021).
- Costello, E., Brown, M., Donlon, E. and Girme, P. (2020). The Pandemic Will Not be on Zoom: A Retrospective from the Year 2050. *Postdigital Science and Education*, (1-9). (Erişim adresi:



https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-020-00150-3, Erişim tarihi: 7 Haziran 2021).

- Davis, N. (2003). Technology in Teacher Education in the USA: What Makes for Sustainable Good Practice. Technology, *Pedagogy and Education*, (12)59-73.
- Doğdu, S. ve Arslan, Z. (1993). Eğitim Teknolojisi Uygulamaları ve Eğitim Araç Gereçleri. Ankara: Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı Basımevi.
- Duman, T. (1991). Türkiye'de Ortaöğretime Öğretmen Yetiştirme (Tarihi Gelişimi). Ankara: Milli Eğitim Basımevi.
- Eren, E. (2020). Yeni Tip Koronavirüs'ün Türk Eğitim Politikaları Uygulamalarına Etkisi: Milli Eğitim Bakanlığının ve Yükseköğretim Kurulunun Yeni Düzenlemeleri. *Yükseköğretim Dergisi*. (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.2399/yod.20.716645, Erişim tarihi: 11 Mart 2021).
- European Commission, Directorate-General for Employment (2002). Employment in Europe 2002 Recent Trends and Prospects. (Erişim adresi: http://europa.eu.int/comm/employment_social/employment_analysis/eie/2002_en, Erişim tarihi: 10 Haziran 2021).
- Ferdig, R. E., Baumgartner, E., Hartshorne, R., Kaplan-Rakowski, R. and Mouza, C. (2020). Teaching, Technology, and Teacher Education During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Stories from the Field. Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). (Erişim adresi: https://www.learntechlib.org/p/216903/, Erişim tarihi: 2 Mart 2021).
- Hodges, C., Moore, S., Lockee, B., Trust, T. and Bond, A. (2020). The Difference between Emergency Remote Teaching and Online Learning. Educause Review. (Erişim adresi: https://er.educause.edu/articles/2020/3/thedifference-between-emergency-remoteteaching-andonline-learning, Erişim tarihi: 2 Haziran 2021).
- Keskin, M. ve Özer Kaya, D. (2020). COVID-19 Sürecinde Öğrencilerin Web Tabanlı Uzaktan Eğitime Yönelik Geri Bildirimlerinin Değerlendirilmesi. *İzmir Katip Çelebi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Fakültesi Dergisi, 5*(2), 59-67. (Erişim adresi:

https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/ikcusbfd/issue/55773/754174, Erişim tarihi: 13 Haziran 2021). Knowles, M. S. (1975). Self-Directed Learning: A Guide for Learners and Teachers. New York:

Association Press.

- Koehler, M. and Mishra, P. (2009). What is Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK)?. *Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education*, 9(1), 60-70. (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.1177/002205741319300303, Erişim tarihi: 3 Haziran 2021).
- Maloney, E. J. and Joshua Kim, J. (2020). Fall Scenario #13: A HyFlex Model. Inside HigherEd. (Erişim adresi: https://www.insidehighered.com/blogs/learning-innovation/fall-scenario-13-hyflex-model, Erişim tarihi: 26 Haziran 2021).
- Reimers, F. M. and Schleicher, A. (2020). A framework to Guide an Education Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic of 2020. OECD Report. (Erişim adresi: https://learningportal.iiep.unesco.org/en/library/a-framework-to-guide-an-educationresponse-tothe-covid-19-pandemic-of-2020, Erişim tarihi: 6 Haziran 2021).
- Reimers, F. M. ve Schleicher, A. (2020). 2020 COVID-19 Pandemisine Karşı Eğitimde Atılabilecek Adımlara Rehberlik Edecek bir Çerçeve. OECD 2020 Raporu. (Erişim adresi: https://globaled.gse.harvard.edu/files/geii/files/framework_guide_v4_tr.pdf, Erişim tarihi: 12 Haziran 2021).
- Russel, T. L. (1999). The No Significant Difference Phenomenon as Reported in 355 Research Reports, Summaries and Papers. USA: North Carolina State University.
- Şenel, A., & Gençoğlu, S. (2003). Küreselleşen Dünyada Teknoloji Eğitimi. Gazi Üniversitesi Endüstriyel Sanatlar Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 11(12), 45-65.
- Strong, P. (1990). Epidemic Psychology: A Model. Sociology of Health & Illness, 12(3), 249-259.
- Telli, S. G. ve Altun, D. (2020). Coronavirüs ve Çevrimiçi (online) Eğitimin Önlenemeyen Yükselişi. Üniversite Araştırmaları Dergisi, 3(1), 25-34.
- Teräs, M., Suoranta, J., Teräs, H. and Curcher, M. (2020). Post-Covid-19 Education and Education Technology 'Solutionism': A Seller's Market. Postdigital Science and Education, (1-16). (Erişim adresi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s42438-020-00164-x, Erişim tarihi: 2 Mayıs 2021).
- TÜBİTAK-BTP. (2003). Türkiye'nin Bilim ve Teknoloji Politikası Özet. (Erişim adresi: http://www.tubitak.gov.tr/btpd/btspd/rapor/btprd_tbvtp_tr.html, Erişim tarihi: 3 Mayıs 2021).
- Uluğ, F. (2000). İlköğretimde Teknoloji Eğitimi. Milli Eğitim Dergisi, 146(3-8).
- Vester, F. (1997). Düşünmek, Öğrenmek, Unutmak. (Çev. Aydın Arıtan), İstanbul: Arıtan Yayınevi.
- Weller, M. (2020). 25 Years of Ed Tech. Edmonton, Canada: AU Press.
- Yalın, H.İ. (2003). Öğretim Teknolojileri ve Materyal Geliştirme. Ankara: Nobel Yayınları.
- Yaşar, D. (2001). Yeni Bin yılda Eğitim ve Öğretim. Türkiye Bilim ve Aklın Aydınlığında Eğitim Dergisi-MEB Yayınları, Sayı 21. (Erişim adresi: http://www.meb.gov.tr/, Erişim tarihi: 23 Haziran 2021).



Yılmaz, M. (2007). Sınıf Öğretmeni Yetiştirmede Teknoloji Eğitimi.

- YÖK Değerlendirme Raporu. (2020). Uzaktan Eğitime Yönelik Değerlendirme. (Erişim adresi: https://www.yok.gov.tr/Sayfalar/Haberler/2020/uzaktan-egitime-yonelikdegerlendirme.aspx, Erişim tarihi: 26 Haziran 2021).
- Zimmerman, J. (2020). Coronavirus and the Great Online-Learning Experiment. The Chronicle of Higher Education. (Erişim adresi: https://www.chronicle.com/article/Coronavirusthe-Great/248216, Erişim tarihi: 20 Haziran 2021).



Determination of the Leisure Time Satisfaction Status of Active Athletes Using the Sports Center

Figen Yaman Lesinger

Cyprus Health and Social Sciences University figenyamandd@gmail.com

Azmiye YINAL

azmiye.ynl@gmail.com

Aytekin İŞMAN

Sakarya University isman@sakarya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

The aim of the research is to determine the attitudes of active athletes who are members of sports centres towards leisure time. In this context, the sample of the research consists of the athletes who actively use the sports centres in the TRNC, while the sample consists of 200 athletes, 100 female and 100 male active athletes. As a data collection tool The Leisure Satisfaction Scale (LSS) was used, which was developed by Beard and Ragheb (1980) and validated and reliable in Turkish by Gökçe and Orhan (2011). In the analysis of the data, MANOVA test and Pearson Correlation analysis was applied to determine the relationship between the scales. According to the results of the analysis; it was concluded that the psychological and relaxation scores of the female participants are higher than the scores of the male participants in the gender variable, the sub-dimension scores and the scores of the graduates of the individuals who graduated from university and graduated or continuing their education in the sub-dimension of "Relaxation" are higher in the Educational Status variable, the average scores of the participants who frequently participated in the activities are higher than the average scores of the participants who rarely participated in the activities are higher than the average scores of the participants who rarely participated in the sub-dimension scores of the individuals who graduated is a negativities in all sub-dimensions and the scores of the participants who rarely participated in the activities are higher than the average scores of the participants who frequently participated in the sub-dimension scores of the individuals who sometimes participated in the weekly Physical Activity Participation Frequency variable. As a result, it was found that leisure satisfaction and participants differ according to various demographic characteristics.

Keywords: Leisure Time Satisfaction, Recreation, Leisure Time, Athlete, Sports

INTRODUCTION

It is known that people's leisure time is gradually increasing thanks to the facilities provided by the developments in the field of modern technology (Roberts, 2018). In leisure time, which is associated with fun, enjoyable and rewarding experiences that take people away from their routine lives and offer the opportunity to get rid of the tensions of daily life for a while (Iglesias & Bello, 2019), individuals can escape from the boring aspects of life and create opportunities for their personal development (Mattingly & Bianchi, 2003). According to Maslow's Theory of Needs, it is predicted that when people's physiological needs are met, they will seek higher satisfaction and self-actualization (Kuo, 2013), therefore, the need for leisure time will result in people's participation in certain activities and resulting in satisfaction or dissatisfaction. Demir and Demir (2014) stated that this situation causes the concept of leisure time satisfaction to emerge. Although the goals of participation in leisure time activities to get pleasure and to get satisfaction as a result of the pleasure they receive (Çelik, 2011). Leisure satisfaction, which means the degree of pleasure or satisfaction that individuals derive from their leisure experiences, generally results from the satisfaction of individuals' emotions, conscious and unconscious desires (Lee & Fang, 2013).

Leisure activities are generally related to positive health or well-being situations that arise directly or indirectly as a result of the activities individuals participate in (Yamashita et al., 2018). In recent years, people's participation in leisure and physical activities has increased; while increasing their aerobic capacity and self-esteem, it helps to reduce their tendency to obesity and disease or premature death (Rojek, 2005). In their research on the benefits of leisure time, Driver and Brown examined the motivations, expectations and past experiences of individuals for recreational activities and included the outputs obtained as a result of activity participation (Brown, 2016). It is known that individuals' health perceptions differ as a result of participation in leisure time activities, and individuals generally participate in leisure activities in order to prevent a bad situation in terms of their health, to improve their health status and to realize their psychological experiences.



On the other hand, when Gürbüz and Henderson (2013) examined the studies on leisure time in developed countries such as America, Canada and England, they stated that scientists mostly focused on issues such as motivation, obstacles and attitudes. From this point of view, the aim of this research, which is thought to make important contributions to the leisure literature, is to determine the relationship between the leisure time attitudes, leisure satisfaction levels and perceived health outcomes of individuals who are members of health and wellness centres.

Leisure time activities are generally defined as activities such as exercise and socialization that individuals participate in their free time (Pressman et al., 2009; Paggi et al., 2016). According to another definition, leisure activities are defined as activities that individuals engage in to achieve pleasure and well-being, independent of work or daily life activities (Verghese et al., 2006). Today, although people seem to use their leisure time in similar ways (Roberts, 2011), cultural differences, individual perceptions and preferences and perceived barriers may arise (Gürbüz & Henderson, 2014). From this point of view, Demirel and Harmandar (2009) stated that although individuals' participation in leisure time activities has positive benefits, people do not participate in these activities for different reasons or cannot participate due to various obstacles. The concept of leisure time barriers was first discussed by Crawford and Godbey and the factors hindering leisure time participation; classified into three groups as individual, interpersonal and structural (Sarol, 2017). On the other hand, Hsieh (2009) defines leisure benefits as subjective perceptions of individuals participating in various activities in their free time in order to improve their personal conditions and meet their individual demands.

Leisure time satisfaction was first discussed by Beard and Ragheb to determine individuals' leisure satisfaction levels. Leisure satisfaction is a type of satisfaction that includes life satisfaction and social satisfaction (Yerlisu Lapa, 2013). The concept of leisure satisfaction is expressed as the positive perceptions or feelings that emerge as a result of the leisure activities that individuals prefer to participate in (Beard & Ragheb, 1980; Doğan et al., 2019). They stated that leisure time satisfaction is a complex human need that is met by producing and consuming individual enjoyable experiences (Amestoy et al., 2008). Chick et al. (2016), on the other hand, stated that leisure satisfaction of the difference between the situations that individuals think they deserve, expect or desire and what they actually experience. Comprehensive leisure satisfaction are activities that consists of activities in which individuals participate actively or passively voluntarily, without any external pressure, to have feelings of health, social, cultural, entertainment, renewal and happiness, to gain new skills, to meet the expectations of individuals, and in these activities, earning is only satisfaction without any financial gain (Yerlisu Lapa et al., 2012).

Purpose of the Research

The aim of the research is to determine the attitudes of active athletes who are members of sports centres towards leisure time.

Sub-Problems of the Research

1. Is there a difference between the LSS scores of the individuals participating in the research according to the gender variable?

2. Is there a difference between the LSS scores of the individuals participating in the research according to the variable of educational status?

3. Is there a difference between the LSS scores of the individuals participating in the research according to the frequency of participation in weekly physical activities variable?

Research Method

Model of the Research

Quantitative data collection techniques were used in the study to determine the attitudes of active athletes who are members of sports centres towards leisure time. It is aimed to reveal the existing situation. This study is descriptive and cross-sectional as it reveals an existing situation. This model aims to explain the person, situation or object in the research as it exists in the conditions it is in. In addition, it is an inferential research model as it is investigated whether there is a relationship between personal information and the questionnaire (Karasar, 2019).

Universe and Sample

The universe of the research consists of the athletes who actively use the sports centres in the TRNC, while the sample consists of 200 athletes, 100 female and 100 male active athletes.

Data Collection Tools

The Leisure Satisfaction Scale (LSS), which was developed by Beard and Ragheb (1980) and validated and reliable in Turkish by Gökçe and Orhan (2011), was used as a data collection tool in the study. The sub-dimensions of the scale, which consists of 24 items and 6 sub-dimensions, are respectively; (1) Psychological, (2) Educational, (3)



Social, (4) Physiological, (5) Relaxation, and (6) Aesthetic. As a result of the study conducted by Gökçe and Orhan (2011), the total internal consistency coefficient of the scale was found to be .90. The internal consistency coefficients of the sub-dimension (.77), Educational sub-dimension (.77), Social sub-dimension (.76), Physiological sub-dimension (.79), Relaxation sub-dimension (.80) and Aesthetic sub-dimension (.79). In our study, the internal consistency coefficients of the sub-dimension (.88), Educational sub-dimension (.85), Social sub-dimension (.84), Physical sub-dimension (.82), Relaxation sub-dimension (.86) and Aesthetics sub-dimension (.86). Items on the scale calculated on a 5-point Likert type; 1 "Almost Never True", 5 "Almost Always True" (Gökçe & Orhan, 2011). The items related to the sub-dimensions of the scale are Psychological sub-dimension (1-4 items), Educational sub-dimension (5-8 items), Social sub-dimension (9-12 items), Physiological sub-dimension (13-16 items), Relaxation sub-dimension (17 -20 items), and Aesthetics sub-dimension (21-24 items).

Analysis of Data

SPSS 25 package program was used in the statistical analysis of the study. After the socio-demographic descriptive statistics of the data were made, it was checked whether the survey results obtained from the individuals were normally distributed. Tukey test and Manova analysis tests were used since the assumption of normal distribution was provided.

FINDINGS

	Variables	f	%
Gender	Female	100	50
	Male	100	50
Education Status	Primary	21	11,4
	High School	78	41,1
	University	97	43,1
	Postgraduate	4	4,4
Marital Status	Married	102	51,0
	Single	98	49,0
Frequency of Participation in	Very Rare	48	17,6
Physical Activities	Sometimes	94	52,3
	Frequently	58	30,1

Table 1. Distribution of Participants by Demographic Characteristics

Table 1 shows the distribution of individuals participating in the research by gender. According to the results of the analysis, 50% of the individuals participating in the research are "Women", while 50% are "Men". The distribution of the individuals participating in the research according to their educational status is included. According to the results of the analysis, 11.4% of the individuals participating in the research were graduated from "Primary Education", 41.1% from "High School", 43.1% from "University", while 4.4% of them still studying or graduated their "Postgraduate" education. The distribution of individuals participating in the research are "Married", while 49.0% are "Single". The distribution of the participants according to the frequency of their participation in weekly physical activities is included. According to the research participate in weekly physical activities "Very Rarely", 52.3% "Sometimes", and 30.1% "Frequently".

Distribution of Scale Scores

	Table 2. Distribution of Scale Scores								
	Scale Sub- Dimensions	n	Lowest	Highest	Av.	Ss.			
	Psychological	200	1.00	5.00	3.56	0.99			
	Educational	200	1.00	5.00	3.71	0.90			
	Social	200	1.00	5.00	3.65	0.88			
LSS									
	Relaxation	200	1.00	5.00	3.78	0.90			
	Physically	200	1.00	5.00	3.64	0.88			
	Aesthetic	200	1.00	5.00	3.71	0.90			



Table 2 shows the distribution of scale scores. When the sub-dimension scores of the scale were examined, it was determined that the highest average was found in the "Relaxation" (3.78) sub-dimension, and the lowest average was in the "Psychological" (3.56) sub-dimension in the LSS sub-dimension. The lowest score obtained by the participants from the LSS was 1.00, while the highest score was 5.00.

Analysis Result	s Regarding	the Leisure	Time Satisfaction Scale	
-----------------	-------------	-------------	-------------------------	--

Table 3. MANOVA Results of Participants' LSS Scores by Gender							
Dependent							
Variable	Gender	n	Av.	Ss	Sd	F	р
	Male	100	3.47	1.00			
Psychological	Female	100	3.63	0.97	1-1916	12.052	.001**
	Male	100	3.68	0.90			
Educational	Famala	100	2 74	0.01	1-1916	2.220	.136
-	remate	100	5.74	0.91			
	Male	100	3.63	0.88			
Social	Female	100	3.67	0.89	1-1916	.757	.384
	Male	100	3.69	0.90			
Relaxation	Female	100	3.85	0.90	1-1916	15.126	.000**
	Male	100	3.62	0.87			
Physically	Female	100	3.66	0.89	1-1916	.798	.372
	Male	100	3.68	0.91			
Aesthetic	Female	100	3.73	0.89	1-1916	1.424	.233

*p<0.05

Table 3 shows the results of the MANOVA test regarding the scores of the participants in the sub-dimensions of the Leisure Satisfaction Scale (LSS) according to the gender variable. The results of MANOVA analysis showed that the main effect of the gender variable on the sub-dimensions of "LSS" is significant (p<0.05). However, in terms of the main effect of the gender variable, it is determined that there is a significant difference in the "Psychological" sub-dimension (p<0.05) and "Relaxation" sub-dimensions of the participants' SBRS (p<0.05). It is determined that the psychological and relaxation scores of the female participants are higher than the scores of the male participants.

TOJET

TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

	4. MANOVA Resu	lts of P	articipant	ts' LSS So	cores by Ed	ucational	Status	
Dependent	Education							
Variable	Status	n	Av.	Ss	Sd	F	р	Dif.
	Primary School	21	3.58	0.87				
	High School	78	3.56	0.97	-			
Psychological	University	97	3.53	1.03	3-1914	.886	.448	
	Postgraduate	4	3.71	1.08	-		p .448 .714 .676 .001*	
	Primary School	21	3.76	0.81				
	High School	78	3.69	0.90	-			
Educational	University	97	3.72	0.91	3-1914	.455	.714	
	Postgraduate	4	3.76	1.05	-			
	Primary School	21	3.68	0.84				
	High School	78	3.63	0.89	-			
Social	University	97	3.65	0.88	3-1914	.508	.508 .676	
	Postgraduate	4	3.74	0.94	-			
	Primary School	21	3.73	0.92				
	High School	78	3.71	0.94	-			2-3
Relaxation	University	97	3.84	0.86	3-1914	5.217	.001*	2-4
	Postgraduate	4	4.03	0.88	-			
	Primary School	21	3.64	0.89				
	High School	78	3.60	0.89	-			
Physically	University	97	3.67	0.86	3-1914	2.108	.097	
	Postgraduate 4 3.82 0.85	-						
	Primary School	21	3.73	0.87				
	High School	78	3.70	0.90	-			
Aesthetic	University	97	3.70	0.91	3-1914	.782	.504	

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology

Postgraduate 4 3.85 0.94

*p<0.05

Table 4 shows the results of the MANOVA test for the sub-dimension scores of the Leisure Satisfaction Scale (LSS) according to the educational status of the participants. The results of the MANOVA analysis revealed that the main effect of the participants on the sub-dimension scores of LSS according to their educational status is significant (p<0.05). In terms of the main effect of educational status, it is concluded that only the "Relaxation" sub-dimension scores of the participants' "LSS" differs statistically significantly (p<0.05). According to the results of the Tukey test, which was carried out to determine which group the differentiation is in, it is determined that the sub-dimension scores of the individuals who graduated from university or continue their education in the "Relaxation" sub-dimension are higher than the scores of the individuals who graduated from high school.

			Activitie	S				
Dependent	Frequency of Participation							
Variable	in PA	n	Av.	Ss	Sd	F	р	Dif.
	Very Rarely	48	3.48	0.99				
Psychological	Sometimes	94	3.46	0.96	2-1915	17.618	.000*	1-3
	Frequently	58	3.76	1.00				2-3
	Very Rarely	48	3.69	0.94				
Educational	Sometimes	94	3.62	0.85	2-1915	16.588	.000*	1-3
	Frequently	58	3.89	0.94				2-3
	Very Rarely	48	3.60	0.96				
Social	Sometimes	94	3.58	0.82	2-1915	12.245	.000*	1-3
	Frequently	58	3.80	0.93				2-3
	Very Rarely	48	3.76	0.94				
Relaxation	Sometimes	94	3.66	0.89	2-1915	26.410	.000*	1-3
	Frequently	58	4.00	0.86				2-3
	Very Rarely	48	3.57	0.92				1-3

Table 5. MANOVA Results of Participants' LSS Scores by Frequency of Participating in Weekly Physical Activities

Copyright $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

Physically	Sometimes	94	3.53	0.86	2-1915	32.635	.000*	
	Frequently	58	3.88	0.84				2-3
	Very Rarely	48	3.68	0.95				
Aesthetic	Sometimes	94	3.61	0.89	2-1915	17.334	.000*	1-3
	Frequently	58	3.89	0.86				2-3

**p<0.00, *p<0.05

Table 5 shows the MANOVA test results regarding the scores obtained by the participants in the sub-dimensions of the Leisure Time Satisfaction Scale (LSS) according to the frequency of their participation in weekly physical activities. Results of MANOVA analysis revealed a statistically significant difference in the main effect of "LSS" on sub-dimension scores according to the frequency of participation in weekly physical activities (p<0.05). It is concluded that the results of the analysis showed statistically significant differences in all sub-dimensions of the "LSS" of the participants. According to the results of the Tukey test, which was conducted to determine which group the differentiation is in, it is concluded that the average scores of the participants who frequently participated in the activities were higher than the average scores of the participants who rarely participated in the activities and the sub-dimension scores of the individuals who sometimes participated.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The aim of the research is to reveal the attitudes of active athletes who are members of sports centres towards leisure time. When the demographic characteristics of the individuals participating in the research are examined, 50% of the individuals are female, 50% are male, and when their educational status is examined, 11.4% are primary school graduates, 41.1% are high school graduates, and 43.1% are university graduates, 4.4% of them are continuing their postgraduate education or graduated and considering the marital status, 51% of the individuals are married while 49% are single. When the frequency of participation in weekly physical activities of the participants is examined, it is determined that 17.6% of them participated in weekly physical activities very rarely, 52.3% sometimes participated in them, while 30.1% often participated in them. In the sub-dimension scores of the scale, it is determined that the highest average is found in the "Relaxation" (3.78) sub-dimension, and the lowest average is in the "Psychological" (3.56) sub-dimension at the LSS sub-dimension. The first sub-problem of the study, "Is there a difference between the participants' LSS scores according to the gender variable?" in terms of the main effect of the gender variable on the question, it is determined that there was a significant difference in the "Psychological" sub-dimension and the "Relaxation" sub-dimensions of the participants' LSS scale. It is determined that the psychological and relaxation scores of the female participants are higher than the scores of the male participants. While the results of this study show parallelism with the results of the study conducted by Serdar and Ay (2016), Vong Tze (2005), Kabanoff (1982) and Ngai (2005), the results of this study do not coincide with the results of the study conducted by Ardahan and Yerlisu Lapa (2010), Çelik (2011), Ayyıldız (2015). When Kalfa (2017) compared leisure satisfaction levels according to gender in his study, "psychological" and "physiological" sub-dimension scores differed statistically significantly according to gender; concluded that male participants has higher satisfaction levels in psychological and physiological sub-dimensions. In the study of Güngörmüş et al. (2018), the "psychological", "educational" and "social" sub-dimension scores of individuals differed statistically significantly according to their gender; on the other hand, Gökçe (2008) examined leisure satisfaction levels according to gender in his study; while a significant difference was found in the "relaxation" and "physiological" satisfaction sub-dimensions, it was concluded that there was no significant difference in other sub-dimensions according to gender. In the study conducted by Küçük Kılıç et al. (2016), it was concluded that female participants had higher leisure time satisfaction in the "psychological", "educational", "social" and "relaxation" sub-dimensions


of the research group. We find similar findings in the literature. Although there are similarities; it can be said that the reason for the differences is the date of the study, sample groups and socio-demographic variables.

According to the second sub-problem of the research, "Is there a difference between the participants' LSS scores according to the Educational Status variable?" it is determined that the main effect of the question on the subdimension scores of "LSS" according to their educational status is significant. In terms of the main effect of the education status, it is concluded that only the "Relaxation" sub-dimension scores of the participants' LSS differed statistically significantly. On the other hand, it is determined that the sub-dimension scores and the scores of high school graduates were higher in the sub-dimension of "Relaxation" of the individuals who graduated from university or postgraduate or continue their education. In his master's thesis study, Öztaş (2018) concluded that the "educational status" and "vocational years of work" variables of the participants did not differ significantly in the sub-dimension level of the Leisure Satisfaction Scale.

In the third sub-problem of the research, "Is there a difference between the participants' LSS scores according to the Variable of Frequency of Participation in Weekly Physical Activities?" according to the frequency of participation in weekly physical activities to the question, a statistically significant difference is found in the main effect of the "LSS" on the sub-dimension scores. It is concluded that the results of the analysis showed statistically significant differences in all sub-dimensions of the "LSS" of the participants. According to the results of the Tukey test, which was conducted to determine which group the differentiation is in, it is concluded that the average scores of the participants who frequently participated in weekly physical activities in all sub-dimensions and the scores of the participants who rarely participated in the activities were higher than the average scores of the participated.

As a result, as the leisure time of the participants increases; it can be interpreted that the number of activities participated in increases and the level of satisfaction will be higher than other groups.

REFERENCES

- Amestoy, V.A., Rosal, R.S. ve Toscano, V.E. (2008). The Leisure Experience. *The Journal of SocioEconomics*. 37: 64–78.
- Ardahan F., Lapa T.Y. (2010). Üniversite Öğrencilerinin Serbest Zaman Tatmin Düzeylerinin Cinsiyete ve Gelire Göre İncelenmesi. Hacettepe Spor Bilimleri Dergisi, 21(4): 129-136.
- Ayyıldız T. (2015). Rekreatif Dans Faaliyetlerine Katılan Bireylerin Serbest Zaman Tatmin Düzeylerinin İncelenmesi. Gazi Üniversitesi Sağlık Bilimleri Enstitüsü. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Ankara.
- Beard, J.G. ve Ragheb, M.G. (1983). Measuring Leisure Motivation. Journal of Leisure Research. 15: 219–228.
- Brown, P. (2016). The Benefits of Leisure and Recreation. *Journal of Park and Recreation Administration*, 34(4), 103-105.
- Chick, G., Hsu, Y.C., Yeh, C.K., Hsieh, C.M., Bae, S.Y. ve Iarmolenko, S. (2016). Cultural Consonance in Leisure, Leisure Satisfaction, Life Satisfaction, and Self-Rated Health in urban Taiwan. *Leisure Sciences*, 38(5): 402–423.
- Çelik G. (2011). Kamu kuruluşlarında çalışan engelli bireylerin serbest zaman engellerinin ve tatmin düzeylerinin incelenmesi (Antalya merkez örneği), Akdeniz Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü. Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Antalya.
- Demirel, M. ve Harmandar, D. (2009). Üniversite Öğlencilerinin Rekreasyonel Etkinliklere Katılımlarında Engel Oluşturabilecek Faktörlerin Belirlenmesi. *International Journal of Human Sciences*. 6(1): 838-846.
- Doğan, M., Elçi, G. ve Gürbüz, B. (2019). Serbest Zaman Doyumu, Serbest Zamanda Sıkılma Algısı ve İş Tatmini İlişkisi: Akademisyenler Üzerine Bir Araştırma. *Spormetre Beden Eğitimi ve Spor Bilimleri Dergisi*. 17(1): 154-164.
- Gürbüz B. ve Henderson, K.A. (2014) Leisure Activity Preferences and Constraints: Perspectives from Turkey. *World Leisure Journal*. 56(4): 300-316.
- Hsieh., M.C. (2009). The Study on Users' Participation Motivation and Leisure Benefits of Yang Ming Sport Park in Taoyuan City. *Journal of Management*. 1(2): 31- 57.
- Iglesias, T.M. ve Bello, A.S. (2019) Benefits of leisure in Overcoming Gender Violence Experiences: A Case Study. *Leisure Studies*. 38(1): 15-27.
- Kabanoff B. (1982). Occupational and sex differences in leisure needs and leisure satisfaction. Journal of Occupational Behavior, 3: 233-245.
- Kuo., C.T. (2013). A Study of the Correlation Between Leisure Benefits and Behavioral Intentions –Using Bantou Arts and Cultural Village as an Example. *International Review of Management and Business Research*. 2(4): 1065-1074.



- Lee, C.S. ve Fang, W. (2013). Mediating Effects of Hope between Leisure Satisfaction and University Life Adjusments of Chinese Students in Korea. *International Journal of Digital Content Technology and its Applications*. 7(1).
- Mattingly, J.M. ve Bianchi, S.B. (2003). Gender Differences in the Quantity and Quality of Free Time: The U.S. Experience. *Social Fores.* 81(3): 999-1030.
- Nagla, M. (2006). Yoga, Health and Leisure: Attitudes of Women in Haryana. *World Leisure Journal*. 48(2): 23-34.
- Ngai V.T. (2005). Leisure satisfaction and quality of life in Macao, China. Leisure Studies, 24(2): 195-207.
- Paggi, M.E., Jopp, D. ve Hertzog, C. (2016). The Importance of Leisure Activities in the Relationship between Physical Healt and Well-Being in a Life Span Sample. Gerontology. 62: 450-458.
- Pressman, S.D., Matthews, K.A., Cohen, S., Martire, L.M., Scheier, M., Baum, A., Schulz, R. (2009). Association of Enjoyable Leisure Activities with Psychological and Physical Well-Being. Psychosomatic Medicine. 71(1): 725-732.
- Roberts, K. (2018). Writing About Leisure. World Leisure Journal. 60(1): 3-13.
- Rojek, C. (2005). Leisure Theory: Principles and Practice. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.
- ÖZTAŞ, Ilhan. (2018) "Farkli Kurumlarda Çalişan Memurlarin Serbest Zaman Doyum Ve Mutluluk Düzeylerinin Belirlenmesi (Kirikkale İli Örneği)" Yüksek Lisans Tezi Beden Eğitimi ve Spor Anabilim Dalı, Ağri İbrahim Çeçen Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Beden Eğitimi Ve Spor Anabilim Dalı.
- Roberts, K. (2011). Is Leisure Studies "Ethnocentric"? If So, Does This Matter?. World Leisure Journal. 52: 164–176
- Sarol, H. (2017). Bireylerin Fiziksel Aktiviteye Katılımını Engelleyen Ve Kolaylaştıran Faktörlerin Belirlenmesi. International Journal of Human Science, 14(4), 4354-4364.
- Serdar E. ve Mungan Ay S.(2016). Üniversite Öğrencilerinin Katıldıkları Serbest Zaman Etkinliklerinden Tatmin Olma ve Algılanan Özgürlük Düzeylerinin İncelenmesi. İÜ Spor Bilimleri Dergisi, 6(2): 1303-1414.
- Verghese, J., LeValley, A., Derby, C., Kuslansky, G., Katz, M., Hall, C., Buschke, H. ve Lipton, R.B. (2006). Leisure Activities and The Risk of Amnestic Mild Cognitive Impairment in The Elderly. *Neurology*. 66: 821–827.
- Vong TN. (2005). Leisure satisfaction and quality of life in Macao, China. Leisure Studies, 24(2): 195-207.
- Yamashita, T., Bardo, A.R. ve Liu, D. (2018). Time Spent on Beneficial Leisure Activities Among Elder Caregivers in Their Third Age. *Leisure Sciences*. 40(5): 356-373.
- Yerlisu Lapa, T. (2013). Life Satisfaction, Leisure Satisfaction and Perceived Freedom of Park Recreation Participants. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*. 93: 1985-1993.
- Yurcu, G. (2017). Kamu ve Özel Sektör Çalışanlarının Rekreatif Faaliyet Katılımı Sonucu Sağlık Algıları. Uluslararası Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi. 10(4): 942-951



Evaluation of the Electronic Applications Used in the Turkish Education System in the Context of School Administration

Abdullah BALIKÇI

Hasan Ali Yücel Faculty of Education, Istanbul University-Cerrahpasa, Turkey abdullah.balikci@iuc.edu.tr

Abstract

Technology increases its impact in every aspect of life. Because technology is a multidimensional concept, it can be defined in different ways. Şimşek & Akın (2013) define the concept as the whole of the techniques that people use in their interaction with their environment. Technology has an impact on education as in other fields. Filho, Manolas & Pace (2008) state that the use of technology in education is necessary for sustainable development. For the desired development in education, school administrators, who are responsible for managing the school, are expected to benefit from technology while performing their duties. School administrators can benefit from technology for various purposes. Among these purposes, administration works, education and training, that is, student-centered works, making plans and programs (Makewa, Meremo, Role & Role, 2013; Page-Jones, 2008; Xiong & Lim, 2015); providing opportunities for teachers to benefit from technological applications (K1z1ltepe-Ayhan, 2017); development and evaluation, support, encouragement, planning and supervision, ethics and safety issues (Baykara, 2018; Gökoğlu, 2014).

When the literature on the subject is scanned, it is seen that technology is predominantly evaluated in the context of leadership and student success (Aktaş, 2018; Baykara, 2018; Engür, 2014; Gökoğlu, 2014; Gürkan, 2017; Güven, 2015; Kızıltepe-Ayhan, 2017; Scale, 2014; Prokopiadou, 2011; Ulukaya, 2018; Weng, Tang, 2014; Yılmaz, 2018). It is thought that the current research will contribute to the field by examining the technology-school management relationship in terms of various electronic applications. The aim of this research is to understand the effect of electronic applications on school management and administrators.

The research was conducted in the qualitative research method and case study pattern. 15 school administrators participated in the research. Data were collected through interviews.

In the research, it is seen that electronic applications, which have been used in the Turkish Education System especially after 2007, have contributed a lot to school administrators. Among these, it can be stated that it contributes to the faster and more comfortable work, saves time and documents, facilitates accessing and archiving information, and speeds up communication. It is understood that infrastructure such as the internet, computers, and the ability of managers to use technology are sufficient to achieve the specified benefits. Although electronic applications are used, it is understood that there are situations where previous applications should be used, albeit limited. However, there are also shortcomings of the applications such as not updating the trainings over time and having factors that reduce motivation.

The interaction of electronic applications with the education system makes itself felt both formally and informally. It is understood that it has transformed the bureaucratic structure, which is identified with paperwork, workload and work intensity, in a way that will please the employees. In addition, it is among the positive reflections that it contributes to organizational memory by providing easy access to the desired information at all times. The provision of all these benefits is not only possible with electronic applications determined by the senior management. In addition, school administrators benefit from the applications they use in their daily lives while performing their duties. In this way, time and communication-based gains can be achieved.

Based on the data, the following can be recommended for practitioners: Electronic applications can be updated. Based on the update, periodic trainings can be given to increase the ability of school administrators to use these applications and to increase their knowledge on how to use the system.

For researchers, the following can be suggested: More comprehensive research can be conducted based on new applications that may arise due to the increasingly intense use of electronic applications. Research can be done to include teachers.

Keywords: Turkish Education System, School Management



INTRODUCTION

Technology increases its effect in all areas of life. Technology can be defined in different ways as it is a multidimensional concept. Şimşek & Akın (2013) defines this concept as the whole of the techniques people use in their interaction with their environment. Appelbaum (1997) argues that technological applications should include various social aspects. These are the impact of technological procedures and supporting systems on the organization and people, whether technological changes cause social resistance, the interaction of technological changes with the current structure, the state of readiness for technological changes, and finally the level of strengths and weaknesses of technological changes. It would be more appropriate for the organization to integrate technological (electronical) applications, taking into account both technical and social contributions together (Mariani, 2019). Technology is also considered as one of the five components that make up the structure of the organization (Figure 1).



Figure 1: Five components of an organization (Mintzberg, 2014, p. 20)

As is seen in Figure 1, technology has an integral and valued component that forms the organization and contributes to the development of the organization. It contributes to the administration in fulfilling the function of the organization.

As in other fields, technology affects education. Filho, Manolas & Pace (2008) state that the use of technology in education is necessary for sustainable development. To achieve the desired improvement in education, school administrators who are responsible for administrating the school are expected to benefit from technology while performing their duties. School administrators can benefit from technology for various purposes. Some of these purposes are carrying out administrative tasks, education and training works, student-centered works, and preparing plans and programs (Makewa, Meremo, Role & Role, 2013; Page-Jones, 2008; Xiong & Lim, 2015); providing opportunities for teachers to benefit from technological electronic applications (K1z1ltepe-Ayhan, 2017), and paying attention to development and evaluation, support, encouragement, planning and supervision, ethics and safety issues (Baykara, 2018; Gökoğlu, 2014). However, the attitudes of school administrators and their attitudes towards teachers are determinative in bringing the technology to the school environment, using it effectively, and making it



a part of life (Aktaş, 2016; Ölçek, 2014). These issues indicate that the use of electronic applications in education will continue to increase (Berry & Marx, 2010; Gürkan, 2017).

School administrators mostly benefit from the use of technology. Some of the advantages are being better perceived and accepted by teachers (Yılmaz, 2018); increasing the speed of works, and having an effect on carrying out the works in line with their purposes (Engür, 2014; Güven, 2015; Ulukaya, 2015), and affecting student success (Morrow, 2010). Factors such as age, type of school, place of residence, and time spent with computers (Çevik & Baloğlu, 2007), and skills and knowledge regarding the electronic applications that may be beneficial to students (Bakioğlu & Şentuna, 2001) can be effective in school administrators' use of technology at the desired level. The findings are indicating that school administrators are sufficient in terms of the specified factors and technological infrastructure in schools and that they can use technology effectively (Eren & Kurt, 2011; Fraillon, Ailley, Schulz, Friedman & Gebhardt, 2013; Görgülü, Küçükali & Ada, 2013).

Using technology at school positively influence the school climate (Baş, 2012); provide teamwork and a learning organizational environment (Banoğlu, Vanderlinde & Çetin, 2016); ensure the development of positive attitudes towards technology (Prokopiadou, 2011); increase the influence of the school administrators in the school (Weng & Tang, 2014); establish a digital archive and contribute to the development of teachers and administrators technologically (Akgün, 2019); provide information administration, communication, problem-solving, and sharing (Fraillon, Ailley, Schulz, Friedman & Gebhardt, 2013); increase the level of communication with the environment (Esposito, 2013); make it easier for the administrators to administrate the school (Puckett, 2014), increase teachers' skills, sense of responsibility, and motivation to use electronic applications (Bulden, Hurt & Richardson, 2017; Kuo, 2015). To realize the mentioned advantages, it is necessary to ensure collaboration in the school and to benefit from experts who will bring out the potential (Bouchard & Stegemoller, 2019).

School administrators can benefit from tools and applications such as E-school, MoNEIS (Ministry of National Education Information System), mobile phones, and social media to use technology beneficially for themselves and the school (Abrego & Jauregui, 2019; Akın, 2016; Garcia; Gökalp, 2018; İbil, 2012). However, such applications also affect the existing structure (bureaucratic structure) in the school. The researcher believes that electronic applications have different reflections on bureaucracy. Electronic applications reduce the effect of bureaucratic practices in the organization and cause change. Electronic applications and bureaucracy can also be determinant in terms of whether the organization has an effective structure or not. At that point, bureaucracy has a negative effect on the change of organizational structure and the effect of technological applications (Kim, Paik & Lee, 2014). Also, electronic applications contribute to the reflection of the bureaucracy's features such as hierarchy, standard business procedure creation and filing, to maintain order in the organization (Dormann, Hinz & Witmann, 2019).

The Turkish education system reflects the effects of electronic applications. Electronic (technological) applications have been used in the Turkish education system especially since 2007 (Table 1).

Table 1: Electronic applications used in the Turkish education system					
The Electronic Application Used	Year of Commencement	The Purpose of the Use			
e- school	2007	To be able to follow the students' work and transactions related to the school			
e- parent	2007	Parents' access to school information related to the student			
KBS (Public Expenditure and Accounting Information System)	2009	Easier processing and archiving of personnel salary transactions in digital environment			
MEBBIS (Ministry of National Education Information Systems)	2007	Personnel monitoring their own information and easily accessing the institution's information about the personnel.			
TEFBİS (Information Administration System of Education Financing and Education Expenses in Turkey)	2010	Monitoring the income and expenses of the institution.			

 Table 1: Electronic applications used in the Turkish education system



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

e-informal education	2010	Monitoring the vocational, sports and exercise activities carried out through public education centers.
School Milk	2012	Encouraging healthy nutrition by providing students with the habit of drinking milk daily.
EBA	2014	Providing distance education opportunities for students to continue their educational activities.
e-course	2016	Supporting students for their lessons.
DYS (Document Management System)	2017	Ensuring that correspondence between institutions is done in digital environment.

(Table was created by benefiting from www.meb.gov.tr)

As is seen in Table 1, school administrators have used electronic applications increasingly and intensely for various purposes in the Turkish education system since 2007. Applications include both educational and administrative affairs.

Research gap and research questions

While searching this issue in the literature, the following points draw the researcher's attention. First, the researcher has noticed that technology is intensely discussed in the context of leadership and student success (Aktaş, 2018; Baykara, 2018; Engür, 2014; Gökoğlu, 2014; Gürkan, 2017; Güven, 2015; Kızıltepe-Ayhan, 2017; Ölçek, 2014; Prokopiadou, 2011; Ulukaya, 2018; Weng & Tang, 2014; Yılmaz, 2018). Second, the researcher has come across studies that include different findings on the reflection of technology on the current school administration structure (Kim, Paik & Lee, 2014; Dormann, Hinz & Witmann, 2019). Third, as the mentioned in Table 1, the researcher hasn't found enough research on the reflection of the applications used in the Turkish Education System on the school administration. Current researches include a few of the 10 applications stated in Table 1 (Akın, 2016; Gökalp, 2018; İbil, 2012). Finally, technology has a social dimension (Appelbaum, 1997; Mariani, 2019). Therefore, based on the above-mentioned points, the researcher could not access up-to-date, comprehensive and sufficient research on the interaction between school administration and technology. The present study is significant as it examined the relationship between technology and school administration in terms of various electronic applications, taking into account the comprehensive and current situation, revealing the interaction with the existing structure, and displaying the effect of technology in school administration. The researcher believes it can be useful in terms of providing practical data to the field as well as to the policy makers in education. This is because the electronic applications specified in Table 1 are increasingly used by school administrators. This situation shows that electronic applications have serious effects on school administration. In this study, the researcher aimed to reveal the reflections of electronic applications used in the Turkish education system on school administration because electronic applications increasingly have reflections on school administration from different aspects and also there is not enough research on this issue. Thus, the researcher looked for answers to the following questions:

1. According to school administrators, what are the reflections of the electronic applications used in the Turkish education system on the school administration?

2. According to school administrators, how does the electronic applications used in the Turkish education system interact with the current structure?

METHOD

The electronic applications used by school administrators in their daily lives and the opinions of the two academics researching the field provided the opinion that the qualitative research method was suitable for this specific study. Qualitative research aims at revealing how people make sense of their lives through their experiences (Creswell, 2016, p. 44). Electronic applications that have been used in the Ministry of National Education since 2007 were considered. Therefore, a case study design was preferred. A case study is a design aiming to reveal the experiences in real environments in a deep and meaningful way (Yin, 2014, p. 16).

PARTICIPANTS

The study group consisted of fifteen school principals and assistant school principals working in public schools in Istanbul province, Turkey, in the 2019-2020 academic year. The data regarding the participants are shown in Table 2.



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

Branch						
Class	Religious Culture and Moral Knowledge	Science and Technology	Mathematics	Information Technology	Turkish	Social Sciences
5	3	2	1	1	2	1
Role						
School	Assistan	t School				
Principal	Principal	1				
10	5					
Profession	nal Seniority					
0-5 years	6-11 yea	rs 12-1	17 years	18-23 years	24 year	s and over
1	5	5		3	1	
Administ	ration Seniorit	У				
0-5 years	6-11 yea	rs 12-1	17 years			
8	6	1				

Table 2: Participant information

According to Table 2, school administrators with different qualifications in terms of branch, role, and seniority participated in this study. The diversity of the participants is important in terms of including different perspectives and experiences in the study. Thus, the emergence of a one-sided mindset can be prevented by addressing the issue only from the perspective of the school administrators or assistant principals. This situation may also contribute to the reliability-validity of the research. It was determined that school principals participated more. In this study, an easily accessible situation sampling method was used as the school administrators who were observed in various environments and with whom the research subject was shared. In addition to this, the criterion sampling method was used as the opinions and suggestions of the participants were taken into account. Miles & Huberman (2015, p. 28) state that easily accessible sampling is preferred for time, financial reasons, and flexibility while Yıldırım & Şimşek (2011, p. 112) state that criterion sampling is preferred as it is based on the pre-established criteria.

Data collection and analysis process

The data were collected through semi-structured interviews and documents. The interview form was prepared by considering the literature and taking the opinions of two school administrators expected to participate in the study, two academicians working in this field, and language experts. The pilot application of the prepared interview form was applied to two participants and the results were evaluated with the above-mentioned experts. Other interviews (thirteen interviews) were conducted as the questions in the interview form were considered to be suitable for this study. The same approach was followed for the interview data and research report. The data related to the subject were reflected in the research report. The interview form included questions about the electronic applications used by school administrators, their effect on the school administration, and the comparison of before and after the applications. The interview form consisted of two parts. The first part asked for participants' democgraphic information (Table 2). In the second part, 13 questions were asked to the participants. Two questions were related to the method (the relevance of questions to the subject) and ethics (the use of research permission and data). The contents of the remaining 11 questions were as follows: The thoughts on electronic applications, the effect and reflection of these applications on school administration (in terms of time administration, bureaucracy, archive, infrastructure), comparison of pre and post electronic applications in terms of school administration, evaluation of electronic applications in terms of their use, comparison of electronic applications in terms of formal and informal aspects, and finally, taking the thoughts to be added about the subject. The secondary data source of this study were documents. Eight documents regulating the official acts of school administrators - one Presidential Decree, one regulation and circular, and five directives - were analyzed. According to the literature, official documents can be used in document analysis (Patton, 2014, p. 4). When analyzing the data, the descriptive analysis technique was used as it was aimed to reflect the opinions of the participants to the research. The descriptive analysis technique is important in terms of revealing the opinions of the participants in the research in a meaningful way (Yıldırım &



Şimşek, 2011, p.224). In this study, the content analysis technique was also used to reach new meanings from the data in terms of school administration (Table 3). The purpose of content analysis is to reach new meanings by making systematic inferences from the data (Krippendorff, 2004, p.18). Special attention was paid to obtain individual and institutional permissions. For quotation, the real names of the participants were not used. Another reason for gathering sufficient data during the research process is thought to be the sincere behaviors of the participants. This is due to the voluntary participation of the participants in the study. Finally, it can be stated that the research process was completed smoothly as planned by the researcher.

Validity and reliability

Five of the strategies recommended by Christensen, Johnson & Turner (2015, p. 405) were used to ensure the validity-reliability of this study. These are i) Data diversification: Interviews (15 interviews) and documents (8 official documents) were used in this study. ii) External auditing: The whole process was evaluated by two researchers, one school administrator, and language-expression expert. iii) Quoting: Some of the opinions that could contribute were also included. iv) Peer evaluation: The opinions of two other researchers and one school administrator about this study were obtained. v) Reflective thinking: It is considered that the fact that the researcher worked as a school administrator in the past and used electronic applications would contribute to a better reflection of the situations desired to be explained through the data.

FINDINGS

In this study, the findings were obtained from the interviews and documents.

Findings obtained through the interviews

2 categories, 8 subcategories, and 27 codes emerged in this study (Table 3).

Table 3: Categories,	sub-categories and	codes emerged in	the research
0 /	0	0	

	Categories	Categories
	Evaluation of Electronic Applications Used in	Interaction of Electronic Applications
Categories	the Turkish Education System since 2007	Used in the Turkish Education System
-		with the Current Structure since 2007
Sub-categories	Evaluation in terms of use	Interaction in terms of bureaucracy
	Speeding up the works	Workload
	Unity in electronic applications	Waste of time
	Providing flexibility	Paper works
	Making archive works easier	
	Reducing workload	
Codes	Making works easier	
	Ease of control	
	Requiring various arrangements and updates	
	Reducing motivation	
	Affecting health	
Sub-categories	Evaluation in terms of school administrators	Interaction in terms of organizational
		memory
Codes	Using technology	Providing convenience in accessing and
		storing information
	The adequacy of the training provided	Saving time and space
	Learning style	
	Obtaining opinions	
Sub-categories	Evaluation in terms of time administration	Interaction in terms of unofficial electronic
		applications
Codes	Saving time	Speeding up the communication
	Increasing workload	Making works easier
Sub-categories	Evaluation in terms of infrastructure	6
Codes	The technical infrastructure of the school	
	The adequacy of the user infrastructure	
Sub-categories	Evaluation for comparing the applications with	
0	the previous ones	
Codes	Improved	
	Maintaining the previous one as it is	



According to Table 3, the emerging categories, sub-categories and codes were the evaluation of electronic applications used in the Turkish education system and their interaction with the existing structure. According to the relevant table, electronic applications had intense and different effects on the education system.

Category 1: Evaluation of electronic applications used in the Turkish education system

Five sub-categories and twenty codes emerged in this category.

Evaluation in terms of use

The participants addressed electronic applications from two perspectives. These perspectives suggested that the applications were useful and some aspects needed to be improved. The participants attached importance to the electronic applications as a solution to the reduction of bureaucracy-based workload, which they considered as a problem the most. In this regard, Hüsamettin stated that "it reduces the use of documents" while Muhammet stated that "there were systems that relieved the school administrators very much in terms of following up the completed works, and reducing the bureaucracy and paperwork". The participants also emphasized that one of the advantages was speeding up the works and, thus, making works easier. Hüsamettin clarified his opinions as follows: "Official electronic applications have functional aspects such as facilitating, accelerating, providing unity in implementation, and providing data for central planning". Another advantage of these applications was their contribution to the archive services. Participants considered that an application in which they could use the information they needed later was useful. Ramazan's opinions were as follows: "...the positive aspect of these applications is that they are ideal in terms of storing information and accessing ready information...". The participants also emphasized that this allowed the applications to be used at the desired time (flexibility) by avoiding confusion through unity in electronic applications and provided ease of control. Some of the opinions of the participants were as follows: Salih: "...Mistakes are determined instantly. They can be monitored continuously. "As there is no time and place limitation, we can do these procedures when we are not at school". Rüstü: "...As it is gathered under a single-center, it can be used wherever you go in Turkey".

The participants expressed that the technological applications were not only beneficial but also they had negative aspects that needed to be improved. Betül clarified supporting the existing electronic applications with various applications as follows: "It would be appropriate to apply 3 types of more simple and useful (primary, elementary, and high school) fixed themes and provide the opportunity to add information more easily". Rüştü provided his opinions on the inclusion of situations that may negatively affect their motivation from time to time as follows: "I support the use of BİMER (Prime Ministry Communication Center) and ALO 147, but we administrators suffer a lot as these channels are misused sometimes. These situations do not comfort us, but stress us out". Tarık expressed administrators' becoming dependent on the computers as follows: "It requires a person to always depend on a computer".

Evaluation in terms of the effect on school administrators

According to the participants, electronic applications showed an effect in two perspectives. First of them was the effect in terms of the knowledge and skill of the school administrators in using technology. The reasons like the school administrators' ability to use the technology individually, their interest in technology and their ability to keep up with the time can be the basis for the infrastructural skills of the school administrators in technology. Moreover, school administrators followed technological applications closely and they used these applications when performing their duties. Abdullah: "We can follow the digital application through mobile phones from wherever we are. We don't even have to be at the school". Muhammet: "These applications make everything easy for the school administrators who are already good at using technology". Ramazan: "We use it effectively... Second, the participants noted that although school administrators receive training for these applications, it becomes inadequate in time because there are no updates for the training. The participants stated that the training is useful, and it needs to continue. Serdar: "However, this training is inadequate". Abdullah: "This training is insufficient". As expressed by the participants, Abdullah and Serdar learned these applications by themselves or asking the others, as Salih and Emin noted too. Salih: "After the system started to be implemented, we could learn the mistakes or what we didn't understand from the instructors or the other users over time". Emin: "We got training for 2 days for the last DMS, but it is not possible to learn it only with the training, it has to be acquired by practicing." Moreover, the researcher considered that the applications should be updated according to the users' comments and some precautions should be taken for the unwanted situations. Rüstü: "Provided that the positive and negative aspects of the applications are compensated by the superior authorities, we can always update the system". Abdullah: "We come across various difficulties or good aspects when applying these systems. Our friends can discover the innovations and they inform us about the deficiencies".



Evaluation in terms of time administration

The participants agreed that electronic applications were time-saving. These applications can be quite useful in making time for different works simultaneously. Mustafa: "We can make more time for school". Hasan: "These applications save time for us. We use the time more productively thanks to these applications". However, the participants also expressed that there were negative aspects of the applications along with the positive ones. The researcher saw that these applications brought about new workloads, and this would compromise their advantages although they make it easier to perform the works. Ahmet: "Although it saves time for us, we cannot use its advantages as the workload increases over time."

Evaluation in terms of the infrastructure

The participants evaluated the infrastructure in two perspectives: The technical infrastructure of the school and the infrastructure of the users. The participants, except for three (Emine, Rüştü, Zeynep), expressed that schools have adequate infrastructure to be able to use the applications despite the deficiencies. This situation indicates that there have been improvements in schools in terms of infrastructure over time. Hüsamettin: "*The infrastructure at schools is good in general but the systems have to be improved for busy periods*". Abdullah: "We experience some slowdown in the network compared to past but it is fine in general". The participants agreed on the fact that the users didn't have any difficulties in keeping up with the infrastructure and that they could use the applications smoothly. However, opinions were reflecting that some school administrators experienced difficulties using these applications. Tarik: "The school administrators adapted to the system, too. Those who didn't adapt themselves got retired and took themselves out of the case". Hasan: Our friends, who had been school administrators for a long time, stayed inactive because they were not willing to learn this kind of application. On the contrary, others, who had been administrators for 5-10 years, were very eager and successful in this regard".

Evaluation of the applications for comparing with the past

The participants compared the situation before and after they used electronic applications when expressing their opinions. The participants stated that they experienced positive aspects after they started to use these electronic applications. These positive aspects were the acceleration of the processes by finishing the work easily, using the time productively and efficiently, and easy access to information. Some of the opinions were as follows: Tarrk: *"The current situation is more comfortable and practical. Any information is there for the taking: there is no need to look for information about the students or staff from the archive"*. Ramazan: *"Let me give an example: Our school is old and our graduate students demand their diplomas. In past, we had to search for their documents year by year and rewrite them on the computer. Finally, we were getting the hard-copy and signing it. But now we just need their ID number to find the needed information immediately. Later, we just get it printed and sign it to deliver"*. However, it may be necessary to use the previous methods by necessity even if electronic applications are preferred more. Previous methods are still useful when there are some problems with the network or computer infrastructure (especially for the procedures before 2007). Emine: *"I use it in case there is a problem with the computer"*. Muhammet: *"For example, we go downstairs for the diploma records of our students graduate before 2007. We look at the promotion records in the archive"*.

In this category, the researcher determined that the participants were pleased with the electronic applications as they contributed to the work by making it fast, easy, effective, and productive. Electronic applications had negative aspects and they needed to be improved along with their advantages. Although electronic applications were generally used in the system, previous applications were also used from time to time to perform the work.

Category 2: The interaction of the digital applications in the Turkish education system with the current structure

In this categoriy, there were three sub-categories and seven codes.

Interaction in terms of bureaucracy

The participants considered that digital applications brought along the characteristic alterations and improvements within the current structure. The participants also considered that bureaucracy was drastically reduced with the help of digital applications, which they especially identified with the workload, waste of time, and paperwork. The participants were satisfied with this alteration. The researcher understood from the opinions that electronic applications led to transformation and advancement in the current structure. Some of the opinions were as follows: Salih "Actually, all applications reduce our workload because they provide us with the chance to work independently of setting, warn us immediately about the mistakes, and delivering the information instantly to the other side without wasting time". Serdar: "These applications have countless positive aspects. They speed up the bureaucracy..." However, some opinions reflected that different kinds of work emerged and the workload increased because of the ease and speed of communication. Abdullah: "Of course, the applications make things easier but sometimes they make it harder, too". Zeynep: "It's like bureaucracy is increasing with the ease of work".



Interaction in terms of organizational memory

The participants attached importance to the archive studies which can be seen as the most significant element of the organizational memory at the school. School administrators expressed that electronic applications contributed positively to archive studies, too. Along with bringing up a novel approach to archive studies, its positive contributions were as follows: Preventing information loss, facilitating the access to information, saving from time and space. Some of the opinions in this regard were as follows: Hüsamettin: *"I think that it affects the organizational memory positively without doubt as it records the activities." Rüştü: "It reduced the archive studies. Now it comes from the DMS and we put it into the folder after adding the appendix. We don't print it if it has nothing to do with us. We don't file them anymore. Moreover, the document record book is no longer used either. The incoming or outgoing document record book is not used anymore, too".*

Interaction in terms of informal applications

The participants didn't only use formal applications with a perspective to running the work faster and easier but they also used informal applications when handling the formal works. According to the participants, these applications contributed to the work being done relevantly as much as the formal ones. Therefore, these applications help the work to progress faster and provide both formal and informal communication between employees. In short, this aspect of electronic applications can be useful both individually and organizationally. Some of the opinions were as follows: Tarik: "We use them. Our school has a WhatsApp group, a Twitter account, a Facebook profile, a Gmail account, and an SMS group. We use them all". Muhammet: "We don't only use the formal systems. Why? Because they are faster in terms of communication. For example, we use WhatsApp the most". Emin: "We also use informal applications such as WhatsApp, mail, Twitter, Facebook. We use these informal applications especially to share the activities and communicate quickly.

In this category, the participants stated that electronic applications had interaction with the current structure in both formal and informal ways. The participants especially emphasized its contribution in terms of performing the works faster and easier, easy access to information, and archiving the available information. The researcher made an inference that the most important contribution of the electronic applications to school administration was that they enabled the bureaucratic structure to be managed in a better, faster and flexible way.

The findings obtained through the documents

The following points attracted attention in eight documents (one Presidential Decree, one apiece regulation and circular letter and five directives) included in this study:

1. Being included in the 10th chapter of the Presidential Decree and being one of the articles regulating the Ministry of National Education, Article 322, Directorate for Information Technologies is the unit managing and leading the electronic applications within the scope of Turkish Education System.

2. The applications that should be used most by the school administrators were E-School (Electronic School), MoNEIS (Ministry of National Education Information Systems), EIN (Education and Information Network), IMSFEEET (Information Management System of Financing of Education and Education Expenses in Turkey), PEAI (Public Expenditures and Accounting Informatics), and DMS (Document Management System).

3. There were items regulating the infrastructure for giving and receiving education, network connection, and Internet usage.

4. It was requested to include the electronic applications in the plans to be applied in schools.

5. It was requested that the internal and external stakeholders of the school benefit from these electronic applications.

6. It was aimed to get the desired efficiency from applications through terms like education media and e-content. The data obtained through the opinions and documents showed that school administrators used electronic applications increasingly day by day. This was because that these applications were accessible and practical, they have the alternatives (formal and informal applications), they enable access and preservation of information, the infrastructure was improved day by day, and bureaucracy was implemented more flexibly at school as a natural result of these. In this regard, it can be concluded that the information obtained through the interviews and the documents were in parallel with each other.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In this study, which was conducted with the qualitative research method, it was seen that electronic applications started to be used in the Turkish Education System especially after 2007 had many contributions to the school administrators. Some of these were contributing to making works faster and more comfortable, saving time and documents, facilitating the process of accessing and archiving information, and speeding up the communication. It was understood that infrastructure such as the internet, computer and the ability of administrators to use technology was sufficient to achieve the above-mentioned advantages. Although electronic applications were used, it was understood that there were cases where previous applications should be used, even if they were limited.



However, these electronic applications also had deficiencies such as not updating the training over time and having factors that reduce motivation. In the literature, it was expressed that technology-based electronic applications facilitate access to data, unity in electronic applications, and access to information (Gökalp, 2018), increase communication, collaboration, and, therefore, performance (Stephenson, 2007), provide practicality and suitable opportunities for the works, facilitate access to the resources, and allow easy and flexible work (Unger & Tracey, 2013). It is seen that it is important to follow and pioneer innovations to benefit from the technology-based electronic applications as desired (Huber & Hiltman, 2010), providing the tools to be used and providing the appropriate environment (Gürfidan & Koç, 2016; Sugar & Holloman, 2009), provide resources, increase motivation, and consider subordinates' opinions in administration (Armağan, Öz & Sever, 2020). On the other hand, in related studies, the school administrators stated that they were sufficient for these infrastructure services expected from them. In addition to this, they also expressed that they used applications such as e-school and MoNE DPS, but sometimes it was necessary to benefit from the previous applications (Akdemir, 2015; Baycan, 2018; Yörük, 2017). It is considered that the above-mentioned studies support the current study; however there is not enough data for electronic applications. The reason for this is considered to be because electronic applications were started to be used in the Turkish education system since 2007 and the studies generally focused on technologyleadership and technology-student success.

The interaction of electronic applications with the education system is felt formally and informally. It is understood that it transforms the bureaucratic structure, which is generally identified with especially paperwork, workload, and work intensity, in a way that satisfies the employees. In addition to this, one of the positive reflections was that it contributed to the organizational memory by providing easy access to the desired information. Achieving all these advantages is not only through electronic applications determined by senior administration. The school administrators also benefit from some applications they use in their daily lives when performing their duties. In this way, they can achieve gains in terms of time and communication. In literature, Şeker & Şeker (2009) define bureaucracy as reducing the workload and making things easier -changing the bureaucratic structure- while Balıkçı & Aypay (2018) define it as a combination of workload, paperwork, and time-consuming work. Yıldırım, Yılmaz & Balıkçı (2018) emphasize that Document Administration System (DMS), one of the systems used in the Turkish education system, is beneficial in terms of speeding up the work by recording and storing information and documents, but it needs to be updated and developed over time, and Chen (2013), Claudet (2002), Rikkerink, Verbeeten, Simons & Ritzen (2016) emphasize that making innovations will lead to new opportunities and developments for both professional and personal development of school administrators and teachers. It is seen that the school administrators use applications such as social media, e-portfolio, e-textbook by not only using computers, official applications, but also mobile phones, tablets, etc. (Bayram, 2017; Berry & Marx, 2010; Duran & Bayar, 2020; Mashaqbeh & Shurman, 2015) and, therefore, the use of technology provides benefits for teachers and students in terms of educational activities and the general works are sustained more effectively and efficiently (İra, Çolak & Geçer, 2019). It is seen that the results of the above-mentioned studies are generally in parallel with this study. However, it is considered that unofficial electronic applications are not partially in parallel with the results of this study due to insufficient reflection in the literature. This is because electronic applications have both social and technical contributions to the organization (Appelbaum, 1997; Mariani, 2019). For example, social media can make it easier for administrators to get enough information and access new information (Cao, Ali, Pitafi, Khan & Wagas, 2020). Also, it enables sustainable and quality administration programs to be organized. Therefore, it can pave the way for administrators to perform more effectively (Chaudhuria & Jayaram, 2019; Tofur, 2017). The aforementioned studies emphasize that the social dimension of technology should be considered with informal applications. However, the present study found that research did not focus on the social dimension (motivation, health, communication, etc.) of school administrators' interest in technology sufficiently. This shows that the current research confirms the relevant literature in terms of technology use such as speed, convenience, and decreasing workload. However, the findings of the current research did not coincide with the social dimension. The current research is considered to contribute to the literature in terms of emphasizing the social dimension of technology.

LIMITIATIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR RESEARCH AND PRACTICE

The present study has two limitations. First, inferences were made by taking into account the opinions of 15 school administrators. Second, electronic applications that were put into practice between 2007 and 2017 were considered.

Based on the data, the following recommendations can be made for the practitioners: Although the advantages of electronic applications are generally listed, some unwanted aspects (the presence of applications that can reduce motivation, adverse effects on the health, the need to update applications) are also encountered. The applications can be updated based on the opinions of the school administrators. Based on these updates, periodic training can be provided to increase the skills of school administrators for using these applications and increasing their knowledge on how to use the system. Based on some electronic applications, applications that increase and occupy school administrators' workload and reduce motivation can be reviewed and improved. The use of these



applications can be monitored to include more frequently used and concrete data. Irregularities that may occur can be prevented by introducing regulations for unofficial but frequently used electronic applications by school administrators. The following recommendations can be made for the researchers: Studies can be conducted based on new applications that may emerge due to the increasing use of electronic applications. Teachers can be included in such studies. Different methods can be used when conducting these studies. New theories can be put forward in the field of school administration by comparing the existing study results with the results of the studies conducted with different methods. It can be ensured that both theorists and practitioners are aware of the results by presenting the research results on different platforms. Thus, new research fields can be created for the theorists and a starting point can be established in the arrangements to be made for the practitioners.

REFERENCES

- Akdemir, E. (2015). Determining the technology-oriented in-service training needs of school administrators and proposing an in-service training program. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya. [In Turkish]
- Akgün, E. (2019). Digital transformation in the 2023 education vision. *Seta Perspektif, 233,* 1-6, retrieved from setav.org.tr on 27.09.2020.
- Akın, U. (2016). Innovation efforts in education and school administration: Views of Turkish school administrators. *Eurasian Journal of Educational Research*, 63, 243-260. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.14689/ejer.2016.63.14
- Aktaş, N. (2016). Investigation of technology leadership roles of school administrators in secondary education institutions. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Marmara University, Istanbul. [In Turkish]
- Appelbaum, S. H. (1997). Socio-technical systems theory: An intervention strategy for organizational development. *Management Decision*, *35*(6), 452–463.
- Armağan, Y., Öz, M., Sever, M. (2020). School principals and human relations. *Educational Administration: Theory and Practice*, 26(1), 1-58. [In Turkish]
- Bakioğlu, A., & Şentuna, T. (2001). Duties of teachers and school administrators in education with the Internet. *Pamukkale University Journal of Education*, 9, 10-18. [In Turkish]
- Balıkçı, A., & Aypay, A. (2018). An investigation of school principalship in the context of bureaucracy. *Electronic Turkish Studies*, *13*(11), 1535-1560.
- Banoğlu, K., Vanderlinde, R., & Çetin, M. (2016). Analysis of school principals' technology leadership profiles in the context of schools' learning organizational culture and technological infrastructure: fatih project schools and others. *Education and Science*, 41(188), 83-98. DOI: 10.15390/EB.2016.6618 [In Turkish]
- Baş, E. D. (2012). The relationship between primary school administrators' technology leadership roles and the school climate. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Maltepe University, Istanbul. [In Turkish]
- Baycan, Ş. (2018). The relationship between school administrators' technological competencies and communication skills according to teachers opinions. Unpublished Master's Thesis, İstanbul Sebahattin Zaim University, Istanbul. [In Turkish]
- Baykara, M. (2018). The competencies of public and private primary school administrators in technology leadership roles (Istanbul province, Bahçelievler district example). Unpublished Master's Thesis, İstanbul Sebahattin Zaim University, Istanbul. [In Turkish]
- Bayram, A. (2017). A qualitative study on the contribution of educational administrators' use of social media to educational administration. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 3(9),456-468. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.890967
- Berry, J. E., & Marx, G. (2010). Adapting to the pedagogy of technology in educational administration. *Scholar-Practitioner Quarterly*, 4(3), 245-255.
- Bouchard, M., & Stegemoller, W. J. (2019). Tools to support collaboration in educating emergent multilingual students: Jumpstart and electronic performance log. *I. E.: Inquiry in Education*, *11*(2), 1-22.
- Bulden, D. C., Hurt, J. W., & Richardson, M. K. (2017). Implementing digital tools to support student questioning abilities: A collaborative action research report. *I. E.: Inquiry in Education*, 9(1), 1-15.
- Cao, X., Ali, A., Pitafi, A., Khan, A., & Wagas, M. (2020). A socio-technical system approach to knowledge creation and team performance: evidence from China. *Information Technology & People*. DOI: 10.1108/ITP-10-2019-0536
- Caudet, J. (2002). Issues and directions in technology-integrated personnel assessment and professional development. *Journal of Personel Evaluation in Education*, 16(1), 7-10.
- Chaudhuria, A., & Jayaram, J. (2019). A socio-technical view of performance impact of integrated quality and sustainability strategies. *International Journal of Production Research*, *57*(5), 1478–1496. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2018.1492162



- Chen, W. (2013). School leadership in ict implementation: Perspectives from Singapore. *Asia- Pacific Edu Res.*, 22(3), 301–311. DOI: 10.1007/s40299-012-0055-8
- Christensen, L.B., Johnson, R.B., & Turner, L.A. (2015). Qualitative and mixed method research (M. Sever, Trans.), (A. Aypay, Trans. Ed.), in Research methods, design and analysis (pp. 400-433). Ankara: Anı. [In Turkish]
- Creswell, J. W. (2016). Qualitative research design. A. Budak ve İ. Budak, (Trans.), M. Bütün ve S. B. Demir, Trans. Ed.), in *Qualitative research methods* (pp. 42-68). Ankara: Siyasal. [In Turkish]
- Çevik, V., & Baloğlu, M. (2007). Investigation of school administrators' computer anxiety levels in terms of various variables. *Educational Administration: Theory and Practice*, 52, 547-568. [In Turkish]
- Dormann, M., Hinz, S., & Witmann, E. (2019). Improving school administration through information technology? How digitalisation changes the bureaucratic features of public school administration. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 47(2), 275–290. DOI: 10.1177/1741143217732793
- Duran, E., & Bayar, A. (2020). Teachers' opinions about using social media. *Igd Univ Jour Soc Sci*, 24, 425-447. [In Turkish]
- Engür, A. (2014). *Technology teachers' opinions on school principals' technological leadership skills*. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Akdeniz University, Antalya. [In Turkish]
- Eren, E., & Kurt, A. A. (2011). Technology leadership behaviors of primary school principals. *Uşak University Journal of Social Sciences*, 4(2), 219-238. [In Turkish]
- Esposito, M. (2013). An examination of secondary school teachers' technology integration recommended by *iste's national educational technology standards for teachers and school principal support for teacher technology efforts.* Doctoral dissertation retrieved from ProQuest dissertations and theses. UMI Number: 3574115
- Filho, W. L., Manolas, E., & Pace, P. (2008). Education for sustainable development: Current discourses and practices and their relevance to technology education. *Int J Technol Des Educ, 19*, 149–165. DOI: 10.1007/s10798-008-9079-z
- Fraillon, J., Ailley, J., Schulz, W., Friedman, T., & Gebhardt, E. (2013). *Preparing for life in a digital age*. Springer Open.
- Garcia, A., Abrego, J., & Jauregui, J. (2019). Technologies frequently used by elementary principals. *Universal Journal of Educational Research* 7(1), 95-105. DOI: 10.13189/ujer.2019.070113
- Gökalp, H. (2018). *Opinions of school administrators regarding the functionality of MoNEIS application*. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Akdeniz University, Antalya. [In Turkish]
- Gökoğlu, S. (2014). Evaluation of technology integration into learning environments with a system-based technology leadership model. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Karadeniz Technical University, Trabzon. [In Turkish]
- Görgülü, D., Küçükali, R., & Ada, Ş. (2013). Technological leadership self-efficacy of school administrators. *Educational Technology Theory and Practice*, 3(2), 53-71. [In Turkish]
- Gürfidan, H., & Koç, M. (2016). The effect of school culture, technology leadership, and support services on teachers' technology integration: A structural equation modeling. *Education and Science*, *41*(88), 99-116. [In Turkish]
- Gürkan, H. (2017). Investigating the relationship between school principals' technology leadership competencies and lifelong learning competencies. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Istanbul Sebahattin Zaim-Marmara University, Istanbul. [In Turkish]
- Güven, A. (2015). Investigation of technology leadership competency perceptions of high school administrators according to various variables. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Sakarya University, Sakarya. [In Turkish]
- Huber, S. G., & Hiltman, M. (2010). Competence profile school management (CPSM) an inventory for the self-assessment of school leadership. *Educ Asse Eval Acc*, 23, 65–88. DOI:10.1007/s11092-010-9111-1
- Hus, J. A., & Eastep, S. (2013). The Perceptions of Students toward Online Learning at a Midwestern University: What are Students Telling Us and What Are We Doing About It? I. E.: Inquiry in Education, 4(2), 1-21.
- Ira, N., Gecer, A., & Colak, I. (2019). Detecting the opinions of the secondary school administrators regarding the use of mobile technologies for educational purposes. *Educational Policy Analysis and Strategic Research*, 14(3), 290-311. DOI: 10.29329/epasr.2019.208.13
- İbil, H. (2012). School administrators' opinions about the e-school system application. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Dokuz Eylül University, Izmir. [In Turkish]
- Kızıltepe-Ayhan, H. (2017). *The relationship between educational administrators' attitudes and thoughts on technology use and the use of technology in English lessons*. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Maltepe University, Istanbul. [In Turkish]



- Kim, S., Paik, W., & Lee, C. (2014). Does bureaucracy facilitate the effect of information technology (IT)? *International Review of Public Administration*, 19(3), 219-237. DOI: 10.1080/12294659.2014.942050
 Krippendorff, K. (2004). Content analysis: an introduction to its methodology (2nd ed.). Sage.
- Kuo, N.-C. (2015). Action research for improving the effectiveness of technology integration in preservice teacher education. *E.: Inquiry in Education*, 6(1), 1-21.
- Makewa, L., Meremo, J., Role, E., & Role, J. (2013). ICT in secondary school administration in rural southern Kenya: An educator's eye on its importance and use. *International Journal of Education and Development using Information and Communication Technology (IJEDICT)*, 9(2), 48-63.
- Mariani, S. (2019). Coordination in Socio-technical Systems: Where are we now? Where do we go next? Science of Computer Programming, 184, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scico.2019.102317
- Mashaqbeh, I., & Shurman, M. (2015). The adoption of tablet and e-textbooks: First grade core curriculum and school administration attitude. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 6(21), 188-195.
- Mintzberg, H. (2014). The structuring of organizations (A. Aypay, Trans. Ed.). Ankara: Nobel Publishing.
- Miles, M. B., & Huberman A. M. (2015). Focusing on data collection and limiting data collection: a meaningful start (D. Örücü, Trans.), (S. Akbaba Altun, A. Ersoy, Trans. Ed.) in *Qualitative data analysis* (pp. 16-39). Ankara: PegemA. [In Turkish]
- Morrow, C. A. (2010). An analysis of high school principals' technology use pertaining to instructional leadership impacting student achievement. Doctoral dissertation retrieved from ProQuest dissertations and theses. UMI Number: 3411289
- Ölçek, G. (2014). Investigating the opinions of school principals and teachers on the technology leadership levels of principals working in primary schools. Unpublished Master's Thesis, Uşak University, Uşak. [In Turkish]
- Page-Jones, A. B. (2008). Leadership behavior and technology activities: The relationship between principals and technology use in schools. Doctoral dissertation retrieved from ProQuest dissertations and theses. UMI Number: 3377828
- Prokopiadou, G. (2011). Using information and communication technologies in school administration: Researching Greek kindergarten schools. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 40(3), 305–327. DOI: 10.1177/1741143212436953.
- Puckett, R. (2014). Leadership in educational technology. *I-manager's Journal of Educational Technology*, 10(4), 1-5.
- Rikkerink, M., Verbeeten, H., Simons, R. J., & Ritzen, H. (2016). A new model of educational innovation: Exploring the nexus of organizational learning, distributed leadership, and digital technologies. *J Educ Change*, *17*, 223–249. DOI: 10.1007/s10833-015-9253-5
- Selvitopu, A., Kaya, M. (2017). Leadership and organizational commitment in educational institutions context: A meta analytic review. *Dicle University Ziya Gökalp Journal of Education Faculty*, 31, 719-728. DOI: 10.14582/DUZGEF.1822
- Sugar, W., & Holloman, H. (2009). Technology leaders wanted: Acknowledging the leadership role of a technology coordinator. *TechTrends*, *53*(6), 66-75.
- Stephenson, G. (2007). A leadership approach to using technology to enhance organizational learning and the creation of a knowledge-centered culture in this school district. Doctoral dissertation retrieved from ProQuest dissertations and theses. UMI Number: 3349065
- Şeker, N., & Şeker, G. (2009). Evaluation of Provincial Registry System (PRS), one of the e- government applications, by school administrators. *Journal of Information Technologies*, 2(2), 11-19. [In Turkish]
- Şimşek, M. Ş., & Akın, H. B. (2003). Technology management and organizational change. Konya: Çizgi Publishing. [In Turkish]
- Tofur, S. (2017). Examining the indexes of the journal of announcements between 1980 -2014 in terms of Fullan's Educational Change Model. *Pegem Eğitim ve Öğretim Dergisi*, 7(2), 313-352. http://dx.doi.org/10.14527/pegegog.2017.012 [In Turkish]
- Turkoglu, M. E. & Cansoy, R. (2020). School principals' opinions on the meaning and sources of workload. International Journal of Contemporary Educational Research, 7(1), 177-191. DOI: https://doi.org/10.33200/ijcer.657994
- Ulukaya, F. (2015). The relationship between school administrators' self-efficacy in technology leadership and their level of realizing education and training (Tokat province example). Unpublished Master's Thesis, Gaziosmanpaşa University, Tokat. [In Turkish]
- Unger, K. L., & Tracey, M. W. (2013). Examining the factors of a technology professional development intervention. *J Comput High Educ*, 25,123–146. DOI: 10.1007/s12528-013-9070-x
- Weng, C. H., & Tang, Y. (2014). The relationship between technology leadership strategies and effectiveness of school administration: an empirical study. *Computer & Education*, *76*, 91-107.



- Xiong, X. B., & Lim, C. P. (2015). Curriculum leadership and the development of ICT in education competencies of pre-service teachers in South China. *Asia-Pacific Edu Res*, 24(3),515–524. DOI:10.1007/s40299-015-0238-1
- Yıldırım, A., & Şimşek, H. (2011). *Qualitative research methods in the social sciences*. Ankara: Seçkin. [In Turkish]
- Yıldırım, R., Yılmaz, E., & Balıkçı, A. (2018). A new application in education bureaucracy: document management system (DMS). *Turkish Studies*, 13(11), 1497-1515. [In Turkish]
- Yılmaz, O. (2018). Teachers' opinions on instructional leadership competencies of school administrators in the process of technology integration in education (İstanbul province, Başakşehir district example). Unpublished Master's Thesis, Trakya University, Tekirdağ. [In Turkish]
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research design and methods (5th ed.). Sage.
- Yörük, T. (2017). The use of electronic services offered by the Ministry of National Education within the scope of management information systems as a decision support system: A grounded theory study. Unpublished PhD Thesis, Akdeniz University, Antalya. [In Turkish]



Generic Competences at University. An Innovative Curricular Subject Proposal for their Development

Paula Crespí

Instituto de Acompañamiento, Universidad Francisco de Vitoria, Madrid. Spain p.crespi.prof@ufv.es

ABSTRACT

This study suggests a curricular subject on personal competences valid for any university study plan. Its objective is to develop the most demanded generic or transversal competences both in the personal-social and academic-professional spheres. In this sense, it can be said that this subject contributes to respond to the mission of the university and the European Higher Education Area, since the development of transversal competences favors the integral formation of the university student. Training that puts students at the center and makes them protagonist of their own learning. The aim of this study is to demonstrate how students who take this subject make more progress in the development of generic competences than students who do not take it. To this end, this research works with a total sample of 610 undergraduate students, of whom those who take the subject form the experimental group and those who do not take it form the control group. All the students answered, at the beginning and end of the course, the same questionnaire about generic competences, which was sufficiently valid and reliable. The contrast of hypotheses confirms that those students who have taken the course improve significantly more in the development of generic competences than those who have not taken the course. In this sense, it confirms the validity of this type of subject as suitable for the development of transversal competences; competences that are in great demand both in higher education and in the business world. For this reason, universities should think about incorporating this type of subjects in their curricula.

Keywords: competence, generic competences, subject, questionnaire, higher education.

INTRODUCTION

Universidad Francisco de Vitoria (UFV), through the subject: Personal Competences (PC), develops personal competences, especially those of a transversal nature. This subject tries to give an answer to the demand of the business world and higher education, as indicated by the European Higher Education Area (EHEA).

In the labor field, competences emerged in the 1970s with the contributions of David McClelland (1973), who warned of a serious problem regarding the predictive capacity of aptitude and intelligence tests with respect to excellent performance. McClelland (1973) observes that behaviors hold the key to being able to predict excellent performance (and not intelligence as previously thought). In this sense, McClelland (1973) seems to refer to competences as those characteristics and behaviors or ways of doing things of those who present, in a given position or activity, an excellent performance.

Since then, relevant authors on competences in the workplace, such as Boyatzis (1982), Spencer and Spencer (1993), Bunk (1994), Mertens (1996), Levy-Leboyer (1997), Le Boterf (1998), Miranda (2005), Cardona and García-Lombardía (2007), Gutiérrez Tobar (2010) and González Ariza (2017), have observed how competences have been gradually introduced in business management, to such an extent, that nowadays not only talk about competency-based training, but also about competency-based selection and assessment; for both job-specific competences, known as hard skills, and generic competencies, common to different jobs, known as soft skills.

In the field of higher education, it is noted that since 1956 several predecessor theories of competencies have emerged, such as Bloom's taxonomy (1956), Goldstein's social skills (1980), Gardner's multiple intelligences (1983), the emotional intelligence studied by Salovey and Mayer (1990) and disseminated by Goleman (1995, 2018) and the Delors Report (1996); until 2000 when the Tuning project includes the need to train in competencies at university, both: specific (those that are specific to each area or degree) and generic (those that are common to different subjects or degrees) (González and Wagenaar, 2006).

Therefore, it seems that training in personal competencies, especially those of a transversal nature, is a relevant issue for the university educational community since its raison for being is to be able to respond to this social, educational and labor need. In addition, this proposal is innovative; since it is proposed a specific subject to develop and train especially these competences. A compulsory subject for all first year university students, regardless of



the degree or qualification.

Thus, this research has two objectives: 1) to make a formal proposal of a subject for the development of generic competencies, and 2) to demonstrate how this type of course is valid for the development of these competencies.

THE STUDY

Research question and design

This research aims to answer the question: are there significant differences in the degree of development of generic competences between first-year university students who take the PC subject and those who do not?

The type of research is quasi-experimental, with a non-equivalent control group. The main independent variable of this study refers to taking or not taking the PC course. The secondary independent and control variables are age, sex and faculty. The dependent variable refers to the degree of development of generic competences.

Population and Sample

The population is made up of all first-year university students of Madrid. The sample is made up of first-year university students taking PC (students of the Universidad Francisco de Vitoria: UFV) and first-year university students not taking PC (students of the Universidad Complutense de Madrid: UCM). The former will be referred to as the Experimental Group (EG) and the latter as the Control Group (CG).

The Ene.3.0 statistical program was used to calculate the sample size; and as can be seen in the following table, in general terms, the sample was larger than that indicated by the Ene 3.0 program; with a total of 166 more subjects (Table 1).

Table 1. Ideal vs. actual sample

	=		
Total ideal sample (En	e 3.0)	Total final sampl	e
UFV Students	227	UFV Students	387
UCM Students	217	UCM Students	223
Total sample	444	Total sample	610

HCP subject design (educational intervention)

PC is a subject specifically designed for the development of personal competences, especially of a generic nature, for all first-year students, regardless of the degree. The ultimate goal of this course is to accompany students on their path to maturity, excellence and fulfillment, through the development of personal competences, especially the transversal ones (Crespí & García-Ramos, 2021).

We understand personal competences as "the dynamic set of knowledge (knowing), skills or abilities (knowing how to do), attitudes, values and universal principles (knowing how to be) that, internalized and embodied in our acts, behaviors or ways of doing, put us on the path of our own maturity, excellence and fullness" (Crespí, 2019, p.98).

PC mainly develops transversal competences; that is, those that allow us to perform excellently in any situation or area of life, whether personal, social, academic or professional; generic competencies for higher education and soft skills for the company.

The course, focusing mainly on the development of generic, intrapersonal and interpersonal competencies, is developed in two main areas:

1. Mentoring: individual development space for the student, in which he/she is accompanied by a mentor for six meetings of one hour each.

2. The classroom: a space for community development for all students, in which they are accompanied by their teacher and the rest of their classmates.

The CP teaching guide includes the description, the general and specific objectives, the syllabus, the competencies to be developed, the learning outcomes, the methodology, the distribution of work time, the activities to be carried out, the evaluation system and the bibliography.

Measuring instrument

To measure the dependent variables (generic competences), defined in different dimensions and subdimensions, a questionnaire on generic competences was designed with a Likert-type scale (1-6), which was first validated by a panel of 18 experts.



Subsequently, the usual validation analyses were carried out: reliability, validity, homogeneity and item validity analyses and, finally, exploratory factor analyses. Thus, it was possible to conclude that the questionnaire is highly reliable (with a satisfactory assessment of all dimensions and subdimensions, as well as of all items with respect to their intra- and interpersonal dimensions), acceptably valid and whose factor analyses show an evident relationship between its theoretical and empirical structure (Table 2).

	Table 2. Reliability and validity of the instrument							
Dependent v (competence	ariables s)	Intra- personal Dimension	Deep look Sub- dimension	Excellence pursuit Sub- dimension	Inter- personal Dimension	Teamwork Sub- dimension	Communica tion Sub- dimension	
Reliability	(rxx)	0,90	0,83	0,83	0,90	0,83	0,86	
Validity	(rxy)	0,64	0,60	0,59	0,65	0,54	0,63	

Table 2. Reliability and validity of the instrument

FINDINGS

The results of the main hypotheses of the research are presented below.

First hypothesis

The first hypothesis states that there are significant differences in the degree of development of generic competences among university students who have taken the PC subject (UFV students) compared to those who have not taken it (UCM students). This hypothesis involves 7 implicit assumptions; the results are presented below (Table 3).

Table 3 First fundamental hypothesis

14	bie et i not iunau	intental hyper			
H.1.There are significant differences in favor of the students who followed the PC curse (UFV>UCM):	Averages differences UFV-UCM	T Student	Sig. (bilateral)	E.S. partial eta squared	Significant differences
Total Score. UFV superior	20,81	13,64	0,00	0,25	Yes
Intrapersonal Dimension. UFV superior	12,73	15,78	0,00	0,31	Yes
Deep look Subdimension. UFV superior	5,92	13,18	0,00	0,24	Yes
Excellence pursuit Subdimension. UFV superior	6,81	15,13	0,00	0,30	Yes
Interpersonal Dimension. UFV superior	8,08	9,56	0,00	0,14	Yes
Teamwork Subdimension. UFV superior	2,85	5,97	0,00	0,07	Yes
Communication Subdimension. UFV superior	5,22	10,56	0,00	0,17	Yes

As can be seen, there are statistically significant differences in all cases in favor of the students who attended the training program (PC subject) in all dimensions and subdimensions of the generic competencies measured. Furthermore, the effect size (E.S) is large in all cases, except in the subdimension of teamwork, where the effect size (0.07) is medium or moderate.

Second hypothesis

The second hypothesis states that there are significant differences in the degree of development of transversal personal competences between the Education students of the UFV (who took PC subject) and the Education students of the of the UCM (who did not). This hypothesis involves 7 implicit assumptions; the results are presented below (Table 4).



H.2. There are significant differences in the faculty of education in favor of the students	Averages differences	T Student	Sig. (bilateral)	E.S. partial	Significant
who followed the PC curse (UFV>UCM):	UFV-UCM	Student	(onuclui)	etti squared	unterences
Total Score. UFV superior	27,65	11,19	0,00	0,33	Yes
Intrapersonal Dimension. UFV superior	16,24	12,67	0,00	0,39	Yes
Deep look Subdimension. UFV superior	7,83	10,37	0,00	0,30	Yes
Excellence pursuit Subdimension. UFV superior	8,41	11,58	0,00	0,35	Yes
Interpersonal Dimension. UFV superior	11,40	9,08	0,00	0,20	Yes
Teamwork Subdimension. UFV superior	5,05	7,74	0,00	0,14	Yes
Communication Subdimension. UFV superior	6,36	8,52	0,00	0,18	Yes

Table 4. Second fundamental hypothesis

As can be seen, again there are statistically significant differences in all cases in favor of those who took the training program (PC subject). Furthermore, it can be added that the effect size is very relevant in all cases. Therefore, it can be affirmed that:

The final development of transversal competences in students who took the subject is significantly higher than that achieved by students who did not take the curse in all cases.

The final development of the transversal competences in the students of the Faculty of Education of the UFV (who took the curse) is also significantly higher than that achieved by the students of the Faculty of Education of the UCM (who did not take the curse) in all cases.

CONCLUSIONS

As mentioned above, both business and higher education allude to the need for training in this type of generic competences (also known as soft skills or transversal competencies).

This study presents results that demonstrate the effectiveness of training in personal competences, especially transversal competences, at university. And this is done through the teaching of a subject aimed at their training in the first year of degree.

The results obtained allow us to affirm that:

1. Personal competencies can be effectively trained in the university.

2. A specific training course (CP subject) is validated for the development of personal competencies, especially those of a transversal nature, at the university.

3. Students who take the course develop generic competencies in a higher level than students who do not take the course.

In this sense, it is proposed that the university community evaluate the possibility of including this type of subject in the study plans, so that the generic competencies proposed by the EHEA through the Tuning project can be developed; since, if the development of this type of competencies is so important, they should be given a specific space for their development.

At the moment, among Spanish universities, only the UFV teaches a curricular subject in this direction, and in all its university curricula. A subject that, precisely, tries to train in these competencies and does so effectively.

REFERENCES

Bloom, B. S., Engelhart, M. D., Furst, E. J., Hill, W. H., & Krathwohl, D. R. (1956). Taxonomy of Educational Objectives: The Classification of Educational Goals. Handbook 1: Cognitive Domain. London: Longmans, Green and Co.



- Boyatzis, R. (1982). The Competent Manager: A Model for Effective Performance. New York: John Wiley and Sons.
- Bunk, G. P. (1994). La transmisión de competencias en la formación y perfeccionamiento profesionales de la RFA. Revista Europea de Formación Profesional, 1, 8-14.
- Cardona, P., & García-Lombardía, P. (2007). Cómo desarrollar las competencias de liderazgo (3 ed.). Navarra: Ediciones Universidad de Navarra, S. A. (EUNSA).
- Crespí, P. (2019). La necesidad de una formación en competencias personales transversales en la universidad. Diseño y evaluación de un programa de formación. Madrid: Fundación Universitaria Española.
- Crespí, P., & García-Ramos, J. M. (2021). Competencias genéricas en la universidad. Evaluación de un programa formativo. *Educación XX1*, 24(1), 297-327. <u>https://doi.org/10.5944/educxx1.26846</u>
- Delors, J., Al Mufti, I., Amagi, I., Carneiro, R., Chung, F., Geremek, B., . . . Nanzhao, Z. (1996). La educación encierra un tesoro. Informe a la UNESCO de la Comisión Internacional sobre la educación para el siglo XXI. Madrid: Santillana.
- Gardner, H. (1983). Frames of Mind. The Theory of Multiple Intelligences. New York: Basic Books.
- Goldstein, A. P., Sprafkin, R. P., Gershaw, N. J., & Klein, P. (1980). Skillstreaming the Adolescent. A Structured Learning Approach to Teaching Prosocial Skills. Illinois: Research Press.
- Goleman, D. (1995). Emotional intelligence. New York: Bantam Books.
- Goleman, D. (2018). La inteligencia emocional en la empresa. Barcelona: Conecta.
- González Ariza, A. L. (2017). Métodos de compensación basados en competencias (3 ed.). Área metropolitana de Barranquilla: Editorial Universidad del Norte.
- González, J., & Wagenaar, R. (2006). Tuning Educational Structures in Europe II. La contribución de las universidades al Proceso de Bolonia. Bilbao: Universidad de Deusto.
- Gutiérrez Tobar, E. (2010). Competencias gerenciales: habilidades, conocimientos, aptitudes. Bogotá: Ecoe Ediciones.
- Le Boterf, G. (1998). La ingeniería de las competencias. Paris: D'organisation.
- Levy-Leboyer, C. (1997). Gestión de las competencias: cómo analizarlas, cómo evaluarlas y cómo desarrollarlas. Barcelona: Ediciones Gestión 2000.
- McClelland, D. C. (1973). Testing for Competence Rather Than for "Intelligence". American Psychologist, 28(1), 1-14.
- Mertens, L. (1996). Competencia laboral: sistemas, surgimiento y modelos. Montevideo: Cinterfor.
- Miranda, M. (2005). Aprendizaje Técnico en un Enfoque de Competencias Laborales. Pensamiento Educativo, 36, 233-246.
- Salovey, P., & Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional Intelligence. Imagination, Cognition and Personaliy. 9(3), 185-211.
- Spencer, L. M., & Spencer, S. M. (1993). Competence at work: models for superior performance. New York: John Wiley and Sons.



Information Technology Teachers' Views on the Use of Tinkercad

Prof. Dr. Selami ERYILMAZ¹ and Gülhanım DENİZ²

ABSTRACT

This study aims to determine the opinions of Information Technologies teachers who teach Tinkercad about this program. The research is a qualitative case study. The study group consists of eleven Information Technologies teachers. Research data was collected using the teacher interview form for the use of Tinkercad software. The teachers have focused on using Tinkercad's 3D design menu according to research findings. Training activities are carried out individually and in groups. It has been observed that individual work contributes to the development of students' creativity skills, while group work emphasizes peer learning, cooperative learning, and respect for different ideas. While Tinkercad's interface and ease of use are determined as the advantage of this program in the studies conducted, the fact that it is browser-based and does not work offline is seen as its disadvantage. Tinkercad activities can be used as a tool to affect the creativity, algorithmic thinking, collaboration, critical thinking, and problem-solving sub-dimensions of students' computational thinking skills. However, this process did not proceed in a planned way, as the teachers did not have sufficient knowledge about computational thinking skills. **Keywords**: 3D design, Computational Thinking, Information Technology Teacher, Tinkercad, 21st Century Skills.

INTRODUCTION

The technologies that emerged in the Twenty-First Century affect the way of life of individuals on the one hand, and shape the way of their thinking on the other hand. In this century, information is conveyed about how to use new technologies, how they can benefit, and most importantly, what they can do with them, instead of ensuring that students receive information and retain it in their memory with rote logic. It is understood that it is very important to include interactive 3D technologies in education, as most of the young people today are "digital natives" and students who demand the use of "up-to-date digital" applications (Papp, Tornai & Zichar, 2016) The projects carried out with the technologies used both enliven the imagination of the students and enable them to gain production skills with technology. This changes the dynamics of consumer culture by transforming users from passive consumers to active creators. (Papp et al, 2016).

In addition to the technologies used, the acquisition of 21st-century skills depends on the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of the trainers or teachers who teach technology towards new technologies. In this case, besides providing students with basic skills related to ICT, schools, and teachers have the most important role in effectively integrating technology into the learning-teaching processes of different courses (Şad and Nalçacı, 2015).

In line with the goal of our country's 2023 Education Vision, Tinkercad is used to help middle school students acquire IT production skills, and with its 3D Design, Circuit, and Code Blocks menus, students gain design and production skills (The Ministry of National Education, 2018). In a study conducted on teacher candidates, it was found that Tinkercad is effective in permanent learning. Also, the candidates stated that Tinkercad could be effective on students' interests, attitudes, and motivations (Doğan & Kahraman, 2020). Besides, Tinkercad's cheapness, user-friendliness, and ease of use are stated as their advantages (Mohapatra et al., 2020). Given the different perception systems, students can understand both theoretical and practical concepts using the Tinkercad tool. Also, students can easily increase their programming knowledge when they use their programming knowledge effectively (B. Mohapatra, Mohapatra, Jijnyasa & Zagade, 2020).

The Aim of the Study

It is thought that the good integration of Tinkercad into the educational environment will be through determining the opinions of teachers about Tinkercad. It is important to determine the knowledge, skills, and attitudes acquired by Information Technology (IT) teachers in this process in terms of being a new technology of Tinkercad, for its features to be fully understood by all Information Technologies teachers and to be used within a common curriculum. In this context, answers to the following research questions were sought:

1. What are the opinions of IT teachers about Tinkercad 3D design projects?

¹ Gazi University, Computer Education and Instructional Technology, Ankara, Turkey. selamieryilmaz@gazi.edu.tr

² Gazi University, Computer Education and Instructional Technology, Ankara, Turkey.. gulhanim.deniz1@gazi.edu.tr



- 2. What are the opinions of IT teachers about conducting Tinkercad training activities individually or as a group works?
- 3. What are the opinions of IT teachers about the achievements that Tinkercad aims to bring to students?
- 4. What are the opinions of IT teachers about the advantages and disadvantages of using Tinkercad?
- 5. What are the opinions of IT teachers about improving computational thinking skills to students with Tinkercad?

RELATED RESEARCHES

Studies have shown that when Tinkercad is used in combination with different technologies, studies have been conducted that contribute to enriching students ' learning experiences. For example, a study was conducted in which students showed 3D models designed using Tinkercad with augmented reality technology (Yamasima & Hori, 2021). In a study conducted by a group of primary school children in Valparaiso-Chile using Scratch and Tinkercad to improve their programming and Arduino-based computing-electronics competencies, it has been determined that these tools can effectively develop students 'theoretical and practical skills, as well as gain students' ability and enthusiasm to know more advanced skills and applications related to detection systems. (Silva, Malebran & Pereira (2019).

Due to the Covid 19 outbreak, educational activities have shifted to online classes. Therefore, in another study, Arduino IDE micro controller online training was designed using free Tinkercad simulation. Results show that students have a high interest in online workshop (Amalia, Igaamoka, Septiani & Fazal, 2020) In the case of Covid 19, Tinkercad helps students to connect and create their plans with a different equipment without the need for any equipment or physical hardware such as switches, cables, LED lights (Mohapatra et al., 2020; M. Vera, Vera, Vásquez and Panez, 2018).

Díaz, Hernández, Ortiz, and Lugo (2019) made Tinkercad's Codebloks menu available to students studying in different undergraduate programs in a summer course. Students who thought it was difficult before using this application enjoyed it later. However, the fact that the tool is new and has a limited scope of application (3D modeling only) causes insufficient information on its use.

In the study conducted by Deniz (2020) with 583 middle school students and Lim and Kim (2019) with 25 sixth grade students, it was found that Tinkercad is an effective tool for students to gain computational thinking skills. Also, TinkerCad is used in South Korean 3D modeling education to improve the computational thinking skills of South Korean primary school students (Yi, Jung & Lee, 2017).

On the other hand, it is seen that Tinkercad is also used in different areas. Cherry (2016) taught students to design 3D characters through Tinkercad to be used in short film animation. Kuo, Laiy, and Kao (2018), on the other hand, enabled students to print out their dessert designs designed in Tinkercad using 3D Food printers. Madar, Goldberg, and Lam (2018) enable students to see the designs they make in Tinkercad (for example, home design) as a prototype by transferring them to a virtual reality environment and share the latest developed version with their peers via the web environment with C3d.io, a special tool they have developed. Ng (2017) used the effect of 3D CAD and 3D printing to make it easier for students to learn solid volume in math class.

METHOD

The research was carried out using the case method, one of the qualitative research methods. "Case study" is defined as a method in which one or more events, settings, programs, social groups, or other interconnected systems are examined in depth. (Büyüköztürk et al., 2019, p. 268).

Study Group

While determining the study group of the research, private course centers, private schools, and public schools that provide Tinkercad education in their institutions were taken into consideration. Among these institutions, the private course center and private school provide Tinkercad training to their students in line with their means. It was determined that state schools, on the other hand, provided Tinkercad training to their students within the scope of the facilities provided to their schools within the scope of the "IT production" project. In this context, 11 Information Technologies teachers participated in the study. 7 (63.6%) of these participants are female and 4 (36.4%) are male teachers. It was determined that 9 of the teachers participating in the study were working in Ankara, 1 teacher was working in Siirt and 1 teacher was working in Afyon.



Data Collection Tool

The semi-structured interview form (Teacher Interview Form for the Use of Tinkercad Software) prepared to get teachers' opinions about Tinkercad software was developed by referring to the expert opinions of seven academicians for language and field evaluation. Afterward, the applicability of the form was tested by taking the opinions of three teachers. The form prepared with the last corrections consists of 11 items.

Data Collection

While collecting the research data, it was first tried to identify the Information Technology teachers in Tinkercad education schools. In this context, a semi-structured interview form was applied by interviewing the Information Technologies teachers who were determined to be trained. Also, a semi-structured interview form was conducted through Google Forms by reaching six ITC teachers who teach Tinkercad via social media. The opinions obtained from the teachers within the scope of this study were coded as T1, T2, T3, T4, T5, T6, T7, T8, T9, T10, and T11 and explained in the findings section of the research.

Analysis of Data

The qualitative data collected by using the Teacher Interview Form for the Use of "Tinkercad" Software was analyzed using the content analysis method, one of the qualitative data analysis methods. Content analysis is used to determine the existence of words, concepts, themes, idioms, characters, or sentences in one or more texts and quantify them (Seggie & Bayyurt, 2015, p.253-254). For this reason, the data obtained from the semi-structured interview form applied to 11 Information Technology teachers were interpreted by descriptive analysis within the scope of the questions in the interview form determined as the theme.

FINDINGS

1. Teachers' Opinions on the Usage of Tinkercad Menus

The preference of teachers for 3D Design, Circuit, and Code Blocks menus in Tinkercad to prepare 3D projects is presented in Table 1 by structuring under 3 categories. The aims of teachers to prefer Tinkercad menus are structured under 9 codes and presented in Table 1.

Categories	Codes	Sample Sentences	f	%
3D Design	Giving perspective from different viewpoints	"3D Design provides the settlement of 3- dimensional concepts and gaining perspective from different viewpoints while designing it. The students enjoyed seeing how a figure they drew looks like in any size and being able to draw exactly the shape of the object." (T1)	1	7,1
	Teaching a new program	"I used almost all the parts of 3D Design As for starting a new program, I encountered reactions such as curiosity and interest from my students However, the students who used the program before had also had irrelevant attitudes."(T3)	1	7,1
	Being interesting	"It was an educational program that attracted their attention and was interesting. Students created enjoyable and lovely projects." (T9)		35,7
	Teaching 3D Design	"I used it in computer-aided design in the Technology Design course. Students better grasp three-dimensional design" (T6)	4	28,5
	Improving students' visual and spatial perceptions	"We used 3D design to help my students improve their visual-spatial perception and bring their ideas to life. (T2)	2	14,2
	Make the students draw their dreams with 3D	"They drew everything in their dreams as they wished in 3D."(T4)	1	7,1
Total			14	100
Circuit	Teaching the circuit concept before Arduino training	"We made drawings to prepare prototypes for the projects they developed. Circuit was used for understanding the circuit concept before proceeding with Arduino training."(T2)	4	80

Table 1. Taashara'	Viewe on Tinkeree	12D Davian	Circuit and	Code Dioalza
Table 1. Teachers	views on Thikerca	I SD Design,	Circuit and	COUE DIOCKS



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

	Increasing Motivation	"Students made simple circuit designs. Before making the circuits concretely, we designed them to see them in a virtual environment. They were verv excited. Their motivation increased." (T4)	1	20
Total			5	100
Code Blocks	Enjoying Tinkercad	"They used 3D design and code blocks menus. The student loved Tinkercad. If I do not give another activity, the student is busy with Tinkercad all day. He liked Tinkercad more than Robotics" (T7)	1	100
Total			1	100

When the table is examined, it is emphasized that the teachers prefer the 3D design menu as the "interesting" code. The fact that three-dimensional design develops students' imagination, is remarkable and intriguing, has added weight to the use of this menu. It also contributed to the development of students' visual and spatial skills. While the circuit menu provides circuit design before Arduino, the Code Blocks menu was determined to be used by only 1 teacher because the students love to code.

2. Findings Regarding 3D Projects Made Using Tinkercad Software

Project preferences used by teachers while creating 3D designs are presented in Table 2 under 2 codes.

	Codes	Sample Sentences	f	%
Project Preferences Of The Teachers	Ready-made projects in Tinkercad	"Especially Tinkercad has many ready-made designs. Students had the opportunity to use most of them following the given application assignments." (T3) "Making a pizza, How to build a log cabin, Fruit still life" (T11) "We used many community-created shapes for 3d design in our projects" (T2)		27,2
	Instead of a ready- made project, students make their designs	<i>"Students like to use tools such as home sofa while designing their home." (T4)</i>	8	72,7
Total			11	100

Table 2: Teachers'	opinions about	the project	preferences the	y used while of	creating 3D	designs
		· · · ·		-		

When the table is analyzed, it is seen that most of the teachers allow students to make their designs instead of ready-made projects. When asked about the aspects of the ready-made projects that the teachers liked, it was seen that 5 teachers stated that the projects contributed to gaining ideas. The favorite aspects of using ready-made projects were stated as follows by some participants:

"Ready-made projects helped me get ideas"(T11)

"A good support educational material for visual study for fifth and sixth-grade students without the need for a very high-level computer at a basic level" (T2)

"It makes learning easier by explaining all the skills needed to learn the application step by step as a project." (T3)

When the teachers were asked about the aspects of the project designs that they disliked or thought to be improved, many teachers stated that they did not like them, but some of the teachers included the problems they encountered. The disliked aspects of using ready-made projects were stated as follows by some participants' expressions: *"We are having language difficulties. Translation tool fails to explain exactly what the training means" (T3)*

"If we consider the interdisciplinary course design, projects that emphasize other lessons can be added."(T11) 6 teachers (T2, T3, T6, T7, T8, and T11) stated that they use "Sketch Up", "Thingiverse", "Adobe Illustrator", "Sculptris" and "Solidworks" as 3D software other than Tinkercad.



3. Findings Regarding Teachers 'Views Regarding Students' Conducting Activities as Individual or Group Work

The tasks that teachers give to students in individual studies are structured under 4 codes and shown in Table 3. The way teachers create group work is structured under 3 codes and shown in Table 3.

	Codes	Sample Sentences	f	%
	Drawing of a specific object	"A pen holder and a home garden with their names written" (T1), "Home design, rocket design"(T5), "Mug and phone case"(T6), "Geometric shapes or objects"(T7), "Button design"(T8)	5	50
Individual	Free design	"Free design" (T4)	2	20
work	Integrated STEM Applications	"I used the integrated STEM education applications I developed in my thesis" (T3)	1	10
	Basic works of Tinkercad	<i>"First of all, I had studied the basic tasks such as moving objects, sizing, aligning, and drilling. Then I asked them to design their rooms. (T11)</i>	2	20
Total			10	100
Group work	The teacher created the group and determined the task himself/herself	"Each student was assigned to do a part of the project" (T1) "Students become responsible for doing a part of the design and finally combine it and complete it, strengthening the communication and social bond between them." (T2) "I made a group of those who can use the program well and those who cannot use it well so that they will learn to use the program." (T6) "I divided the design to be made and assigned the students accordingly" (T10) "Each application had its instructions and I wanted teams of usually 4-6 people to be set up. I wanted the students to do the task distribution here themselves. Thus, I wanted the awareness of responsibility to be developed." (T3)	5	71,4
	Students formed a pair of groups according to their choices.	"I let them create groups of two according to their choices." (T8)	1	14,2
	The teacher created a group according to the interests of the students.	"I formed groups according to the areas they are interested in. Working in the field of their interest increases their motivation. I created homogeneous groups because I work with the younger age group." (T11)	1	14,2
Total			7	100

Table 3: Teachers' opinions on the way of giving individual activities and forming groups

When the table is examined, it is seen that the teachers assigned tasks to the students for "drawing a certain object" in individual tasks. While teachers were doing group work, "they did the task of forming groups and determined the task themselves". It is observed that teachers take different needs into account when forming groups. The advantages expressed by teachers for individual activities are presented in Table 4, structured under 7 codes. The disadvantages of these activities are presented in Table 4, structured under 3 codes.

	Codes	Sample Sentences	f	%
Advantages	Developing the imagination of students	"As the needs of each change, it allows them to develop different ways of imagination and solution."(T1)	1	14,2

Table 4. Oninian of Too shows Door undin a Com durationa A ativitiza Individuall



	Increasing the	"Students' learning speed is increasing and each	1	14,2
	learning speed of students	individual's imagination cannot be restricted by someone else." (T5)		
	Students can be able to master all the lines of the subject	"The student can fully master all the lines of the subject" (T3)	1	14,2
	Students seeing their own mistakes	"Giving students individual activities allows students to see their own mistakes" (T4)	1	14,2
	Students gain experience	<i>"Everyone gaining their own experience"</i> (T6)	1	14,2
	Students progress at their own learning pace	"Students progress at their own learning pace" (T8)	1	14,2
	Students gain the ability to design	"The advantage of doing it individually is to gain the ability to do it alone or in group work." (T11)	1	14,2
		Total	7	100
	Students staying away from different ideas	<i>"Students stay away from different ideas and group dynamics with individualized learning"</i> (T11)	1	16,6
	Designs take time	"Students are stuck at some points"(T4) "Designs take a long time"(T6)	2	33,3
Disadvantages	No Peer Learning	"Students can't learn from others"(T2) "Individual studies will emphasize competition by nature. This can cause classroom conflicts. There will be no peer learning It can cause students to behave selfishly. In short, it will eliminate sharing and cooperation."(T3)	2	33,3
	Not enough	"There are not enough computers in our school"	1	16,6
	computers	Total	6	100

When the table was examined, teachers expressed many advantages for individual activities. In particular, it was found that providing learning opportunities by taking into account students 'own learning needs is important for students' individual development. As a disadvantage, the code "designs take a long time" and "no peer learning" come to the fore. Also, a teacher expressed a deficiency by stating that there were not enough computers for every student in their school.

The advantages and disadvantages expressed by the teachers for conducting the activities as group work are presented in Table 5, structured under 4 codes.

Table 5: Teachers' Views on Holding Activities as a Group						
	Codes	Sample Sentences	f	%		
	Providing peer learning	"They can manage ' (T2 and T10), speed up and exchange ideas	2	20		
Advantages	Ensuring cooperative	"When students have difficulty, they can assist and help each other."(T3 and T8)				
	learning	<i>"Teamwork has indirect and direct positive effects on the development of important skills such as</i>	3	30		
		interpersonal communication, collaboration, respect for different ideas, and sense of responsibility." (T4)				
	Respecting different opinions	"Students understand that there can be different ideas and perspectives." (T5)	3	30		
	The emergence of better designs	<i>"Teamwork has often encouraged solidarity and revealed the team spirit. Studies with different ideas have been enriched"</i> (T11)	2	20		
		Total	10	100		
Disadvantages	Negativities in the Classroom	"School environment or working environment is not always suitable" (T2)	1	12,5		



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology - September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

Designs do not fit together	"Designs do not fit together." (T3)	2	25
It creates a conflict environment due to the unequal sharing of workload between students	"The motivation of the students who do not comply with the team spirit decreases. In the team, the workload of more working students and the weakness of others' contribution to the work may result in discussions." (T10)	3	37,5
Creating an intergroup competitive environment	"I think it is necessary to pay attention to this competitive element. Various conflicts can arise within the group. Students who are not responsible within the group can cause problems."(T4)	2	25
	Total	8	100

When the table is examined, it is seen that the codes of "ensuring collaborative learning" and "being respectful to different ideas" stand out as advantages of group work. However, group work creates a disadvantage if "it creates a conflict environment due to the unequal sharing of workload between students". In this case, it can be interpreted that teachers should work in a way that minimizes the formation of conflict while creating a competitive environment in the classroom while doing group work.

4. Views on Targeted Gains for Students Related With Tinkercad

The situations of Tinkercad to provide students with cognitive, affective, and psychomotor gains are structured under 3 codes and presented in Table 6.

	Codes	Sample Sontanoos	f	0/
	Codes	Sample Sentences	1	%
	Effective in all cognitive, affective, and psychomotor gains	"I think Tinkercad is effective in all cognitive, affective, and psychomotor domains. Cognitive- spatial thinking, the motivation to do as a result of affective-production and design, and effective mouse use with Psychomotor Learning" (T11)	8	80
The Effect of Tinkercad on Cognitive, Affective and Psychomotor Gains	There is no common gain program, the teacher sets it up	"There was no explanation from the National Education regarding the achievements that were required to be gained during the teaching of the program. For this reason, the program was not made to a certain extent. When the student sees any object such as glass, if he has an idea about how to draw this glass, the student has achieved the goal." (T7)	1	10
	Teachers' attitudes and behaviors are effective in achieving the gains	"Whether these variables will have a positive effect is a matter of how you integrate this program into the course process." (T3)	1	10
		Total	10	100

C TT: 1

When the table was examined, most of the teachers stated that Tinkercad was effective in the acquisition of three gains. However, a teacher stated that there is no common outcome program determined by the Ministry of National Education and that the outcomes are usually determined by teachers' wishes. This situation has brought the conclusion that Tinkercad education is not taught from the center under a certain plan and program, therefore students who receive education do not acquire common gains. Another teacher points out that teachers' attitudes and behaviors are also effective in the acquisition of the outcomes.

Since the teachers did not implement a common Tinkercad training program, it is seen that they made different applications in the acquisition of cognitive, affective, and psychomotor gains. Teachers coded T4, T5, T6, T9, and T11 provided design tasks and achieved the targeted gains. Some of the teachers' duties are stated as follows with their expressions:

"Cognitive - applications were made where they could show how to use Add-ons and what shapes to use. Emotionally, they found the opportunity to value and appropriate themselves through their names or by giving examples that they could draw their own houses. For the objects we give psychomotor, they are free about the hole



1.5. 1

. . .

1 T T

types or sizes that will reflect their feelings in works such as wood or pencil case. Thus, their stimulation and skills are increased." (Ö1)

"In one example, we decided to make students' prosthetic hand design. In this process, children researched and learned how joints in human hands work, then they contacted and empathized with people who needed a prosthetic hand and learned their needs. Finally, they designed the prosthesis and implemented it." (T2)

5. Findings of Teachers on Advantages and Disadvantages of Tinkercad Software

.1 . 1

The advantages of using Tinkercad are structured under 5 codes, and the disadvantages are structured under 3 codes and presented in Table 7.

Tab	he /: Teachers views on the	Advantages and Disadvantages of Tinkercad Use		
	Advantages and	Disadvantages of Using Tinkercad		
	Codes	Sample Sentences	f	%
	Its Interface and Ease of Use	"Objects are easy and measure input is easy. It has advantages such as remote control and maintaining classroom order." (T1) "Easy to use, ideal for middle school students and ready-made shapes available" (T2)	5	38,4
Advantages	Available Online	"Being online" (T10) "Saving all of Tinkercad's works without deletion" (T4)	2	15,3
	Having 3D Design, Circuit and Code Blocks menus	<i>"Tinkercad can teach and apply many areas such as 3D design, coding, Arduino circuit setup."</i> (T5)	1	7,6
	Developing many skills such as 3D thinking, critical thinking, creative thinking	"Tinkercad enables students to think in three dimensions. Due to Tinkercad, students' drawings are improved. Tinkercad has reduced game addiction." (T9) "I have seen that they have indirect or direct positive effects on many skills such as critical thinking, creative thinking, scientific creativity, which are defined as 21st-century skills." (T3)	4	30,7
	Being entertaining	"entertaining" (18)	1	7,6
		Total	13	
Disadvantages	Being a browser-based program	"It is a browser-based program. In cases where there is no internet, it can sometimes cause problems since it doesn't work. Also, students who consider everything as 2 dimensions may have problems when they first encounter the 3rd dimension." (T4)	2	50
-	Not working in offline mode	"Not being offline and requiring a working environment outside of class hours. Therefore, students cannot practice adequately." (T2)	1	25
	Limited for detailed designs	"Limited for detailed designs" (T3)	1	25
	-	Total	4	100

When the table is examined, it is seen that many of the teachers emphasize the advantages of Tinkercad software with the statements as "its interface and it's easy to use". Also, its advantages include "developing many skills such as 3D thinking, critical thinking, and creative thinking". However, Tinkercad's being a browser-based program, not working in offline mode, and not allowing detailed designs were evaluated as disadvantages. One teacher stated the disadvantage of Tinkercad in his own words:

"The disadvantage of Tinkercad is that it is online. Also, registration with an e-mail address created a problem for us; because our working group is 10-13 years old. At this age, they cannot legally receive e-mail. It is not ethical. The work took a long time because we were dealing with parental permission. This situation was tiring us." (T5)



6. Findings on Teachers 'Use of Tinkercad Software to Improve Students' Computational Thinking Skills

When teachers were asked about the effect of Tinkercad on the sub-dimensions of computational thinking (problem-solving, algorithmic thinking, creativity, cooperative learning, critical thinking), it was seen that teachers did not have sufficient knowledge about computational thinking. It can be said that this is effective because computational thinking is a new concept and an agreed definition has not yet been reached. After explaining to the teachers about computational thinking, most of the teachers explained that Tinkercad is an effective program in all sub-dimensions of computational thinking skills. Some of the participants stated as follows:

"Tinkercad is a learning platform that will contribute to each of the sub-dimensions. 3D is useful for the student to create something of their own and for collaboration among students." (T1)

"Problem-solving, creativity. The designs he draws in the 3D design are a product of the creativity of the student and are effective in all sub-dimensions of computational thinking."(T7)

"Tinkercad promotes creativity and critical thinking. The student designs with an idea. After a few days, he designs again with his new knowledge. Critical thinking comes into play at this point "(T4)

"While 3D develops itself in areas such as problem-solving and analysis while designing, it helps the development of critical thinking, creativity, algorithmic thinking skills in the coding part" (T5)

"Tinkercad contributes to algorithmic thinking, the student designs the object to be designed by thinking step by step. It is effective in the development of creativity and the emergence of different designs." (T11)

"Tinkercad creates creativity, different drawings, and objects, enables algorithmic thinking and critical thinking, questioning causes and solutions, and provides problem-solving and finding alternative solutions."(T9)

"The use of the 3D design in education with Tinkercad, which also contributes to computational thinking from the whole to the part, supports this mindset of children." (T11)

Also, teachers made the following explanations to the programs that can be used in the development of computational thinking skills: T1 "*Mine craft education or scratch JR*", T4 "*Flow chart*", T5 "*Scratch, Mblock*", T6 "*Sketchup, Code.org, blockly, scratch, s4a, mblock*", T10 "*S4A, mBlock, Scratch*", T11 "*Sketchup can be used as a 3D program*" T7 "*3D programs, programming languages, photoshop… All available*".

CONCLUSION, DISCUSSION, AND SUGGESTIONS

This study was carried out with 11 Information Technologies teachers. It is seen that teachers focus on the 3D Design section from the menus in Tinkercad. It has been determined that teachers prefer this situation because Tinkercad is "interesting". In a study by Ng (2017), it was stated that one of the students explained this situation with the statement "I liked this project because it was fun to create something and show my ideas in a 3D model". Design activities support a student's active participation in the learning process by providing opportunities to create products that improve cognitive strategies and processes (Aydoğdu and Çakir, 2019). While the circuit menu is used for pre-Arduino circuit design, the Kodblocks menu is not used by many teachers because it is a newer section. It is seen that teachers prioritize students to use their designs instead of using ready-made projects in three-dimensional design educations. It is thought that this situation provides an opportunity for students to draw the objects in their imaginations more comfortably. According to Leinonen, Virnes, Hietala, and Brinck (2020), 3D activities in school should be planned accordingly to develop creative learning and design thinking skills. It is demonstrated that design thinking can provide students with a general understanding of the creative and complex process in digital fabrication processes (Smith, Iversen, & Hjorth, 2015).

Design activities can be done individually or as group work. Both cases have their advantages and disadvantages. In the individual study, skills that support students ' creative skills come to the fore, while in group studies, peer learning, collaborative learning, and respect for different ideas come to the fore. In individual work, lack of peer learning, staying away from different ideas, and taking time for designs are seen as disadvantages. This situation causes 3D design activities that take time to not be trained during the Information Technologies and Software course in our schools. Since Tinkercad is a browser-based program and does not work in offline mode, it creates a problem for students who do not have a computer at home. In group work, this situation, which the group environment will bring along with a noise environment in the classroom, is seen as a disadvantage because it creates an environment of conflict within and between groups.

Also, Tinkercad was found to be effective in students' acquisition of many cognitive, affective and psychomotor acquisitions. However, because Tinkercad has been trained in certain schools within the scope of the "production with informatics" project and teachers determine the gains themselves, it has been found that students do not receive education within the scope of a common acquisition program. This situation also clarifies the case of differences in individual or group activities given to students. Therefore, Özdemir (2019) applied a lesson plan prepared by Tinkercad to investigate the effect of primary and secondary school students' cognitive rotation skills. In the individual study, lack of peer learning, distance from different ideas, and time-consuming designs are seen



as disadvantages. This causes time-consuming 3D design activities to be unable to be trained during the Information Technology and software course in our schools.

It is stated that Tinkercad's interface and ease of use provide an advantage for students to develop many thinking skills such as 3D thinking, critical thinking, and creative thinking. In a similar study conducted by Doğan and Uluay (2020), 40 pre-service science teachers stated that they did not have any difficulties while using and practicing Tinkercad. These thinking skills are related to problem-solving, creativity, collaborative learning, algorithmic thinking, and critical thinking sub-dimensions of computational thinking skills. It has been found that the studies conducted in Tinkercad affect students' computational thinking skills (Deniz, 2020). However, considering the explanations made by the teachers, it was determined that the teachers did not have enough knowledge about computational thinking skills, therefore they did not use Tinkercad consciously to improve students' computational thinking skills. This situation is thought to be because computational thinking is a new skill, yet it has not been defined clearly and has not been integrated into the curriculum comprehensively.

Considering that 3D printing technologies will become part of our daily lives like other technological products, Tinkercad is an important tool for students to acquire this skill at an early age. For this reason, considering the advantages and disadvantages of Tinkercad education, it is important to design the educational environment in a way that stimulates the students' interests, curiosity and motivation and minimizes their learning barriers for this education to achieve the desired success.

REFERENCES

- Amalia, D., IGAAMOka, I., Septiani, V., & Fazal, M. R. (2020). Designing of Mikrokontroler E-Learning Course: Using Arduino and TinkerCad. *Journal of Airport Engineering Technology (JAET)*, 1(1), 8-14. Retrieved from https://e-journal.poltekbangplg.ac.id/index.php/jaet/article/view/2.
- Aydoğdu, Y.Ö., & Çakir, H. (2019). Effects of Design-Based Learning on Educational Outcomes.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş., Çokluk, Ö. & Köklü, N. (2017). *Statistics for social sciences*. Ankara: Pegem Academy. Cherry, M. (2016).Design...Print...Animate. *Indiana Libraries*, *35*(1), 13-17.
- Çekirge, E. (2019). The effect of 3d printer usage on academic success, attitude, motivation and critical thinking dispositions. Master's Thesis, Necmettin Erbakan University Institute of Educational Sciences, Konya.
- Çetin, E., Berikan, B. & Yüksel, A.O. (2019). Discovering the educational outcomes and formative evaluation of 3d design learning experience. *Educational Technology Theory And Practice*, 98(1), 21-49.
- Dere, H. E. (2017). The effects of using web based 3D design applications on spatial visualisation and mental rotation abilities of middle school students. Master's Thesis, Başkent University Institute of Educational Sciences, Ankara.
- Deniz, G. (2020). The effect of Tinkercad use on students' computational thinking and perceptions in programming education. Master's Thesis, Gazi University Institute of Educational Sciences, Ankara.
- Díaz, L. M., Hernández, C. M., Ortiz, A. V. & G. Lugo, L. S. (2019). *Tinkercad and Codeblocks in a Summer Course: an Attempt to Explain Observed Engagement and Enthusiasm*. Paper presented at the 2019 IEEE Blocks and Beyond Workshop (B&B), Memphis, TN, USA. doi: 10.1109/BB48857.2019.8941211.
- Doğan, A., & Kahraman, E. (2020).Pre-Service Science Teachers Experience with 3d Digital Design Technology .*Paper presented at the GLOBETSonline: International Conference on Education, Technology and Science.*
- Doğan, A. ve Uluay, G. (2020). Pre-service science teachers' learning and implementation experiences with 3d technologies: the example of Tinkercad. Trakya Journal of Education, 10(3), 980-994.
- Özdemir, S., Çetin, E., Çelik, A., Berikan, B. & Yüksel, O. A. (2017). Furnushing new generations with productive 1ct skills to make them the maker of their own future. *Journal of Education and Future*, *11*, 137-157.
- Özdemir, B. (2019). A validation study of assessing the convergent spatial cognitive skills of primary and secondary school students. Master's Thesis, Bahçeşehir University Institute of Educational Sciences, Ankara.
- Kuo, R., Laiy, W. & Kao, Y. (2018). Application of digital modeling in the elementary school digital dessert workshop. Paper presented at the 2018 1st IEEE International Conference on Knowledge Innovation and Invention (ICKII), doi: 10.1109/ICKII.2018.8569201.
- Leinonen, T., Virnes, M., Hietala, I., & Brinck, J. (2020). 3d Printing in The Wild: Adopting Digital Fabrication in Elementary School Education. *The International Journal of Art & Design Eduacation*, 39(3), 600-615.



- Lim, D. & Kim, T. (2019). The effect of the integrative education using a 3d printer on the computational thinking ability of elementary school students . *Journal of The Korean Assocaition of Information Ecucation*, 23(5), 469-480.
- Madar, J., Goldberg, A. & Lam, K. (2018). "*Hour of code*" with Virtual Reality. Paper presented at the 23rd Western Canadian Conference, New York, USA.
- Milli Eğitim Bakanlığı. (2018). 2023 Education Vision. Retrieved from https://2023vizyonu.meb.gov.tr/.
- Mohapatra, B. N., Mohapatra, R.K., Jijnyasa, J., & Shruti, Z. (2020). Easy Performance Based Learning Of Arduino And Sensors Through Tinkercad. *International Journal of Open Information Technologies*. Retrieved from https://cyberleninka.ru/article/n/easy-performance-based-learning-of-arduino-and-sensors-through-tinkercad.
- Mohapatra, B. N., Mohapatra, R. K., Jagdhane, V., Ajay, C. A., Sherkar, S. S., & Phadtare, V. S. (2020). Smart Performance of Virtual Simulation Experiments Through Arduino Tinkercad Circuits. *Perspectives in Communication, Embedded-Systems and Signal-Processing - PiCES*, 4(7), 157-160. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4249073
- Ng, O. L. (2017). Exploring the use of 3D Computer-Aided Design and 3D Printing for STEAM Learning in Mathematics. *Digital Experiences in Mathematics Education, 3,* 257-263. 10.1007/s40751-017-0036-x.
- Taştı, M. B., Avcı Yücel, Ü., & Yalçınalp, S. (2015). Matematik öğretmen adaylarının üç boyutlu modelleme programı ile öğrenme nesneleri geliştirme süreçlerinin incelenmesi. *International Journal of Social Sciences and Education Research*, 1(2), 411-423.
- Vera, F.M., Vera, L.L., Vásquez, J.G., & V. Panez, M. (2018). A Comparison of the Adaptive Behavior from Kids to Adults to Learn Block Programming. Paper presented at the 13th European Conference On Technology Enhanced Learning (EC-TEL 2018), Leeds, UK.
- Papp, I., Tornai, R., & Zichar, M.(2016).What 3D technologies can bring to education: The impacts of acquiring a 3D printer. Paper presented at the 2016 7th IEEE International Conference on Cognitive Infocommunications (CogInfoCom), Wroclaw, 2016, pp. 000257-000262, doi: 10.1109/CogInfoCom.2016.7804558.
- Silva, C., S. Malebran J. & Pereira, F. (2019). Scratch and Arduino for effectively developing programming and computing-electronic competences in primary school children. Paper presented at the 38th International Conference of the Chilean Computer Science Society (SCCC), Concepcion, Chile, doi: 10.1109/SCCC49216.2019.8966401.
- Seggie, F.N., & Bayyurt, Y. (2015). Nitel Araştırma Yöntem, Teknik, Analiz ve Yaklaşımları. Ankara: Anı.
- Smith, R.C., Iversen, O, S., & Hjorth, M. (2015).Design thinking for digital fabrication in education.*International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction*, 5, 20-28.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcci.2015.10.002.
- Yamashima, K., & Hori, S. (2021) Dijital İşlemeye Yeni Başlayanlar için 3D-CAD'e Dayalı "Temel Medya Tasarımı" Sınıfı. İçinde: Cheng LY. (eds) ICGG 2020 - 19. Uluslararası Geometri ve Grafik Konferansı Bildirileri. ICGG 2021. Akıllı Sistemler ve Hesaplamada Gelişmeler, cilt 1296. Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-63403-2_87
- Yi, S., Jung, U. & Lee, Y. (2017). A Study on the direction of 3D Modeling Education Considering Computational Thinking Factors at Elementary School in South Korea. In J. Dron & S. Mishra (Eds.), *Proceedings of E-Learn: World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education* (pp. 505-508). Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). Retrieved January 10, 2021 from https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/181225/



Instructors' Views on Distance Education during the Pandemic Period

Betül Özaydın Özkara

Distance Learning Vocational School, Isparta University of Applied Sciences, Isparta, Turkey betulozaydin@isparta.edu.tr ORCID ID: 0000-0002-2011-1352

ABSTRACT

In this study, it is aimed to determine the views of instructors on distance education and the reflection of the Covid 19 epidemic on their views. For this purpose, the opinions of the instructors who had not taught with distance education before the pandemic were examined both before the experience and after teaching during the pandemic process. Case study, one of the qualitative research methods, was used. Data were collected with the 20 instructors who participated in the study, with an interview form containing semi-structured questions before and after the experience. At the end of the study, it was seen that positive expressions were expressed more in general thoughts and evaluations made in terms of students and instructors before the experience, but there were more teachers who thought their success would be negatively affected. It is considered that distance education is not suitable for practical courses. After the experience, most of the instructors had change of thought. It is seen that this change is both positive and negative. It is possible to say that there are nearly half of the positive changes in the changing thoughts of the instructor and student. More than half of the instructors felt themselves productive in this environment. It is seen that interaction problems before and after experience cause concern. For this reason, it is recommended to apply methods that will increase interaction in the trainings provided.

Keywords: distance education during the pandemic period, Instructor's thoughts, changes of thought in distance education

INTRODUCTION

Some studies point out that distance education, which provides any individual with educational opportunities, has become widespread in the last 20 years (Lackey, 2011), whereas others suggest that this has been the case in the last decade (Healey, 2012). The flexibility that online education provides as regards students' attendance time (Willett et al., 2019) and its positive impact on learning (Smith, 2016) are increasing the demand for online courses. Harden (2013) states that university classrooms are on the verge of becoming virtual. However, Mitchell et al. (2015) suggests that the use of online technology in higher education has not yet been fully adopted. Some researchers believe that faculty members may be reluctant as regards online teaching due to such reasons as fear of change that they may encounter in a new environment, technology- and interaction-based concerns, and the issues associated with workload (Bacow et al., 2012; Betts & Heaston, 2014; Bolliger & Wasilik, 2009).

Keegan (1996) argues that distance education is parallel and complementary to traditional education. With the Covid-19 pandemic affecting the whole world in 2020, one can argue that this view is accurate. Distance education can be suggested to have become indispensable throughout the globe during the pandemic period because students can choose distance learning not only because they really prefer this method, but also because they cannot use traditional education due to reasons such as work, family, geographical distance, and financial problems (Holmberg, 1995). According to UNESCO data (2020), a large number of countries have had to implement school closures due to the pandemic. During this period, the number of students affected by the pandemic period has constantly changed. In 2020, the highest number of students who were affected due to school closures that took place in 165 countries was 1,478,702,369 students, virtually 84.5% of all. The majority of the students whose schools are closed continue distance learning, which has increased the prevalence of it even more. As online education has been widespread, quality education and the choice of strategy to be used by the instructors have become more significant (Crawford-Ferre & Weist, 2012).

It is clear that the participants involved in the distance education process, which has become much more important today, have different roles compared to those in formal education. Faculty members, who constitute a substantial part of these participants, have many duties in the distance education environment. Unlike face-to-face education, the instructors who teach in this environment are supposed to possess the technical knowledge required to manage the course, as well as the teaching skills to meet the needs of online students (Lackey, 2011). Holmberg (1986) points out that faculty members in distance education also have a role in providing motivation, making learning enjoyable, including the subjects related to the interests and needs of students, creating a sense of mutual



understanding between learners and distance education institutions, providing access to the course content, incorporating learners into activities, discussions, and decisions and establishing useful and real communication with them in general.

During the pandemic period, many instructors have had to continue to provide education in distance education environments, which can be described as new to them. It has been argued that people, individually or as a group, initially react negatively to the change they encounter, and that this reaction depends on the degree of individuals' involvement in the change process (Lawrence, 1969). It can be suggested that individuals participating in different aspects of the change are less resistant to it (Mitchell et al., 2015). Similarly, it is evident that instructors with online teaching experience yield a more positive reaction than those without one (Alshangeeti et al., 2009; Lloyd et al., 2012). During the pandemic period, there has been a necessity for transition to distance education in many institutions, including the ones with instructors who are inexperienced. This study investigated the perspectives of the instructors who were obliged to teach in distance education both before and after their experience of distance education in order to determine their views on distance education. Determining the views of faculty members who have a variety of responsibilities in the distance education environment is crucial in terms of online course behaviors such as the realization of an effective and efficient education process in this environment (Dooley & Murphrey, 2000), learning success (Harris & Krousgrill, 2008), students' learning process, and general satisfaction (Otter et al., 2013).

There are other studies as regards the perceptions of instructors on distance education. Some of these studies investigated solely the opinions of instructors who teach in distance education (Conrad, 2004; Morgan et al., 2014; Otter et al., 2013; Walters et al., 2017; Ward et al., 2010), while some of them studied the views of those both experienced and inexperienced in this field (Alshangeeti et al., 2009). Some other studies analyzed the views of instructors who had not taught in the distance education environment (Gürer et al., 2016; Tuncer & Tanaş, 2011; Willett et al., 2019), the opinions of teacher candidates (Gündüz & İşman, 2018; Paydar & Doğan, 2019; Uzoğlu, 2017), and the previous studies regarding the views of instructors (Wingo et al., 2017). This study examined the views of the instructors who had to teach in a distance education environment on account of the pandemic. During the pandemic period, other studies have been conducted in order to examine the views of instructors (Dolmacı & Dolmacı, 2020; Kaya, 2020; Şeren et al., 2020) and the opinions of teacher candidates about distance education (Karakuş et al., 2020; Karatepe et al., 2020). However, this study examined the views of the instructors before and after the experience of distance education, which makes it more comprehensive. The following questions were sought to answer in order to realize the aim of the study:

- Before their experience, what are the views of the instructors who have had to teach in the distance education environment during the pandemic period about distance education?
- After their experience, what are the views of the instructors who taught in the distance education environment for the first time during the pandemic period, and have their opinions changed?

METHOD

Research Pattern

In this study, a case study design, one of the qualitative research methods, was used in order to determine the views of the instructors on distance education who had to teach with distance education during the pandemic period. A case study analyzes an event or phenomenon by focusing on the questions of how and why (Yin, 1984). In these studies, in order to evaluate a specific situation or event in a certain period of time, it is defined and examined indepth via data collection tools such as interviews and observations (Creswell, 2007).

Working Group

The study included 20 instructors teaching in the Department of Anthropology (2 participants), Department of Computer Engineering (6 participants), Department of Business Administration (5 participants), Department of Fine Arts (4 participants), Department of Mathematics (2 participants), and Department of Atatürk's Principles and History of Turkish Revolution (1 participant) in a state university in the Spring Semester 2021. 60% of the participants were women and 40% were men. The age range varied between 30-35 (6 participants), 36-40 (11 participants), and 41-50 (3 participants).

Data Collection Tool and Data Collection Process

Semi-structured interview forms prepared by the researcher were used to collect the data. There were eight questions in the interview forms used both before and after the experience. After the interview forms were prepared, the opinions of 3 experts in the field of distance education were received and the forms were finalized. The finalized questions were shared with the instructors via Google Forms. Pre-experience questions were directed



to the instructors who had never taught in the distance education environment before the Fall semester 2020. Following online teaching during the specified period, the post-experience interview forms were shared.

Data Analysis

Qualitative method was used to analyze the interview forms filled out before and after the instructors' experience. For this purpose, the qualitative data analysis, which involves the basic stages of "data reduction", "data display", and "conclusion drawing/verification" was conducted (Miles & Huberman, 1994). Firstly, the data were analyzed and coded in the analysis process. Afterwards, the categories and subcategories were created for the codes. After this process, the data were re-examined; codings and categories were organized, and eventually thematic codings were created. In the study, the agreement percentage between coders was used for the purpose of reliability (Miles & Huberman, 1994), and for this purpose a comparison was made with the coding made by another expert. The percent agreement was calculated 82%. The codings that produced the difference were examined and then finalized by consensus.

Findings

This section covers the general views of the instructors before and after their experience as well as the changes in their opinions. Table 1 includes the general views of the instructors about distance education before teaching.

	Table 1. Ge	neral views before the experience		
Category	Subcategory	Code	n	f
Advantage Flexibility Location independence		Location independence	9	23.68
(%63,15)		Time independence	5	13.16
		Freedom	1	2.63
	Accessibility	Equality of opportunity	4	10.53
		Easy Accessibility	1	2.63
	Opportunity	Learning fast	2	5.26
		Solution during a crisis	2	5.26
Disadvantage	Interaction	Lack of communication	4	10.53
(%36.83)	Before lectures	Preparation for a long time	2	5.26
		Distressful method	1	2.63
		Obligation to upload files	1	2.63
	Discipline	Not taking the lecture seriously	1	2.63
	During lectures	Being dependent on the computer	2	5.26
		Not being suitable for practical courses	1	2.63
		Insufficient training	2	5.26

The views of the instructors, who had not yet taught in the distance education environment, were grouped into two categories: positive views as "advantage" and negative views as "disadvantage". The study revealed that, among the codes created in this category, the expressions regarding "advantage" were used the most, and that they constituted 63.15% of all expressions. The category of "advantage" consists of the sub-categories of "flexibility", regarding the independence of individuals, "accessibility", about the opportunity to access courses, and "opportunity" as regards the opportunities that students have. The codes mostly mentioned were "location independence" (23.68%), "time independence" (13.16%) and "equality of opportunity" (10.53%). The codes in the category of "disadvantage" were divided into four sub-categories; that is, "interaction" regarding the lack of mutual communication, "before lectures", "during lectures", and "disciplinary issues". The code of lack of communication (10.53%) was mentioned the most.

The instructors had various views in terms of how teaching in the distance education environment would affect their own success. Three participants stated that there would be no change in their success as they believed education environment does not affect the level of success. Five participants believed that this environment would have a positive impact on their success. All the five instructors, thinking that they would be affected positively, suggested that their success would increase since they would be able to spend more time for their scientific studies. 12 instructors, 60% of all participants, argued that this environment would affect their success adversely. The reasons for the instructors' thinking that it would affect them negatively are given in Table 2.



Category	Subcategory	Code	n	f
Individual	Personal	Not being able to use body language	1	5.26
		Having to teach the subjects too quickly	1	5.26
		Lack of technology	1	5.26
	Discipline	Not taking the lecture seriously	1	5.26
Lecture	Practice	Not suitable for practical courses	2	10.53
process		Not being able to access the instructional	3	15.79
		materials physically		
		Not being able to use the whiteboard	1	5.26
		Inefficient education	2	10.53
	Interaction	Lack of communication	4	21,05
		Feeling of being in the virtual environment	1	5.26
		Not being able to give feedback	1	5.26
		Not being able to see the student who is not	1	5.26
		paying attention		

Table 2. Reasons wh	ny the instructors	thought they	would fail
---------------------	--------------------	--------------	------------

The reasons for failure in the distance education environment is categorized as "individual", which includes the issues related to the instructors, and "lecture process", involving the problems that are likely to be experienced during the lecture. The category of "individual" consists of the sub-category of "personal", which includes the lecturer's not being able to use body language, the belief that he/she will have to teach the subjects too quickly, and the possibility of experiencing technological difficulties, as well as the sub-category of "discipline", which involves the belief that he/she will not take the lecture seriously. "Lecture process", on the other hand, contains two sub-categories, one of which includes the problems that may occur during the practicing process in the lecture. The other one, "interaction", involves the issues that may arise during the mutual communication process. In their statements, the instructors mostly mentioned the codes of the lack of communication. For instance, the statement of the participant coded with K8 which includes the codes of "lack of communication", "not being able to give feedback", and "not taking the lecture seriously" was as follows:

K8: "I don't think I will be very successful in this environment; there may be a decrease in my success when compared to in regular education because there'll be only one-way communication during the practical courses and also it won't be possible to see the students. We might behave indifferently due to the lack of feedback to the message provided."

The statement of the participant coded with K13 with regard to "not being able to use the whiteboard" and "not being able to see the student who is not paying attention" was as follows:

K13: "The lectures I deliver requires me to use the board frequently. I believe that using the board in science courses can bring about more success, but I will not be able to use it in this environment. Also, it is easier to notice a student who has difficulty in understanding the subject in the classroom environment."

The aspects that the instructors considered positive and negative as regards themselves before experiencing distance education were categorized in Table 3.

Category	Subcategory	Code	n f
Positive	Environment	Not having situations that might hinder the lecture	6 10.71
(%58.93)		Location independence	3 5.36
		Recording lectures	1 1.79
	Physical	Feeling of comfort	4 7.14
		Requiring less energy	4 7.14
	Opportunity	Access to plenty of instructional materials	4 7.14
		Opportunity to prepare instructional materials	1 1.79
		Opportunity to improve yourself	1 1.79
	Saving	Saving time	7 12.50
		Saving money	2 3.57
Negative	Classroom	Fear of not being able to convey the content	3 5.36
(%41.07)	Management	Not being able to monitor the student	3 5.36
		Distressful method	2 3.57
		Difficulty in time management	1 1.79

Table 3. Positive and negative aspects of distance education as regards the instructor


TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

-	Using only lecture method	1	1.79
Before lectures	Obligation to prepare instructional materials	3	5.36
	Preparation for a long time	2	3.57
Interaction	Lack of interaction	8	14.29

Before having distance education experience, the instructors mostly mentioned the positive aspects regarding themselves with a rate of 58.93%. Four sub-categories were created in the category of "positive": "positive aspects of distance education environment", "positive situations which the instructors will experience physically", "opportunities", and "saving". The instructors mostly mentioned "saving time" (12.50%) and "not having situations that might hinder the lecture (10.71%). The difficulties that may arise in the classroom management process, the tasks to be done before the lecture, and the interaction problems constitute the category of "negative" and include 41.07% of the statements. Lack of interaction (14.29%) took the first place among all the negative aspects the instructors believed they would suffer from. The statement of the participant coded with K5 about "not having situations that might hinder the lecture", and that of the participant coded with K10 about "opportunity to prepare instructional materials" were as follows:

K5: "I think the best thing in this environment will be that, as there will be no factors that hinder the lecture, caused by the classroom environment, I won't constantly have to say such things as "Behave!" or "Stop talking!".

K10: "I think it will be an important opportunity for us to compile knowledge and make it more efficient. We have few official resources for the course content. In this way, we will have the opportunity to convey our own resources to the student in written form."

The aspects that the instructors considered positive and negative for students before experiencing distance education were categorized in Table 4.

Category	Subcategory	Code	n	f
Positive	Flexibility	Location independence	10	13.33
(%56)		Time independence	8	10.67
		Individual study	2	2.67
	Accessibility	Equality of opportunity	3	4.00
		Opportunity to revise	3	4.00
		Easy Accessibility	2	2.67
	Opportunity	Physical comfort	3	4.00
		Understanding better	1	1.33
		Being able to receive good education	1	1.33
		Access to quality material	1	1.33
	Saving	Saving time	4	5.33
		Saving money	4	5.33
Negative	Interaction	Lack of interaction	7	9.33
(%44)		Lack of socialization	7	9.33
	Individual	Need for additional effort to learn	1	1.33
		Technical inadequacy	2	2.67
		Lack of technical equipment (pc, internet, etc.)	1	1.33
	Discipline	Lack of self-discipline	4	5.33
		Increase in lack of attention to the content	5	6.67
	Lecture process	Inefficient lecture	2	2.67
		Not being able to do hands-on activities	2	2.67
		Problems regarding the place where the instructor physically is	2	2.67

Table 4. Positive and negative aspects of distance education for students

Before their distance education experience, the instructors mentioned the positive aspects for students, with a rate of 56%, and negative situations, with a rate of 44%. The positive aspects that distance education can offer to students consist of four sub-categories: "flexibility", as regards the independence of individuals, "accessibility", about the opportunity to access classes, "opportunity", regarding opportunities students have, and "saving". In the category of "positive", the participants mostly mentioned the "location independence" and "time independence", which are included in the sub-category of "flexibility". The aspects that were considered to be negative for students involve four sub-categories: "interaction" regarding mutual communication, "individual" associated with the



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

situations based on individuals, "discipline", and "lecture process" as regards the disruptions that may occur during the lecture. While the participants mostly mentioned about interaction, the concerns about the fact that some students would not have enough technical equipment and would need additional effort in distance learning were also among the negative codes. The statement of the participant coded with K5 about "the opportunity to revise", "saving money", "saving time", that of the participant coded with K10 about "time and location independence", and that of the participant coded with K11 about "lack of socialization" were as follows:

K5: "Students may have the opportunity to re-watch their lectures whenever they want; they can attend classes from home without having any financial difficulties. It will save both time and money spent on travelling."

K10: "There were times when students were absent from class . They sometimes didn't make an effort to catch up with the missed classes. Now, there won't be such situations during this process. They can attend classes in their own conditions and comfort zone at any time."

K10: "School is also an area where students socialize. Considering the process we are in, isolation is necessary. But I think that, when the conditions become normal, the school environment will provide students with positive contributions in terms of socialization and development. I think their being deprived of this could affect them negatively. "

Only 2 of the instructors had positive opinions on whether distance education is suitable for every course. 18 instructors thought that this environment is not suitable especially for practical courses at all. The statement of the participant coded with K4, who mentioned that distance education is not applicable in terms of both courses requiring practical applications and the needs of students, was as follows:

K4: "No, I don't think it will be an appropriate method, for example, for the courses in which practical applications are necessary. Rather, it will take more attention in the courses in the humanities if they are supported with visual materials. Apart from that, it can work for groups that are really willing to learn ... "

While only 2 instructors favored students' taking all their courses with distance education, 3 instructors argued that this approach is only for students who have the necessary skills for distance learning. 7 instructors thought that, while theoretical courses should continue through distance education, practical courses through formal education; however, 6 instructors, 30% of the participants, stated that they were absolutely against distance education.

Instructors' views following the distance education experience

The instructors who had not taught in the distance education environment previously were interviewed again after delivering lectures for a semester during the pandemic period. The study revealed that 80% of them changed their views after the experience. Table 5 shows the views which changed regarding students.

Category	Subcategory	Code	n	f
Positive	Flexibility	Time independence	3	6.52
changes		Location independence	2	4.35
(%47.83)	Accessibility	Uninterrupted continuity of education	4	8.70
		Equality of opportunity	1	2.17
	Opportunity	Opportunity to revise	6	13.04
		Rich course content	2	4.35
		Comfort	1	2.17
		Rich communication tools	1	2.17
	Saving	Saving time	1	2.17
		Saving money	1	2.17
Negative	Interaction	Lack of communication	7	15.22
changes		Too many documentary materials	1	2.17
(%52.17)	Discipline	Not taking the lecture seriously	5	10.87
		No obligation to attend classes	4	8.70
		Increase in apathy	2	4.35
		Students' lack of active participation	1	2.17
	Inequality	Limited internet access	3	6.52
		Students' inequality of educational	1	2.17
		opportunities		

Table 5. Views which changed in terms of students studying in the distance education environment

After their distance education experience, the instructors stated that there were some changes in their views about



the positive and negative effects that this method would have on students. The study indicated that negative changes (52.17%) were slightly higher. The changes in the views regarding the positive aspects consist of four subcategories: "flexibility", "accessibility", "opportunity", and "saving", as in the previous tables. The instructors mostly mentioned "the opportunity to revise" in the sub-category of "opportunity" as a positive perspective change. "Uninterrupted continuity of education" ranked the second. Among the changes in the views regarding the negative aspects, instructors mostly mentioned the problems experienced in interaction. The views of the participant coded with K6 about "uninterrupted continuity of education", those of the participant coded with K2 about "attendance" and "discipline", and those of the participant coded with K14 about "increase in apathy" were as follows:

K6: "Being able to answer the questions of my students, even from a distance, and the fact that the education always continues is a feature that I did not think of before but I realized when I taught in distance education." K2: ".. listening to the lectures arbitrarily and not failing due to absence couldn't provide the serious atmosphere and concentration available in the classroom environment. I think a serious discipline problem has arisen."

K14: "Even when formal education was available, these students weren't interested in learning sufficiently. They didn't have the faintest idea what studying is. However, with distance education, students' interest in learning and the act of studying is about to vanish entirely."

The opinions of the instructors which changed in terms of themselves after their experience are indicated in Table 6. In addition to positive views, there are also negative views.

Category	Subcategory	Code	n	f
Positive	Flexibility	Time independence	1	2.5
changes		Location independence	2	5
(%45)	Accessibility	Uninterrupted continuity of education	3	7.5
	Opportunity	Sharing rich content	1	2.5
		Comfort of home	1	2.5
		Time for researches	3	7.5
	Saving	Saving time	3	7.5
	Personal	Less fatigue	2	5
		No classroom management anxiety	2	5
Negative	Interaction	Lack of interaction	5	12.5
changes (%55)		Not being able to control whether the student understands	5	12.5
		Lack of instant feedback	2	5
		Not being able to control whether the student is	2	
		paying attention		5
		Classes' being dull due to students' lack of participation	1	2.5
	Anxiety	Anxiety due to being recorded	2	5
		Not being able to concentrate	1	2.5
	Technical	Technical problems	4	10

Table 6. Views which changed in terms of instructors after the experience

The analysis of the statements revealed that 45% of the instructors' opinions were about positive changes and 55% of them were about negative changes. The mostly mentioned codes were in the subcategory of "interaction" which belongs to "negative views". The changes in the views regarding the positive aspects contain the subcategories of "flexibility", "accessibility", "opportunity", "saving", and "personal" which includes the codes of "less fatigue" and "less anxiety in classroom management". The changes in the views regarding the negative aspects are grouped into the subcategories of "interaction", "anxiety", which includes mental issues the instructors suffered from, and "technical problems". The codes mostly mentioned were "lack of interaction" and "not being able to control whether the student understands". The statements of the participant coded with K2 about "saving time", "time for researches", "less fatigue", and those of the participant coded with K5 about "lack of interaction", "not being able to control whether the student can understand the subject" were as follows:

K2: "As distance education saves time, I have more time for myself, and it is possible for me to devote more time to researches, and also I feel less tired and more dynamic."

K5: "The most obvious problems I had were the lack of communication due to not being in the same physical environment with my students, not being able to ask and answer questions instantly, and therefore not being able to shape lecture contents according to those questions and reinforce them with examples, and thus not being able to determine whether students have comprehended the subjects or not."



The instructor coded with K18 expressed his satisfaction for focusing only on his lecture without worrying about classroom management as follows:

K18: "There are fewer question marks, which means less anxiety, in my mind over the efficiency of my lectures and now I think that I can shift my time and effort to the areas with higher marginal benefits."

While 9 of the instructors gave a positive answer to the question asked about their views as regards the sense of productivity that the instructors felt after the experience, 3 of them felt that they were partially productive, and 8 instructors, 40% of the participants, did not find themselves efficient at all. All of the instructors who thought they were not productive stated that the reason lying behind this was "not being able to communicate". The instructors who believed that they taught efficiently in this environment attributed it to the fact that they did their best. The instructor coded with K13 emphasized the contribution of preparing materials and stated:

K13: "I felt efficient. The presentations I prepared for the lecture enabled me to have some opportunities that I hadn't been able to obtain in the classroom environment. In this respect, I was able to explain more effectively what I had to tell."

55% of the instructors wanted to teach in the distance education environment again, whereas 25% did not. 20% of them stated that they could teach online if they had to because of the pandemic. The reasons why the instructors did or did not want to teach in the distance education environment again are shown in Table 7.

Category	Subcategory	Code	n	f
Positive views	Flexibility	Being able to work from home	3	16.67
	Opportunity	Time for researches	1	5.56
		Recorded lectures	1	5.56
	Personal	No classroom management anxiety	4	22.22
		Less fatigue	1	5.56
	Saving	Saving time	2	11.11
Negative	Interaction	Lack of interaction	3	16.67
views	Lecture process	Inefficient lecture	3	16.67

Table 7. Reasons for wanting and not wanting to teach in distance education again

Only 25% of the instructors had definitely negative opinions ("lack of interaction" and "inefficient lecture") about delivering lectures in distance education again. The statements of the instructors who wanted to teach in distance education again are grouped in the sub-categories of "flexibility", "opportunity", "personal", and "saving". The instructors mostly mentioned "not having classroom management anxiety in the distance education environment" and "being able to work from home" as positive views. The opinion of the instructor coded with K3 about the codes of "ease of classroom management" and "recorded lectures" was as follows:

K3: "Yes. I would like to teach in the distance education environment again owing to several positive aspects. For example, it doesn't involve any negative external factors such as the lecture's being interrupted by a latecomer, which helps you staying focused. Besides, you can record the lectures so that students can watch them again."

The exams conducted after the distance education process are also critical. However, none of the instructors who participated in the study had a positive opinion about exams. 50% of the instructors stated that students cheated during the exams, 50% of them expressed that exams could not measure or evaluate students' success, and 60% of them argued that it was not possible to provide control. 40% of the instructors stated that they evaluated their students by using assignments containing comments because of their negative opinions about exams.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

The study which involved the instructors who had not taught in distance education before the Covid-19 pandemic period determined the faculty members' views on this environment both before and after teaching in distance learning for a semester in the pandemic period. For this purpose, interviews were made with a total of 20 instructors from various departments and the following results were obtained through qualitative analysis.

The opinions of the instructors before teaching in distance education were as follows:

While 63.15% of the general opinions about distance education were in the category of "advantage", which included the codes of positive views, 36.83% were in the category of "disadvantage", which involved negative codes. Similarly, Alshangeeti et al. (2009) examined instructors' views on distance education in terms diffusion of innovations and determined that it was regarded as positive in terms of each factor. The survey conducted by the National Education Association (NEA, 2000) demonstrated that approximately 75% of the instructors felt



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

positive about distance education. According to the opinions of the instructors, three subcategories were created in the category of "advantage": "flexibility", regarding the independence of individuals, "accessibility" regarding the opportunity to access classes, and "opportunity" about the opportunities that the student has. Walters et al. (2017) determined that the instructors regarded "flexibility" and "accessibility" as important components in distance education. The study of Tuncer & Tanaş (2011) emphasized the educational opportunity for instructors. The category of "disadvantage" includes four sub-categories: "interaction" regarding the lack of mutual communication, "before lectures", "during lectures", and "disciplinary issues". Hogan & McKnight (2007) stated that distance education can be considered as complicated and troublesome as there are many components such as interaction and solution of technical problems in the online environment. Tuncer & Tanaş, (2011) and Dolmacı & Dolmacı (2020) emphasized the negative impacts of the issues associated with interaction. The current study determined that the most positive aspects expressed by the instructors were related to the location independence and time independence, while the negative aspects were about the lack of communication. Dolmacı & Dolmacı (2020) and Şeren et al., (2020) also emphasized the significance of time and location independence.

60% of the instructors thought that their success would be affected negatively in the distance education environment where they had no previous experience. The reasons for this were grouped in the categories of "lecture process", which included the reasons depending on the instructor, and "lecture process", which involved the problems that might be encountered during the lecture. The most common reasons for failure were lack of communication and concerns about not being able to access the instructional materials physically. 25% of the participants stated that distance education would not take much time, and therefore they could devote more time to academic studies, which would increase their success. Contrary to this opinion, Tomei (2006) argued that teaching content, counseling, and student assessment take more time in distance education than in the traditional environment.

The study indicated that the participants mentioned positive aspects of distance education in terms of the instructor (58.93%) more than negative aspects (41.07%). Positive aspects were categorized under four sub-categories: benefits provided by the "environment", "physical" comfort, "opportunities" offered by distance education, and "saving". Saving time took the first place among all the positive aspects. Other studies, contrary to this, mostly maintain that teaching online will take more time than the traditional environment (McQuiggan, 2012; Otter et al., 2013). The negative aspects in terms of the instructors were grouped under three sub-categories: "classroom management", requirements "before lectures", and "interaction". Among them, the lack of interaction was mentioned the most. Similarly, Willett et al. (2019) also mentioned the concerns about interaction. According to the current study, while the instructors found it positive to be able to access a wide range of materials in this environment, they considered the obligation to prepare materials as negative. However, the effort to prepare materials in the distance education environment is extremely important because the quality of the materials used in online education affects the quality of education (Chao et al., 2006).

The study also demonstrated that the participants mentioned the positive aspects of distance education in terms of students (56%) more than its adverse aspects (44%). "Flexibility", "accessibility", "opportunity", and "saving" were the subcategories of the positive effects. The study revealed that the instructors mostly mentioned "time independence" and "location independence" as the positive aspects for the student, which were followed by "saving time" and "saving money". Negative aspects, on the other hand, were grouped under four sub-categories: "individual", "discipline", "lecture process", as well as "interaction", which took the first place. The study by Otter et al. (2013) indicated that, while the students felt more disconnected from both their friends and instructors in the online environment, the instructors also agreed with this idea but emphasized it less. Morgan et al. (2014) showed that the instructors emphasized the importance of online group work. One can argue that group work is extremely important in distance education as it provides an increase in interaction.

90% of the instructors stated that distance education was not suitable to use in practical courses, and 30% of them did not find it appropriate for students to take all their courses with distance education. 15% of the participants thought that courses can be taken entirely in distance education, depending on the qualification of the student. Similarly, Willett et al. (2019) determined that the instructors who thought that distance education was not suitable for the department of sports management was in the majority. However, there were also those who found it suitable if the instructor was willing.

The following conclusions were reached about the opinions of the instructors after the experience: Most of the instructors (80%) changed their views after they taught in distance education. The changes of perception were examined in different categories in terms of the student and the instructor. The study revealed that the changes in the views about negative aspects were more than about positive aspects regarding both the student



and the instructor. The study by Seren et al. (2020) demonstrated that the instructors mentioned the negative aspects of distance education more than its positive aspects. However, one can argue that the changes in the views about positive aspects in this study were nearly 50% in terms of both students (47.83%) and instructors (45%). Lloyd et al. (2012) indicated in their study that the instructors with distance education experience approached it more positively than those without experience. A 2001 study by Grenzky & Maitland demonstrated that, while the majority (72%) of distance education instructors' views about distance education were positive, 14% of them were negative.

The study indicated that 52.17% of the changes in the views were about negative aspects in terms of students, while 47.83% of those were about positive aspects. After their experience in distance education, the instructors frequently mentioned "students' opportunity to revise", and "ensuring uninterrupted continuity of education" among the positive aspects of distance education. Similarly, in the Grenzky & Maitland (2001) study, the first reason for the instructors' positive attitude to distance learning was that it could increase students' access to education. In addition, they emphasized the importance of being able to learn at a place of their choice (location independence). The instructors who had not mentioned "interaction" before the experience in terms of the negative aspects of distance education also stated that interaction was a huge problem. Likewise, Grenzky & Maitland (2001) determined that the instructors experienced in distance education found it effective in terms of students were under no obligation to attend classes were also felt. Contrary to the study, Ulmer et al. (2007) determined that the instructors experienced in distance education found it effective in terms of student performance and teacher-student interactions. This study indicated that "disciplinary problems" were among the changes in the views about negative aspects. Similarly, the instructors participating Otter et al. study (2013) stated that students are supposed to become more disciplined in the online environment.

The study determined that the changes in the views about the negative aspects in terms of instructors were 55%, those about the positive aspects were 45%. The changes in the views about the positive aspects were also grouped in the categories of "flexibility", "accessibility", "opportunity", "saving", and "individual". Ensuring uninterrupted continuity of education, the increase in time for researches, and saving time were the most frequently mentioned codes. As regards the changes about the negative aspects, three sub-categories were formed, including "interaction", "anxiety of the instructor", and "technical problems". The instructors stated that they suffered from technical problems that they had not mentioned before. In addition, the study revealed that problems related to "interaction" took the first place. Similarly, in Lloyd et al. (2012) study, lack of communication and technological problems are defined as barriers.

It was determined that 60% of the instructors felt themselves partially or completely productive while teaching with distance education. The study demonstrated that "not being able to communicate" was on the basis of the views of all the instructors who thought they were inefficient. Similarly, Conrad (2004) examined the views of instructors before and after their experience in distance education and determined, from the views expressed by the lecturers about their own performance, that their awareness of cooperative learning, social presence or community role related to "interaction" was low.

The present study revealed that, while more than half of the participants (55%) in the study wanted to teach in distance education again, 25% were not in favor of teaching in this environment under any circumstances because of interaction problems and inefficiency. The study by Gürer et al. (2016) indicated that the participants were against teaching online. However, in Hartman et al. (2000) study, it was determined that 93.6% of the instructors wanted to continue teaching online.

The current study concluded that interaction was considered as a critical issue for all the instructors, whether they were experienced or inexperienced in distance education. Thus, instructors can be trained as regards the methods that will enhance interaction and can be encouraged to employ such methods. The study demonstrated that, for some of the instructors, teaching in the distance education environment was considered as timesaving. However, various studies indicate that an effective learning process in this environment requires more time and effort than in the traditional environment. Awareness can be raised about this subject among the instructors.

REFERENCES

Alshangeeti, A., Alsaghier, H., & Nguyen, A. (2009). Faculty perceptions of attributes affecting the diffusion of online learning in Saudi Arabia: A quantitative study. Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on E-Learning, 10–24. Retrived from https://www.mu.edu.sa/sites/default/files/ad-images/Hisham.pdf



- Bacow, L. S., Bowen, W. G., Guthrie, K. M., Lack, K. A., & Long, M. P. (2012). Barriers to Adoption of Online Learning Systems in U.S. Higher Education. Retrived from http://major21.wdfiles.com/local-files/archive/BarrierstoAdoptionofOnlineLearningSystemsinUSHigherEducation-DJR Comments.pdf
- Betts, K., & Heaston, A. (2014). Build it but will they teach? Strategies for increasing faculty participation and retention in online and blended education. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 17(2), 1–13.
- Bolliger, D., & Wasilik, O. (2009). Factors influencing faculty satisfaction with online teaching and learning in higher education. Distance Education, 30(1), 103–116.doi: 10.1080/01587910902845949
- Chao, T., Saj, T., & Tessier, F. (2006). Establishing a quality review for online courses. Educause Quarterly, 3, 32–39.Retrived from https://er.educause.edu/-/media/files/article-downloads/eqm0635.pdf
- Conrad, D. (2004). University instructors' reflections on their first online teaching experiences. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 8(2), 31–44. Retrived
- fromhttps://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?p=AONE&u=sdu&id=GALE|A284325482&v=2.1&it=r&sid=summon Crawford-Ferre, H. G., & Weist, L. R. (2012). Effective online instruction in higher education. The Quarterly Review of Higher Education, 13, 11–14.
- Creswell, J. W. (2007). Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches(2nd ed.) Thousand Oaks. Sage Publication.
- Dolmacı, M., & Dolmacı, A. (2020). The views of lecturers in foreign language teaching via synchronous distance education: a covid19 case. The Journal of Turkish Educational Sciences, 18(2), 202–228.doi: 10.37217/tebd.783986
- Dooley, K. E., & Murphrey, T. P. (2000). How the perspectives of administrators, faculty, and support units impact the rate of distance education adoption. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 3(4).Retrived from https://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/winter34/dooley34.html
- Grenzky, J., & Maitland, C. (2001). Focus on distance education. NEA Higher Education Research Center Update, 7(2), 1–9.Retrived from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED455750
- Gündüz, A. Y., & İşman, A. (2018). Pre-service teachers' perception of distance education. TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology, 17(1).Retrived from http://www.tojet.net/volumes/v17i1.pdf#page=135
- Gürer, M. D., Tekinarslan, E., & Yavuzalp, N. (2016). Opinions of Instructors Who Give Lectures Online About Distance Education. Turkish Online Journal of Qualitative Inquiry, 7(1), 47–78.doi: 10.17569/tojqi.74876
- Harden, N. (2013). The end of the university as we know it. The American Interest, 8(3), 54-62.
- Harris, D. A., & Krousgrill, C. (2008). Distance education: New technologies and new directions. Proceedings of the IEEE, 96(6), 917–930. https://doi.org/10.1109/JPROC.2008.921612
- Hartman, J., Dziuban, C., & Moskal, P. (2000). Faculty satisfaction in ALNs: A dependent or independent variable? Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 4(3), 155–157.doi: 10.24059/olj.v4i3.1892
- Healey, D. (2012). Planning a distance education course for language teachers. In L. England (Ed.), Online language teacher education: TESOL perspectives (p. 172). Routledge.
- Hogan, R. L., & McKnight, M. A. (2007). Exploring burnout among university online instructors: An initial investigation. The Internet and Higher Education, 10(2), 117–124.doi: 10.1016/j.iheduc.2007.03.001
- Holmberg, B. (1986). A discipline of distance education. The Journal of Distance Education, 1(1), 25–40. Retrived from http://ijede.ca/index.php/jde/article/view/306/200
- Holmberg, B. (1995). The evolution of the character and practice of distance education. Open Learning: The Journal of Open, Distance and e-Learning, 10(2), 47–53. Retrived from http://www.c3l.uni-oldenburg.de/cde/found/holmbg95.htm
- Karakuş, N., Ucuzsatar, N., Karacaoğlu, M. Ö., Esendemir, N., & Bayraktar, D. (2020). Turkish teacher candidates' views on distance education. RumeliDE Journal of Language and Literature Studies, 19, 220–241.doi: 10.29000/rumelide.752297
- Karatepe, F., Küçükgençay, N., & Peker, B. (2020). What are the perspectives of teacher candidates on synchronous distance education? A survey study. Journal of Social and Humanities Sciences Research, 7(53), 1262–1274.
- Kaya, S. (2020). Problems encountered in compulsory distance education: instructor and student opinions. VIIth International Eurasian Educational ResearchCongress, 10–13.
- Keegan, D. (1996). Foundation of Distance Education. Routledge.
- Lackey, K. (2011). Faculty Development: An Analysis of Current and Effective Training Strategies for Preparing Faculty to Teach Online. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 14(4), 1–27. Retrived from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ960594
- Lawrence, P. (1969). How to deal with resistance to change. Harvard Business Review, 47(1), 4–12.



- Lloyd, S. A., Byrne, M. M., & McCoy, T. S. (2012). Faculty-perceived barriers of online education. Journal of Online Learning and Teaching, 8(1), 1–12.Retrived from https://jolt.merlot.org/vol8no1/lloyd_0312.pdf
- McQuiggan, C. (2012). Faculty development for online teaching as a catalyst for change. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks, 16(2), 27–61. Retrived from https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ971044

Miles, M. B., & Huberman, A. M. (1994). Qualitative data analysis. Sage Publication.

- Mitchell, L. D., Parlamis, J. D., & Claiborne, S. A. (2015). Overcoming Faculty Avoidance of Online Education. Journal of Management Education, 39(3), 350–371. doi:10.1177/1052562914547964
- Morgan, K., Williams, K. C., Cameron, B. A., & Wade, C. E. (2014). Faculty perceptions of online group work. The Quarterly Review of Distance Education, 15(4), 37–41.
- NEA. (2000). Confronting the future of distance learning: Placing quality in reach.
- Otter, R., Seipel, S., Graeff, T., Alexander, B., Boraiko, C., Gray, J., Petersen, K., & Sadler, K. (2013). Comparing student and faculty perceptions of online and traditional courses. The Internet and Higher Education, 19, 27–35.doi: 10.1016/j.iheduc.2013.08.001
- Paydar, S., & Doğan, A. (2019). Teacher candidates' views on open and distance learning environments. Education and Technology, 1(2), 154–162.Retrived from https://dergipark.org.tr/en/download/articlefile/886199
- Şeren, N., Tut, E., & Kesten, A. (2020). Distance education in corona virus times: opinions of lecturer's primary education department. Turkish Studies, 15(6), 4507–4524.
- Smith, R. (2016). Recruiting and serving online students at a traditional university. College and University, 91(3), 67–74. Retrived from

https://search.proquest.com/openview/a95b45375dbe68b1585806817b8e1423/1?cbl=1059&pq-origisite=gscholar

- Tomei, L. (2006). The impact of online teaching on faculty load: Computing the ideal class size for online courses. Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 14(3), 531–541.
- Tuncer, M., & Tanaş, R. (2011). The evaluation of academicians' views on distance education programs (the samples of Firat and Tunceli Universities). Elementary Education Online, 10(2), 776–784.
- Ulmer, L. W., Watson, L. W., & Derby, D. (2007). Perceptions of higher education faculty members on the value of distance education. Quarterly Review of Distance Education, 8(1), 59–70.
- UNESCO. (2020). Education: From disruption to recovery. https://en.unesco.org/covid19/educationresponse
- Uzoğlu, M. (2017). Perceptions of science teacher candidates on distance education. The Black Sea Journal of Social Science, 9(16), 335–351.
- Walters, S., Grover, K. S., Turner, R. C., & Alexander, J. C. (2017). Faculty perceptions related to teaching online: A starting point for designing faculty development initiatives. Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education, 18(4), 4–19.
- Ward, M. E., Peters, G., & Shelley, K. (2010). Student and faculty perceptions of the quality of online learning experiences. International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 11(3), 57–77. doi: 10.19173/irrodl.v11i3.867
- Willett, J., Brown, C., & Danzy-Bussell, L. A. (2019). An exploratory study: Faculty perceptions of online learning in undergraduate sport management programs. Journal of Hospitality, Leisure, Sport and Tourism Education, 25, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jhlste.2019.100206
- Wingo, N. P., Ivankova, N. V., & Moss, J. A. (2017). Faculty perceptions about teaching online: Exploring the literature using the technology acceptance model as an organizing framework. Online Learning, 21(1), 15–35. Retrived from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1140242.pdf
- Yin, R. K. (1984). Case study research: design and methods. Sage Publications.



Learner Autonomy in an Asynchronous Distance Education Environment Implemented through Frequent Instructor-Involvement

Sevim GÜNEŞ Dicle University svmgunes@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The current study aims to clarify the autonomy levels of the students taught English Composition through asynchronous distance education which refers to the separation of learners and instructors both in terms of place and time. The data collection process was conducted at a public university in Georgia, USA. 40 students taking online English Composition Course as a core class were included in this study. In order to collect data, two different online surveys were used; one of them was implemented to the instructors and the other one to the students. The aim of the survey implemented to the instructors was to clarify their profile and the details of their teaching through asynchronous distance education. On the other hand, the student survey was to reveal students' autonomy levels in an asynchronous distance education process provided through frequent instructor and student involvement. The results obtained from the student surveys revealed that most of the students were able to run their learning process in an effective way in an asynchronous distance education process.

INTRODUCTION

In today's world, distance education has become more common than ever with the outbreak of Covid-19. Indeed, it maintains its popularity for years. Even though it is a necessity because of the Covid-19 Pandemic today, there are also some other reasons behind distance education's popularity. Having no place or time limitation, technology's being able to act as a bridge between the learners and the instructor(s), providing big number of learners with the educational opportunities at once... etc. may be among the reasons of the popularity of distance education.

Distance education is defined by Moore (1990) as a planned instructional process implemented by means of technology to the people who were included in planned learning without place (or time) limitation (cited in Moore, Dickson-Deane & Galyen, 2011). The distance education can be implemented in synchronous and asynchronous way. In synchronous distance education the learners and the instructor(s) are separate only in terms of place; but in asynchronous distance education, the learners and the instructor(s) are separate in terms of both place and time (İşman, 2011).

As there is a physical separation of teacher and learners in both synchronous and asynchronous distance education, it is important for the learners to be able to direct their own learning processes in an effective way. This is related to the learner autonomy which is defined as "ability to take charge of one's own learning" by Holec (1981). Additionally as stated in Fotiadou, Angelaki & Mavroidis (2017) learner autonomy is explained as "*the willingness of learners to be active, take control and supervise their own learning as well as to take risks and also, as the learners' ability to set goals, to act independently and to take decisions about choosing materials, methods and tasks*". As the learners and instructor(s) are physically separate in a distance education process and the students need to direct their own learning, the importance of learner autonomy for such a learning environment cannot be ignored. Considering the mentioned issue, this study aims to clarify the autonomy levels of the students who are taught English Composition class through asynchronous distance education implemented with the frequent instructor-involvement at a public university in the USA.

LITERATURE REVIEW

Learner autonomy has crucial importance in all of the educational stages, but it gains more importance in a distance education environment in which the students need to direct their own learning process. Both learner autonomy and distance education are considered from different perspectives by the researchers. For example, the relationship between academic success and learner autonomy was investigated by Güneş & Alagözlü (2020); Hashemian & Soureshjani (2011); Tilfarlioglu & Ciftci (2011). Both Hashemian & Soureshjani (2011) and Tilfarlioglu & Ciftci (2011) revealed a significant and positive relationship between learner autonomy and academic success. Additionally, Güneş (2018) compared asynchronous distance learning with blended learning in terms of learner autonomy, motivation and academic success.



As for the related research in terms of the current study, two studies conducted in Turkey before the Pandemic revealed a low autonomy level for the learners taught at a distance. Altunay (2013) investigated the autonomy level of the students who were enrolled Turkish Open Education System and taught English through asynchronous distance education. The results showed that the students who were included in the study did not present autonomous behaviors.

Similarly, Güneş (2018) investigated the autonomy levels of the students taught English as a foreign language through asynchronous distance education. As stated in Güneş (2018), the distance education process was implemented in the following way at the related public university in Turkey. Except for the students who were studying in English-related faculties or Medicine, Dentistry and Law faculties and the ones who are taught vocational English, all of the freshmen were taught English through distance education at the related university. Before the academic year started, the lecturers had determined the subjects of grammar-based curriculum for an academic term (fifteen weeks). They prepared power point presentations and exercises for each week. A video recording related to the grammatical subject of each week was prepared. While watching the videos, the students were able to see both the lecturer and the power point presentation on the screen. The videos and quizzes (with answer key) prepared for a term were uploaded to an online system at once. At the beginning of the academic term, the lecturers went to the faculties which they had been appointed to and had a face-to-face meeting with the students. The lecturers gave information about how the students could use the online system to follow the classes and gave their contact details in case the students might need assistance. Even though English was an obligatory class for those students; they did not have to participate in the online classes on a weekly basis. On the other hand, they had to take mid-term and final exams to be able to pass the class in a face to face environment. During the term, the students were not given many assignments; they took the responsibility to participate in distance education process and pass the exams. The lecturers provided assistance when needed, but they were not actively involved in teaching process. As a result of Gunes (2018), a low learner autonomy level was revealed for the participants who were taught English through asynchronous distance education.

Concordantly, Abdelrazek (2018) studied the perceptions of the university students about their instructors' roles in terms of fostering learner autonomy. 30 participants included in the study were learning English as a foreign language. As a result of analyzing qualitative data obtained from the interviews, it was revealed that most of the participants thought that the instructors/teachers should train or guide the students on the way of being autonomous learners.

METHODOLOGY

Setting: This study was conducted at a public university which has four different campuses in Georgia, USA. Having different campuses is one of the reasons lying behind being popular in terms of distance education. It also offers online certificate programs and distance education is implemented in an asynchronous way. The students of 4 different instructors were involved in the study. The instructors were asked to reply an online survey including questions about their ways of distance teaching. When the features of current asynchronous distance education context and those of the instructors are considered, following aspects were revealed as the results of survey implemented to the instructors:

- The instructors' years of experience in terms of teaching at a distance were between 4 and 15 years.
- The class size was between 9 and 25 students.
- The frequency of instructor-involvement was seen as daily or at least two or three times in a week.
- All four instructors provided students with opportunities for active participation on at least a weekly basis.
- For teaching a usual unit, the instructors began with presenting the objectives and overview of the unit. The students were provided with the course materials such as books, book chapters/parts, videos, links to videos and presentations. The students were also required to submit assignments or attend distance discussion forums on a weekly basis and the instructors sometimes set short deadlines for the assignments in order to keep students on track. Additionally, for the assignments, the students were provided with feedback on the discussion board or through announcements and class e-mails.
- Formative assessment was used by all of the instructors included in the current study. The grades were determined by means of quizzes, discussion posts, writing and research assignments.

Participants: Totally 40 students taking online English Composition class were included in the study. They were taking English Composition as a core class. 61% of them were female and 39% of them were male.

Instrument: The survey developed by Güneş (2018) was used in order to collect data for the autonomy levels of the students. There were two parts in the survey. The first part included demographic questions in order to indicate the profile of the participants. In the second part, there were 12 items related to the learner autonomy.



Procedure: Before collecting data from the students, required permissions and approval for the research were obtained from Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the related university. After the methods used by the instructors while teaching English Composition at a distance were clarified by applying an online survey, the autonomy survey was implemented to the students in an online manner as they were taught totally online.

DATA ANALYSIS

The data derived from the surveys were analyzed statistically by using Jamovi (Version 1.0.1). The overall results for the autonomy levels of the participants are presented in Table 1 given below. It is seen that the mean autonomy score is 43, 20 out of 60. Additionally, as the Cronbach's Alpha value (0,815) revealed, the instrument used for collecting data is a highly reliable one.

Table 1. Autonomy level of the students participated in the current study							
	Min.	Max.	Mean	SD	Cronbach's Alpha		
Learner autonomy level	12	60	43,20	8,73	0,815	_	

As for the participants' replies, following results are revealed. The results are presented by means of a graph for each item stated in the survey.



Graph 1. Results for Item 1 stated in the survey.

As seen in Graph 1, the students were asked whether they logged in to the online course on a weekly basis. When their answers for 'Agree' and 'Totally agree' are considered together, it is seen that 80 % of the students log in to the course regularly. Only 5% of the participants indicated a negative reply for this item.



Graph 2. Results for Item 2 stated in the survey.

The second item of the survey was about whether the students took notes related to the subject while studying online course materials. The results revealed that 62, 5 % of the participants agree with this item (see Graph 2).

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



From far in the past, note-taking has been favored by the students as it is believed to effect the academic success in a positive way in terms of concentration, revision and recall, (Hartley & Marshall, 1974). It is also seen as a strategy used by autonomous learners (Xhaferi & Xhaferi, 2011).



Graph 3. Results for Item 3 stated in the survey.

Having interaction with the instructor or asking the instructor while having a problem in terms of understanding what is taught shows that the students try to run their learning process effectively. These results reveal that more than half of the participants (55%) ask the instructor for support if they do not understand the subject (see Graph 3). According to the results of a research study (Xhaferi & Xhaferi, 2011), 65% of the students ask questions to get information that they need as a strategy for an effective learning process.



Graph 4. Results for Item 4 stated in the survey.

As shown in Graph 4, with this item, the students were asked whether they do additional exercises in terms the subjects taught through distance education or not. The results revealed that for a better understanding, 40% of the students do exercises in addition to the homework or exercises given by the instructor. 20 % of them do not do additional exercises.





Graph 5. Results for Item 5 stated in the survey.

Graph 5 reveals the percentages of the students who apply their own learning strategies during the distance education process. According to the results, most of the students (82, 5%) apply their own learning strategies; because they are taught in an asynchronous way and they take the responsibility of their learning process with the guidance of the instructor. So, they need to find the best and most effective way for their learning. The results show that students included in the current study are aware of this and apply their learning strategies during asynchronous distance education.



Graph 6. Results for Item 6 stated in the survey.

It is revealed by means of the results that 75 % of the students make connection between the subjects taught through distance education and their homework exercises; this means, they apply what is taught by the instructor to their own part of learning process and the rate of the participants who applied this strategy is high enough to mention about learner autonomy (see Graph 6).





Graph 7. Results for Item 7 stated in the survey.

As stated in Graph 7, the students were also asked whether they look for additional information about what is taught through distance education to reinforce their learning. The results show that 65% of the students agree with this item. That is to say, they try to support their own learning in addition to what is taught by the instructor. The high ratio of the students who agree with this item may result from students' wish to contribute to their personal development in addition to reinforcing what they have learnt.



Graph 8. Results for Item 8 stated in the survey.

This item asking whether the students keep a record of their own studies in order to evaluate their distance learning process also aims to reveal whether the students have an effort to evaluate their distance learning process with its positive and negative sides. More than half of the students (52, 5%) included in the current study indicated a positive reply for this item (see Graph 8).





Graph 9. Results for Item 9 stated in the survey.

This item aims to clarify whether the students make self-exams with the questions that they choose in order to assess what they have learnt through distance education. A small rate of the students (27, 5%) agree and 47, 5% of the students do not agree with this item (see Graph 9).



Graph 10. Results for Item 10 stated in the survey.

Motivation and autonomy are known to be correlated. Even if there are different opinions about the direction of the relationship between motivation and learner autonomy, it can be said that the more motivated a learner is, the more autonomous s/he will be or vice versa (Güneş & Alagözlü, 2020). Each learner motivates himself/herself in a different way. This item aims to clarify whether the students reward their progress in terms of what is taught through distance education. This may be a kind of motivating themselves in their learning process. 42, 5 % of the students agree and 30 % of them disagree with this item (see Graph 10).





Graph 11. Results for Item 11 stated in the survey.

This item aims to clarify whether the students are aware of their strengths and weaknesses in terms of their distance learning process; being aware of weaknesses and strengths in a learning process may be helpful for the learners to evaluate their learning. Additionally, this awareness may direct students to get rid of the deficiencies that they have in terms of their learning. As seen in Graph 11, 77, 5 % of the students participated in the current study agree with this item.



Graph 12. Results for Item 12 stated in the survey.

This item was placed in the survey in order to see whether passing the class or fulfilling the degree requirements was only reason of attending the classes regularly or the students attend the classes also for personal development. As shown in Graph 12, for 25% of the participants, fulfilling the degree requirements was not the only reason.

CONCLUSION and DISCUSSION

As stated previously, this study aims to reveal the learner autonomy level of the students taking English Composition as a core class at a public university in Georgia, USA. The statistical results revealed the mean score for the autonomy level of the participants as 43, 20 out of 60. It can be stated that most of the participants included in the current study presented autonomous behaviors in an asynchronous distance education environment. On the other hand, previous research studies that focused on students' autonomy levels in distance education environments clarified low autonomy levels for the students taught at a distance (Altunay, 2013; Güneş, 2018).

Altunay (2013) revealed that the students enrolled in Turkish Open Education system did not present autonomous behaviors while taking English classes through distance education. Similarly, according to the results of Güneş (2018), the mean learner autonomy score for the students who were taught English through asynchronous distance education was found as 22,89 out of 70 which refers to a low learner autonomy level. When the context and the



way of distance education are considered for Güneş (2018), it is seen that the instructor-involvement and interaction among the students and between instructor and students were at the minimum level. As stated in Güneş (2018), the low autonomy level might have resulted from the inadequate involvement of the instructors into the teaching process.

As for the result of the current study, a satisfactory autonomy level was clarified for the students who were taught English Composition class at a distance through frequent instructor-involvement. Both the result of this study and previous studies may be supported by the result of Fotiadou et al. (2017) who revealed a positive and significant correlation between learner autonomy and both student-student and lecturer-students interaction. Thus, the satisfactory autonomy level of the students in the current distance education context which was implemented through frequent instructor-involvement leading interaction among the students and between lecturer and students reveals the importance of instructor-involvement. Similarly, according to the results of Abdelrazek (2018), two-third of the participants included in his study think that learners need instructors' guidance or training to gain learner autonomy.

Another attention-grabbing feature for the current context is the formative assessment implemented by the instructors. The formative assessment may be helpful in terms of keeping students connection with the learning environment and materials (Güneş, 2018). Furthermore, by means of assessment tools implemented periodically, the students may be aware of their strengths and weaknesses and run their learning process accordingly.

PEDAGOGICAL IMPLICATIONS

The importance of learner autonomy is a nonignorable fact in an educational process; but it gains more importance in a distance education environment as the learners need to manage their own learning process. The guidance of the instructors have great importance for directing students on the way of being autonomous learners. So, the instructors should provide students with the guidance and the opportunities of active participation into the educational process. They should also take adequate time for virtual classes and keep students on track. It should always been considered that distance education is not leaving students alone after providing them with the course materials.

Furthermore, increasing learners' motivation may foster their autonomy as well. To present a content in accordance with the learners' needs, levels and background may be helpful in terms of increasing their motivation which may lead to a better autonomy level. Additionally, assessing students' achievement with a single instrument may decrease students' willingness to participate in the learning environment. Formative assessment may work to keep the connection between learners and learning environment; it also reveals students' strengths and weaknesses in the learning process. As Keller (2000) states students may wish to know what they have achieved; so receiving feedback, a fair grade or a promotion may help them feel the sense of achievement and all these may be possible with the adequate instructor-involvement.

To sum up, the research studies reveal different results in terms of different aspects that are effective in a distance education process. Even if there are many effective factors affecting the quality of distance education, the instructors should be aware of the importance of their roles and run the teaching process accordingly. In any case, instructors' involvement and correct guidance will open new doors for the students to be autonomous learners.

AKNOWLEDGMENT

I am indebted to the faculty and students of English Department of Middle Georgia State University for their support and contributions.

REFERENCES

- Abdelrazeq, A. H. (2018). Autonomous learning levels of students majoring in EFL and the role of their teachers in developing autonomous learning. *Journal of Educational and Psychological Studies-Sultan Qaboos University*.
- Altunay, D. (2013). Language learning activities of distance EFL learners in the Turkish open education system as the indicator of their learner autonomy. Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education, 14(4), 296-307.
- Fotiadou, A., Angelaki, C., & Mavroidis, I. (2017). Learner autonomy as a factor of the learning process in distance education. *European Journal of Open, Distance and E-learning*, 20(1), 95-110.
- Güneş, S. (2018). Asynchronous Distance Learning and Blended Learning In Terms Of Learner Autonomy, Motivation And Academic Success In Teaching English.



- Günes, S., & Alagözlü, N. (2020). The Interrelationship between Learner Autonomy, Motivation and Academic Success in Asynchronous Distance Learning and Blended Learning Environments. *Novitas-ROYAL* (*Research on Youth and Language*), 14(2), 1-15.
- Hashemian, M., & Soureshjani, K. H. (2011). The interrelationship of autonomy, motivation, and academic performance of Persian L2 learners in distance education contexts. Theory and Practice in Language Studies, 1(4), 319-326.
- Hartley, J., & Marshall, S. (1974). On notes and note-taking. Higher Education Quarterly, 28(2), 225-235.
- Holec, H. (1981). Autonomy and foreign language learning. Oxford: Pergamon. (First published 1979, Strasbourg: Council of Europe.
- İşman, A. (2011). Uzaktan eğitim. Pegem Akademi.
- Keller, J. M. (2000). How to integrate learner motivation planning into lesson planning: The ARCS model approach. VII Semanario, Santiago, Cuba, 1-13.
- Moore, J. L., Dickson-Deane, C., & Galyen, K. (2011). e-Learning, online learning, and distance learning environments: Are they the same?. The Internet and Higher Education, 14(2), 129-135.
- Tilfarlioglu, F. Y., & Ciftci, F. S. (2011). Supporting self-efficacy and learner autonomy in relation to academic success in EFL classrooms (A case study). Theory & Practice in Language Studies, 1(10), 1284-1294.
- Xhaferi, B., & Xhaferi, G. (2011). Developing learner autonomy in higher education in Macedonia. Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences, 11, 150-154.



Long-Term Effects on the Self-Perception of Biology Teachers about their Pedagogical Technological Content Knowledge (Tpack) Produced by an Online Teacher Development Program

Daniel Fábio Salvador

Fundação CECIERJ, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil salvador@cecierj.edu.br https://orcid.org/0000-0003-4528-1195

Luiz Gustavo Ribeiro Rolando

Fundação CECIERJ, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil lrolando@cecierj.edu.br

Roberta Flavia Ribeiro Rolando Vasconcellos

Universidade do Grande Rio, Duque de Caxias-RJ, Brazil roberta.vasconcellos@unigranrio.edu.br

Mauricio Roberto Motta Pinto Da Luz

Laboratório de Avaliação em Ensino e Filosofia das Biociências, Instituto Oswaldo Cruz, Fiocruz, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil mauluz@ioc.fiocruz.br

ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to verify the immediate and long-term effects on the perception of 38 Biology teachers about their Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) bases after their participation on an Online Teacher Development Program (TEP). These teachers answered the TPACK Questionnaire, which was applied as a data collection instrument inside the online course program. The comparison tests between the average scores obtained before and immediately after participation on the program showed that there are statistically significant differences in all post-tests obtained, with higher average scores than the respective pre-tests. The results of the average scores obtained in the post-test carried out immediately at the end of the course do not differ statistically from those obtained in the second post-test carried out one year after the end of the course. Taken together, the results indicate that foster a teacher training through online programs who focused on equipping the teacher to deal with the specific contents he has to teach in the classroom, coupled with the elaboration of action plans and subsequent reflection on the teaching practice, produced positive and lasting effects on their confidence in their TPACK knowledge bases.

Keywords: Pedagogical Technological Content Knowledge (TPACK), Biology Teaching, Teaching practice.

1. INTRODUCTION

Given the constant evolution of knowledge in today's society, the Brazilian government has encouraged and developed professional development programs for teachers as a means by which teachers can keep up to date (Brasil, 2006; Carvalho & Gil-Pérez, 2011; Gatti & Barretto, 2009; Rolando, Salvador, Souza, & Luz, 2014; Salvador, Crapez, Rolando, Rolando, & Magarão, 2010). This process of professional development starts from the initial training at the undergraduate level, corresponding to the learning period of future teachers in the qualification schools, as well as in the process of training in-service teachers, through programs promoted inside and outside of schools, considering different face-to-face and distance possibilities (Brasil, 2002).

Studies have indicated that participation in training processes, in which teachers can share their professional experiences, is an important opportunity to be offered in professional development programs (Bransford, Brown, & Cocking, 2007; Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005; Rolando et al., 2014; Shulman & Shulman, 2004; Villani, Almeida Pacca, & Freitas, 2009). From this perspective, the use of online professional development programs, including courses, activities and online interactions with tutors and peers (National Research Council, 2007; Treacy, Kleiman, & Peterson, 2002), especially promoting collaboration among teachers (Park , Oliver, Johnson, Graham, & Oppong, 2007; Rolando et al., 2014; Salvador, Rolando, & Rolando, 2012) would provide learning opportunities that, in a way, could meet the development needs of these professionals, as they this type of program takes advantage of the flexibility that the *Internet* can offer, giving teachers opportunities to keep up-to-date as they can access it at their convenience of time and space conditions (Dede, Jass Ketelhut, Whitehouse, Breit , & McCloskey, 2008).



Online professional development programs are provided through electronic technologies, and increasingly refer to web-based interactive experiences combining text, video and sound (National Research Council, 2007). Most of the time it is asynchronous, in that participants do not have to be involved in an activity at the same time, allowing more time for reflection on the proposed questions, questions and/or answers before interacting with tutors or peers (National Research Council, 2007). Thus, the potential benefits of an online professional development program are: flexibility and versatility; the potential for establishing teacher communities; and the possibility that teachers become more directly involved in their own learning and professional growth (Brown & Neal, 2013; National Research Council, 2007).

Regarding the focus of a professional development program for teachers, Bransford et al. (2007) state that the path to be built by researchers, managers of professional development programs and by the teachers themselves must be guided by a permanent search for better teaching, stimulating research and the implementation of new technologies in a contextualized way to the daily school life and, above all, for the reflection on the pedagogical action carried out. Thus, the exchange of experiences and the contextualization of shared knowledge in professional development activities should be related to the daily professional practice, in a continuous process of action-reflection-action (Alarcão, 2011; Bonzanini & Bastos, 2009; Schon, 1983).

In their daily routine, teachers experience complex situations, and to manage them, they need a set of knowledge that supports their decision-making processes for effective action in specific teaching and learning situations (Mishra & Koehler, 2006; Shulman, 1986, 1987). Among these types of knowledge are those related to the integration of information and communication technologies (ICTs) in teaching, especially Internet tools, which constitute a recently new set for current teachers, who for the most part cannot be considered digital natives - children and teenagers who have not known a world without internet (Prensky, 2001).

In fact, although in recent years international (BECTA, 2003; Crook, 2008; ISTE, 2008; UNESCO, 2008, 2011) and national institutions (Brazil, 2014; CONAE, 2010; Fidalgo-Neto et al., 2009) have identified the importance of integrating ICTs in the educational context, there seems to be a gap in relation to their use in teaching practice, since these tools remain on the margins of classrooms in basic education in Brazil (Couto & Filho, 2014). Some recent studies suggest that the use of ICTs by teachers is often limited to preparing texts for classes, downloading resources, personal email communication, and socializing with friends and relatives (Rolando, Salvador, & Luz, 2013; Rolando, Vasconcellos, Moreno, Salvador, & Luz, 2015). Few teachers use these tools in teaching practice (Rolando et al., 2013).

This study presents and discusses the results obtained from the responses of 38 biology professors to the Brazilian version of the TPACK Survey for Meaningful Learning questionnaire (Rolando, Salvador, Vasconcellos & Luz, 2018), before and after participating in an online professional development program. The teachers' perception of their TPACK knowledge prior to participating in the professional development program was compared with their own perception right after the end of the program, as well as their perception one year after the end of the program.

1.1. THE TECHNOLOGICAL PEDAGOGICAL CONTENT KNOWLEDGE THEORETICAL MODEL

According to the theoretical formulation outlined by Shulman (1987), an integration between the pedagogical knowledge and the specific contents to be taught would occur in the minds of experienced teachers. Based on experiences of teacher training for the integration of technology in teaching, Mishra & Koehler (2006) proposed the theoretical model called Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK), which adds the Technology component to the Shulman model (1987). The TPACK theoretical model can be schematically visualized from Figure 1, which presents the three primary knowledge bases (content [C], pedagogy [P] and technology [T]) and their connections, resulting in three new knowledge bases, in addition to the Pedagogical Content Knowledge that teachers would need for an effective integration of technologies in teaching, which are characterized by Koh, Chai and Tsai (2012) as follows:

- Technological Knowledge (TK): Knowledge about technological tools.
- Pedagogical knowledge (PK): knowledge of teaching methods.
- Content Knowledge (CK): Knowledge of the content to be taught.
- Technological Content Knowledge (TCK): Knowledge of how to represent content using technology.
- Technological Pedagogical Knowledge (TPK): Knowledge of the use of technology to implement different teaching methods.
- Pedagogical Content Knowledge (PCK): Knowledge of teaching methods related to the content to be taught.
- Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK): Knowledge of the use of technology to implement teaching methods for different contents to be taught.



Shulman proposed that specific teaching topics could be represented through analogies, illustrations, examples, explanations and demonstrations in order to make the content more understandable to students. Mishra and Koehler (2006) claimed that new technologies could play an important role in each of these aspects. These technologies would have the potential to change the nature of the classroom, as they would provide a series of possibilities for representations and demonstrations that could help make the content more accessible to the student (Mishra & Koehler, 2006).

From this point of view, there is no single technological solution that applies to all teachers, courses, or pedagogical methods. Quality in teaching requires developing a nuanced understanding of the complex relationships between technology, content, and pedagogy. It also depends on knowing how to use this understanding to develop appropriate strategies and representations, specific to the context in question. (Koehler, Mishra, & Cain, 2013; Mishra & Koehler, 2006).



Figure 1: TPACK Framework

From the premises established in the TPACK framework, it is assumed that by relying on the content, pedagogy and technology tripod, online professional development programs could promote rich training environments. Such programs would aim to positively impact teachers' knowledge about the integration of ICTs in teaching practice. However, a recent systematic literature review, analyzing academic production about the TPACK framework in the Lusophone context, identified that none of the 60 articles found dealt directly with the assessment of teachers' perception about their TPACK bases (Rolando, Luz, & Salvador, 2015). Furthermore, no article proposed to analyze teachers' professional development strategies aimed at improving the knowledge bases involved in the CTPC model. In general, these studies investigated teachers' use made of technology, without actually making a methodological use of the TPACK framework in their research (Rolando et al., 2015). In other words, the possibility of evaluating the perception of teachers about their TPACK knowledge bases from their participation in professional development programs seems to be the threshold of current research.

The aim of the present study was to analyze the perception of Biology teachers about their knowledge bases related to technology, pedagogy and biology (content) after participating in an online professional development certificate program.



2. METHODOLOGY 2.1. STUDY CONTEXT

The Center for Science and Higher Distance Education of the State of Rio de Janeiro – Cecierj Foundation, an agency of the State Secretariat for Science, Technology and Innovation – SECTI, develops teaching and scientific dissemination activities in the State of Rio de Janeiro. Through the triad, higher education, university extension and Science public promotion, the Cecierj Foundation proposes that investing in the training of competent and autonomous professionals is the safest and most effective way to improve the State's Public Basic Education System. The Cecierj Foundation is the sponsor of the CEDERJ Consortium (consortium of the 7 public universities of Rio de Janeiro State) and collaborate with their Faculty and decision makers to create undegradute and graduate online and blended degrees offered by these Universities.

In the last decade, Cecierj/Cederj Consortium has maintained Higher Education (undegradute and graduate online programs) and extension actions in various areas of knowledge, offering many professional development actions to K12 teachers from the State of Rio de Janeiro. The production and management of online activities are centralized at its headquarters, with the support of information and communication technologies (ICTs), especially the Internet.

In 2012, a partnership was signed between the Cecierj Foundation and the Secretary of Education of the State of Rio de Janeiro (Seeduc), to offer a professional development graduate program through online and blended formats for teachers in the state education system in Rio de Janeiro. Teachers who complete a total of 6 courses in this program during the period of 18 mouths earn a Graduate Certificate degree in teaching practices in their area of expertise. The teachers were able also to use these earned credits into more advanced academic graduate programs offered for the Public Universities participants of the CEDERJ Consortium, who had previous collaboration with CECIERJ Foundation in this project and helped to develop these courses and programs. The goal of this graduate certificate program promoted by Seeduc and the Cecierj Foundation was to prepare a project that fill the gaps between the specific knowledge, didactic preparation and technology training for teachers by using the new curriculum proposed by the State of Rio de Janeiro. It happened through different actions including the elaboration of action lesson plans during the online courses, that increasingly seek the teacher's authorial autonomy (Rio de Janeiro State Department of Education, 2012).

2.2. THE ONLINE PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM FOR TPACK TEACHER'S DEVELOPMENT

The courses from graduate certificate program offered by the Seeduc and Cecierj Foundation was characterized as an Online Educational program for Teacher Delevopment, offered for the K12 teachers from the public schools of the state of Rio de Janeiro - Brazil. The course analyzed in this study was developed during the first two months of the 2015 school year, following the school calendar established by the curriculum of the state of Rio de Janeiro.

The course was structured and made available to participants in a virtual learning environment (VLE) built on the online educational platform Moodle (Modular Object-Oriented Dynamic Learning Environment). In the VLE there was the distribution of teaching material, the realization and delivery of online activities, as well as the interaction between the course participants and tutors responsible for conducting the online activities.

For a more interactive and personal relationship with the student, the distance tutoring system was used. In this system, each tutor attended about 15 participants during the entire period of the course. The tutor was responsible for guiding the participants in their doubts and evaluating the distance activities (DAs). Such assessments were based on comments that would lead the student to analyze and reflect on the concepts covered in the course. It was up to the tutors to also guide the course participants in the preparation of their action plan to be implemented in teaching practice. The focus of the tutoring was to create a relationship with the course participants that would reduce the effects imposed by geographic and temporal distance. The team of tutors was supervised by the team of teachers responsible for the program - Biology professors with a doctorate degree and experience in teacher training.

The dynamics employed in the course sought to establish a clear parallel between the topics proposed in the curriculum and classroom teaching. The course consisted of three stages: i) planning; and ii) implementation and iii) evaluation.

The planning stage lasted three weeks, in which the student became aware of the didactic material (set of texts, action scripts and learning objects aimed at teaching specific topics in Biology), participated in two thematic discussion forums and prepared an action plan related to one of the topics covered in the course: Biodiversity, Classification of living beings, Heredity, DNA and RNA, Evolution.



The action lesson plan is a didactic script prepared by the course teacher and applied in his classroom in basic education. The Action Plan is organized around the contents provided for by the curriculum for the current academic term. This plan contained the number of classes, the way in which the teaching topics would be worked with the students, the teaching and learning activities, the material and teaching resources to be used. The action lesson plan had the objective of previously organizing the performance of the course teacher in his classroom during the implementation/evaluation stage, as well reflect about the use in implementation of new educational technologies. At the same time the course participant prepared his action plan, he also participated in the online discussion forums, sharing information and ideias with his peers. In these forums, the course participants, along with the team of tutors, discussed the specific themes of the curriculum addressed in the course, especially, how to teach them and the use of possible new Educational Technologies.

The implementation and evaluation phases stage lasted two weeks. During this time, the teachers were part of in the "implementation online discussion forum", while executing the action plan in their own classrooms. The purpose of this second discussion was to colaborate and share with their peers and instructors the progress of the action plan during the implementation process. At this stage, the evaluation process also took place collectively: the course participants exposed the issues and benefits related to the choices, resources and activities selected for their action lesson plans, in addition to exposing the barriers and successes in the real classroom application. Also as part of the evaluation phase, at the end of the course they submit a revised version of the action lesson plan with their reflections and analysis and self evaluation about the entire process.

2.3. PARTICIPANTS

The participants in this study were 38 Biology teachers from the state education system in the State of Rio de Janeiro. These teachers participated in the program offered by the Seeduc and Cecierj Foundation in 2015 and responded to the data collection instrument (see below). All teachers worked in the classroom at the time of the research.

2.4. DATA COLLECTION INSTRUMENT

To collect the data analyzed in this study, the Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge Questionnaire (QTPACK) was used (Rolando et al., 2018). This instrument was translated, adapted and validated for the Portuguese language, from the original version developed and validated by Koh et al. (2012).

QTPACK contains 28 statements in a seven-point Likert scale format (strongly disagree, disagree, slightly disagree, neither agree nor disagree, slightly agree, agree, strongly agree). The purpose of the instrument is to measure the perception of teachers about their TPACK domain for the seven knowledge bases provided for in the TPACK framework.

The pre-test QTPACK was applied at the beginning of the course and the post-test QTPACK was applied immediately after the end of the course. 38 paired responses were obtained. One year after the end of the course, an invitation was made for these 38 respondents to respond to a second post-test. In all, 19 course participants answered the second post-test (50% response rate).

2.5. DATA ANALYSIS

Student's t-test (GraphPad Prism v.5 software) was used to compare the mean scores obtained from the QTPACK responses, for each of the seven TPACK knowledge bases.

3. RESULTS

Figure 2 shows the results of the mean scores for each of the seven TPACK knowledge bases obtained before the start of the course (pre-test) and immediately after its completion (post-test). Average scores of all post-tests were significantly higher than pre-tests. This dataset indicates that, on average, teachers felt more confident about their TPACK knowledge bases after participating in the online professional development program.





Figure 2: Comparison between pre and post QTPACK test. Teachers' perception of their knowledge bases (n=38, *** p<0,0001, ** p<0,001, t Student Paired).

Figure 3 shows the mean scores for each of the seven TPACK knowledge bases, obtained in the pre-test, post-test and second post-test of the 19 respondents who performed the three measurements. The comparison between the average scores obtained in the first post-test with those of the second post-test showed no statistically significant difference in any of the cases. That is, the variations between the average scores were minimal and possibly did not represent a change in the respondents' perception of their TPACK knowledge bases. These findings indicate that, one year after the end of the course, teachers remained more confident in relation to their knowledge bases TPACK.



TPACK knowledge bases

Figure 3: Comparison between mean scores after QTPACK tests. Teachers' perception of their knowledge bases (n=19, t Student Paired).

Table 1 presents a summary containing the details of the statistical comparison results between the average scores obtained before the start of the course (pre-test) and the average scores obtained in the first post-test, as well as the statistical comparison between the average scores obtained in the pre-test and the mean scores obtained in the second post-test of the 19 respondents who performed the three measurements. Except for two comparisons, CKpre versus CK-pos, and TPK-pre versus TPK-pos2, in all other comparisons significant statistical differences were found, indicating that, in general, teachers felt more confident in relation to their TPACK knowledge bases, after participating in the online professional development program, even one (01) year after this participation occurred.



In general, the comparisons between the results of the average scores obtained in the pre-test and post-test indicate that there was a general, immediate, and lasting effect on the positive perception of teachers in relation to all seven TPACK knowledge bases.

4. DISCUSSION

The training of in-service teachers involves offering professional development opportunities based on an update process in relation to new technologies, conceptual discussions focused on the subject to be taught, in a search for reflection on the pedagogical action aimed at improving teaching (Bransford et al., 2007; Carvalho & Gil-Pérez, 2011; Darling-Hammond & Bransford, 2005). It should also consider opportunities for opportunities for exchanging experiences between teachers (Park et al., 2007; Rolando et al., 2014). The methodology presented in this study aimed to investigate whether the proposal to promote an online course would produce any change in their perception of their TPACK knowledge bases. This expectation of change was justified because the course was structured to pedagogically equip the Biology teacher to deal with the themes proposed in the curriculum. That is, what is required of the teacher to teach in the classroom, using for this the elaboration of an action plan and the subsequent reflection on the teaching practice performed.

The comparison between the results of the average pre-test and immediate post-test scores indicated that the general effect of participation in the course was the expansion of the teachers' positive perception in relation to all seven TPACK knowledge bases. More than that, when we verified the perception of a sample of these teachers one year after the end of the course, it was identified that the effects of increasing the scores remained.

Some studies carried out in the Asian context obtained results similar to those presented here. In Singapore, 343 trainee teachers participated in a 12-week course focused on preparing them to integrate ICT into teaching (Chai, Koh, Tsai, & Tan, 2011). The comparison between the mean scores obtained in the immediate pre- and post-test showed an increase in teachers' confidence in their knowledge bases CK, TCK, TPK and TPACK (Chai, Koh, Tsai, & Tan, 2011). The theoretical foundations of that course can be considered similar to those of the professional development program in this study. According to the authors, the growing perception of teachers in relation to the TPACK knowledge base indicates that they were more prepared to integrate ICTs in teaching after participating in the course (Chai, Koh, Tsai, & Tan, 2011).

In another study also carried out in Singapore, 102 practicing teachers participated in a professional development course focused on building lesson plans that integrate ICTs into teaching (Koh & Chai, 2014). The comparison between the average scores obtained in the immediate pre- and post-test indicated an increase in teachers' confidence in their knowledge bases TK, TPK, TCK and TPACK, that is, all knowledge bases related to the Technology component (Koh & Chai, 2014). According to the authors, these findings suggest that involvement in the development of teaching activities that integrate ICTs in teaching has a positive impact on teachers' perception of their knowledge bases (Koh & Chai, 2014).

Taking these results together we can speculate that participation in a professional development program was the only possible known variable that could cause a general increase in teachers' confidence about their knowledge bases. That is, the foundations on which the professional development program was established seem to be adequate to promote the lasting expansion of the teacher's confidence in their knowledge bases, especially those related to the integration of ICTs in teaching.

5. FINAL CONSIDERATIONS AND LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

The results presented in this study suggest that the use of an online professional development program for Biology teachers based on discussions of the subject to be taught, on the creation and application of teaching strategies and on reflection on pedagogical practice promoted an increase in perception of teachers in relation to their knowledge bases provided for in the TPACK theoretical model.

In general, the comparisons between the results of the average scores obtained in the pre-test and post-test indicate that there was a general, immediate and lasting effect on the positive perception of teachers in relation to all seven TPACK knowledge bases. Although these results of increased immediate perception and long-term retention on the TPACK knowledge bases are in agreement, it is worth noting that when we verify the average scores obtained in the pre-test and compare with those obtained in the immediate post-test and one after the end of the program (from the 19 teachers), no statistically significant differences were found between the CK-pre knowledge base and the immediate CK-pos knowledge base, as well as between the TPK-pre knowledge base and the TPK-pos 1 year knowledge base.



In the first case, the p value obtained for the Paired t Test was 0.0522, a value very close to the critical level of 0.05, which in statistics can be considered *approach significance*, which leads us to the hypothesis that a greater number of responding teachers could result in a p-value < 0.05. Corroborating this hypothesis, the comparison between the CK-pre knowledge base and the CK-pos 1-year knowledge base indicated that there was a statistically significant difference. Thus, we can speculate that this first case may be related to the small sample size, since the comparison between the CK-pre and immediate CK-pos knowledge base of the 38 respondent teachers was significant with a critical level value of p<0 .0001.

In the second case, although there was initially an increase in teachers' confidence in their pedagogical technological knowledge (TPK), this expansion was not maintained after one year. In this comparison, the p value was well above the critical value of 0.05, something that makes any speculation difficult from a statistical point of view.

A possible explanation for this result may be related to the fact that this knowledge base is not related to biological knowledge (CK). That is, since the professional development program was strongly linked to Biology themes, the TPK knowledge base, which deals with possible technologies that support pedagogical processes without emphasizing a theme of the curriculum addressed in the course, may not make much sense for the acting teacher in the classroom, especially after a long time has elapsed since the end of the professional development program.

Another limitation of the present study is related to the lack of control over possible intervening variables in the increase of teachers' perception in relation to their knowledge bases, since only teachers who participated in the course answered the pre- and post-test questionnaires. However, we must consider that the time elapsed between pre-test and the first post-test was relatively short. It seems unlikely, therefore, that the numerous differences observed in all bases in this period would have occurred with a group of teachers during their daily experiences, without any type of intervention. Still, new studies must be carried out, in order to corroborate or not these findings.

The use of a similar online professional development program could be tested with teachers from other areas of knowledge, basic education subjects such as Physics, Chemistry, Mathematics, Languages, History and Geography, in order to be able to generalize or not the confidence in the general fundamentals under which the specific program for Biology teachers was established.

AVAILABILITY OF DATA AND MATERIALS

The data that support the findings of this study are available on request from the first author.

FUNDING

This work was supported by Fundação Carlos Chagas Filho de Amparo à Pesquisa do Estado do Rio de Janeiro (FAPERJ) E- 26/110.546/2014 grant, Conselho Nacional de Pesquisa CNPq 481714/2013-8 grant, Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) and CECIERJ Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We appreciate the participants' engagement in this research. We acknowledge CECIERJ Foundaton for the permission for data collection during the research period.

REFERENCES

Alarcão, I. (2011). Professores reflexivos em uma escola reflexiva (8a ed.). São Paulo: Cortez editora. BECTA. (2003). What the research says about using ICT in science. Report to the BECTA ICT Research

- network. Retrieved from http://www.mmiweb.org.uk/publications /ict/Research_Barriers_TandL.pdf Bonzanini, T. K., & Bastos, F. (2009). FORMAÇÃO CONTINUADA DE PROFESSORES DE CIÊNCIAS:
 - ALGUMAS REFLEXÕES. In ENCONTRO NACIONAL DE PESQUISA EM EDUCAÇÃO EM CIÊNCIAS (pp. 1–12). Florianópolis: ABRAPEC. Retrieved from

http://www.foco.fae.ufmg.br/viienpec/index.php/enpec/viienpec/paper/ viewFile/644/283

- Bransford, J. D., Brow, A. L., & Cocking, R. R. (2007). Como as pessoas aprendem: cérebro, mente, experiencia e escola. Editora Senac.
- Brasil. (2002). Referenciais para a Formação de professores. Brasília.
- Brasil. (2006). Orientações Curriculares para o Ensino Médio: Ciências da Natureza, matemática e suas tecnologias. Secretaria de Educação Média e Tecnológica/MEC. ... (Vol. 2). Brasília, DF. Retrieved from http://portal.mec.gov.br/seb/arquivos/pdf/book_volume_02_internet.pdf
- Brown, C. A., & Neal, R. E. W. (2013). Definition and History of Online Professional Development. In J. Keengwe & L. Kyei-Blankson (Eds.), Virtual Mentoring for Teachers: Online Professional Development Practices (pp. 182–184). IGI-Global. http://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-1963-0.ch010



- Carvalho, A. de, & Gil-Pérez, D. (2011). Formação de professores de ciências: tendências e inovações (10th ed.). São Paulo: Editora Cortez.
- Chai, C. S., Koh, J., Tsai, C.-C., & Tan, L. (2011). Modeling primary school pre-service teachers' Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) for meaningful learning with information and communication technology (ICT). *Computers & Education*, 57(1), 1184–1193. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2011.01.007
- CONAE. (2010). Construindo o Sistema Nacional Articulado de Educação: o Plano Nacional de Educação, diretrizes e estratégias; documento Final. Brasília: INEP. Brasília, DF. Retrieved from http://conae.mec.gov.br/images/stories/pdf/pdf/doc_base_documento _final.pdf
- Couto, H. H. O. de M., & Filho, L. A. C. de R. (2014). Mídias na Educação: discurso oficial nos discursos de professores egressos de um Programa de Formação Continuada. Revista Brasileira de Informática Na Educação, 21(03), 85–99. http://doi.org/10.5753/RBIE.2013.21.03.85
- Crook, C. (2008). Web 2.0 technologies for learning: The current landscape-opportunities, challenges and tensions. British Educational Communications and Technology Agency (BECTA) Report: Web 2.0 technologies for learning at Key Stages 3 and 4. http://doi.org/10.1.1.142.9577
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Bransford, J. (Eds.). (2005). Preparing teachers for a changing world: What teachers should learn and be able to do. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Dede, C., Jass Ketelhut, D., Whitehouse, P., Breit, L., & McCloskey, E. M. (2008). A Research Agenda for Online Teacher Professional Development. Journal of Teacher Education, 60(1), 8–19. http://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108327554
- Fidalgo-Neto, A. a., Tornaghi, A. J. C., Meirelles, R. M. S., Berçot, F. F., Xavier, L. L., Castro, M. F. a., & Alves, L. a. (2009). The use of computers in Brazilian primary and secondary schools. *Computers & Education*, 53(3), 677–685. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.04.005
- Gatti, B., & Barretto, E. de S. (2009). Professores do Brasil: impasses e desafios. Brasília. Retrieved from http://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&btnG=Search&q=intitle:Professores+do+Brasil:+impasses+e+ desafios#0
- ISTE. (2008). The ISTE NETS and performance indicators for teachers (NETS-T). Retrieved from http://www.iste.org/docs/pdfs/20-14_ISTE_Standards-T_PDF.pdf
- Koehler, M., Mishra, P., & Cain, W. (2013). What Is Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK)? Journal of Education, 193(3), 13–19.
- Koh, J. H. L., & Chai, C. S. (2014). Teacher clusters and their perceptions of technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) development through ICT lesson design. Computers & Education, 70, 222–232. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2013.08.017
- Koh, J. H. L., Chai, C. S., & Tsai, C.-C. (2012). Examining practicing teachers' perceptions of technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK) pathways: a structural equation modeling approach. *Instructional Science*. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-012-9249-y
- Mishra, P., & Koehler, M. J. (2006). Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge: A Framework for Teacher Knowledge. Teachers College Record, 108(6), 1017–1054.
- National Research Council. (2007). Enhancing Professional Development for Teachers: Potential Uses of Information Technology, Report of a Workshop. Washington, D.C: The National Academic Press.
- Park, S., Oliver, J. S., Johnson, T. S., Graham, P., & Oppong, N. K. (2007). Colleagues' roles in the professional development of teachers: Results from a research study of National Board certification. Teaching and Teacher Education, 23(4), 368–389. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2006.12.013
- Prensky, M. (2001). Digital Natives, Digital Immigrants. On the Horizon, 9(5), 1–6. http://doi.org/10.1108/10748120110424816
- Rolando, L. G. R., Luz, M. R. M. P., & Salvador, D. F. (2015). O Conhecimento Tecnológico Pedagógico do Conteúdo no Contexto Lusófono: uma revisão sistemática da literatura. Revista Brasileira de Informática Na Educação, 23(3), 174–190. http://doi.org/10.5753/rbie.2015.23.03.174
- Rolando, L. G. R., Salvador, D. F., & Luz, M. R. M. P. (2013). The use of internet tools for teaching and learning by in-service biology teachers: A survey in Brazil. Teaching and Teacher Education, 34, 46– 55. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2013.03.007
- Rolando, L. G. R., Salvador, D. F., Souza, A. H. S., & Luz, M. R. M. P. (2014). Learning with their peers: Using a virtual learning community to improve an in-service Biology teacher education program in Brazil. Teaching and Teacher Education, 44, 44–55. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2014.07.010
- Rolando, L. G. R., Salvador, D. F., Vasconcellos, R. F. R. R., & Luz, M. R. M. P. (2018). Evidências de validade da versão adaptada para o português do questionário TPACK Survey For Meaningful Learning. Avaliação Psicológica, 17(1), 37-47. http://dx.doi.org/10.15689/ap.2017.1701.05.13157
- Rolando, L. G. R., Vasconcellos, R. F. R. R., Moreno, E. L., Salvador, D. F., & Luz, M. R. M. P. (2015). Integração entre Internet e Prática Docente de Química. Revista Virtual de Química, 7(3), 864-879. http://doi.org/10.5935/1984-6835.20150044



Salvador, D. F., Crapez, M. A. C., Rolando, R. F. R., Rolando, L. G. R., & Magarão, J. F. L. (2010). Um panorama da formação continuada de professores de Biologia e ciências através da ead no estado do rio de Janeiro. EAD Em Foco, 1, 59–68. Retrieved from

http://www.eademfoco.cecierj.edu.br/index.php/Revista/article/viewArticle/19

- Salvador, D. F., Rolando, R. F. R., & Rolando, L. G. R. (2012). Colaborar para aprender e avaliar para formar: Um relato de experiência na formação continuada de professores de biologia. Revista Brasileira de Aprendizagem Aberta E a Distância, 11, 35 – 48.
- Schon, D. A. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner: How Professionals Think In Action. New York: Basic Books.
- Shulman, L. S. (1986). Those who understand: Knowledge growth in teaching. *Educational Researcher*, *15*(2), 4–14. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/10.2307/1175860
- Shulman, L. S. (1987). Knowledge and Teaching: Foundations of New Reform. Harvard Educational Review, 57(1), 01 21.
- Shulman, L. S., & Shulman, J. H. (2004). How and what teachers learn: a shifting perspective. Journal of Curriculum Studies, 36(2), 257–271. http://doi.org/10.1080/0022027032000148298
- Treacy, B., Kleiman, G., & Peterson, K. (2002). Successful online professional development. Learning and Leading with Technology, 30(1), 42 47. Retrieved from
- http://olms.noinc.com/olms/data/resource/1686/SuccessfulOnlinePD_.pdf UNESCO. (2008). *ICT competency standards for teachers*. United Kingdom. Retrieved from http://www.unesco.org/publications
- UNESCO. (2011). Unesco ICT competency framework for teachers. Paris, France. Retrieved from http://www.unesco.org/publications
- Villani, A., Almeida Pacca, J. L., & Freitas, D. (2009). Science Teacher Education in Brazil: 1950–2000. Science & Education, 18(1), 125–148. http://doi.org/10.1007/s11191-007-9116-4



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

Table 1: Summary of results comparing pre-test, first post-test and second QCTPC post-test. Teachers' perception of their knowledge bases (n=19, t Student Paired. Two-tailed. Number of pairs 19. *p<0,05. **p<0,01. ***p<0,001).</td>

					Ho	w big is the difference	e?		How effectiv	ve was the pai	ring?
Paired t test	P value	P value summary	Are means signif. different? (P < 0.05)	t, df	Mean of differences	95% confidence interval	R squared	Correlation coefficient (r)	P Value (one tailed)	P value summary	Was the pairing significantly effective?
CC-pre vs CC-pos	0,0522	ns	No	t=2.079 df=18	-0,4895	-0.9841 to 0.005188	0,1936	0,7020	0,0004	***	Yes
CC-pre vs CC-pos2	0,0107	*	Yes	t=2.849 df=18	-0,8263	-1.436 to -0.2169	0,3107	0,4882	0,0170	*	Yes
CC-pos vs CC-pos2	0,2448	ns	No	t=1.202 df=18	-0,3368	-0.9255 to 0.2518	0,07434	0,5634	0,0060	**	Yes
CP-pre vs CP-pos	P<0.0001	***	Yes	t=6.698 df=18	-1,305	-1.715 to -0.8958	0,7136	0,3736	0,0576	ns	No
CP-pre vs CP-pos2	P<0.0001	***	Yes	t=5.302 df=18	-1,200	-1.676 to -0.7245	0,6096	0,1207	0,3112	ns	No
CP-pos vs CP-pos2	0,5725	ns	No	t=0.5748 df=18	0,1053	-0.2795 to 0.4900	0,01802	0,2813	0,1217	ns	No
CPC-pre vs CPC-pos	0,0480	*	Yes	t=2.122 df=18	-0,6316	-1.257 to - 0.006202	0,2001	0,6695	0,0009	***	Yes
CPC-pre vs CPC-pos2	0,0211	*	Yes	t=2.526 df=18	-0,7474	-1.369 to -0.1259	0,2618	0,6100	0,0028	**	Yes
CPC-pos vs CPC-pos2	0,7283	ns	No	t=0.3529 df=18	-0,1158	-0.8052 to 0.5736	0,006870	0,6353	0,0017	**	Yes
CT-pre vs CT-pos	0,0005	***	Yes	t=4.250 df=18	-0,7842	-1.172 to -0.3965	0,5008	0,7414	0,0001	***	Yes
CT-pre vs CT-pos2	0,0062	**	Yes	t=3.099 df=18	-0,7211	-1.210 to -0.2322	0,3480	0,6069	0,0029	**	Yes
CT-pos vs CT-pos2	0,7541	ns	No	t=0.3181 df=18	0,06316	-0.3540 to 0.4803	0,005589	0,6370	0,0017	**	Yes
CTP-pre vs CTP-pos	0.0154	*	Yes	t=2.677 df=18	-0.5263	-0.9393 to -0.1133	0.2848	0.5640	0.0059	**	Yes
CTP-pre vs CTP-pos2	0.2171	ns	No	t=1.279 df=18	-0.4000	-1.057 to 0.2570	0.08333	0.09828	0.3445	ns	No
CTP-pos vs CTP-pos2	0,5864	ns	No	t=0.5540 df=18	0.1263	-0.3527 to 0.6053	0.01677	0.3354	0.0802	ns	No
CTC-pre vs CTC-pos	P<0.0001	***	Yes	t=5.338 df=18	-0.8789	-1.225 to -0.5330	0.6129	0.8117	P<0.0001	***	Yes
CTC-pre vs CTC-pos2	0,0257	*	Yes	t=2.431 df=18	-0,6316	-1.177 to -0.08577	0,2472	0,4731	0,0204	*	Yes
CTC-pos vs CTC-pos2	0.2481	ns	No	t=1.194 df=18	0.2474	-0.1880 to 0.6828	0.07335	0.5159	0.0119	*	Yes
CTPC-pre vs CTPC-pos	0.0001	***	Yes	t=4.869 df=18	-0.9316	-1.334 to -0.5296	0.5684	0.6936	0.0005	***	Yes
CTPC-pre vs CTPC-	0.0063	**	Yes	t=3.090 df=18	-0.8789	-1 477 to -0 2813	0.3466	0.3281	0.0851	ns	No
CTPC-pos vs CTPC- pos2	0,8228	ns	No	t=0.2272 df=18	0,05263	-0.4340 to 0.5393	0,002860	0,3595	0,0653	ns	No



Mobile Learning Motivation and Mobile Self-Efficacy of Pre-Service Teachers

Kübra OKUMUŞ DAĞDELER

Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Turkey kokumus@cumhuriyet.edu.tr ORCID: 0000-0002-3781-3182

Burak DELİCAN

Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University, Turkey burak.delican@gop.edu.tr ORCID: 0000-0003-3187-0001

ABSTRACT

This study aimed at identifying mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy level of pre-service teachers and relationship between mobile learning motivation and mobile self- efficacy. Concerning these aims, it adopted correlational design, which was one of the quantitative research approaches. 337 pre-service teachers were included in the study through convenience sampling. The participants were surveyed through two data collection tools which were Mobile Learning Motivation Scale (Okumuş Dağdeler, 2018) and Mobile Self-Efficacy Measure which was adapted from Computer Self-Efficacy Measure (Compeau & Higgins, 1995). The results showed that the pre-service teachers had a moderate and high level of mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy. The mobile learning motivation and self-efficacy level of participants did not show any difference according to gender and field, while significant difference was observed in terms of mobile usage frequency. Furthermore, a linear positive correlation between mobile self-efficacy and mobile learning motivation was found. The regression analysis showed that mobile learning motivation was a significant predictor of mobile self-efficacy.

Keywords: mobile learning, mobile-self efficacy, mobile learning motivation, pre-service teachers

INTRODUCTION

The qualifications of teachers have been traditionally assessed through their professional knowledge which has three types: pedagogical knowledge, content knowledge, and pedagogical content knowledge. However, the era of information and technology has updated these qualifications. The classic model of professional knowledge is not sufficient to be an effective teacher today. Instructional planning, professionalism, learning environment, assessment, instructional delivery are some other main areas that a teacher should master (Stronge, 2018). Furthermore, some extra roles such as communicator, the learner, visionary, model, leader, adaptor, collaborator and risk-taker (Selli, 2017) are casted to teachers. In order to perform these roles successfully, teachers need some skills and affective behaviors such as motivation. Teachers are "transformational leaders" and "engine of this transformational drive" (p.3) of classrooms as they are in the best place for shaping them, and the thing that will provide this transformation is their motivation (Dörnyei & Kubanyiova, 2014). Thus, teacher motivation is also essential like student motivation for an effective educational environment. Not only motivation but also selfefficacy is crucial in this environment as people will have a more enhanced performance, creativity and persistence when they have self-efficacy for the action (Ryan & Deci, 2000a). Moreover, teachers require to have digital competence and knowledge nowadays when technology is interwoven in education. Being one of the latest theories combining education and technology, mobile learning has been affecting profoundly the learning processes. Considering this importance and potential relation between mobile learning, self-efficacy and motivation, this study examined the correlation between mobile self-efficacy and motivation for mobile learning which were addressed in the next section.

PEDAGOGICAL FRAMEWORK AND RELATED STUDIES

Mobile learning

Mobile learning presents new opportunities that surpass traditional practice, so it can be seen an obtrusive and transforming force (Kukulska-Hulme, 2019). Due to this force, it has taken its place in theory (research) and practice (classrooms) after the introduction and prevalence of mobile technologies. Early on, mobile learning, which is abbreviated as m-learning, is defined as any learning process using mobile devices in mobile environments (Trifonova, 2003; Ally, 2009; Colazza et al, 2003). However, it has been understood that there are some other "mobile" points other than technology in m-learning. According to MOBIlearn project (cited in Sharples et al., 2005), "it is the learner that is mobile, rather than the technology". Similarly, El-Hussein and Cronje (2010) describe three areas of mobile learning which are mobility of technology, mobility of learning and



mobility of learners. They define m-learning as "any type of learning that takes place in learning environments and spaces that take account of the mobility of technology, mobility of learners and mobility of learning" (ibid, p.20). Kukulska-Hulme and Shield (2008) define m-learning as learning "anywhere and anytime". It seems that using mobile devices for learning is not enough to describe m-learning. On the other hand, mobile devices are required to provide the mobility of learner and learning in that the situation of "anywhere and anytime" learning. M-learning unites the knowledge and techniques of conventional learning environments with the innovative characteristics of mobile devices in order to create an effective learning process (Khan & Gupta, 2021).

As m-learning is a new field of research, much attempt has been initiated in order to conceptualize it. Some researchers try to understand it by relating it to some previous theories such as Behaviorism, Constructivism, Blended Learning, Collaborative Learning, Active Learning, Situated Learning, Problem-based Learning, Conversational Learning, Socio-cultural Theory, Connectivism, Informal and Life-long Learning and Context Aware Learning (Taylor et al, 2006; Keskin & Metcalf, 2011; Özdamlı, 2012). M-learning benefits from these theories while forming its own theory. Some researchers try to present a pedagogical framework for m-learning. For instance, Park (2011) suggests four type of mobile-learning activities which are (1) high transactional distance socialized m-learning, (2) high transactional distance individualized m-learning, (3) low transactional distance socialized m-learning, and (4) low transactional distance individualized m-learning. Park (2011) grounds his pedagogy on transactional distance theory which is related to distance education. According to this theory, in distance education the learners and teachers are not only physically distant from each other but also psychologically (Moore, 1997). Moore (2007) defines transactional distance as "interplay of teachers and learners in environments that have the special characteristics of their being spatially separate from one another" (Moore 2007, p. 91). Based on this theory and the individuality and collaboration dichotomy of m- learning, Park (2011) categorizes m-learning into four types. The first type of m-learning which is high transactional distance socialized m-learning includes more psychological and communication space with instructors, group projects providing collaboration, predetermine program via mobile devices for learning materials and activities, and transactions mostly among the learners. In the second type which is low transactional distance socialized mlearning, we see again the psychological and communication space but here the transactions are mostly seen between content and learner. According to Park (2011), this type of m-learning is an extension of e-learning which is affected by context. Low transactional distance and socialized m-learning includes less psychological and communication space, not strictly structured instruction, social interaction, frequent communication, and group works trying to achieve a common goal. Lastly, low transactional distance individualized m- learning includes less psychological and communication space; it is not strictly structured instruction like type 3 but it differs from it in terms of individuality. This type involves interaction with the instructors who have control and lead the learners. Like Park (2011), Kearny et al. (2012) suggests three constructs that characterize the pedagogy of m-learning. These constructs are authenticity, collaboration and personalization. Personalization highlights self-regulation, autonomy, agency and learner choice. M-learning provides collaboration as it enhances peer interaction and feedback from instructors thanks to shared conversational space of mobile devices. Lastly, reallife practices, participatory and situated learning is emphasized in the construct of authenticity.

These frameworks imply that m-learning is not only related to presenting information through mobile devices but also to many other aspects of cognitive, affective and psychomotor domains of learning. As m-learning has also technological aspect, affective behaviors such as self-efficacy and motivation gain more importance as learners can be grouped as digital literal and non-literal who may not have sufficient technological skills and positive attitudes towards technology.

Mobile self-efficacy and motivation

Motivation is "a state of cognitive and emotional arouse, which leads to a conscious decision to act, and which gives rise to a period of sustained intellectual and/or physical effort, in order to attain a previously set goal (or goals)" (Williams & Burden, 1997; p. 23). Motivation is about a person's "choice of a particular action, his/her persistence with it and her effort expended on it" (Dörnyei & Ushioda, 2012; p.4). According to Ryan and Deci (2000b) people can differ from each other in terms of level of motivation and motivation type. A classification of motivation that is mostly seen in literature is the dichotomy of intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. While intrinsic motivation is acting something out as "it is inherently interesting or enjoyable" (Ryan & Deci, 2000b, p. 55), extrinsic motivation is doing the action as it causes "a separable outcome" (ibid). Extrinsic motivation is related to external factors such as wishes to be awarded or appraisals for doing an action. On the other hand, intrinsic motivation comprises one's own good feeling for doing an action. It is general thought that extrinsic motivation which are challenge, curiosity, control and fantasy (cited in Pintrich & Schunk, 2002). If the activities for the students are challenging, they feel more capable, which leads to a high self-efficacy. Some interesting or incongruous information that is different from what the students already know promotes curiosity which is



another source of motivation. Personal control on learning activities and intrinsic motivation have a positive correlation, and control enhances also self-efficacy. Finally, make-believe activities for students and fantasy will result in higher intrinsic motivation (Pintrich & Schunk, 2002). According to Pintrich and Schunk (2002), intrinsically motivated students practice and organize new information and relate it to their previous knowledge and use it in various context. These students also feel more efficacious. This process in a circular way as high self-efficacy enhances intrinsic motivation (Bandura, 1986, 1993). Cognitive self-motivation is mediated by affective self-evaluation, perceived self-efficacy and personal goal setting (Bandura, 1986). Ryan and Deci (2000a) also believe that people will have a more enhanced performance, creativity and persistence when they have self-efficacy for the action.

The abovementioned studies show that there is a strong relation between motivation and self-efficacy. Self-efficacy is people's belief in their skills required to perform the action (Bandura, 1977). According to Bandura and Adams (1977), self-efficacy affects individuals' effort and persistence in their experiences and obstacles that they face. High level of self-efficacy enhances more coping efforts. Thus, it is important to have high-level of self-efficacy what we need or want to achieve. Considering these findings, this study aimed at adapting this relation to mobile learning motivation and mobile-self efficacy.

The term of self-efficacy of Bandura (1977) has been adapted to technology in order to describe the technological efficacy of individuals sparking off the emergence of the concepts of "computer self-efficacy", "internet self-efficacy" and "mobile self-efficacy". Computer self-efficacy is the beliefs in one's own ability to use a computer (Compeau & Higgins, 1995) and internet self -efficacy is the personal judgement of ones' "capabilities to organize and execute courses of Internet actions required to produce given attainments" (Hsu & Chiu, 2004; p.369). In parallel with them, mobile self-efficacy (MSE) has been defined as "the judgment of one's capability to use a mobile device and its associated services, as well as judgment of the ability to apply those skills to broader tasks" (Lee & Hsieh, 2009, cited in Oakley & Palvia, 2012; p. 3). According to Keith et al (2011), as self-efficacy shows the belief in one's skills not the skill itself, it is important to understand the attitudes of learners towards mobile learning for comprehension of mobile self-efficacy. The research shows that the learners that have high level of self-efficacy have positive attitudes towards mobile learning. (Tsai et al., 2010; Yang, 2012, Nikolopoulou & Gialamas, 2017; Yorgancı, 2017). Like attitudes, MSE has also correlation with mobile device infusion, personal innovativeness, readiness towards m-learning, use intention, perceived ease of use, experience of technology use, learning achievement, perceived usefulness, smartphone and technology acceptance, and life-long learning attitudes of learners (Chen et al, 2011; Oakley & Palvia, 2012; Mahat et al, 2012; Ayub et al, 2018; Yorgancı, 2017; Chen, 2019; Bakhsh et al., 2017; Hsiao & Chen, 2015; Liaw & Huang, 2015; Mac Callum & Jeffrey, 2013; Gan & Balakrishnan, 2017, Karaoğlan Yılmaz, et al., 2018). The literature shows that mobile self- efficacy is in a relation with various variables. However, there is limited study on the correlation between mobile self-efficacy and mobile motivation although self-efficacy and motivation affect each other in their core concept. Moreover, the literature is lack of studies investigating preservice teachers' mobile learning motivation and self-efficacy levels although there are some survey and experimental studies on students' motivation and self-efficacy for mobile learning (Olasina, 2012; Ciampa, 2013; Asplund, 2014; Lawrence, 2015; Huang et al. 2016; Okumus Dağdeler, 2018; Nikou & Economides, 2018; Sari & Nurcahyo; 2018) In order to fill these gaps in literature, this study searched answers for those research questions:

1. What is the pre-service teachers' motivation level for mobile learning?

a. Does pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation differ significantly in terms of their gender, field, grade and mobile application usage level and frequency?

2. What is the pre-service teachers' self-efficacy level for mobile learning?

a. Does pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy differ significantly in terms of their gender, field, grade and mobile application usage level and frequency?

3. What is the relationship between pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy perceptions?

4. Is pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation a meaningful predictor of their mobile self-efficacy?

METHODOLOGY

The relationship between pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy perceptions was questioned in this study. The studies aiming at determining the presence or degree of co-change between two or more variables are carried out within the scope of correlational models (Büyüköztürk, Çakmak, Akgün, Karadeniz, & Demirel, 2017). Thus, the correlation between pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivations and mobile self-efficacy was revealed through correlational design with a descriptive perspective in accordance with the structure of quantitative research.



Population and sampling

The population of the research consists of pre-service teachers. Convenience sampling method was benefited to determine the sample and pre-service teachers studying at the education faculties of Sivas Cumhuriyet University, Tokat Gaziosmanpaşa University and Ondokuz Mayıs University were included in the study. During the research process, 382 pre-service teachers voluntarily expressed their views on their mobile learning motivations and mobile self-efficacy. As a result of the preliminary examination, it was observed that the data obtained from 337 pre-service teachers could be evaluated. The distribution of participants as to their gender, grade and field was presented in Table 1

Gender	n	%	Field	1	%	Grade	n	%
Male	51	%15.1	English Language Teaching	101	%30.0	1	45	%13.4
Female	286	%84.9	Pre-school Teaching	100	%29.7	2	166	%49.3
Total	337	%100	Elementary School Teaching	g 58	%17.2	3	67	%19.9
			Social Sciences Teaching	21	%6.2	4	59	%17.5
			Turkish Language Teaching	23	%6.8	Total	337	%100
			Other	34	%10.1			
			Total	337	%100			

Table 1 showed that the number of female pre-service teachers was higher than the male pre-service teachers. When the data of the Higher Education Council were examined, it was seen that there was a similar situation in terms of gender in education faculties (Higher Education Council, 2020).

Data Collection Instruments

Mobile Learning Motivation Scale (MLMS, hereafter) developed by Okumuş Dağdeler (2018) and Computer Self-Efficacy Measure developed by Compeau & Higgins (1995) and adapted to the mobile technology with the name of Mobile Self-Efficacy Measure (MSEM, hereafter) were used as the data collection instruments. In addition, a part where participants could specify their demographic information were created in the online survey in order to evaluate mobile learning motivations and mobile self-efficacy of pre-service teachers in terms of various variables such as gender, field, grade and level of mobile technology usage.

The validity and reliability studies of the MLMS were conducted, and it was found that the tool measured the mobile learning motivation with 17 items collected under 1 factor and explained 48.97% of the total variance. Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient of the scale was 0.93. These results showed that the MLMS carried out valid and reliable measurements (Okumuş Dağdeler, 2018). The other scale used in the research process was the MSEM that was adapted from Computer Self-efficacy Measure (Compeau & Higgins, 1995). The scale was used, changing just the word of "computer" with "mobile learning". Computer Self-Efficacy measure consisted of 10 items with 5 factors. Cronbach Alpha reliability coefficient of the whole scale was 0.87, which shows that it was a reliable scale.

Both scales were added to Google Forms. Firstly, the form was reviewed by two researchers, and then a pilot was done with 15 pre-service teachers. Based on this pilot phase, difficulties and problems (typing errors, narration errors, problems caused by the Google Forms application) were detected and corrected. Pre-service teachers were informed about the purpose of the research and how the research would use their answers. Pre-service teachers who confirmed to participate in this study voluntarily were expected to fill in the data collection instrument by accessing the relevant link. Data collection process continued between October 2019 - October 2020 due to the limitations of remote access. It was determined that a total of 382 data entries were made in Google Forms in this duration.

Data analysis

In order to analyze the data, data set including 382 participants was put into computer environment in Microsoft Office Excell format after retrieving from Google Forms. It was transferred to the SPSS 18 program. Before analysis, incorrect, extreme or duplicate data in the set were determined and it was decided not to include them in the research process. Thus, it was agreed on including the opinions of 337 pre-service teachers. Firstly, it was tested whether the data set met the normality assumption. In the Kolmogirov - Smirnov test results, it was observed that p values were below the level of 0.05. This situation can be interpreted as the data set did not show a normal distribution. However, Çokluk, Şekercioğlu, and Büyüköztürk (2012) state that as the sample size increases, the probability of small differences to be significant also increases. For this reason, kurtosis, skewness coefficients, stem leaf plot, Q-Q plot and mean, mode, median values of the data were examined. These values related to MLMS and MSEM were presented in Table 2.



	Fuble 2. Descriptive statistics on data set								
Scale	Ν	Number of item	Mean	Median	Mode	Std. Deviation	Skewness	Kurtosis	
MLMS	337	17	65.37	66.50	65	0.57	-0.17	-0.52	
MSEM	337	10	35.03	34.40	35	0.32	0.12	-0.30	

Table 2: Descriptive statistics on data set

Table 2 indicated that the median, mode and average values of the MLMS and the MSEM were close to each other. Moreover, it was seen that the coefficients of skewness and kurtosis varied between -1 and +1 for both scales. These results can be interpreted in the way that data set was not far from the normal distribution, so it was decided to use parametric tests. T-test and One Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) test were used to test the significance of the differences between variables. Furthermore, correlation analysis and regression analysis were carried out to determine the relationship between mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy perceptions of pre-service teachers through SPSS 18 program.

FINDINGS

The findings were presented in line with the research questions. Firstly, findings related to pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy levels and then the correlation between them were given through tables.

What is the mobile learning motivation level of pre-service teachers?

The mean and standard deviation scores of the items in MLMS were presented in Table 3.

_			
	Mobile learning motivations of pre-service teachers	\overline{X}	SS
1	I liked using mobile application.	3,70	0,96
2	I believed that I would learn the content as I worked on the mobile application.	3,64	1,01
3	The mobile application aroused curiosity.	3,55	1,02
4	I felt successful when I completed the activities in the mobile application.	3,79	0,99
5	The feedback given to the activities in the mobile application increased the feeling of receiving recompense for my efforts.	3,77	1,03
6	The variety of activities in mobile application enhanced my interest in learning.	3,65	1,03
7	The fact that mobile application was independent from the limitations of place and time increased my willingness to study.	3,89	1,07
8	Completing the activities in mobile application successfully increased my willingness to study.	3,89	0,99
9	I wanted to learn through mobile application as I was able to study in my own pace.	3,58	1,12
10	The organization of the content increased my belief on learning the content in the application.	3,62	1,00
11	I think that mobile application is a remarkable material.	3,69	1,09
12	Mobile application met my learning needs.	3,49	1,01
13	I learnt new things through mobile application.	3,98	0,95
14	It was funny to do the activities in the application.	3,68	1,05
15	The quality of the content in the mobile application provided the continuity of my attention.	3,51	1,10
16	I learnt better through mobile application.	3,52	1,11
17	It was important for me to complete the activities successfully in the mobile application.	3,89	0,98

Table 3: Mean and standard deviation scores related to MLMS

Table 3 showed that mean scores of items were between 3.51- and 3.90, which could be commented as preservice teachers' mobile learning motivation was at a moderate level. The findings related to the pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation were presented in Table 4.

Level	Frequency(f)	Percentage (%)	Range
Very low	12	3.5	0.00 - 1.80
Low	33	9.8	1.81 - 2.60
Moderate	76	22.5	2.61 - 3.40
High	120	35.8	3.41 - 4. 20
Very high	96	28.4	4.21 - 5.00
Total	337	100.0	

Table 4: Mobile learning motivation levels of pre-service teachers



As can be seen in Table 4, %3.5 of the pre-service teachers had very low, 9.8% of them low, 22.5% of them medium, 35.8% of them high and 28.4% of them very high level of mobile learning motivation. Pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation centered upon moderate and high levels.

Does the pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation differ significantly in terms of their gender, field, grade, level and frequency and level of mobile application usage?

Table 5 shows the t-test results of MLMS based on the variable of gender.

	Table 5: Gender of	lifferences in pre-	-service teachers'	mobile learnin	g motivation	
Gender	n	\overline{X}	S	sd	t	р
Female	286	65.00	11.32	335	0.28	0.30
Male	51	65.44	10.45			

Table 5 indicated that there was no significant difference among pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation levels in terms of gender (p > 0.01). According to the t-test results, gender did not have a significant effect on the mobile learning motivation of female (=65.00) and male (=65.44) pre-service teachers. ANOVA test results of MLMS based on teaching field were presented in Table 6.

 Table 6: Teaching field differences in pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation

Field	n	\overline{X}	Ss	Source of variation	Sum of squares	sd	Mean square	F	р				
TLT	23	62.39	11.61	Between groups	1640.73	5	328.14	3.02	0.22				
SST	21	61.47	10.24	Ingroups	35946.41	331	108.60						
EST	58	63.77	10.83	Total	37587.14	336							
PST	100	67.88	10.03		Groups show	ing diffe	erence (-)						
ELT	101	66.24	10.33	TLT: Turkish L	TLT: Turkish Language Teaching, SST: Social Sciences Teaching, EST:								
OF	34	62.58	10.32	Elementary Sc.	Elementary School Teaching, PST: Pre-school Teaching, ELT: English								
Total	337	65.37	10.57	Language Teach	Language Teaching, OF: Other fields (Art Teaching, Music Teaching, Math								

Table 6 indicated that the MLMS scores of the pre-service teachers did not show significant differences in terms of their field. (F = 3.02, p = 0.22). In other words, there was no significant relationship between the scores of MLMS and field. ANOVA test results of MLMS based on the variable of grade can be found in Table 7.

Grade	n	\overline{X}	Ss	Source of variation	Sum of squares	sd	Mean squares	F	р	
1	45	66.24	9.70	Between groups	271.33	3	90.44	0.81	0.49	
2	166	65.44	10.52	Ingroup	37315.80	333	112.05			
3	67	63.74	10.38	Total	37587.13	336				
4	59	66.37	11.56	G	broups showing sig	nificant	t difference			
Total	337	65.37	10.57		-					

Table 7: Grade differences in pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation

Table 7 showed that the MLMS scores of the pre-service teachers did not differ significantly in terms of their grade. (F = 0.81, p = 0.49). In other words, there was no significant relationship between MLMS scores and the grade of the pre-service teachers. ANOVA test results of MLMS based on pre-service teachers' mobile application usage level were as follows:

 Table 8: Mobile application usage level differences in mobile learning motivation

Level	n	\overline{X}	SS	Source of variation	Sum of squares	sd	Mean squares	F	р
low	28	62.71	10.63	Between groups	3549.16	3	1183.05	11.57	0.00
moderate	141	62.27	10.47	Ingroup	34037.97	333	102.21		
high	123	67.44	9.57	Total	37587.13	336			
Very	45	71.08	10.05		Groups showing s	ignificaı	nt difference		
Total	337	65.37	10.57	low – high, low – very high,					
				moderate – high, moderate – very high					



p<0.05

As can be seen in Table 8, MLMS scores differed significantly in terms of the level of mobile application usage (F = 11.57; p < 0.01). Scheffe test was applied by taking the homogeneity test (Levene test = 0.65, p = 0.58) into account to determine which groups showed difference. The scores of pre-service teachers with a low level of mobile application usage (= 62.71) were lower than the scores of pre-service teachers with high (= 67.44). And very high (= 71.08) level of mobile application usage level. It was determined that the pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage level was medium (= 62.27) got lower scores than the pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage level was high (= 67.44) and very high (= 71.08). The pre-service teachers (= 67.44) with a high level of mobile application use got lower scores than the pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage level was very high (= 71.08). These findings showed that the mobile learning motivations of pre-service teachers differed according to the level of mobile application use. The pre-service teachers who had a high level of mobile application usage had high level of motivation for mobile learning. In addition, the mobile learning motivation of pre-service teachers with low and medium level of mobile application usage was lower than the pre-service teachers who had a high and very high mobile application usage level.

In Table 9, ANOVA test results of MLMS based on the variable of mobile application usage frequency were presented.

Table 9: Mobile application usage frequency differences in mobile learning motivation									
Hours	n	\overline{X}	Ss	Source of	Sum of	Sd	Mean	F	р
1-2 hours	29	65.02	10.38	Between groups	1642.73	4	410.68	3.79	0.01
3-4 hours	40	60.45	10.28	Ingroup	35944.42	332	108.27		
1-2 hours day	125	65.02	10.38	Total	37587.14	336			
3-4 hours day	107	66.85	10.80	G	roups showing s	ignifica	nt difference		
5 + hours day	36	64.66	8.72	1-	2 hours per day	/ 3-4 ho	urs per week		
Total	337	65.37	10.57	3 - 4 hours per day / $3 - 4$ hours per week					
p<0.05									

Table 0. Mabil 1. .. 1.00 1 . 1 1

Table 9 indicated that there was a significant difference between pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation in terms of frequency of mobile application use (F = 3.79; p <0.01). According to the results of Scheffe test, which was applied considering the homogeneity test (Levene test = 1.04, p = 0.37) to determine between which groups the significant difference was, the scores of pre-service teachers whose mobile application use time was 1-2 per day (= 65.02) were higher than the pre-service teachers with scores of 3-4 hours in a week (= 60.45). It was observed that the pre-service teachers whose mobile application use time was 3-4 hours a day (= 66.85) got higher scores than the pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage duration was 3-4 hours in a week (= 60.45). According to these findings, pre-service teachers' motivations for mobile learning differed according to the frequency of mobile application use. It can be commented that pre-service teachers who used mobile applications for 3 - 4 hours in a day and 1 - 2 hours in a day had also high motivation for mobile learning.

What is the mobile self-efficacy level of pre-service teachers?

The mean and standard deviation scores related MSEM were presented in Table 10.

Table 10: Mean and standard deviation scores related to MSEM

	Loculd use m looming			
		\overline{X}	SS	
1	even if there was no one around to tell me what to do.	3,77	1,02	
2	even if I had never used a mobile device like it before.	3,83	0,93	
3	if I had only the mobile device manual for reference.	2,83	1,17	
4	if I had seen someone else using it before trying it myself.	2,77	1,21	
5	if I could call someone for help if I got stuck.	3,40	1,10	
6	if someone else had helped me get started.	2,97	1,21	
7	if I had a lot of time to complete the task for which the mobile device was provided.	3,45	1,05	
8	if I had just the built-in help facility for assistance.	3,43	1,06	
9	if someone showed me how to do it first.	3,86	0,97	
10	if I had used similar mobile devices before this one to do the same task.	3,81	1,05	


. ..

10 00

As can be seen in Table 10, the mean scores of pre-service teachers regarding the items in MSEM varied between 2.77 and 3.90. Based on these findings, it can be said that pre-service teachers' perceptions of mobile self-efficacy were generally at medium level. Findings related to the pre-service teachers' perceptions of mobile self-efficacy were presented in Table 11.

• . •

	Table 11: Pre-service tea	achers' mobile self-efficacy level	S
Level	Frequency(f)	Percentage (%)	Range
Very low	15	4,5	0.00 - 1.80
Low	38	11,3	1.81 - 2.60
moderate	118	35,0	2.61 - 3.40
high	128	38,0	3.41 – 4. 20
Very high	38	11,2	4.21 - 5.00
Total	337	100.0	

Table 11 showed that 4.5% of the pre-service teachers in the sample had a very low level of mobile self-efficacy, 11.3% of them low, 35.0% of them medium, 38.0% of them high and 11.2% of them very high level of mobile self-efficacy. This finding can be interpreted as pre-service teachers' motivations for mobile learning were at moderate and high levels.

Does pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy differ significantly in terms of gender, field, grade, and mobile application usage level and frequency variables?

Table 12 shows the t-test results of MSEM based on the variable of gender.

TILL 11 D

	Table 12: Gender differences in pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy										
Gender	n	\overline{X}	S	sd	t	р					
Female	286	34.90	5.78	335	0.94	0.46					
Male	51	35.70	6.18								

According to the Table 12, there was no significant difference between pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy in terms of gender (p> 0.01). According to the t-test results, gender did not have a significant effect on the selfefficacy perceptions of female (34.90) and male (= 35.70) pre-service teachers using mobile technology. Table 13 shows the ANOVA test results of MSEM based on the variable of field.

Field	n	\overline{X}	Ss	Source of variation	Sum of squares	sd	Mean squares	F	р
TLT	23	34,18	5,55	Between groups	178,75	5	35,75	1,05	0,39
SST	21	35,75	6,01	Ingroup	11319,90	331	34,20		
EST	58	35,81	5,52	Total	11498,64	336			
PST	100	34,43	4,97		Groups showing si	ignifican	t difference (-)		
ELT	101	35,09	7,35	TLT: Turkish	Language Teaching	, SST: S	ocial Sciences	Feaching, 1	EST:
OF	34	34,47	6,14	Elementary Se	chool Teaching, PS	T: Pre-sc	chool Teaching,	ELT: Eng	glish
Total	337	35,03	5,85	Language Teach	ing, OF: Other field Teaching, Science ar	ls (Art To nd Techn	eaching, Music ology Teaching	Teaching, g)	Maths

Table 13: Differences related to field in pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy

Table 13 showed that the scores of the pre-service teachers in MSEM did not differ significantly in terms of their field. (F = 1.04, p = 0.39). In other words, that there was no significant relationship between the field and mobile self-efficacy of pre-service teachers.

ANOVA Test results of MSEM based on pre-service teachers' grade were shown in Table 14.

Table 14: Grade differences	in	pre-service teachers'	mobile self-efficacy
		pre berviee teachers	moome ben enneaey

				1					
Grade	n	\overline{X}	Ss	Source of variation	Sum of squares	sd	Mean squares	F	р
1	45	35.00	4.80	Between groups	296.74	3	98.91	1.34	0.33
2	166	35.92	5.63	Ingroup	11201.90	333	33.64		



3	67	33.85	6.19	Total	11498.64	336	
4	59	33.92	6.47		Groups showing si	ignificant difference	
Total	337	35.03	5.85			-	

As can be seen in Table 14, MSEM scores of the pre-service teachers did not differ significantly in terms of grade. (F = 1.34, p = 0.33). In other words, there was no significant relationship between the pre-service teachers' grade and mobile self-efficacy.

ANOVA test results of MSEM based on mobile application usage level were presented in Table 15.

Table 15: Mobile application usage level differences in pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy

Level	n	\overline{X}	SS	Source of variation	Sum of squares	sd	Mean square	F	р
Low	28	35.07	5.68	Between groups	502.24	3	167.41	5.07	0.00
Moderate	141	33.64	4.83	Ingroup	10996.40	333	33.02		
High	123	36.16	6.16	Total	11498.64	336			
Very high	45	36.29	7.12	Gi	roups showing sign	nificant	difference		
Total	337	35.03	5.85	Мо	oderate – Hish· mo	derate	– Verv high		
				1010	accure might, mo				

p<0.05

As stated in Table 15, MSEM scores showed significant difference as to the mobile application use level (f = 11.57; p < 0.01). According to the LSD test results, which was applied considering the homogeneity test (Levene test = 2.62, p = 0.92) in order to determine groups showing difference, the scores of pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage level was medium (= 33.64) were lower than pre-service teachers with high (= 36.16)) and very high (= 36.29) level. According to these findings, the pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy differed according to the level of mobile application usage. The pre-service teachers who had a high and very high level of mobile application use had also a high level of mobile self-efficacy. In addition, the mobile self-efficacy of pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage level was medium was lower than the pre-service teachers whose mobile application usage level was high and very high.

ANOVA results of MSEM based on mobile application usage frequency were presented in the following table.

1 401	C 10. 1	noone a	ppneun	sii usage nequei	lieg afferences in n	loone s	in enneacy		
Hours	n	\overline{X}	Ss	Source of variation	Sum of squares	Sd	Mean squares	F	р
1-2 hours per week	29	35,21	5,72	Between	69,22	4	17,30	0,50	0,73
3-4 hours per week	40	34,23	5,33	Ingroup	11429,43	332	34,43		
1-2 hours per day	125	34,75	5,85	Total	11498,64	336			
3-4 hours per day	107	35,58	6,05		Groups showing s	significa	ant difference		
5 + hours per day	36	35,14	6,05			_			
Total	337	35,03	5,85						

Table 16: Mobile application usage frequency differences in mobile self-efficacy

Table 16 indicated that the scores of the pre-service teachers in MSEM did not show significant difference in terms of mobile application usage frequency. (F = 0.50, p = 0.73). In other words, there was no significant relationship between pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy and frequency of mobile application use.

What is the relationship between pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivations and mobile selfefficacy perceptions?

Correlation Analysis results regarding the relationship between the pre-service teachers' scores of the MSEM and the MLMS were presented in the Table 17.

Table 17: Results of correlation analysis									
Variable	n	r	р						
Mobile learning motivation	227	0.49	0.00						
Mobile learning self-efficacy	337	0.48	0.00						
P<0.01									



Table 17 showed that there was a significant relationship between the mobile learning motivations of the preservice teachers and their mobile self-efficacy perceptions. It was observed that there was a moderate, positive (r = 0.48, p <0.01) relationship between their mobile learning motivations and mobile self-efficacy.

Is the pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation a significant predictor of their mobile learning motivations?

Regression analysis results analyzing the prediction of mobile learning motivations of pre-service teachers for mobile self-efficacy were expressed in Table 18.

	Table 18: Regression analysis results related to pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy										
R	\mathbb{R}^2	ΔR^2		В	sd	β	t				
0.49	0.22	0.22	Stable	34.87	3.07		11.33				
0.40	0.25	0.23	Mobile self-efficacy perception	0.87	0.87	0.48	10.07				
D 0 01											

ilte related to T-11. 10. D

P<0.01

The table indicated that the mobile learning motivations of pre-service teachers were a significant predictor for the mobile self-efficacy (r = 0.48, r2 = 0.23; F = 11.33, p < 0.01). In addition, it can be stated that pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivations explained 23% of the total variance regarding mobile self-efficacy.

DISCUSSION

Motivation and self-efficacy are important for both learning and teaching processes. Being still students but also the future teachers, pre-service teachers need both learning and teaching motivation and self-efficacy. The age that we experience forces learners and teachers to use mobile technologies in their educational process. Thus, the terms of mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy become under interrogation. This study investigated mobile learning motivation and self-efficacy level of pre-service teachers at the first phase as it was believed that mobile learning increased motivation (Sari, Nikou & Economides, 2018). It was found that the motivation level of pre-service teachers was at a moderate level. Some studies in the literature also show that motivation level of learners for mobile learning was high (Olasina, 2012; Asplund, 2014) and moderate (Lawrence, 2015). In this regard, this study supported the findings in the literature. Moreover, mobile technology usage frequency was found to be a significant variable for mobile learning motivation. The participants who used mobile applications more frequently had higher motivation. This finding contradicts with the study of Okumuş Dağdeler (2018) who found that there was no relationship between the frequency of using mobile applications and mobile learning motivation.

At the mobile self-efficacy dimension, it was found that mobile self-efficacy levels of pre-service teachers was at moderate and high level. Mahat et al. (2012) also found that self-efficacy of students for mobile learning was at moderate level while it was at a high level in the study of Yang (2012), and Nikolopoulou and Gialamas (2017). Moreover, this study found that there was not significant difference in pre-service teachers' mobile self-efficacy based on gender and field, which supported the findings of Yorgancı (2017).

The analysis showed similar findings for motivation and self-efficacy. Both motivation and self-efficacy of preservice teachers were at moderate levels. Although mobile self-efficacy and mobile learning motivation of preservice teachers did not show a relationship between gender, teaching field and grade, both of them were related with mobile technology usage frequency. Pre-service teachers using mobile applications more frequently had higher level of mobile learning motivation and self-efficacy. This finding is in parallel with some other studies focusing educational technologies. For example, Kutluca & Ekici (2010) found that computer usage frequency affected self-efficacy perceptions regarding computer-assisted education. Similarly, Efe and Baysal (2017) concluded that using educational technologies had a positive correlation with technology self-efficacy and motivation.

The correlation analysis supported the relation between mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy. If mobile learning motivation increases, mobile self-efficacy also increases and vice versa. This finding is new to literature as studies on relation mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy was not encountered in literature as to our knowledge. However, the strong relation between motivation and self-efficacy (Bandura, 1986; Ryan & Deci, 2000; Pintrich & Schunk, 2002) can be regarded as a base for the relation between mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy.



CONCLUSIONS

The findings of this study which aimed at identifying pre-service teachers' mobile learning motivation and mobile learning self-efficacy and the relationship between them can be summarized as follows:

- The mobile learning motivation of pre-service teachers are at moderate level. Besides, their motivation does not differ as to their gender, field and grade while it differs as to mobile application usage level and frequency.
- The mobile self-efficacy of pre-service teachers are at moderate and high level. Besides, their motivation does not differ in terms of their gender, field, grade and mobile application usage level while it differs in terms of mobile application usage frequency.
- There is a positive relationship between mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy of preservice teachers.
- Mobile learning motivation of pre-service teachers is a significant predictor of their mobile self-efficacy.

Based on these findings, it is recommended for teacher educators to include mobile learning more often in their teaching process as the mobile application usage frequency increases both mobile learning motivation and mobile self-efficacy. Assisting teachers of future to be competent in technology is an important part of modern curriculums as technology literacy is one of the core components of 21^{st} century skills which are thought of the key to success in 21^{st} century societies.

Acknowledgement: This article is an extension of a paper presented in "VI. International Yıldız Social Sciences Congress" in 2019.

REFERENCES

- Ally, M. (2009). *Mobile Learning: Transforming the delivery of Education and Training*. Athabasca: Athabasca University Press.
- Asplund, M. (2014, June). Students' motivation and mobile learning experiences, case luas. Paper presented at 10th International CDIO Conference, Barcelona.
- Ayub, A. F. M., Zaini, S. H., Luan, W. S., & Jaafar, W. M. W. (2018). The influence of mobile self-efficacy, personal innovativeness and readiness towards students' attitudes towards the use of mobile apps in learning and teaching. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 7(14), Pages 364-374. https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v7-i14/3673
- Bakhsh, M., Mahmood, A., & Sangi, N. A. (2017). Examination of factors influencing students and faculty behavior toward m-learning acceptance: An empirical study. *International Journal of Information and Learning Technology*, *34*(3), 166–188.
- Bandura, A. (1986). The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 4(3), 359–373. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359
- Bandura, A. (1993). Perceived self-efficacy in cognitive development and functioning. *Educational Psychologist*, 28(2), 117-148
- Bandura, A., & Adams, N. E. (1977). Analysis of self-efficacy theory of behavioral change. *Cognitive Therapy* and Research, 1(4), 287–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01663995
- Chen, K., Chen, J. V., & Yen, D. C. (2011). Dimensions of self-efficacy in the study of smart phone acceptance. *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, 33(4), 422–431. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csi.2011.01.003
- Chen, K., Chen, J. V., & Yen, D.c. (2011). Diemsions of self-efficacy in the study of smartphone acceptance. *Computer Standards & Interfaces*, 33, 422-431.
- Ciampa, K. (2013). Learning in a mobile age: An investigation of student motivation. *Journal of Computer* Assisted Learning, 30, 82-96. doi: 10.1111/jcal.12036
- Colazzo, L., Ronchetti, M., Trifonova, A., & Molinari, A. (2003). Towards a Multi-Vendor Mobile Learning Management System. In A. Rossett (Ed.), Proceedings of E-Learn 2003--World Conference on E-Learning in Corporate, Government, Healthcare, and Higher Education (pp. 2097-2100). USA: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education (AACE). Retrieved from https://www.learntechlib.org/primary/p/12291/.
- Compeau, D.R., & Higgins, C.A. (1995). Computer self-efficacy: Development of a measure and initial test. *MIS Quarterly*, *19*(2), 189-211.
- Dörnyei, Z., & Kubanyiova, M. (2014). *Motivating learners, motivating teachers: building vision in the language classroom*. Cambridge : Cambridge University Press
- Dörnyei, Z., & Ushioda, E. (2012). Teaching and Researching Motivation (2nd edt). Pearson: UK
- Efe, H. A. & Baysal, Y. E. (2017). Analysis of the relationship between science teachers' motivation towards using educational technology and their self -regulation strategies. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*, *16* (63), 1391-1399.



- El-Hussein, M. O. M., & Cronje, J. C. (2010). Defining mobile learning in the higher education landscape. *Educational Technology & Society*, *13*(3), 12-21.
- Gan, C. L., & Balakrishnan, V. (2017). Predicting acceptance of mobile technology for aiding student-lecturer interactions: An empirical study. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, *33*(2), 143–158.
 Hite, R. W. (1959). Motivation reconsidered. *Psychological Review*, *66*, 297–333.
- Hsiao, K. L., & Chen, C. C. (2015). How do we inspire children to learn with e-readers? *Library Hi Tech*, 33(4), 584–596.
- Hsu, M-H. & Chiu, C-H. (2004). Internet self-efficacy and electronic service acceptance. *Decision Support Systems*, 38, 369–381.
- Huang, C. S. J., Yang, S. J. H., Chiang, T. H. C., & Su, A. Y. S. (2016). Effects of situated mobile learning approach on learning motivation and performance of EFL students. *Educational Technology & Society*, 19(1), 263–276.
- Kabataş, S., & Karaoğlan Yılmaz, F. (2018). Evaluation of teachers' lifelong learning attitudes in terms of selfefficacy towards the standards of educational technology . *Bartın University Journal of Faculty of Education*, 7 (2), 588-608. doi: 10.14686/buefad.405661
- Kearney, M., Schuck, S., Burden, K., & Aubusson, P. (2012). Viewing mobile learning from a pedagogical perspective. *Research in Learning Technology*, 20(1), 14406. https://doi.org/10.3402/rlt.v20i0.14406
- Keith, M. J., Jr, J. S. B., Furner, C. P., & Abdullat, A. (2011). the role of mobile self-efficacy in the adoption of location-based applications: an iphone experiment. *Th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 10, 122-135
- Keskin, O. N., & Metcalf, D. (2011). The current perspectives, theories and practices of mobile learning. *The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology (TOJET)*, *10*(2), 202-208.
- Khan, F. M. & Gupta, Y. (2021). A bibliometric analysis of mobile learning in the education sector. *Interactive Technology and Smart Education, ahead of print*. doi:10.1108/ITSE-03-2021-0048
- Kukulska-Hulme, A. (2019). Mobile language learning innovation inspired by migrants. *Journal of Learning for Development*, 6(2), 116-129.
- Kukulska-Hulme, A., & Shield, L. (2008). An overview of mobile assisted language learning: from content delivery to supported collaboration and interaction. *ReCALL*, 20(3), 271-289. doi: 10.1017/S0958344008000335
- Kutluca, T. & Ekici, G. (2010). Examining teacher candidates' attitudes and self-efficacy perceptions towards the computer assisted education. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 38*, 177-188
- Lawrence, B. (2015). Learner receptiveness towards mobile technology in a college English program: the smart decision? *English Teaching*, 70 (1), 3-28. Doi:10.15858/engtea.70.1.201503.3
- Liaw, S. S., & Huang, H. M. (2015). How factors of personal attitudes and learning environments affect gender difference toward mobile learning acceptance. *International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 16(4), 104–132.
- MacCallum, K., & Jeffrey, L. (2013). The influence of students' ICT skills and their adoption of mobile learning. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 29(3), 303–314.
- Mahat, J., Ayub, A. F. M., Luan, S., & Wong. (2012). An assessment of students' mobile self-efficacy, readiness and personal innovativeness towards mobile learning in higher education in Malaysia. *Procedia - Social* and Behavioral Sciences, 64, 284–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2012.11.033
- Moore, M. G. (1997). Theory of transactional distance. In D. Keegan (Ed.), *Theoretical principles of distance education* (pp. 22-38). NY: Routlege Studies in Distance Education.
- Moore, M. G. (2007). *The theory of transactional distance*. In M. G. Moore (Ed.), Handbook of distance education (pp. 89-105). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Nikolopoulou, K., & Gialamas, V. (2017). High school pupils' attitudes and self-efficacy of using mobile devices. *Themes in Science & Technology Education*, 10(2), 53-67.
- Nikou, S., & Economides, A. (2015). The impact of paper-based, computer-based and mobilebased selfassessment on students' science motivation and achievement. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 55, 1241-1248. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.09.025.
- Oakley, R., & Palvia, P. (2012). A Study of the Impact of Mobile Self-Efficacy and Emotional Attachment on Mobile Device Infusion. AMCIS 2012 Proceedings, 15, 1-9.
- Okumuş Dağdeler, K. (2018). The role of Mobile-assisted Language Learning (MALL) in vocabulary knowledge, learner autonomy, and motivation of prospective English language teachers. Unpublished PhD thesis. Atatürk Üniversitesi Eğitim Bilimleri Enstitüsü, Erzurum.
- Olasina, G. (2012). Student's e-learning/m-learning experiences and impact on motivation in Nigeria. Proceedings of the IATUL Conferences, 31. Retrieved from http://docs.lib.purdue.edu/iatul/2012/papers/31
- Özdamlı, F. (2012). Pedagogical framework of m-learning. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 31, 927-931. Doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2011.12.171



- Park, Y. (2011). A pedagogical framework for mobile learning: Categorizing educational applications of mobile technologies into four types. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning*, 12(2), 78. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v12i2.791
- Pintrich, P. R., & Schunk, D. H. (2002). *Motivation in education: theory, research and applications*. Ohio: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Razzaq, A., Samiha, Y. T., & Anshari, M. (2018). Smartphone Habits and Behaviors in Supporting Students Self-Efficacy. *International Journal of Emerging Technologies in Learning (IJET)*, 13(02), 94. https://doi.org/10.3991/ijet.v13i02.7685
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000a). Self-Determination Theory and the Facilitation of Intrinsic Motivation, Social Development, and Well-Being. *American Psyhocologist*, 55 (1), 68-78.
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000b). Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivations: Classic Definitions and New Directions. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 25, 54–67, doi:10.1006/ceps.1999.1020.
- Sari, A. M., & Nurcahyo, H. (2018). Improving students learning motivation through Mobile learning. Indonesian Journal of Biology Education, 4(3), 271-276.
- Selli, S. H. (2017, May). What makes effective teaching in the 21st century. Paper presented at 1st English Language and Literature International Conference (ELLiC), Universitas Muhmmediyah Semarang, Semarang.
- Stronge, J. H. (2018). Qualities of effective teachers. Alexandria, Virginia: ASCD
- Taylor, J., Sharples, M., Malley, C., O', Vavoula, G., & Waycott, J. (2006). Towards a task model for mobile learning: A dialectical approach. *International Journal of Learning Technology*, 2, 138–158, doi: 10.1504/IJLT.2006.010616
- Trifonova, A. (2003). *Mobile learning review of the literature*. Retrieved from http://eprints.biblio.unitn.it/359/1/009.pdf
- Tsai, P.-S., Tsai, C.-C. ve Hwang, G.-H. (2010). Elementary school students' attitudes and self-efficacy of using pdas in a ubiquitous learning context. *Australasian Journal of Educational Technology*, 26(3), 297-308.
- Williams, M., & Burden, R. L. (1997). *Psychology for language teachers*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Yang, S-H. (2012). Exploring college students' attitudes and self-efficacy of mobile learning. *TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology*, 11 (4), 148-154.
- Yorgancı, S. (2017). Investigating Students' Self-Efficacy and Attitudes Towards the Use of Mobile Learning. *Journal of Education and Practice*, 8(6), 181-185.



Secondary School Teachers' and Students' Attitudes towards the Use of Interactive Whiteboard in EFL Classrooms

Hasret ÇEKİCİ^a, Ayfer SU-BERGİL^b

^aInstitute of Social Sciences, Division of English Language Teaching, Amasya University, Amasya, 05200, Turkey, hasret.cekici@gmail.com ^bFaculty of Education, Department of Foreign Language Education, Division of English Language Teaching, Amasya University, Amasya, 05200, Turkey, ayfersubergil@amasya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

The use of technology in education has been playing an important role in the teaching and learning process over the past decades. It has positive and enormous effects on the field of education and helps students being much more creative and active. As part of the educational technology, the use of Interactive Whiteboards (IWB) has increased a lot in schools giving access to the Internet, videos, and other tools in the classroom environment. This study focuses on the attitudes of teachers and students towards the use of Interactive Whiteboards in teaching English as a foreign language. The study is conducted on secondary schools' EFL teachers and students. Two questionnaires are used to collect data quantitatively from 116 EFL teachers and 122 students in different secondary schools in Turkey. Quantitative data results are supported by qualitative data gathered from a small number of teachers through open-ended questions. The results show that both teachers and students have positive attitudes towards the use of IWBs.

Keywords: Interactive whiteboard (IWB), teachers' attitudes, students' attitudes, English as a foreign language

INTRODUCTION

Over the past decade, technology has played an important role in education. With the introduction of technology in education, traditional teaching techniques started to be replaced by more technological ones. They were firstly used in math and science classes, but then they spread to different areas of education. Recently these computerbased technologies have started to be used to teach and learn a language (Elaziz, 2008) and got important in both schools and universities (Amiri & Sharifi, 2014). According to Mathews-Aydinli and Elaziz "The rapidly increasing use of computer technology and computer-assisted language learning (CALL) has been argued to make language teaching and learning more enjoyable, effective, and versatile" (2010, p. 235). Podcasts, software, video clips, chat, email, e-Portfolio, voice/video conferences, virtual games, blogs, and interactive whiteboards are among the computer-assisted language learning applications. Some countries developed in the field of technology, such as the UK, USA, Canada, China, Japan, and Australia, put a great amount of money into IWBs, thanks to their awareness of using IWBs in teaching and learning (Çakıroğlu, 2016). The use of IWBs has become popular worldwide at all levels, but it increased especially in lower grades, as in primary and secondary grades. The Turkish government has invested billions of dollars in interactive whiteboards, computers, and the Internet since the FATIH project was initiated in Turkey (Balta & Duran, 2015). The Turkish government has distributed 16 million tablet PCs in primary schools under the FATIH Project by 2016. The reason behind it was to improve primary and secondary education and to increase educational technology conditions. (Çakıroğlu, 2016).

An IWB is a touchscreen whiteboard that can be used independently or by being connected to a computer from a projector. It can be controlled by either using your finger, by electronic pens or by peripheral devices (Singaravelu, 2017). IWBs are multifunctional devices, thanks to which teachers can drag, click, paste and copy items, take and add notes, highlight texts, make drawings, show pictures and videos to the whole class, save and edit documents, get access to the Internet (Balta & Duran, 2015). In essence, "interactive whiteboards are seen as combining all previously existing teaching aids such as chalkboard, whiteboard, television, video, overhead projector, CD player, and computer" (Gashan & Alshumaimeri, 2015, p. 176).

There are many positive effects of IWBs on the teaching and learning process. Thanks to IWBs, lecturers have had the opportunity to integrate more information and communications technology (ICT) into their classes and to use a wide range of web-based resources. In addition to this, with the use of IWBs, there has been an increase in students' motivation and participation in the lessons. The interactive whiteboard allows students to develop their skills personally and socially, and to expand their creativity in giving a presentation to the whole class (Öz, 2014). Moreover, other pedagogical benefits can be found when talking about the utilization of IWBs in L2 teaching and learning. According to Schmid and Schimmack (2010), four benefits of using IWBs in L2 classrooms should be emphasized: inclusion of new media in language classrooms, development of learners' interaction and



participation, improvement of "electronic literacies", and opportunity to take into consideration students' different learning style by using multiple media.

Furthermore, Gashan and Alshumaimeri (2015) focused on the fact that the utilization of IWBs helped education change from traditional instruction to a more interactive and constructive one. According to them, this technology supported teachers to use more contemporary methods during their classes, which made the learning process more effective. In fact, as Manny-Ikan et al. (2011) claimed, teachers had the chance to prepare more comprehensible lesson plans including lots of varieties in terms of materials.

Different research has been made about this topic and focused only on teachers' or students' attitudes towards the use of IWB in English classrooms. A few kinds of research focus on both attitudes and many of them are applied to a small sample. The present study is applied to a large sample and aims to explore secondary school EFL teachers' and students' perspectives on the use of IWBs in EFL classrooms in Turkey and to see if these attitudes differ according to some variables. Hence, this study was administered to answer these three points:

1. What are the teachers' and students' attitudes concerning the use of IWBs in EFL classrooms?

2. Do students' attitudes towards the use of IWBs differ according to their gender, grade, language proficiency level, frequency of IWB use, and skills areas IWBs are used for?

3. Do teachers' perspectives on the use of IWBs differ with their gender, years of teaching experience, weekly hours of IWB use, and skills areas IWBs are used for?

METHOD

Design

This study is a survey conducted on secondary school teachers and students to collect data about their attitudes towards the use of IWBs in ELT classrooms. For this purpose, a mixed-method design is used. As Creswell declared, "mixed methods involve combining or integration of qualitative and quantitative research and data in a research study" (2014, p.43) and it aims to minimize the weaknesses of each type of data. For this study, students and teachers are asked to participate in a Likert-scale questionnaire to get quantitative data. After conducting these questionnaires, some teachers are interviewed, and their answers are collected qualitatively to support the quantitative data.

Participants

A random sampling, thanks to which every single individual can be chosen, is applied in this study to generalize the population. 116 secondary school EFL teachers and 122 secondary school students selected randomly from different cities of Turkey contributed to this study. Here is the demographic information of them presented in the following tables:

		Grad	le								
		5th g	5th grade		6th grade		7th grade		grade	Total	
		f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Gender	Male	14	11.5	5	4.1	18	14.8	9	7.4	46	37.7
	Female	33	27.0	7	5.7	20	16.4	16	13.1	76	62.3
	Total	47	38.5	12	9.0	38	31.1	25	20.5	122	100.0

As shown in Table 1, there are 47 5th (38.5%) grade, 12 6th (9.0%) grade, 38 7th (31.1%) grade and 25 8th (20.5%) grade students participating to the study aged 10-15 years. 62.3% (f=76) of them are female students and 37.7% (f=46) are males. Within 62.3% of female students, 27.0% (f=33) are 5th grade, 5.7% (f=7) are 6th grade, 16.4% (f=20) are 7th grade, and 13.1% (f=16) are 8th grade students. Among male students, 11.5% (f=14) are 5th grade, 4.1% (f=5) are 6th grade, 14.8% (f=18) are 7th grade, and 7.4% (f=9) are 8th grade students. Moreover, all of them attend a public school in Turkey. The hours of English class are very limited: only 3 hours for 5th and 6th grades, and 4 hours for 7th and 8th grades.

	Table 2. Students' Proficiency Level										
	Frequency Percent Valid Percent Cumulative Percent										
Valid	Elementary	21	17.2	17.2	17.2						
	Intermediate	91	74.6	74.6	91.8						
	Advanced	10	8.2	8.2	100.0						

TCHET IN A LEW PROVIDENT	TOJET: T	The Turkish Onlin	e Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021
	SI	pecial Issue for IE	TC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021
Total	122	100.0	100.0

In Table 2 it is given the students' proficiency level. 17.2% (f=21) of students are at elementary level, 74.6% (f=91) of them are intermediate learners, while only 8.2% (f=10) are advanced learners.

		Table	3. Where are	Students from?	
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Afyonkarahisar	1	.8	.8	.8
	Amasya	30	24.6	24.6	25.4
	Bartın	30	24.6	24.6	50.0
	Bayburt	7	5.7	5.7	55.7
	İstanbul	3	2.5	2.5	58.2
	İzmir	2	1.6	1.6	59.8
	Malatya	2	1.6	1.6	61.5
	Muğla	1	.8	.8	62.3
	Ordu	40	32.8	32.8	95.1
	Sivas	5	4.1	4.1	99.2
	Gaziantep	1	.8	.8	100.0
	Total	122	100.0	100.0	

Table 3 shows the provinces where students study. As the table reflects, 40 students, who represent 32.8% (f=32.8) of the total population, are from Ordu. This is followed by Amasya and Bartin that share the same frequency of 30 students with the same percentage of 24.6%. 5.7% (f=7) of the students are from Bayburt, 4.1% (f=5) are from Sivas and 2.5% (f=3) are from İstanbul. To conclude, a very small percentage of the students are from İzmir and Malatya, with the same frequency of 2 (1.6%) and from Muğla, Gaziantep, and Afyonkarahisar, with the same frequency of 1 (0.8%).

Table 4. Teachers' Age and Gender

		Age	•										
		20-2	25	26-30)	31-3	5	36-4	0	40+		Total	-
		f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Gender	Male	1	0.9	5	4.3	3	2.6	3	2.6	2	1.7	14	12.1
	Female	17	14.7	18	15.5	33	28.4	21	18.1	13	11.2	102	87.9
	Total	18	15.5	23	19.8	36	31.0	24	20.7	15	12.9	116	100.0

Table 4 represents teachers' age and gender. Among 116 EFL teachers who participated to the study, 87.9% (f=102) of them are females, while only 12.1% (f=14) of teacher participants are males. According to the table, 36 EFL teachers are aged 31 to 35 and represent the majority of the population with a percentage of 31.0%. Among them, 28.4% (f=33) are females, while 2.6% (f=3) are male. However, with the percentage of 4.3% (f=5) the majority of male EFL teachers are 26-30 years old. Following the percentage of 31.0%, 20.7% (f=24) of the total population is aged 36 to 40, while 19.8% (f=23) is 26-30. In addition to this, 18 EFL teachers representing 15.5% of the sample are aged 20 to 25. Teachers aged more than 40 constitute the minority of the population with a percentage of 12.9% (f=15).

			Table	5. I Cav	incis it		reachin	<u>s Espe</u>	interee				
		Year	s of Teacl	ning Exp	perience								
		1-4		5-9		10-1	5	16-2	0	more	e than 20	Total	
		f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
Gender	Male	3	2.6	5	4.3	4	3.4	1	0.9	1	0.9	14	12.1
	Female	25	21.6	25	21.6	32	27.6	9	7.8	11	9.5	102	87.9
	Total	28	24.1	30	25.9	36	31.0	10	8.6	12	10.3	116	1000

Table 5. Teachers' Years of Teaching Experience



In table 5, it's given the teachers' years of teaching experience. As the table shows, 31.0% (f=36) of the teachers have 10-15 years of teaching experience. This is followed by 5-9 and 1-4 years with the frequency of 30 and 28, representing correspondently 25.9% and 24.1% of the total population. Moreover, while 10.3% (f=12) of EFL teachers have more than 20 years of experience in the field of ELT, only 8.6% (f=10) have been working for 16-20 years.

				÷	Cumulative
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Percent
Valid	Marmara Region	24	20.7	20.7	20.7
	Aegean Region	15	12.9	12.9	33.6
	Black Sea Region	22	19.0	19.0	52.6
	Central Anatolian Region	26	22.4	22.4	75.0
	Eastern Anatolian Region	9	7.8	7.8	82.8
	Southeast Anatolian Region	11	9.5	9.5	92.2
	Mediterranean Region	9	7.8	7.8	1000
	Total	116	100.0	100.0	

Table 6. The Regions the Teachers Work in Turkey

Table 6 reflects the frequencies of regions where teachers work. According to the table, 22.4% (f=26) of EFL teachers work in the Central Anatolian Region. 20.7% (f=24) of them work in the Marmara Region, while 19.0% (f=22) works in the Black Sea Region. They are followed by the Aegean Region with a frequency of 15, which represents 12.9% of the total population. Moreover, 9.5% (f=11) of the teachers work in the Southeast Anatolian Region. Only 7.8% (f=9) of them work in Eastern Anatolian and Mediterranean Regions.

Data Collection

The study is conducted in the 2019-2020 academic year during the spring semester on an online platform. Two independent questionnaires adopted by Öz (2014) are used to collect data quantitatively. Then, an interview is held with some ELT teachers and this data is collected qualitatively. Thus, it is possible to say that the present study is conducted with a mixed-method design since both quantitative and qualitative data are used. The questionnaires about teachers' and students' attitudes towards the use of IWBs in EFL classrooms are prepared by using Google Forms. The student questionnaire is translated into Turkish for better understanding. The questionnaires are shared on different online platforms and participants contributed completely voluntarily by being anonymous. Both questionnaires included two parts. The first part of the student questionnaire asks secondary school students to state their gender, grade, frequency of IWB use, language proficiency level, and skills areas IWBs are used for. The second part consists of 26 five-point Likert-scale items divided into four sections: perceived learning contribution, motivation, perceived efficiency, and perceived negative effects. Similarly, the first part of the teacher questionnaire consists of questions about teachers' age, gender, years of teaching experience, weekly hours of IWB use, and skills areas IWBs are used for. The second part includes 25 five-point Likert-scale items separated into four sections: instructional effects of IWBs, general attitudes, motivational effects of IWBs, and need for training. Participants specified their agreement to the items in five points: 1-strongly agree, 2-agree, 3-neutral, 4-disagree, and 5-strongly disagree. For 25 items of the teacher questionnaire the reliability Cronbach's Alpha level is calculated as .75. As for social sciences, it is accepted as strong since it is more than .70. The reliability of Cronbach's Alpha level of the student questionnaire is .90. Since it is more than .70, it is also accepted as reliable. After applying the questionnaires, due to the Covid-19 pandemic and the difficulty to get in touch with a large number of teachers for the interview, only 10 teachers are interviewed and asked the following open-ended questions:

- 1. How often do you use the IWB in your classes?
- 2. What are the reasons behind your IWB usage in your classes?
- 3. What do you think are the advantages and disadvantages of using the IWB in EFL classrooms?
- 4. Do you think it has a positive effect on students? Why?

Data Analysis

For this research, two independent questionnaires are conducted for secondary school EFL teachers and students via Google Forms. The data is analyzed through SPSS 22.0. Some descriptive statistics are used for the analysis of the frequencies. Moreover, one-sample t-tests are utilized for sub-sections of both teacher and student questionnaires. Then, Mann-Whitney U Tests served to find the results for yes/no answers of IWB usage in terms of skills from both teachers' and students' points of view, and the results for sub-sections of the teachers' scale in



terms of gender. Finally, one-way ANOVA statistics are utilized in terms of the frequency of IWB usage and specifying their significant differences.

FINDINGS

In this part of the current study, the findings associated with the collected data are presented in tables following their explanations.

		Та	ble 7. Skills V	Used by Teac	hers When U	sing IWBs		
	Reading	, ,	Writing		Speakin	g	Listenin	g
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
No	2	1.7	36	31.0	31	26.7	2	1.7
Yes	114	98.3	80	69.0	85	73.3	114	98.3
Total	116	100	116	100	116	100	116	100

Table 7 shows the skills that teachers focus on when using IWBs. As seen, 98.3% (f=114) of the total population use the IWBs for reading and listening skills. They are followed by the speaking skill with the percentage of 73.3% (f=85) and the writing skill with 69.0% (f=80).

		Table 8. We	ekly Hours	of IWB Use by Tea	chers
		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	less than 5	20	17.2	17.2	17.2
	6-10	21	18.1	18.1	35.3
	11-15	24	20.7	20.7	56.0
	16-20	22	19.0	19.0	75.0
	More than 20	29	25.0	25.0	100.0
	Total	116	100.0	100.0	

The weekly hours of IWB use by teachers are represented in Table 8. Even if there is not a huge difference in the distribution of weekly hours of IWB use, a slight majority of EFL teachers use the IWBs more than 20 hours a week, which constitutes 25.0% (f=29) of the total population. 20.7% (f=24) of teachers use the IWBs 11-15 hours a week, while 19.0% (f=22) spend 16-20 hours with them. Meanwhile, 21 teachers representing 18.1% of the sample are found to use IWBs in their English classes 6-10 hours a week. However, 20 teachers utilize IWBs less than 5 hours a week.

	Table 9.	Descript	ive Resu	ilts of Ite	ms in 'l	l'eacher	Questio	nnaire		
	Stror	ngly							Stro	ngly
	agree	e	Agre	e	Neu	ıtral	Disa	gree	Disa	igree
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
I. Instructional effects of IWBs										
Q1	88	75.9	19	16.4	6	5.2	2	1.7	1	0.9
Q2	13	11.2	35	30.2	33	28.4	28	24.1	7	6.0
Q3	95	81.9	19	16.4	1	0.9	1	0.9	0	0.0
Q4	76	65.5	30	25.9	7	6.0	3	2.6	0	0.0
Q5	81	69.8	30	25.9	4	3.4	1	0.9	0	0.0
Q6	60	51.7	37	31.9	15	12.9	4	3.4	0	0.0
Q7	97	83.6	18	15.5	1	0.9	0	0.0	0	0.0
Q8	74	63.8	26	22.4	14	12.1	2	1.7	0	0.0
Q9	84	72.4	27	23.3	2	1.7	3	2.6	0	0.0
Q10	87	75.0	26	22.4	2	1.7	1	0.9	0	0.0
Q11	87	75.0	25	21.6	2	1.7	0	0.0	2	1.7
II. General attitudes	0.6	00.0	10	16.4	1	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0
Q12	96	82.8	19	16.4	1	0.9	0	0.0	0	0.0

of Itoma in T 0

TCOJET The Toxich Online Journal of Concellance Technology	TOJE	ET: The Tu Special	rkish On Issue for	line Journa IETC, ITE	l of Edu C, ITIC	cational 7 AM, IQC	Fechnolog , IWSC &	gy – Septer & INTE-20	nber 202 21	1
Q13	13	11.2	7	6.0	23	19.8	26	22.4	47	40.5
Q14	89	76.7	25	21.6	2	1.7	0	0.0	0	0.0
Q15	0	0.0	1	0.9	22	19.0	21	18.1	72	62.1
Q16	3	2.6	3	2.6	23	19.8	28	24.1	59	50.9
Q17	2	1.7	2	1.7	33	28.4	38	32.8	41	35.3
Q18	1	0.9	4	3.4	21	18.1	36	31.0	54	46.6
Q19	0	0.0	1	0.9	26	22.4	39	33.6	50	43.1
III. Motivational effects of IWBs										
Q20	91	78.4	23	19.8	2	1.7	0	0.0	0	0.0
Q21	77	66.4	33	28.4	6	5.2	0	0.0	0	0.0
Q22	81	69.8	31	26.7	4	3.4	0	0.0	0	0.0
Q23	85	73.3	29	25.0	2	1.7	0	0.0	0	0.0
IV. Needs for training										
Q24	41	35.3	46	39.7	22	19.0	6	5.2	1	0.9
Q25	20	17.2	38	32.8	26	22.4	25	21.6	7	6.0

TO TRUCK

Table 9 shows the frequencies of the answers given to each question in the teacher questionnaire. In the first subsection "Instructional effects of IWBs", the great majority of teachers "strongly agreed" with all the questions except for Q2 "When using IWBs in the classroom, I spend more time for the preparation of the lesson", with which 30.2% (f=35) of ELT teachers only "agreed". The "strongly agree" answers correspond to the 75.9% (f=88) of Q1 "Using the IWB resources reduces the time I spend writing on the board", to the 81.9% (f=95) of Q3 "Using IWBs makes it easier to reach different sources and display them to the whole class immediately", 65.5% (f=76) of Q4 "IWBs are beneficial for saving and printing the materials generate during the lesson", 69.8% (f=81) of Q5 "I can give explanations more effectively with the use of IWBs", 51.7% (f=60) of Q6 "With the help of using the IWB, I can easily control the whole class", 83.6% (f=97) of Q7 "I think IWBs can be a good supplement to support English teaching", 63.8% (f=74) of Q8 "Using IWBs makes me a more efficient teacher", 72.4% (f=84) of Q9 "Using IWBs makes it easier for an English teacher to review, re-explain, and summarize the subject", 75.0% (f=87) of Q10 "I believe IWB is a useful technology for English teachers to learn" and 75.0% (f=87) of Q11 "Using IWB makes the English lessons more interactive". The second sub-group "General attitudes" includes questions Q12 to Q19. While in Q12 "I like using IWB technology in my English lessons" and Q14 "I have positive attitudes toward the use of IWBs in language teaching" most of the teachers give the "strongly agree" answer with the percentages of 82.8% (f=96) and 76.7% (f=89), in the other questions for this sub-group the "strongly disagree" answer has the higher percentage with 40.5% (f=47) in O13 "I feel uncomfortable using IWBs in front of my students", 62.1% (f=72) in Q15 "I have negative attitudes toward the use of IWBs in language teaching", 50.9% (f=59) in Q16 "I do not think my students are ready for this technology", 35.3%(f=41) in Q17 "What I do in class with traditional methods is sufficient for teaching English", 46.6% (f=54) in Q18 "I am not the type to do well with IWB-based applications", and 43.1% (f=50) in Q19 "There is no difference between my use of a traditional board and an IWB in terms of teaching techniques and methods". The third sub-group "Motivational effects of IWBs" consists of Q20 to Q23. A higher percentage of teachers strongly agreed with all these four questions. 78.4% (f=91) of EFL teachers think "IWBs make learning more enjoyable and more interesting" (Q20), 66.4% (f=77) of them "can keep their students' attention longer with the help of IWB technology" (Q21), 69.8% (f=81) thinks "IWBs increase the interaction and participation of the students" (Q22), while 73.3 % (f=85) thinks their "students are more motivated when they use an IWB in their lessons" (Q23). The "Needs for training" sub-section is the last one and includes Q24 and Q25. Most of EFL teachers gave the "agree" answer to both of them, correspondently with the percentage of 39.7% (f=46) for Q24 "I believe that training is required to teach with IWB technology" and 32.8% (f=38) for Q25 "If I do not get sufficient training, I do not feel comfortable with using IWBs in the classroom".

Table 10. One Sample	es T-Test Res	ults for Su	b-Sections of Teach	ers' Scal	le	
	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Sd	f	р
Sub-sections of Scale						
Instructional effects of IWBs	116	16.53	4.13	115	43.06	.000
General attitudes	116	27.14	4.15		70.41	.000

ТОЈЕ	ET: The Turkish Online J Special Issue for IET	Journal of Ed C, ITEC, ITI	ucational Technology – CAM, IQC, IWSC & IN	September 2021 TE-2021	
Motivational effects of IWBs	116	5.24	1.74	32.39	.000
Needs for training	116	4.63	1.85	26.90	.000

In Table 10, the one-sample t-test results for sub-sections of teachers' scale are shown. Paying attention to the mean results of each sub-section, p-values ($p \le .000$) show that there is a very highly significant difference among these means. In fact, according to social sciences, when the p-value is less than .001 and .005, the result is taken as very highly significant.

Table 11. Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Sub-Sections of the Teachers' Scale in terms of Gender

Sub-Sections	Gender	N	Mean Rank	Sum of Rank	U	р
Instructional effects of IWBs	Male	14	76.82	1075.50 5710.50	457.500	.029*
	remate	102	55.99	5710.50		
General attitudes	Male Female	14 102	68.54 57.12	959.50 5826.50	573.500	.231
	Male	14	51.93	727.00	622.000	.382
Motivational effects of IWBs	Female	102	59.40	6059.00		
Needs for training	Male Female	14 102	69.39 57.00	971.50 5814.50	561.500	.188

Table 11 gives the Mann-Whitney U test results for sub-sections of the teachers' scale in terms of gender. According to these results, it is possible to see a significant difference only in the mean ranks of the "instructional effects of IWBs" section in terms of gender, because the p-value is .029 (p< .05) and the mean rank is 76.85 for males and 55.99 for females. However, there is not a significant difference among the mean ranks of the other subgroups, because their p-values are all found to be above .05. In fact, the "General attitudes" sub-sections p-value is calculated as .231 (p>.05), the "Motivational effects of IWBs" subgroup's p-value is .382 (p>.05), while the "Needs for training" sub-section is .188 (p>.05).

Table 12. Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Yes/No Answers of IWB Usage in terms of Skills from Teachers' Points of View

	~ . ~ .	Answers	N	Mean	Sum of	U	p
Skills	Sub-Sections			Rank	Rank	-	r
	Instructional effects of IWBs	No	2	57.75	115.50	112.500	.974
R		Yes	114	58.51	6670.50		
Е		No	2	68.00	136.00	95.500	.685
А	General attitudes	Yes	114	58.33	6650.00		
D		No	2	88.75	177.50	53.500	.150
Ι	Motivational effects of IWBs	Yes	114	57.97	6608.50		
Ν		No	2	68.25	136.50	94.500	.674
G	Needs for training	Yes	114	58.33	6649.50		
	C						
	Instructional effects of IWBs	No	36	69.43	2499.50	1046.500	.018*
		Yes	80	53.58	4286.50		
W	Companyal attitudas	No	36	53.31	1919.00	1253.000	.262
R	General attitudes	Yes	80	60.84	4867.00		
Ι	Mativational affaats of W/Ps	No	36	64.50	2322.00	1224.000	.148
Т	Motivational effects of Tw Bs	Yes	80	55.80	4464.00		
Ι		No	36	61.82	2225.50	1320.500	.468
Ν	Needs for training	Yes	80	57.01	4560.50		
G							
	Instructional effects of IWBs	No	31	65.77	2039.00	1092.000	.157
		Yes	85	55.85	4747.00		
S	General attitudes	No	31	51.81	1606.00	1110.000	.193
Р	General attitudes	Yes	85	60.94	5180.00		
Е	Motivational effects of IWBs	No	31	61.79	1915.50	1215.500	.475
А	Monvational criects of TWDS	Yes	85	57.30	4870.50		
Κ	Needs for training	No	31	63.77	1977.00	1157.000	.299

TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

I		Yes	85	56.58	4809.00		
N G							
U	Instructional effects of IWBs	No	2	57.75	115.50	112.500	.974
L		Yes	114	58.51	6670.50		
Ι	General attitudes	No	2	50.25	100.50	97.500	.725
S	General attitudes	Yes	114	58.64	6685.50		
Т	Mating i and offerster of W/Da	No	2	53.75	107.50	104.500	.821
E	Motivational effects of TWBs	Yes	114	58.58	6678.50		
Ν		No	2	80.50	161.00	70.00.	.342
Ι	Needs for training		114	58.11	6625.00		
Ν	Needs for training	Yes					
G							

Table 12 represents the Mann-Whitney U test results for yes/no answers of IWB usage in terms of skills from teachers' points of view. The answers given by teachers for each skill are stated as number (N). A detailed explanation of these frequencies was given in table 7. According to Table 12, there is a significant difference among mean ranks only in the "instructional effects of IWBs" sub-section for the writing skill, since the p-value for this sub-group is calculated as .018 (p<.05). In the other three sub-sections for the writing skill and all the sub-groups for writing, speaking, and listening skills, the p-value is calculated as above .05 (p>.05). Thus, the mean ranks do not differ significantly.

	Stroi	ngly				Q.400			Stroi	ngly
	Agre	e	Agre	ee	Neut	ral	Disa	gree	Disa	agree
	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%	f	%
I. Perceived learning contribution										
Q1	50	41.0	46	37.7	14	11.5	10	8.2	2	1.6
Q2	62	50.8	41	33.6	12	9.8	7	5.7	0	0.0
Q3	65	53.3	32	26.2	18	14.8	7	5.7	0	0.0
Q4	73	59.8	38	31.1	6	4.9	4	3.3	1	0.8
Q5	58	47.5	46	37.7	8	6.6	6	4.9	4	3.3
II. Motivation										
Q6	39	32.0	38	31.1	25	20.5	15	12.3	5	4.1
Q7	14	11.5	13	10.7	9	7.4	41	33.6	45	36.9
Q8	41	33.6	41	33.6	20	16.4	12	9.8	8	6.6
Q9	21	17.2	14	11.5	19	15.6	39	32.0	29	23.8
Q10	46	37.7	39	32.0	24	19.7	13	10.7	0	0.0
Q11	38	31.1	49	40.2	20	16.4	9	7.4	6	4.9
Q12	54	44.3	34	27.9	17	13.9	13	10.7	4	3.3
Q13	46	37.7	39	32.0	16	13.1	18	14.8	3	2.5
Q14	41	33.6	47	38.5	20	16.4	10	8.2	4	3.3
Q15	51	41.8	32	26.2	19	15.6	10	8.2	10	8.2
Q16	38	31.1	34	27.9	21	17.2	19	15.6	10	8.2
III. Perceived efficiency										
Q17	71	58.2	38	31.1	7	5.7	5	4.1	1	0.8
Q18	44	36.1	44	36.1	20	16.4	12	9.8	2	1.6
Q19	40	32.8	47	38.5	17	13.9	15	12.3	3	2.5
Q20	21	17.2	28	23.0	17	13.9	24	19.7	32	26.2

Table 13. Descriptive Results of Items in Student Questionnaire

TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021									
23	18.9	12	9.8	14	11.5	32	26.2	41	33.6
60	49.2	37	30.3	7	57	10	82	8	6.6
18	14.8	25	20.5	25	20.5	37	30.3	17	13.9
11	9.0	14	11.5	23	18.9	41	33.6	33	27.0
20	16.4	21	17.2	16	13.1	36	29.5	29	23.8
10	8.2	18	14.8	16	13.1	37	30.3	41	33.6
	TOJET: 5 23 60 18 11 20 10	TOJET: The Turkis Special Issu 23 18.9 60 49.2 18 14.8 11 9.0 20 16.4 10 8.2	TOJET: The Turkish Online Special Issue for IET 23 18.9 12 60 49.2 37 18 14.8 25 11 9.0 14 20 16.4 21 10 8.2 18	TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, I 23 18.9 12 9.8 60 49.2 37 30.3 18 14.8 25 20.5 11 9.0 14 11.5 20 16.4 21 17.2 10 8.2 18 14.8	TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educatio Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, 23 18.9 12 9.8 14 60 49.2 37 30.3 7 18 14.8 25 20.5 25 11 9.0 14 11.5 23 20 16.4 21 17.2 16 10 8.2 18 14.8 16	TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWS 23 18.9 12 9.8 14 11.5 60 49.2 37 30.3 7 5.7 18 14.8 25 20.5 25 20.5 11 9.0 14 11.5 23 18.9 20 16.4 21 17.2 16 13.1 10 8.2 18 14.8 16 13.1	TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – S Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INT 23 18.9 12 9.8 14 11.5 32 60 49.2 37 30.3 7 5.7 10 18 14.8 25 20.5 25 20.5 37 11 9.0 14 11.5 23 18.9 41 20 16.4 21 17.2 16 13.1 36 10 8.2 18 14.8 16 13.1 37	TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021 23 18.9 12 9.8 14 11.5 32 26.2 60 49.2 37 30.3 7 5.7 10 8.2 18 14.8 25 20.5 25 20.5 37 30.3 11 9.0 14 11.5 23 18.9 41 33.6 20 16.4 21 17.2 16 13.1 36 29.5 10 8.2 18 14.8 16 13.1 37 30.3	TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021 23 18.9 12 9.8 14 11.5 32 26.2 41 60 49.2 37 30.3 7 5.7 10 8.2 8 18 14.8 25 20.5 25 20.5 37 30.3 17 11 9.0 14 11.5 23 18.9 41 33.6 33 20 16.4 21 17.2 16 13.1 36 29.5 29 10 8.2 18 14.8 16 13.1 37 30.3 41

Table 13 represents the frequencies of the answers given to each question in the student questionnaire. In the first sub-section "Perceived learning contribution", most of the students give the "strongly agree" answer. 41.0 % (f=50) of them strongly agree to the fact that "they learn more when their teacher uses the whiteboard" (Q1). 50.8% (f=62) of them find it "easier to understand the lesson when their teacher uses an IWB" (Q2). Moreover, 53.3% (f=65) of students think that "using audio and visual materials with IWBs helps them understand the lesson better" (Q3), and 59.8% (f=73) finds "the opportunity to learn from different sources with the use of IWBs" (Q4). 47.5 % of the students strongly agree with Q5 "IWB use makes it easier for me to remember what I learned in class". In the "Motivation" part, as in the first part, students have strongly agreed with most of the questions, except for Q7 "It seems difficult for me to use IWBs" and Q9 "It makes me uncomfortable when my work is shown to the whole class on the IWB", with which most of them strongly disagreed with the percentages of respectively 33.6% (f=45) and 32.0% (f=39). 44.3% (f=54) of students strongly agree that IWBs make learning English more interesting and exciting (Q12). 41.8% (f=51) of them think IWB use increases their interest in the English lesson (Q15). 37.7% (f=46) of them concentrate better when their teacher uses an IWB (Q10) and keep easily their attention when an IWB is used during the lesson (O13). 33.6% (f=41) prefer lessons that are taught with an IWB (O8) and get easily motivated during the lesson when using the IWB (Q14). 32.0% (f=39) of students like going to the front of the class to use the IWB (Q6). Moreover, 31.1% (f=38) of them get to join in lessons more when their teacher uses an IWB (Q11) and enjoy lessons more if their English teachers use IWB more often (Q16). In the third sub-section "Perceived efficiency", 58.2% (f=71) of the student strongly agreed that IWBs make the teachers' diagrams and drawings easier for them (Q17). Q18 "The lessons become more organized when an IWB is used" has the same percentage of 36.1% (f=44) for both "strongly agree" and "agree" answers, while 38.5% (f=47) of students agree with Q19 "Using an IWB saves time, and the lesson moves smoothly". Continuing, Q20 "There is no difference between my English teacher's use of a traditional board and an IWB in terms of teaching techniques and methods" and Q21, "I think there is not much difference between an IWB and a normal whiteboard" are mostly answered with a "strongly disagree" constituting the percentage of respectively 26.2% (f=32) and 33.6% (f=41). In the last section "Perceived negative effects", 49.2% (f=60) of the students answered with a "strongly agree" in Q22 "Sometimes deficiencies of the IWB screen and sunlight in the classroom make it difficult to see the things on the IWB". 30.3% (f=37), 33.6 (f=41) and 29.5% (f=36) of them gave the "disagree "answer" for respectively Q23 "IWBs often break down and recalibration causes a waste of time", Q24 "When my teacher uses an IWB, I cannot keep up with the lesson because the pace of the lesson" and Q25 "During IWB use, there is a lot of noise in class". On the other hand, 33.6% (f=41) strongly disagree with Q26 "IWB was exciting at the beginning but not anymore".

Table 1	14. ()ne S	amples	T-Test	Results	for S	Sub-Se	ctions	of Stu	dents'	Scale

Tuble The one Sumples T Test Results for Sus Sections of Statements State										
Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Sd	f	р					
122	8.68	3.60	121	26.65	.000					
122	26.52	8.93		32.82	.000					
122	12.37	4.06		33.67	.000					
122	15.52	4.71		36.38	.000					
	N 122 122 122 122 122	N Mean 122 8.68 122 26.52 122 12.37 122 15.52	N Mean Std. Deviation 122 8.68 3.60 122 26.52 8.93 122 12.37 4.06 122 15.52 4.71	N Mean Std. Deviation Sd 122 8.68 3.60 121 122 26.52 8.93 122 122 12.37 4.06 122 122 15.52 4.71	N Mean Std. Deviation Sd f 122 8.68 3.60 121 26.65 122 26.52 8.93 32.82 122 12.37 4.06 33.67 122 15.52 4.71 36.38					

Table 14 states the one-sample t-test results for sub-sections of students' scale. Paying attention to the mean scores, it is possible to declare that they significantly differ from each other, since the p-values are all calculated as .000 (p<.05). Thus, mean values are calculated as 8.68 for the "Perceived learning contribution" sub-section, 26.52 for the "Motivation" part, 12.37 for the "Perceived efficiency" sub-group, and 15.52 for the "Perceived negative effects" part.



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

Table 15. Descriptive Results of One-Way ANOVA in terms of the Frequency of IWB Usage								
Sub-sections of Scale	Frequency	N	Mean	Std. Deviation				
	Rarely	4	10.50	6.40				
	Sometimes	25	9.88	4.10				
Perceived learning	Often	53	9.04	3.44				
contribution	Always	39	7.33	2.75				
	Total	121	8.71	3.60				
	Rarely	4	23.50	10.85				
	Sometimes	25	28.08	10.53				
	Often	53	28.92	8.73				
Motivation	Always	39	22.95	6.32				
	Total	121	26.64	8.85				
	Rarely	4	11.25	7.50				
	Sometimes	25	12.88	4.00				
Perceived efficiency	Often	53	13.19	4.05				
5	Always	39	11.23	3.38				
	Total	121	12.43	4.02				
	Rarely	4	18.75	4.27				
.	Sometimes	25	15.12	5.39				
Perceived negative effects	Often	53	15.06	4.06				
	Always	39	15.97	5.12				
	Total	121	15.49	4.72				

Table 15 expresses the descriptive results of one-way ANOVA in terms of the frequency of IWB usage. For all the sub-sections, 53 students often use the IWB, 39 of them always use them, 25 out of 121 students use the IWB sometimes, and only 4 of them use it rarely. In the first part, the mean value is higher for the "rarely" frequency and is measured as 10.50. However, the second and third sub-sections have the highest mean value, measured respectively as 28.92 and 13.19, for the "often" frequency. The last part, as in the first one, has the highest mean value of 18.75 in the "rarely" frequency.

Tuble 100 one 114		ties in terms	of Grades	, regurung u	ie i reque	ney of I ()	Debuge
Sub-Sections of Scale	Source of	SS	df	MS	f	р	Significant
	variation						difference
	Between	126.645	3	42.215	3.463	.019	Sometimes-
Perceived	Groups						Always
learning contribution	Within Groups	1426.231	117	12.190			
	Total	1552.876	120				
	Between Groups	899.283	3	299.761	4.128	.008	Often- Always
Motivation	Within Groups	8496.436	117	72.619			5
	Total	9395.719	120				
Perceived efficiency	Between Groups	97.227	3	32.409	2.060	.109	No difference
2	Within Groups	1840.426	117	15.730			
	Total	1937.653	120				
Perceived negative	Between Groups	65.037	3	21.679	.974	407	No difference
effects	Within Groups	2603.195	117	22.250			
	Total	2668.231	120				

Table 16. One-Way ANOVA Statistics in terms of Grades regarding the Frequency of IWB Usage

Table 16 states the one-way ANOVA statistics in terms of grades and regarding the frequency of IWB usage. Given the one-way ANOVA statistics, according to the results shown under the significant difference between the



two sub-sections, it is found a significant difference in both "Perceived learning contribution" and "motivation" sections (f (3, 117) = 3.463, 4.128 p < .05).

		Statents 1 office	01 11011			
Skills	Sub-Sections	Answers	Ν	Mean Rank	Sum of U Rank	р
OKIIIS		No	76	63 78	4847.00 1575	356
R	Perceived learning contribution	Yes	46	57 74	2656.00	.550
E		No	76	64 51	4903.00 1519	226
A	Motivation	Yes	46	56 52	2600.00	.220
D		No	76	63 99	4863 50 1558 5	315
I	Perceived efficiency	Yes	46	57 38	2639 50	.010
N		No	76	63 12	4797.00 1625	514
G	Perceived negative effects	Yes	46	58.83	2706.00	
		No	68	58.97	4010.00 1664	.370
	Perceived learning contribution	Yes	54	64.69	3493.00	
W		No	68	55.98	3806.50 1460.5	.050*
R	Motivation	Yes	54	68.45	3696.50	
Ι		No	68	60.10	4086.50 1740.5	.621
Т	Perceived efficiency	Yes	54	63.27	3416.50	
Ι		No	68	57.49	3909.50 1563.5	.159
N C	Perceived negative effects	Yes	54	66.55	3593.50	
G	Derectived learning contribution	No	95	62.54	5941.50 1183.5	.537
	referred learning contribution	Yes	27	5783	1561.50	
S	Motivation	No	95	64.41	6119.00 1006	.088
Р	Wouvation	Yes	27	5126	1384.00	
E	Derecived officiency	No	95	62.90	5975.50 1149.5	.410
А	Ferceived enrichency	Yes	27	56.57	1527.50	
Κ		No	95	6156	5848.00 1277	.937
I N C	Perceived negative effects	Yes	27	61.30	1655.00	
U	Democived locaming contribution	No	33	64.47	2127.50 1370.5	.568
L	referred learning contribution	Yes	89	60.40	5375.50	
Ι	Matingtian	No	33	69.85	2305.00 1193	.112
S	Motivation	Yes	89	58.40	5198.00	
Т	Democired officiency	No	33	64.73	2136.00 1362	.538
E	Perceived enticlency	Yes	89	60.30	5367.00	
Ν		No	33	63.41	2092.50 1405.5	.716
Ι	Paragived pagetive offects		89	60.79	5410.50	
N G		Yes				

Table 17. Mann-Whitney U Test Results for Yes/No Answers of IWB Usage in terms of Skills from
Students' Points of View

Table 17 reports the Mann-Whitney U test results for yes/no answers of IWB usage in terms of skills from students' points of view. In this table students' answers are represented with N. The majority of students (f=89) claim that they use the IWB mostly for listening skills, 54 of them use it for writing, 46 students for reading, while only 27 students claimed to use it for speaking. Moreover, there is a significant difference only in the "motivation" subsection for the writing skill since the p-value is .050 ($p \le .05$).

DISCUSSION

The present study was conducted to investigate the attitudes of secondary school EFL teachers and students towards the use of IWB in English classrooms. According to the findings, secondary school EFL teachers use the IWB mostly for reading and listening skills. The reason behind this can be that receptive skills are more easily given with IWBs than productive skills. It can be harder for a student to write on the IWB than on the board and for what concern the speaking skill teachers can not need to use IWBs that much. Moreover, many EFL teachers use the IWBs more than 20 hours a week. The answers of teachers during the interview support this result. They said, "*I use it in every lesson*", "*I always use the IWB in my classes*", "*I use the IWB at least once in every lesson*",



"I always use the IWB in my classes. It doesn't matter what I focus on, IWB is a must during my teaching". So, a lot of time is spent on the IWBs during EFL classrooms.

Taking the instructional effects of IWBs into account, teachers believe that IWBs help them use their time more efficiently by spending less time writing on the board and for the preparation of the lesson. They find them beneficial for saving materials, reaching different sources, reviewing, and summarizing a subject, and giving explanations more effectively. Secondary school EFL teachers have in general positive attitudes towards the use of IWBs, as they like using them in their English lessons, feel comfortable using them, and what is most important they think it differs using a traditional board and an IWB in terms of teaching techniques and methods. Almost all the teachers, during the interview, said that IWBs have only advantages by giving these reasons:

- "I use IWB to show something related to the topic, to get some information, to play games, to show presentations to students. I don't think there are disadvantages at all."
- "IWBs make it easy to improve my students' listening competence and are easy to use. One disadvantage maybe that one can become an IWB-dependent teacher."
- "I didn't observe any disadvantage for it. The advantage is the abundance of activities that can be done, the opportunity to focus on all skills, and saving on time. And it is less boring than just lecturing and writing on the board."
- "I see no disadvantages. If the teacher is not fully capable of using IWBs, then some serious problems may arouse like misusing the IWB, etc. When it comes to advantages, I think the IWB usage is a must and vital for EFL classrooms especially for communicative classrooms."

Moreover, almost all of the teachers agree with the fact that IWBs affect positively students' motivation during English classes. Findings of Manny-Ikan et al. (2011), Öz (2014), Türel and Johnson (2012), Balta and Duran (2015), Kalanzadeh and Valizadeh (2015) are in line with this finding. Some answers are taken from the interview support this result, as teachers said:

- "Using technology makes them motivated and being motivated leads them to be successful learners, but this success depends on teacher's ability to facilitate and utilize IWBs"
- "Whenever I do different activities with the help of the smart board, I can easily notice that students have more fun and are eager to participate, even the ones who don't usually do. They feel like they play a game and that's why the pressure on them remarkably decreases"
- "Because it makes the environment more vivid"
- "It provides both visual and audio effects"

However, 39.7% of the participant teachers believe that training is necessary to teach with an IWB. Thus, they think that if they don't get sufficient training, they don't feel comfortable with using IWBs in the classroom. This finding is largely in line with the findings of different research (Öz, 2014; Turel & Johnson, 2012; Mathews-Aydinli & Elaziz, 2010). Öz (2014) claims that teachers can get in-service training workshops to get familiar with IWBs and use them correctly, with more confidence.

According to the findings retrieved from students, it has found out that they are aware of IWB's effectiveness and contribution to learning and motivation. Many of them expressed to learn more when their teacher uses IWBs, to understand and remember what they learned easier, to concentrate better, to join lessons more, to get more interested and excited, to keep their attention easier, and to prefer lessons taught with an IWB. These results also support the idea of teachers who think IWBs affect positively the motivation of their students. As Mathews-Aydinli and Elaziz (2010) state, motivation in EFL classrooms has always been a problem in Turkey. This study showed one more time that IWBs are beneficial tools to help both teachers and students get motivated during English lessons.

However, contrary to what the majority of EFL teachers claimed, 40.2% of students strongly agreed or agreed with Q20 "There is no difference between my English teacher's use of a traditional board and an IWB in terms of teaching techniques and methods." This shows that for most of the students using an IWB or not during EFL classes is the same in terms of teaching techniques and methods. This finding may support the result found by Schmid and Schimmack (2010) that teachers require enhancing the skills and knowledge of how to use ICT in general and IWBs, in particular, to integrate them into practice.

CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTIONS

Different studies have been done during the last decades about the use of technology and IWBs. Earlier studies, as the previous one, show that IWB usage is considered to have positive effects on language teaching and learning by both teachers and students. Enhancing their motivation, creating a more interesting and entertaining atmosphere during English classes, helping students to be more active, and teachers to save their time and materials are among



some of the reasons why IWB usage has increased over the past decades and is still preferred by many teachers during their language classes. The present study aimed to focus on the attitudes of secondary school EFL teachers and students towards the use of IWBs in EFL classrooms. Both teachers and students have generally positive thoughts about the use of IWBs, as they especially enhance their motivation.

Moreover, further research can be done on single regions to compare if there is any difference in attitudes within these regions. Research can also include not only one single level of education, but they can compare results between different education levels. This study aimed to be mixed-method research, but it lacked a large amount of qualitative data due to the small number of teachers who participated in the interview. A big sample can reflect more reliable results in terms of qualitative data.

Seeing a significant difference only in the mean ranks of the "instructional effects of IWBs" section in terms of gender and only in the "instructional effects of IWBs" sub-section for the writing skill from both teachers' and students' points of view, further research should be held to investigate the relationship between other skills and sub-sections in a detailed way.

REFERENCES

- Amiri, R., & Sharifi, M. (2014). The influence of using interactive whiteboard on writings of EFL students regarding adverbs. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 98, 242-250. http://doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.413
- Balta, N., & Duran, M. (2015). Attitudes of students and teachers towards the use of interactive whiteboards in elementary and secondary school classrooms. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET*, 14(2), 15-21. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1057345.pdf
- Çakıroğlu, Ö. (2016). Teachers and students views on the use of IWBs in secondary schools for enhancing classroom teaching and learning. *Dicle Üniversitesi Ziya Gökalp Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi*, (29), 395-407. http://dx.doi.org/10.14582/DUZGEF.1798
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* SAGE Publications.
- Elaziz, M. F. (2008). Attitudes of students and teachers towards the use of interactive whiteboards in EFL classrooms. [Doctoral dissertation, Bilkent University]
- Gashan, A. K., & Alshumaimeri, Y. A. (2015). Teachers' attitudes toward using interactive whiteboards in English language classrooms. *International Education Studies*, 8(12), 176-184. http://dx.doi.org/10.5539/ies.v8n12p176
- Kalanzadeh, G. A., & Valizadeh, G. (2015). Attitudes of Iranian administrators, students and teachers towards the use of interactive whiteboards in EFL classrooms: A case study in Andimshk High Schools. *Modern Journal of Language Teaching Methods*, 5(1), 150-169.
- Mathews-Aydinli, J., & Elaziz, F. (2010). Turkish students' and teachers' attitudes toward the use of interactive whiteboards in EFL classrooms. *Computer Assisted Language Learning*, 23(3), 235-252. https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221003776781
- Manny-Ikan, E., Dagan, O., Tikochinski, T., & Zorman, R. (2011). Using the interactive whiteboard in teaching and learning–An evaluation of the SMART CLASSROOM pilot project. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning and Learning Objects*, 7(1), 249-273. https://www.learntechlib.org/p/180881/
- Öz, H. (2014). Teachers' and students' perceptions of interactive whiteboards in the English as a Foreign Language classroom. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET*, *13*(3), 156-177. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1034243
- Schmid, E. C, & Schimmack, E. (2010). First steps toward a model of interactive whiteboard training for language teachers. *Interactive Whiteboards for Education: Theory, Research and Practice* (pp.197-214). Information Science Reference. DOI: 10.4018/978-1-61520-715-2.ch013
- Singaravelu, S. (2016). Attitude of student teachers towards the use of interactive whiteboard. *International Education & Research Journal*, 3(5), 88-89.
- Türel, Y. K., & Johnson, T. E. (2012). Teachers' belief and use of interactive whiteboards for teaching and learning. *Educational Technology & Society*, 15(1), 381–394. https://www.jstor.org/stable/jeductechsoci.15.1.381



Self-regulation in Obligatory Online Education: A Discussion from Social Interaction Perspective

Assoc. Prof. Nuray OKUMUS CEYLAN

Bulent Ecevit University, Department of English Language & Literature Zonguldak, Turkey nurayokumus@yahoo.com

Introduction

Self-regulation refers to taking control over one's learning processes, spending extra time and effort, and employing strategies to experience more academic success. Learners' use of strategies for their own learning makes them more responsible for their learning and makes them self-regulated learners. These learners are the ones who control their learning processes, manage their abilities, and regulate their emotions and motivation by using various strategies. Zimmerman (1989) states that self-regulated learners establish a hierarchy of goals, have learning-goal orientation, and are highly self-efficacious. The use of cognitive and self-regulatory strategies requires more time and effort than normal engagement. To spend more time and effort, and to use various strategies, they must be motivated. Students who value their work are willing to spend more effort and time on their schoolwork. Students who set self-improvement and learning goals for themselves engage in various cognitive and metacognitive activities to improve their learning.

Zimmerman (1989) regards self-regulation as an individual, cognitive–constructive activity whereas the social constructivist (Vygotsky, 1978) and social cognitive (Bandura, 1986) theories state that it is more than an individual process which involves social interactions. The Vygotskian approach emphasizes that individuals co-construct knowledge through social interactions and focuses on individuals as constructors of knowledge. Whereas, the social cognitivist assume that self-regulation is a social process that is influenced by contexts and behavioral events in a reciprocal fashion. Effat & Gillies (2015) further explains self-regulation as the metacognitive, motivated, and strategic actions of learners, as Zimmerman (1998) put forward, occurring within a social context (classroom) that characterizes interactions between the teacher and students. It is a social process which occurs 'when students are motivated to reflectively and strategically engage in learning activities within environments that foster self-regulation' (Butler, 2002;p. 60). Thus, self-regulation is developed and supported as a socially-situated activity within a traditional classroom (Hadwin et al., 2011).

The coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic led education move to the virtual class meetings of various online learning platforms. Moving from the traditional classrooms to the virtual platforms forced teachers and students gain new skills to adapt themselves to the more autonomous nature of these new learning platforms. Therefore, regulation has become a useful trait for effective online learning since the learners have come across a great amount of freedom and control regarding the place, time, materials, content, and especially the strategy to study (Cunningham & Billingsley, 2003).

Meaningful and effective learning depends on students' ability to manage resources in such a way that will fit their goals and needs (Pintrich, 1999; Wolters & Hussain, 2015). Hong and Jung (2011) reported that cognition and metacognition skills seem to be among the more influential skills that explain distance learners' success. Studies indicated that technology-enhanced learning environments could support self-regulatory learning skills by providing opportunities for self-monitoring, mastery learning, peer interactions, and methods for cognitive apprenticeship (Barnard et al., 2009; Cho & Heron, 2015; Kramarski & Michalsky, 2010).

Efficient resource management is critical for successful online learning (HusseinFarraj et al., 2012; Selim, 2007). The online students asserted that the availability of the online materials on the course website and the use of the video-streaming platform helped them to manage, control, and handle the volume of information. Learning environments and activities that facilitate efficient resource management are significant for students' learning process and academic success (Pintrich, 1999; Zohar & Dori, 2012).

Barak et al. (2016) studied to identify self-regulation skills required for online learning and to characterize transfer skills of on-campus and online undergraduate students. Students who took the online course, received higher means



for both self-regulation and transfer skills, compared to the on-campus group. They also received higher mean scores on their final project and examination. Nevertheless, only a third of the course students chose to study it online. Most of the students still prefer to learn in a traditional, face-to-face, classroom setting. Their findings indicated that both on campus and online students maintained that successful online learning relies on 'cognitive strategies' and 'regulation of cognition' (a metacognitive skill). The online students indicated metacognitive skills, such as planning, controlling, and evaluation skills, as essential for meaningful distance learning, while the on-campus students asserted lack of self-discipline and limited communication skills as barriers to distance learning. The students asserted that by receiving support from peers and instructors in the online environment, they were better able to regulate their learning and become more confident as learners.

Online learning environments with their more autonomous nature have forced learners to adapt themselves to these artificial learning environments. It was thought that students would become better self-regulated learners simply from increased exposure to or experience with online courses. However, it lacked the direct and personal supervision of the instructor, which might result in learner's sense of isolation and an accompanying lack of engagement (Barak et al., 2016). Taking into consideration the high degree of student autonomy resulting from the instructor's physical absence, effective self-regulated learners (Cho & Heron, 2015). Many are unmotivated and fail to use cognitive strategies, thinking skills, or do not have self-monitoring ability (Cho & Heron, 2015). Students lacking self-regulation skills may misinterpret the autonomy of the online learning environment and, as a result, may not accomplish the learning tasks as expected in online courses (Barnard et al., 2009).

The study

The primary aim of this study is to identify whether students are aware of self-regulation skills required for online learning and can apply them in their online learning process. Secondly, this research aims to figure out the possible advantages and disadvantages of their obligatory online education experience. The mixed method research model was applied, using both quantitative and qualitative methodologies in the analysis. The participants were 110 first grade students in the Department of English Language and Literature in Zonguldak Bülent Ecevit University, Turkey. 63 of them studied in English prep school in 2019-2020 fall term at school and received online education in spring term. They have spent one education-term together as two Prep classes which makes them a social community. 42 of them are the new students of 2020-2021 education year who do not know the other students in the class. The instructor used Perculus online education platform to teach. The lessons consisted of lecture videos without limited student participation (only through text messages they send during the actual lesson time). The maximum number of students in the lessons at the actual lesson time was 65. Thus, we might state that nearly half of the students tended to follow the lessons in the schedule they prefer.

The online survey was administered during the semester to identify students' motivational self-regulation strategies. The interviews were based on students' online learning experience and their use of cognitive and metacognitive self-regulation strategies. The semi-structured interviews were conducted at the end of the semester as a conversation based on questions and answers that the interviewer used to navigate the interview. In this study, Pintrich's (1999) the taxonomy of self-regulation strategies and Wolters' (2000) taxonomy of motivational regulation strategies are used.

According to Pintrich (1999), the taxonomy of self-regulation strategies include cognitive and metacognitive strategies. Cognitive learning strategies include rehearsal, elaboration, and organizational strategies. Rehearsal strategies involve having multiple exposures to items to be learned or saying words aloud as one reads the text. These strategies help students to select important information active in working memory. Elaboration strategies involve paraphrasing, summarizing the material to be learned, creating analogies, generative notetaking, explaining the ideas in the material to someone else for better comprehension, and asking and answering questions. Organizational strategies include behaviors such as finding the main idea in the text, outlining the text, and using various techniques for selecting and organizing the ideas in the material.

Pintrich (1999) explains metacognitive strategies as planning, monitoring, and regulation strategies. Planning activities include setting goals for studying, skimming a text before reading, and doing a task analysis of the problem. These activities help learners to organize material easily. Monitoring involves tracking of attention while reading a text, or listening to a lecture, self-testing by questions about the text material to check for understanding, monitoring comprehension of a lecture, and using test-taking strategies in an exam situation. These strategies show the learner his or her deficiencies in comprehension or attention that would benefit from improvement, using regulation strategies. Examples of self-regulation strategies include asking oneself questions after reading a text,



re-reading for better comprehension, slowing the pace of reading when reading a difficult text, reviewing a part for better comprehension, skipping questions and returning to them when taking a test.

Wolters (2000b) defines motivational regulation strategies as "various actions or tactics that students use to maintain or increase their effort or persistence at a particular task" (p. 283). He defines five types of motivational regulation strategies: self-consequating, environmental control, interest enhancement, mastery self-talk, and performance self-talk. Self-consequating as one motivational regulation strategy. He depicts it as increasing extrinsic reasons for completing the task, such as obtaining rewards or avoiding punishments. Environmental control involves arranging and controlling the study environment by getting rid of distracters to make work easier. Interest enhancement strategies include regulating engagement and willingness to make tasks more interesting, enjoyable, or challenging, and persisting through the manipulation of tasks. Mastery self-talk, his fourth motivational self-regulation strategy, involves emphasizing mastery-related reasons for becoming more competent and completing the task. Performance self-talk, unlike mastery self-talk, as emphasizing performance-related reasons to motivate oneself (i.e., getting the best grade and completing the task). Unlike mastery self-talk, learners remind themselves of normative evaluations and the consequences of performance that is better than the other students' performance to complete the task or to persist in tasks.

The results

The semi-structured interviews were conducted to identify student attitudes towards online education and thoughts on their obligatory online learning experience. The participants composed of students who had face-to-face education with half of their current classmates at prep school and students who have just entered the university in 2020-2021 education year without any face-to-face university education experience. In this part, student answers are summarized.

The frequency test results indicate that students use motivational self-regulation strategies to regulate their effort and persist in tasks assigned in classes. They usually tell themselves that if they do the assigned work now, they can do something that they like later. In addition, they believe that they will be successful and get good grades if they do their assignments. They usually tell themselves that if they do the assignments, they will not be punished. Half of the students promise themselves rewards for doing the assignments. They connect what they are learning in English with their own experiences. They always study when they can be more focused, and when they get rid of distractions around them so as not to be disturbed by them. More than half of the students make changes in their surroundings to be able to concentrate. they challenge themselves to complete the work and learn as much as possible and persuade themselves to work hard for the sake of learning. They sometimes tell themselves to keep working just to learn as much as they can. They always work harder by thinking about earning good grades. They always remind themselves that their grades will be affected if they do not do the assignment or reading. They know that doing well on tests and assignments is important, and they need to keep studying to do well in school.

Table 1. Frequency Percentages of Motivational Sef-regulation Strategies Items								
Items	No		Very True/	Partially True/				
			True	Not True at All				
Self-			Perc	entages				
Consequating								
	4	I tell myself I can do something I like later if right	88	12				
		now I do the work I have to get done.						
	9	I tell myself that if I do the assignments, I will not	75	25				
		be punished.						
	14	I promise myself a reward if I get the assignment	48	52				
		done.						
	19	I tell myself that if I do the assigned work on time,	82	18				
		I will get good grades.						
Interest								
Enhancement								
	2	I make studying more enjoyable by turning it into	28	72				
		a game.						
	12	I try to connect what I am learning to my own	90	10				
		experiences.						
	17	I try to connect the material with something I like	60	40				
		doing or find interesting.						
		doing or find interesting.						



	2	I make studying more enjoyable by turning it into a game.	28	72
Environmental				
Control				
	6	When studying for this language class at home, I change my surroundings so that it is easy to concentrate on the work.	66	34
	11	I try to get rid of any distractions that are around me when I am studying.	70	30
	16	I try to study at a time when I can be more focused.	90	10
	21	I make sure I have as few distractions as possible before I start studying.	73	27
Mastery Self- Talk				
	5	I persuade myself to work hard just for the sake of learning.	67	33
	10	I challenge myself to complete the work and learn as much as possible.	78	22
	15	I persuade myself to keep working on the material just to see how much I can learn.	55	45
	20	I tell myself that I should keep working just to learn as much as I can.	57	43
Performance Self-Talk				
	3	I try to make myself work harder by thinking about getting good grades.	92	8
	8	I remind myself how important it is to do well on the tests and assignments in school.	72	28
	13	I tell myself that I need to keep studying to do well in school.	63	37
	18	I think about how my grade will be affected if I do not do the assignment or reading.	94	6

The interviews were based on students' online learning experience and their use of cognitive and metacognitive self-regulation strategies. Both group of students were especially questioned about psychological and social aspects of their online learning experience such as motivation, discipline, and collaboration. The answers are grouped under regulation of cognition, regulation of resources, attitudes, social aspects and teacher intervention.

Regulation of cognition

Students from both groups indicated the importance of careful planning for successful online learning. Students seemed good at controlling their learning process. For example, one student asserted: "...in online learning, I can control various aspects of learning, including the lecture videos, which I can fast forward, stop, or replay." Students thought that online environments are effective method for evaluation, indicating the importance of immediate feedback and the ability to monitor their grades.

Resource management

Efficient resource management is critical for successful online learning (Hussein-Farraj et al., 2012; Selim, 2007). The online students asserted that the availability of the online materials on the course website and the use of the video-streaming platform helped them to manage, control, and handle the volume of information. Learning environments and activities that facilitate efficient resource management are significant for students' learning process and academic success (Pintrich, 1999; Zohar & Dori, 2012). This enabled students to recite and summarize different parts of the lecture and to assemble all parts to generate a better understanding of the learning materials. They emphasized the importance of processing: they indicated that they have developed strategies for summarizing the learning material, for creating analogies, and for note taking. They stated that effective online learning relies on the organization of the course website. For example: "When I was asked to perform a task, it is easy for me to find the information on the course website." For example, "I used the lecture notes and the related articles ... all the information was presented online in an orderly way, and in my opinion this arrangement is very convenient." Moreover, they pointed out that learning from a distance gives them flexibility with respect to time, pace, and place



and this helps them participate the lessons regularly. Despite having the flexibility in place, they tended to stay home to follow the lessons regularly. However, they tended to reschedule the lessons defined by the department taking advantage of the opportunity of replaying lesson videos to fit to their best times to study. Totally new students emphasized the importance of being independent and self-governing with relation to time and place of learning.

Self-discipline

It comes after the initial enthusiasm, helping students regulate their learning by taking responsibility and actions to pursue their learning goals. The students indicated the importance of self-discipline in their assertions. For example: "I am aware of my responsibility, I can only trust myself ...if I do not watch the videos or thoroughly read the articles, I will not understand the learning materials and probably fail the course". Thus, most of the students reported that they read the articles before the lesson to get prepared. 'Knowing myself as a learner' refers to the need to be familiar with one's own strength and weaknesses as a learner and taking actions to prosper in a certain learning situation. For example: "I am easily distracted by people or noise; therefore, I prefer to learn on my own in a quite environment". Thus, they said that they try to follow the lessons in a room alone and tidy up the environment before the lessons. Moreover, they remind themselves that they must study to be successful, and they tend to study when they feel ready. For instance: "I am more productive in the evenings... it is difficult for me to concentrate in the mornings". Although only half of the students indicated positive feelings about online learning, most of the students demonstrated strong motivation to complete the online course, they felt confident about their learning abilities. They emphasized that most of the problems they face in traditional education have disappeared, and they have all the ease and the comfort of the house and the family, so they force themselves to perform better.

Attitudes

Student attitudes that can facilitate productive learning in online environment when they are positively applied were grouped as: affective, self-discipline, and knowing myself as a learner, 'Affective' refers to students' feelings about learning from distance, their reaction toward the virtual learning environment, and how they perceive the online course (contents and assignments). One student said, for example: I like learning from distance, I enjoy the idea that I am at my comfortable house and still be able to hear the lecture and do my assignments". While more than half of the students stated that they liked online courses and the other half indicated their dislike, almost all students stated that they would prefer traditional classrooms since more than half of the students believed that they did not learn as much as in traditional classrooms. Half of the students indicated concerns about not having sufficient communication with the teacher, viewing it as an obstacle to online learning. For example, one student asserted: "I did not like learning from distance because the direct interactions with the lecturer are very important to me."

Social aspects

The students who studied at prep school emphasized the importance of interactions with the lecturer and fellow students more than the other group, indicating social learning as an important feature of distance education. More than half of the students indicated that the most challenging thing in online education is lack of socialization and isolation. The students reported that the online forums helped them to interact with the teacher. Besides using forums for assistance, they formed small Whatsapp and Zoom groups to collaborate. For example: "The online forums encouraged effective communication..." I participated when I needed an answer and either one of the students or the teacher responded. The students kept track of due dates via small Whatsapp and Zoom groups. They mostly needed help about lesson notes and homeworks. The students try to find out how they are doing in their online classes in comparison to their peers. This supports the fact that the control of individual actions is influenced by the social situation in which an individual participates.

The related literature also suggests that communicating with another student regarding technical or academic difficulties in a course is easier than communicating such concerns to a faculty member for many students (Abdous, He, & Yen, 2012). Need to get 'Socialized with their peers' was identified as a metacognitive self-regulation skill that was highly expressed by the online students. The students asserted that by receiving support from peers and instructors in the online environment, they were better able to regulate their learning and become more confident as learners. This is in line with the findings of recent studies that indicated the importance of peer support and scaffolding for self-regulation in the classroom (Effat & Gillies, 2015) and in online environments (Rodicio et al., 2013& Barak et. al, 2016).

However, the other group members indicated that they do not need help or just do not ask for it even if they feel like. Few students explained the reason why they do not ask for help as they do not know how to do it or feel too shy to do so. As the related literature (Cheng et al., 2013) also suggests, the students who studied at prep school reported that they ask for help which is the sign of higher levels of self-regulation. The online environment may



present a barrier to some students to pursue the help they need. Students who need the most help can often be the ones to seek help the least (Cheng et al., 2013).

Teacher intervention

The students' were questioned on their perceptions about the effectiveness of teacher intervention to figure out its effect on their autonomous behaviors. Almost all students still prefer to learn in a traditional, face-to-face, classroom setting mainly due to the lack of face-to-face teacher-student interaction in online education. This preference may be in part due to the fact that Turkish learners are accustomed to a teacher-centered educational system. When students were further questioned on details about teacher-student interaction in class, they stated that they didnot feel that they are learning effectively. Taking into consideration the importance of classroom interactions, the lack of such interactions would certainly cause negative feelings in students. Since teachers can engage students in higher-level thinking through scaffolding during classroom interactions which would them lead them to cognitive progress via socio-cognitive conflicts (Gillies et al., 2012; Psaltis, Duveen, & Perret-Clermont, 2009, Webb et al., 2009; Franke et al., 2009).

A considerable number of learners preferred the teacher to monitor their progress, even in a student-initiated task. The students who studied at prep school found teacher intervention as helpful and a source of motivation in online education. They also emphasized the importance of interactions with fellow students more than the other group, indicating social learning as an important feature of distance education. For example: "The online forums encouraged effective communication..." I participated when I needed an answer and either one of the students or the teacher responded. Besides using forums for assistance, they formed small Whatsapp and Zoom groups to collaborate. Another example: "working together in our small groupthroughout the semester strengthened our interactions and conveyed interesting discussions."

Online learning experience

The study identified certain obstacles for academic success in online education. Firstly, technical problems such as internet connection failures or technical errors in the virtual platform made students distracted. Secondly, they forced themselves to get focused and learn the subject thoroughly since they reported that it is difficult to understand from the videos. Too much pressure on disciplining themselves made them stressful. Moreover, being in a virtual environment without socializing with their peers made them feel isolated which in time caused demotivation. Students also reported that they sometimes get frustrated due to the lack of human contact, the absence of a teacher and an inability to discuss it with their classmates. Creating sense of community was found to be significantly associated with perceived learning (Rovai, 2002; Shea, Li, & Pickett, 2006).

Discussion

This study indicates that these students are aware of self-regulation skills, and they are able to apply them in their learning process; they control their learning processes, manage their abilities, and regulate their emotions and motivation by using various strategies. Control of individual actions is often related to independent or self-regulated forms of learning (Boekaerts et al., 2000). However, they reported that spending more effort to control their learning behaviors in a virtual environment alone rather than in traditional classroom environment caused too much pressure on them resulting in demotivation problems in time. Moreover, as they were accustomed to social interactions in traditional classroom mediated by the teacher, they felt frustrated during their online learning experience. Therefore, they evaluated their online learning experience as ineffective compared to traditional learning experience. The students reported that education should be in a social environment; thus, they felt the need to form small groups to cooperate. This supports the fact that perceived learning is significantly associated with creating sense of community (Rovai, 2002; Shea, Li, & Pickett, 2006).

The related literature suggests that regulation starts from the social/interpersonal level and eventually leads to self-regulation at an intrapersonal level (Nastasi et al., 1990; Boekaerts et al., 2000). Social interactions are strongly related to cognitive change (Lim, 2012). Nastasi, Clements, and Battista (1990) argued that higher level cognitive processes develop as a result of learners' engagement with cognitive conflicts and their resolution during social interactions. As the related literature suggests, this study also suggests and supports the fact that social interactions and self-regulation are closely linked, and social interactions are likely to influence the development of self-regulation.

References

Abdous, M., He, W., & Yen, C. J. (2012). Using data mining for predicting relationships between online question theme and final grade. Journal of Educational Technology & Society, 15(3), 77–88. Allen, I. E., Seaman, J., Poulin, R., & Straut, T. T. (2016). Online report card: tracking online education in the



United States. Babson Park: Babson Survey Research Group. Retrieved from Education Advisory Board Website: http://onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/onlinereportcard.pdf

- Azevedo, R. (2005). Using hypermedia as a metacognitive tool for enhancing student learning? The role of Self regulated learning. Educational Psychologist, 40, 199–209
- Bandura, A.(1986). Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- Barak, M. (2012). Distance education: towards an organizational and cultural change in higher education. The Journal ofEnterprising Communities: People and Places in the Global Economy, 6(2), 124–137
- Barak, M., Watted, A., & Haick, H. (2010). Motivation to learn in massive open online courses: examining aspects of language and social engagement.Computers & Education, 94,49–60. doi:10.1016/j.compedu.2015.11.010.
- Barnard, L., Lan, W. Y., To, Y. M., Paton, V. O., & Lai, S.-L. (2009). Measuring self-regulation in online and blended learning environments. Internet and Higher Education, 12, 1–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2008.10.005.
- Boekarts, M., Pintrich, P. R., & Zeidner, M. (Eds.). (2000). Handbook of self-regulation: theory, research and applications. San Diego: Academic.Harasim, L. (2012). Learning theory and online technologies. New York: Routledge.
- Butler, L. D. (2002) Individualizing Instruction in Self-Regulated Learning, Theory Into Practice, 41:2, 81-92, DOI: 10.1207/s15430421tip4102_4
- Cheng, K. H., Liang, J. C., & Tsai, C. C. (2013). University students' online academic help seeking: The role of self-regulation and information commitments. The Internet and Higher Education, 16, 70–77.
- Cho, M.-H., & Heron, M. L. (2015). Self-regulated learning: the role of motivation, emotion, and use of learning strategies in students' learning experiences in a self-paced online mathematics course. Distance Education, 36(1), 80–99
- Cunningham, C.A. & Billingsley, M. (2003).Curriculum Webs: A practical guide to weaving the Web into teaching and learning. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.
- Dabbagh, N., & Kitsantas, A. (2005). Using web-based pedagogical tools as scaffolds for self-regulated learning. Instructional Science, 33, 513–540. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11251-005-1278-3
- Detterman, D. K. (1993). The case for the prosecution: transfer as an epiphenomenon. In D. K. Detterman & R. J. Sternberg (Eds.), Transfer on trial: intelligence, cognition and instruction (pp. 1–24). Norwood: Ablex
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and Education. New York: Macmillan Company.
- Effat, A., & Gillies, R. M. (2015). Social interactions that support students' self-regulated learning: a case study of one teacher's experiences. International Journal of Educational Research, 72, 14–25
- Ferla, J., Valcke, M., & Schuyten, G. (2010). Judgments of self-perceived academic competence and their differential impact on students' achievement motivation, learning approach, and academic performance. European Journal of Psychology of Education, 25, 519-536.
- Forsyth, B. R. (2012). Beyond physics: a case for far transfer. Instructional Science, 40, 515–535. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ s11251-011-9188-z.
- Franke, N., P. Keinz, C. Steger. 2009. Testing the value of customization: When do customers really prefer products tailored to their preferences? J. Marketing 73(5) 103–121.
- Gillies, D., Taylor, F., Gray, C., O'Brien, L. & D'Abrew N. (2012). Psychological therapies for the treatment of post traumatic stress disorder in children and adoloscents. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Issue 12, Art No: CD006726.
- Hadwin, A. F., Järvelä, S., & Miller, M. (2011). Self-regulated, co-regulated, and socially shared regulation of learning. In B. J. Zimmerman & D. H. Schunk (Eds.), Handbook of self-regulation of learning and performance (pp. 65-84). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Harasim, L. (2012). Learning theory and online technologies. New York: Routledge
- Hussein-Farraj, R., Barak, M., & Dori, Y. J. (2012). Lifelong learning at the Technion: graduate students' perceptions of and experiences in distance learning. Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Learning and Learning Objects, 8, 115–135.
- Hong, S., & Jung, I. (2011). The distance learner competencies: a three-phased empirical approach. Educational Technology Research and Development, 59, 21–42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11423-010-9164-3.
- Kauffman, D. F. (2004). Self-regulated learning in web-based environments: instructional tools designed to facilitate cognitive strategy use, metacognitive processing, and motivational beliefs. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 30, 139–161.
- Kramarski, B., & Michalsky, T. (2010). Preparing preservice teachers for self-regulated learning in the context of technological pedagogical content knowledge. Learning and Instruction, 20, 434–447. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j. learninstruc.2009.05.003.
- Lim, E.M. (2012). Patterns of kindergarten children's social interaction with peers in the computer area. *Computer Supported Learning* **7**, 399–421 (2012). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11412-012-9152



- Lynch, R., & Dembo, M. (2004). The relationship between self-regulation and online learning in a blended learning context. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 5(2). doi: 10.19173/irrodl.v5i2.189
- Lobato, J. (2008). Research methods for alternative approaches to transfer: implications for design experiments. In A. Kelly, R. A. Lesh, & J. Y. Baek (Eds.), Handbook of design research methods in education (pp. 167–194). New York: Routle
- Nastasi, K. B., Clements, H. D. and Battista, T. B. (1990). Social Cognitive Interactions, Motivation, and Cognitive Growth in Logo Programming and Problem Solving Environments. Journal of Educational Psychology, Vol. 82, No. 1, 150-15
- Pintrich, P. R. (1999). The Role of Motivation in Promoting and Sustaining Self-Regulated Learning. International Journal of Educational Research, 31, 459-470. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0883-0355(99)00015-4
- Rodicio, H. G., Emilio S.& Santiago, A. (2013). Support for self-regulation in learning complex topics from multimedia explanations: Do learners need extensive or minimal support?. Instructional Science 41(3).
- Rovai, A. P. (2002). Building sense of community at a distance. The International Review of Research in Open and Distributed Learning, 3(1). Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/79/152
- Psaltis, C., Duveen, G., & Perret-Clermont, A.-N. (2009). The social and the psychological: Structure and context in intellectual development. *Human Development*, 52(5), 291– 312. https://doi.org/10.1159/000233261
- Perkins, D. N., & Salomon, G. (1988). Teaching for transfer. Educational Leadership, 46(1), 22-32.
- Sasson, I., & Dori, Y. J. (2012). Transfer skills and their case-based assessment. In B. J. Fraser, K. G. Tobin, & C. J. McRobbie (Eds.), The second international handbook of science education (pp. 691–710). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Schunk, D. H., & Zimmerman, B. J. (Eds.). (1998). Self-regulated learning: from teaching to self-reflective practice. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Selim, H. M. (2007). Critical success factors for e-learning acceptance: confirmatory factor models. Computers and Education, 49(2), 396–413. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2005.09.004.
- Shea, P., Li, C. S., & Pickett, A. (2006). A study of teaching presence and student sense of learning community in fully online and web-enhanced college courses. The Internet and Higher Education, 9(3), 175-190. doi:10.1016/j.iheduc.2006.06.005
- Webb, J.W., Tihanyi, L., Ireland, R.D., & Sirmon, D.G. (2009). You say illegal, I say legitimate: Entrepreneurship in the informal economy. *Academy of Management Review*, 34(3), 492-510.
- Wolters, C.A. (2000). The relation between students' motivational beliefs and their use of motivational regulation strategies. International Journal of Educational Research, 33 (7-8), 801-820.
- Wolters, C. A., & Hussain, M. (2015). Investigating grit and its relations with college students' self- regulated learning and academic achievement. Metacognition and Learning, 10, 293–311.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (1989). A social cognitive view of self-regulated academic learning. Journal of Educational Psychology, 81(3), 329–339. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.81.3.329.
- Zimmerman, B. J. (2001). Theories of self-regulated learning and academic achievement. An overview and analysis. In B. J. Zimmerman & D. H. Shunck (Eds.), Self-regulated learning and academic achievement: theoretical perspectives (pp. 1–37). Mahwah: Erlbaum.
- Zohar, A., & Dori, Y. J. (Eds.). (2012). Metacognition in science education: trends in current research. Dordrecht: Springer.



Teachers' Self-Efficacy in terms of Former Experience and Professional Development in the Turkish World Based on Talis 2018 Data: Sample of Turkey and Kazakhstan

Volkan Hasan KAYA

The Ministry of National Education, Ankara, TURKEY volk.has.an@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study is to determine the teachers' self-efficacy in terms of their former experience and professional development in the Turkish World (Turkey and Kazakhstan) based on TALIS 2018 Data. In this context, this study is conducted with the participation of 6.531 Kazakh and 3.828 Turkish teachers who teach at ISCED level 2. The data for this study are obtained from the official internet website of OECD. The results are obtained by utilizing three separate regression analyses by using IDB Analyzer program based on SPSS. According to the results, it is determined that the variance of teachers' former experience explains 2% of the variance in their self-efficacy in Turkey; 3% in Kazakhstan. On the other hand, the variance of teachers' former experience explains 3% of the variance in their professional development in Turkey; 4% in Kazakhstan. However, the variance of teachers' professional development explains 32% of the variance in their self-efficacy in Turkey; 23% in Kazakhstan. Moreover, there is a positive and significant relationship between both the self-efficacy and professional development of teachers (e.g. 'teaching practice', 'professional cooperation in lessons' and 'effective professional development') in Turkey and Kazakhstan. Therefore, it is important to support teachers' continuous professional development and empowerment to increase their self-efficacy through continuous professional development programs which focus on the practice, especially classroom practices. In addition, to prepare the qualified continuous professional development programs, faculties of education might strengthen their capacity to provide in-service training as well as pre-service training.

Keywords: Teacher competence, self-efficacy, professional development, former experience, quality of teacher

INTRODUCTION

Teachers are the most significant elements of the changes in education reforms in improving the education system (Villegas-Reimers, 2003). In order to keep up with the changes in the field of education, many factors related to teachers come to the fore (Buldu, 2004). Therefore, social change is the focus of current discussions on professional development (Krolak-Schwerdt, Glock & Böhmer, 2014). In this context, the importance of improving and strengthening teachers' competencies, especially self-efficacy, in terms of keeping pace with social changes and ensuring continuous developments in their profession emerges. It is also important to determine the factors that will affect the self-efficacy of the teacher and to carry out studies in this direction in order to have a positive effect on their perceptions such as taking responsibility and participating in studies for their profession. When the literature is examined, even though the knowledge acquired by teacher candidates in the pre-service period and further development of teachers in the in-service period are the prerequisites for becoming a qualified teacher, they need also former experiences on how to teach in order to be a successful teacher (Taşkın & Hacıömeroğlu, 2010). In this context, in this study, it is aimed to reveal the role between teachers' professional development and former experiences in the context of their self-efficacy in the Turkish World.

THE ROLE AND IMPORTANCE OF SELF-EFFICACY IN THE TEACHING PROFESSION

Teachers emerge as important actors in keeping pace with the changes in the education system and in solving of the problems they face up with in the classroom in today's conditions. Therefore, it is crucial to improve the professional competence of teachers. One of the significant components of teacher competencies is self-efficacy (Y1maz & Çokluk Bökeoğlu, 2008). Self-efficacy is the internal belief of teachers about how well they can produce solutions to the problems they face in the education system and how well they can perform the activities they will perform (Kaçar & Beycioğlu, 2017). Teachers' perceptions of self-efficacy reflect their efforts (Aslan & Kalkan, 2018) and motivations (Arseven, 2016) for the profession. For this reason, in the learning-teaching process, teachers with high self-efficacy perceptions are needed (Baltaoğlu, Sucuoğlu & Yurdabakan, 2015). Teachers with high self-efficacy tend to make more qualified planning and organization in their professions (Koç & Deniz, 2020), and use student-centered approaches and various methods in the teaching process (Tekerek, Ercan, Udum & Saman, 2012). Therefore, in terms of the quality of the teaching process, teachers should have high level of self-efficacy for their profession and be able to develop this perception (Kaya, Polat & Karamüftüoğlu, 2014). In this way, teachers might provide the opportunity to increase student success (Arseven, 2016).



FORMER EXPERIENCES

Teachers should improve themselves well in their field in order to fulfill their responsibilities in the most efficient way in their profession (Gökyer, 2012). The quality of the teachers depends on their knowledge of the field, teaching profession and their skills, and general knowledge of culture before starting their profession, as well as the integrity of their knowledge and practices from their former experiences related to their profession (Özkan, Albayrak & Berber, 2005). One of the focal points for teachers to have stronger former experiences is the education they receive at the university. In this process, in addition to providing field courses in a qualified way, pratice-based trainings (such as laboratory use, teaching technologies and material use) should also be included (Kavas & Bugay, 2009).

The more qualified pre-service education that the teacher candidates received, the higher the level of readiness when they started to work. No matter how good the pre-service training for teachers is, this training cannot be expected to prepare teachers for all the challenges they will face up with during their careers (OECD, 2009). Therefore, while teachers are performing their profession, they need to continue their personal and professional development in order to respond to the changes in the field of education. In addition, it is seen that former experiences are not sufficient to reveal all the skills of individuals and they discover their different skills after starting their profession (Taymaz, 1978). For this reason, teachers need the knowledge and skills they have acquired before teaching, as well as the knowledge and skills they will acquire in teaching. At this point, the significant of continuous professional development emerges.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

One of the key elements of the educational reforms is the professional development of teachers (Villegas-Reimers, 2003). Also, the factors affecting student learning in the education system is the quality of teachers and their professional development activities offered to them (İlğan, 2013). For this reason, the way to improve the educational outcomes of countries and to achieve the expected goals is to develop the teachers and increase their quality (Kesen & Öztürk, 2019).

The success of teachers in their profession is important for both individual and students' success (Can, 2019). However, although the crucial of professional development is accepted, the inadequacy of current professional development for teachers is also evident (Borko, 2004). In addition, teachers' professional development should be considered as a process rather than a situation or event (Patrinos, Velez & Wang, 2013). The continuous and sustainable professional development of teachers will contribute to the development of teachers both individually and professional Development' is used in English. For this reason, the dissemination of continuous professional development of teachers and indirectly contributes to the development of teachers and indirectly contributes to the development of students.

When the related literature is examined, it is seen that there are many studies on teachers' self-efficacy (Koç & Deniz, 2020; Kaçar & Beycioğlu, 2017; Aslanve Kalkan, 2018; Baltaoğlu et al., 2015; Kaya et al., 2014) and teacher candidates' self-efficacy (Baltaoğlu, Sucuoğlu & Yurdabakan, 2015; Tekerek et al., 2012; Yokuş, 2014). It is also seen that studies have been conducted to reveal the effect of teachers' professional development (Bautista & Ortega-Ruíz, 2015; Karlberg & Bezzina, 2020; Opfer & Pedder, 2010) and teachers' former experiences on competence, especially self-efficacy (Özkan, et al., 2005; Gürbüz, Erdem & Gülburnu, 2013; Morgil & Yılmaz, 1999).

RESEARCH QUESTIONS

This study aims to determine the effect of professional development and former experiences of Turkish and Kazakh teachers on their self-efficacy based on TALIS (Teaching and Learning International Survey) 2018 data. For this purpose, the questions to be answered are as follows:

- 1. What is the role of former experience and professional development levels in predicting the self-efficacy of teachers working at ISCED-2 (secondary school) level in Turkey and Kazakhstan? What are the significant predictors of their self-efficacy?
- 2. What is the role of former experience level in predicting the professional development of teachers working at ISCED-2 (secondary school) level in Turkey and Kazakhstan? What are the significant predictors of their professional development?



RESEARCH METHODS AND DESIGN

In this large-scale research, the post-positive paradigm guides. The post-positive paradigm regards knowledge as a product of people's worlds of meaning and claims that it might be interpretable (İbrahimoğlu, 2011). Therefore, this paradigm is regarded as critical realists due to the assumption that objective realism exists (Longuira, 2016). The paradigm on which many quantitative researches are based is the post-positive paradigm (Shy, 2019). Relational research method, one of the survey models, which is one of the quantitative research methods, was used in this study. Through this method, researchers try to determine the change and degree between two or more variables (Adal and Yavuz, 2017).

RESEARCH SAMPLE

The research sample consists of 3.828 Turkish and 6.531 Kazakh Teachers teaching at ISCED 2 level. ISCED 2 level includes teachers who teach at the secondary school level.

DATA COLLECTION AND ANALYSIS

The research sample consisted of Turkish and Kazakh teachers who participated in TALIS 2018 research. The data were obtained from the OECD official website. SPSS-based IDB Analyzer program was used to analyze the data. As seen in Figure 1, three different regression models were created by using the IDB Analyzer-4 program and analyzes were performed. As the dependent variable, 'self-efficacy of the teacher' and 'effective professional development of the teacher' were used. Dependent and independent variables, items/indices obtained from TALIS 2018 teacher survey were used.





The findings were obtained by the regression analysis. The IDB Analyzer realizes its analyses with sample weights (Özkan, 2020). Missing data were extracted before the analyses. In the results obtained, when the t-value is greater than 1.96, the p-value (p < .05) shows that there are statistically significant differences at the 95 percent precision level. (OECD, 2019; Jung & Carstens, 2015).

FINDINGS

According to TALIS 2018 data, the first of the findings obtained by creating three different regression models is the results related to the predictors of the teachers' self-efficacy regarding their former (acquired during formal education) experiences (Table 1).



Country	Variable	В	Standardized Coefficients (Beta)	Std. Error	t
	(CONSTANT)	12.19	-	0.07	163.25
	Content of some or all subject(s) I teach	0.14	0.04	0.09	1.66
	Pedagogy of some or all subject(s) I teach	0.10	0.03	0.07	1.39
TR	Classroom practice in some or all subject(s) I teach	0.12	0.04	0.06	1,89*
	Teaching cross-curricular skills (e.g. creativity, critical thinking, problem solving)	0.27	0.09	0.06	4,35**
	Use of ICT (information and communication technology) for teaching	0.07	0.03	0.05	1.50
	(CONSTANT)	12.17	-	0.10	125,71
	Content of some or all subject(s) I teach	0.06	0,01	0,08	0,78
	Pedagogy of some or all subject(s) I teach	0.12	0.03	0.06	1,96
KAZ	Classroom practice in some or all subject(s) I teach	0,23	0.06	0.07	3,50**
	Teaching cross-curricular skills (e.g. creativity, critical thinking, problem solving)	0,21	0.09	0.04	5,35**
	Use of ICT (information and communication technology) for teaching	0.12	0.05	0.04	3,28**
			Corrected R ²	Estim E	ated Std. Error
	TR	,02	,02		,01
	KAZ	,03	,03		,01

Table 1: Predictors of teacher's self-efficacy regarding their former experiences (acquired during formal	
education) based on TALIS 2018 data	

Note: TR: Turkey, KAZ: Kazakhstan, * p<.05, ** p<.01

The results of the regression analysis presented in Table 1 reveal that the teachers' former experiences explained 2% ($R^2 = .02$) of the variance in the teachers' self-efficacy in Turkey and 3% ($R^2 = .03$) in Kazakhstan. While 'classroom practice in subject(s) I teach' and 'teaching cross-curricular skills (such as creativity, critical thinking and problem solving)' have statistical meaning in Turkey, 'classroom practice in subject(s) I teach', 'teaching cross-curricular skills (such as creativity, critical thinking and problem solving) and 'use of information and communication technology for teaching' are statistically significant in Kazakhstan.

Table 2 shows the results of the predictors of the teachers' self-efficacy regarding their professional development.

Table 2: Predictors of Teachers' Self-Efficacy	v for their Professional Development based on TALIS 2018 data
Tuble 2. I lealetells of feachers Self Effeac	for them represented be verophic it cused on rribio 2010 data

Country	Variable	В	Standardized Coefficients (Beta)	Std. Error	t
TR	(CONSTANT)	8.12	-	0.50	16.29
	Prof. Collaboration in lessons	0.10	0.12	0.02	5,56**
	Effective Prof. Development	0.05	0.05	0.02	2,47*
	Need Prof. Development for teaching for diversity	-0.07	-0.08	0.02	-3,27**
	Need Prof. Dev. in subject matter and pedagogy	-0,13	-0,13	0.03	-4,49**



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

	Teaching Practice	0,44	0,44	0.02	19,89**
	(CONSTANT)	4,91	-	0,33	15,06
	Prof. Collaboration in lessons	0,21	0,21	0.02	10,98**
	Effective Prof. Development	0,13	0.12	0.02	5,87**
KAZ	Need Prof. Development for teaching for diversity	0.04	0.04	0.02	1,95
	Need Prof. Development in subject matter and pedagogy	0.06	0,08	0,01	4,45**
	Teaching Practice	0,29	0,32	0.02	15,74**
	R ²		Corrected R ²	Estimated	Std. Error
	TR ,32		,32	,()2
	KAZ ,23		,23	,()2

Note: TR: Turkey, Kaz: Kazakhstan, * p<.05, ** p<.01

The results of the regression analysis presented in Table 2 reveal that teachers' professional development explains 32% ($R^2 = .32$) of the variance in their self-efficacy in Turkey and 23% ($R^2 = .23$) in Kazakhstan. All of the predictors selected in Turkey are statistically significant. 'Professional cooperation in lessons', 'effective professional development' and 'teaching practice' predictors have a positive effect and; 'need professional development in subject matter and pedagogy' have a negative effect. In Kazakhstan, four of the selected predictors ('professional cooperation in lessons', 'effective professional development', 'need professional development in subject matter and pedagogy' and 'teaching practice') have a statistically significant and positive effect.

Table 3 shows the predictors of teachers' professional development on their former (acquired during formal education) experiences.

Country	Variable	В	Standardized Coefficients (Beta)	Std. Error	t
	(CONSTANT)	12,42	-	0,13	95,68
	Content of some or all subject(s) I teach	-0,04	-0,01	0,11	-0,37
	Pedagogy of some or all subject(s) I teach	0,31	0,08	0.14	2,27*
TR	Classroom practice in some or all subject(s) I teach	0,23	0.07	0,11	2,17*
	Teaching cross-curricular skills (e.g. creativity, critical thinking, problem solving)	0,16	0.05	0,08	1,92
	Use of ICT (Information and Communication Technology) for teaching	0,15	0.06	0.07	2,21*
	(CONSTANT)	11,32	-	0.09	122,58
KAZ	Content of some or all subject(s) I teach	0,19	0.04	0.07	2,58*
	Pedagogy of some or all subject(s) I teach	0,21	0.06	0,08	2,63**
	Classroom practice in some or all subject(s) I teach	0,34	0.10	0.09	3,94**
	Teaching cross-curricular skills (e.g. creativity, critical thinking, problem solving)	0,20	0.10	0.05	4,27**

Table 3: Predictors of teachers' professional development related to their former experiences (acquired during formal education).



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021

 Use of ICT (Information and Communication Technology) for teaching	0.03	0.02	0.04 0,85
	R ²	Corrected R ²	Estimated Std. Error
 TR	,03	,03	,01
KAZ	,04	,04	,01

Note: TR: Turkey, Kaz: Kazakhstan, * p<.05, ** p<.01

The results of the regression analysis presented in Table 3 reveal that the teachers' former experiences accounted for 3% ($R^2 = .03$) of the variance in their professional development in Turkey and 4% ($R^2 = .04$) in Kazakhstan. While 'including pedagogy related to the taught lesson', 'including classroom practices related to the taught lesson' and 'use of information and communication technology for teaching' are statistically significant in Turkey, 'including the content of the taught lesson', 'including pedagogy related to the taught lesson', 'including classroom practices related to the taught lesson' and 'teaching cross-curricular skills (such as creativity, critical thinking and problem solving)' have a statistically significant and positive effect in Kazakhstan.

DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

In this study, in the light of TALIS 2018 data, it was tried to reveal teachers' their self-efficacy based on their professional development and former experiences in the Turkish (Turkey and Kazakhstan) World.

This study reveals that teacher' former experiences explain 2% of the variance in their self-efficacy in Turkey and 3% in Kazakhstan. On the other hand, teachers' former experiences explain 3% of the variance in their professional development in Turkey and 4% in Kazakhstan. However, teachers' professional development explains 32% of the variance in their self-efficacy in Turkey and 23% in Kazakhstan. It was revealed that the training received in inservice period contributes to teachers' self-efficacy more than in the pre-service period. For this reason, it is necessary to give more importance to continuous professional development programs to strengthen teachers in the Turkish world. Teachers with increased self-efficacy may have the opportunity to be open to further development, to follow developments in their profession and to keep up with the change in the education system more easily.

There is a significant relationship between both the self-efficacy and professional development of teachers in Turkey and Kazakhstan and the inclusion of 'classroom practices related to the lesson taught' in their pre-service education. Therefore, the ties between "School-University Cooperation" should be further strengthened to increase the quality of the practices of teacher candidates (Morgil & Yılmaz, 1999). In this way, they might gain more experience in teaching practice, so that this might contribute to their perceptions concerning teaching profession (Özkan et al., 2005). In addition, there is a significant relationship between both self-efficacy and professional development of teachers in Kazakhstan and 'the use of information and communication technology for teaching' and 'teaching cross-curricular skills (e.g. creativity, critical thinking, problem solving)'. Similarly, Gürbüz and others (2013) concluded that the teachers' subject knowledge and pedagogical knowledge, pre-service education and professional experience affect mathematics competence. In this study, while there is a positive and significant relationship between the self-efficacy of teachers in Turkey and Kazakhstan and 'teaching practice', 'professional cooperation in lessons' and 'effective professional development', there is a significant negative relationship between the professional development of Turkish teachers and 'professional development needs related to field and pedagogy', while there is a positive relationship in Kazakhstan. Similarly, 2008 and 2013 TALIS results show that, teachers who received more vocational development training stated that they worked more effectively (OECD, 2016). In addition, in TALIS 2018 report, it is concluded that one of the most important factors that stand out in teachers' professional development practices is working together (Toker, 2019). Therefore, both working in collaboration with colleagues and considering different disciplines as a whole will enable teachers to develop their 21st century skills.

As a result, in order to increase teachers' self-efficacy, they might be supported and strengthened continuously in their profession. Continuous professional development programs might be prepared on a practical basis, especially in classrooms. Since the importance of information and communication technology has become more evident especially during the epidemic period, continuous professional development programs might be prepared for teachers to develop these skills related to information and communication technology. The quality of the continuous professional development programs might directly affect teachers' self-efficacy. It implicitly means that it affects sustainable development programs, faculties of education might strengthen their capacity to provide in-service training as well as pre-service training.



REFERENCES

- Adal, A. A. & Yavuz, İ. (2017). The Relationship between Mathematics Self Efficacy and Mathematics Anxiety Levels of Middle School Students. *International Journal of Field Education*. 3 (1), 20-41
- Arseven, A. (2016). Öz Yeterlilik: Bir Kavram Analizi. International Periodical for the Languages, Literature and History of Turkish or Turkic, 11 (19), 63-80.
- Aslan, M. & Kalkan, H. (2018). Öğretmenlerin Özyeterlik Algılarının Analizi, Bingöl Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi, 8 (16), 477-493.
- Baltaoğlu, M.G., Sucuoğlu, H. & Yurdabakan, İ. (2015). Öğretmen Adaylarının Öz-yeterlik Algıları ve Başarı/Başarısızlık Yüklemeleri: Boylamsal Bir Araştırma. *İlköğretim Online, 14*(3), 803-814.
- Bautista, A., & Ortega-Ruíz, R. (2015). Teacher professional development: International perspectives and approaches. *Psychology, Society and Education*, 7(3), 240-251.
- Borko, H. (2004). Professional Development and Teacher Learning: Mapping the Terrain. *Educational Researcher*, 33 (3), 3-15.
- Buldu, M. (2004). Öğretmen Yeterlik Düzeyi Değerlendirmesi Ve Mesleki Gelişim Eğitimleri Planlanması Üzerine Bir Öneri. *Millî Eğitim Dergisi, 204*, 114-134.
- Can, E. (2019). Öğretmenlerin Meslekî Gelişimleri: Engeller ve Öneriler. *Eğitimde Nitel Araştırmalar Dergisi*, 7 (4), 1618-1650.
- Ekşi, Keçeli, Dervişoğulları & Ekşi, 2020). Öğretmen Adaylarının Mesleki Hazırbulunuşluluk Durumları ve Akademik Öz Yeterlik Eğilimleri Arasındaki İlişkide Yaşam Boyu Öğrenme Eğiliminin Aracı Rolü Üzerine Bir Araştırma. *Uluslararası Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi, 13* (72), 657-668.
- Gökyer, N. (2012). Öğretmen Adaylarının Hizmet Öncesi Eğitimleri Sürecinde Derslerin İşlenişine İlişkin Görüşleri. *Milli Eğitim Dergisi, 196,* 124-141.
- Gürbüz, R. Erdem, E. & Gülburnu, M.(2013). Sınıf Öğretmenlerinin Matematik Yeterliklerini Etkileyen Faktörlerin İncelenmesi. *Ahi Evran Üniversitesi Kırşehir Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 14* (2), 255-272.
- İbrahimoğlu, Z. (2011). Değişen Paradigmalar Dünyasından Nitel Ve Nicel Araştırmalara Bakmak: Felsefi Yaklaşımlardaki Dönüşümü Anlamak. *Çukurova Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 1* (40) 44-52.
- İlğan, A. (2013). Öğretmenler İçin Etkili Mesleki Gelişim Faaliyetleri. Uşak Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, Özel Sayı, 41-56.
- Jung, M. & Carstens, R. (2015). ICILS 2013 User Guide for the International Database, Amsterdams: IEA Secretariat.
- Kaçar, T. & Beycioğlu, K. (2017). İlköğretim Öğretmenlerinin Öz Yeterlik İnançlarının Çeşitli Değişkenler Açısından İncelenmesi. *Elementary Education Online*, *16* (4): 1753-1767.
- Karlberg, M. and Bezzina, C. (2020). The professional development needs of beginning and experienced teachers in four municipalities in Sweden. *Professional Development in Education*, DOI: 10.1080/19415257.2020.1712451
- Kavas, A. & Bugay, A. (2009). Öğretmen Adaylarının Hizmet Öncesi Eğitimlerinde Gördükleri Eksiklikler ve Çözüm Önerileri. *Pamukkale Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi.* 25, 13-21.
- Kaya, V. H., Polat, D. & Karamüftüoğlu, O. (2014). Fen Bilimleri Öğretimine Yönelik Öz-Yeterlik Ölçeği Geliştirme Çalışması. *International Journal of Social Science*, 28, 581-595, Doi number:http://dx.doi.org/10.9761/JASSS2490.
- Kesen, İ. & Öztürk, M. (2019). Etkili Öğretmen Mesleki Gelişimi Etkinlik Temelli Öğretmen Eğıtımı Yaklaşımı. İstanbul: SETA Yayınları.
- Koç, T & Deniz, L. (2020). Matematik Öğretmenlerinin Özel Alan Yeterliklerine Yönelik Öz Yeterlik İnançlarının İncelenmesi. *Uluslararası Sosyal Araştırmalar Dergisi, 13* (72), 669-689.
- Longuira, R. (2016). Exploring the Functionality of the South African Education Quintile Funding System. University of Pretoria.
- Morgil, F. İ., & Yılmaz, A. (1999). Fen Öğretmeninin Görevleri ve Nitelikleri, Fen Öğretmeni Yetiştirilmesine Yönelik Öneriler. *Hacettepe Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi 15*, 181-186.
- OECD. (2019). *TALIS 2018 and TALIS Starting Strong 2018 User Guide*, Retrieved 24.01.2021 12.23 from: http://www.oecd.org/education/talis/TALIS_2018-TALIS_Starting_Strong_2018_User_Guide.pdf.
- OECD. (2016). Teaching and Learning International Survey TALIS 2018 Survey, Retrieved from: http://www.oecd.org/education/school/TALIS_2018_brochure_ENG.pdf.
- OECD. (2009). Creating Effective Teaching and Learning Environments First Results from TALIS. Teaching and Learning International Survey. Retrieved 03.02.2021 09:53 from: https://www.oecd.org/education/school/43023606.pdf.
- Opfer, V. D. and Pedder, D. (2010). 'Benefits, status and effectiveness of Continuous Professional Development for teachers in England'. *Curriculum Journal*, 21 (4), 413-431.
- Özkan, U. B. (2020). Öğrencilerde Eudaimonianın ve Akademik Başarının Yordayıcısı Olarak Ekonomik, Sosyal ve Kültürel Düzey. *Yaşadıkça Eğitim. 34* (2). 344-359.
- Özkan, H. H., Albayrak, M., & Berber, K. (2005). Öğretmen Adaylarının İlköğretim Okullarında Yaptıkları



Öğretmenlik Uygulamasının Yetişmelerindeki Rolü. Milli Eğitim Dergisi, 33, 168.

- Krolak-Schwerdt, S., Glock, S. and Böhmer, M. (2014). *Teacher's Professional Development Assessment, Training, and Learning.* Rotterdam/Boston/Taipei: Sense Publishers.
- Villegas-Reimers, E. (2003). *Teacher Professional Development: An International Review of the Literature*. International Institute for Educational Planning, UNESCO.
- Patrinos, H.A., Velez, E. and Wang, C. Y. (2013). Framework for the Reform of Education Systems and Planning for Quality. The World Bank Human Development Network Education Unit.
- Shy, L. K. (2019). The Influences on K-2 Teachers' Approaches Towards Assessment and Developmentally Appropriate Practice. Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects. Paper 1563898905. http://dx.doi.org/10.25774/w4-kmqm-1571
- Taşkın, C. Ş., ve Hacıömeroğlu, G., (2010). Meslek Bilgisi Derslerinin Öğretmen Adaylarının Profesyonel Gelişimindeki Önemi. *Pamukkale Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 28* (2), 165-174.
- Taymaz, H. (1978). Hizmet İçi Eğitim Üstüne. Eğitim ve Bilim Dergisi. 3 (16), 9-17.
- Tekerek, M, Ercan, O, Udum, M, & Saman, K. (2012). Bilişim teknolojileri öğretmen adaylarının bilgisayar özyeterlikleri. *Turkish Journal of Education, 1* (2), 80-91. DOI: 10.19128/turje.181049.
- Toker, Z. (2019). Uluslararası Öğretme ve Öğrenme Anketi-TALIS 2018'den Yansımalar. Erişim 12.02.2021 08:46 Adresi: https://tedmem.org/blog/uluslararasi-ogretme-ogrenme-anketi-talis-2018den-yansimalar.
- Yılmaz, K, Çokluk-bökeoğlu, Ö. (2008). Primary School Teachers' Belief of Efficacy. Ankara University Journal of Faculty of Educational Sciences, 41 (2), 143-167. DOI: 10.1501/Egifak_0000001128.
- Yokuş, T. (2014). Müzik Öğretmeni Adaylarının Eğitme Öğretme Öz-Yeterlikleri Açısından Değerlendirilmesi. Sanat Eğitimi Dergisi, 2 (2), 43-56.



The Adaptation of the Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) into Turkish: Validity And Reliability Studies^{*}

Aylin TUTGUN ÜNAL

Assoc.Prof., Faculty of Communication, Üsküdar University, İstanbul, Turkey aylin.tutgununal@uskudar.edu.tr ORCID ID: 0000-0003-2430-6322

Nevzat TARHAN

Prof., Department of Psychiatry, Üskudar University, NPIstanbul Neuropsychiatry Hospital, İstanbul/Turkey nevzat.tarhan@uskudar.edu.tr ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6810-7096

Patrizia MURADİ

Ph.D. Student, Department of Psychology, Üskudar University, İstanbul/Turkey patricia_muradi@yahoo.com ORCID ID0000-0002-1099-9925

Ayşe Sena KURT

Ph.D. Student, Department of Psychology, Üskudar University, İstanbul/Turkey klinikpsikolog.aysesenakurt@gmail.com ORCID ID: 0000-0001-5644-7571

ABSTRACT

In this study, the aim was to conduct Turkish linguistic equivalence, validity and reliability studies of The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) developed by Sholeh and Rusdi (2019) so that it can be used in the Turkish sample. This measuring instrument consists of two parts namely Instagram Feed Addiction and Instagram Story Addiction compiled based on addiction components 1) Salience; 2) Mood modification; 3) Tolerance; 4) Withdrawal; 5) Conflict; 6) Relapse. In this study, TIAS was applied to a sample of 587 people across Turkey. Positive and significant values were obtained as a result of the Pearson correlation coefficients made to examine the compatibility between the English and Turkish forms of both scales. As a result of the exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis, the 20-item Instagram Feed Addiction Scale, originally consisting of 6 factors, consisted of 4 factors in Turkish scale. It was revealed that Instagram Story Addiction, consisted of 6 factors in the original scale and 3 factors in the Turkish scale. After the EFA and CFA, a 21-item and 3-factor Turkish ISA was obtained. The internal consistency coefficients of both scales ranged between .60 and .93. As a result, the factor structure of both scales was modeled and confirmed by confirmatory factor analysis, and the goodness of fit values was found acceptable.

Keywords: Instagram Addiction, Instagram Addiction Scale, Instagram Story, Validity, Reliability

INTRODUCTION

Addiction is an important chronic disease that scientists have been working on for centuries and trying to develop various treatment methods on how to overcome it. If this situation develops, addiction is not an innocent and easy phenomenon to get rid of. The development of addiction in substances such as cigarettes, alcohol, drugs or gambling is based on the changes in the pleasure pathways of the brain in the process.

In today's 21st century, the developing addiction related to the channels that can be accessed especially through the internet is one of the issues that should be emphasized. Recent studies on internet addiction, which has been one of the popular agenda topics of Clinical Psychology for more than twenty years, mentioned that internet abuse and internet addiction have a pathological side just like alcohol and substance abuse. While discussing the risk of daily behavior changing and becoming pathological (Billieux & et.al 2015), studies on overdose of internet use consistently provide data to prove that this behavior complies with addiction criteria (Kuss, Griffiths, Karila, & Billieux, 2014; Tarhan & Tutgun-Ünal, 2021).

The fact that the interest in social media is increasing day by day brings with some negative factors. Instagram, one of the social media platforms, has become one of the indispensable applications of the new generation smart phones, and when the most used category is examined, it is seen that it occupies the 5th place in the world ranking

^{*} A brief summary of this study was presented at the International Educational Technology Conference 2021 (IETC2021) on September 2-3, 2021, Lefkoşa (Nicosia), Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus.


(Tankovska, 2021). Instagram addiction has begun to turn into an increasing problem socially, physically and psychologically (Sholeh & Rusdi, 2019). Surely, it is of great importance today to prevent the increasing use and dependencies related to not only Instagram but also many social networking sites (Griffiths & et.al. 2020; Spence & et.al. 2020; Tutgun-Ünal, 2019, 2020a, 2020b, 2021; Tutgun-Ünal & Deniz, 2020).

When the published statistics are examined, it can be easily seen how serious the issue has become. While Instagram had 800 million active users all over the world in September 2017, this number reached 1 billion active users in June 2018. It is known that there are 38 million people actively using Instagram in Turkey. Turkey ranks 6th in the world with this number (Yılmaz, 2020). Although the application is still banned in China, it is one of the properties with four billion users owned by Facebook which is one of the most popular social platforms in the world (Tankovska, 2021).

Since the Internet has actively entered people's lives, it has brought many innovations and developments. One of these developments is that this type of social networks has begun to take their place in people's lives. Internet has many triggering factors and diversity, and this has affected individuals' tendency to use resources in different ways. The internet, which can offer different options to almost everyone, is divided into many sub-categories in its online platform features; social media collaborators (Wikipedia), social media blogs (WordPress), social media communities (Flickr), virtual worlds (Second Life) and social networking sites (Instagram) can be given as examples (Sholeh & Rusdi, 2019).

It is also extremely important to examine the factors that can develop addiction of Instagram, which contains more than one feature and offers new alternatives to its continuous user base. Among the factors that trigger addiction are Instagram users impulsively checking the people who look at their photos or videos, likes and comments, secretly checking profiles they know or do not know, or presenting themselves to the public in a different condition than they are. Being able to be used as desired, not limiting logins and logouts based on time, having a constant flow of movement can engulf the person with an uncontrollable effect, and excessive use can cause the person to be harmed in terms of bio-psycho-social aspects.

The results of a survey conducted by the Kingdom's Royal Society for Public Health show Instagram as the application with the strongest out-of-control effect, such as anxiety and depression, decreased sleep quality, bullying and FOMO (Fear of Missing Out) (Cramer & Inkster, 2017; Metin, Pehlivan & Tarhan, 2017; Tarhan, Ekinci & Tutgun-Ünal, 2021). In addition, it is stated in studies that Instagram posts also trigger voyeurism as a sexual disorder (Amâncio & Doudaki, 2017).

Although the history of addiction generally included issues related to alcohol, cigarettes or a drugs, and the internet or addiction to it was initially expressed by experts in the context of a problematic behavior (Carbonell & Panowa, 2017; Deniz & Tutgun-Ünal, 2016; Tutgun-Ünal & Deniz, 2015). However, the behavior changes the hormones secreted by the brain and its functions (Tarhan & Nurmedov, 2019). This state is characterized by some situations such as emotional discomfort, introversion, deterioration in social relations (Dalvi-Esfahania & et.al. 2019; Tutar, 2020), and it can also pose the danger of addiction (Leong & et.al. 2019), just like a double-edged knife.

Researches have also revealed that the interest of university students to be recognized on social media or to meet some of their social needs through this channel is an important factor in the development of addiction (Ponnusamy & et.al. 2020; Tutgun-Ünal & Deniz, 2016). For example, students in Italy spend most of their time on their phones and mostly spend time on Instagram (Longobardi & et.al. 2020).

Since easily portable phones, tablets and similar equipment make it easier to access these types of platforms, compulsive using and viewing anytime and anywhere deteriorates the usage behavior, leading to excessive use and related negative consequences (Choi & et.al. 2015; Montag & et.al. 2015). Due to the changing agenda within seconds, following the constantly renewed online world can turn into an unavoidable repetitive behavior after a while. This situation can create behavioral addictions with consequences such as relapse, withdrawal from society, developing tolerance, deterioration in life quality, withdrawal from hobbies, anxiety (Griffiths & et.al. 2020) as well as control problems (Griffiths, 2009; Wegman & et.al. 2017).

Emotional attachment to Instagram paves the way for ailments such as depression, stress, and anxiety, thus giving great importance to sharing can make a person more vulnerable in case of a negative situation (Lowe-Calverley, Grieve & Padgett, 2019). Being constantly on Instagram may cause poor performance in remembering the information stored in the short-term memory due to distraction while the news continues to flow with different images (Spence & et.al. 2020).



In the studies of internet addiction tendency conducted on the basis of gender, while some researches find results that women develop addiction more (Young, 1998), some researches mention that male individuals develop addiction more (Morahan-Martin & Schumacher, 2000). It is stated that due to the increase in use, the performance of the individual at work is negatively affected (Rozgonjuk & et.al. 2020), and individuals who use excessively, especially at a young age, show more symptoms of hyperactivity and attention deficit (Wang & et.al. 2017).

When the scales for Instagram addiction were examined in the literature, the thesis study titled "Examination of the Relationship Between Instagram Addiction, Personality Traits and Self-Liking in University Students" developed by Kırcaburun (2017) was found. While measuring Instagram Addiction, the researcher carried out his research by choosing "Instagram" instead of "Internet" expressions in the Internet Addiction Scale developed by Young (1996) and adapted into Turkish by Bayraktar (2001). Kırcaburun and Griffiths, published two articles about problematic Instagram use and the role of perceived feeling of presence, escaipism and self-liking (Kırcaburun & Griffiths, 2018, 2019). Then, a study called "A Research on Measuring Instagram Addiction" by Aslan and Ezin in 2018 was found and the "Instagram Addiction Scale" developed by Kırcaburun (2017) was used in the study. Lastly, it was seen that Instagram Addiction Scale (IAS) adaptation study of Kavaklı and İnan (2021), developed by D'Souza and colleagues (2018).

The first multidimensional developed scale for Instagram addiction is The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) by Sholeh and Rusdi in 2019. TIAS itself consists of two scales; Instagram Feed Addiction and Instagram Story Addiction. Since linguistic equivalence studies have not yet been conducted in Turkish, it is considered important to bring these scales to Turkey. In this study, it is aimed to adapt the Turkish version of The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) developed by Sholeh and Rusdi (2019), to be used in the Turkish sample and to carry out validity and reliability studies.

METHOD

Research Group

For the Turkish validity and reliability studies of The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS), the population was formed from people aged 15 and over. Accordingly, the sample of the study was composed of 587 people in Turkey. Since scale adaptation studies will be carried out, it has been tested whether the dataset is suitable for factor analysis. There are various opinions on this subject in the literature. It is stated that the sample size should be between 100-250 and the number of scale items should be at least five times or ten times (Preacher & MacCallum, 2002; Tavşancıl, 2002). In this study, the sample size was found to be sufficient as the number of items in the scales was 20 and 22.

When the sample is examined, 69.6% of the 587 participants are female and 30.4% are male. Their age distribution is between 15 and 70, with a mean age of 32. 50.7% of the participants are single, 41.6% are married. 51% of them have a university, 19.6% a master's degree, 15.4% a high school, 7% a doctorate, 6% a higher education level.

Data Collection Tool

The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS)

The research data required for Validity and Reliability studies were collected with The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) developed by Sholeh and Rusdi (2019). TIAS includes two scales. Accordingly, the first scale named Instagram Feed Addiction (IFA) consists of 20 items and 6 dimensions. The second scale was named Instagram Story Addiction (ISA) and consists of 22 items and 6 factors. The factor names of both scales are the same. Accordingly, the factors of "Salience, Tolerance, Mood Modification, Relapse, Withdrawal, and Conflict" represent addiction components. The 5-point Likert-type scales form the TIAS as two separate scales. Although the factor names are the same, the number of items under the factors is not the same in the two scales.

Sholeh and Rusdi (2019) conducted validity and reliability studies of the scales in their research and found appropriate values. Cronbach Alpha values, which are the internal consistency coefficients of IFA, ranged from .65 to .92. The internal consistency of the factor named "Salience" of the ISA was found to be .34. This value indicates low reliability. The highest Cronbach Alp ha value was found to be .88. On the other hand, exploratory factor analysis (EFA) was performed with both scales, but confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was not performed. In order to eliminate these deficiencies in the Turkish form, the scales will be subjected to linguistic equivalence studies and factor structures will be modeled and verified with EFA and CFA studies.

Process

Translation Work: In order to obtain the Turkish form of the TIAS, the items in the original inventory were first translated into Turkish by an expert who is competent both in Turkish and English. Then, it was ensured that the sentences were understandable by checking them by two field experts who knew both languages well.



Application of TIAS: Ethical approval was given to the research by the Üsküdar University Non-Interventional Research Ethics Committee with the number of 61351342/NİSAN2021-27. Data collection process was carried out on a voluntary basis by using an online survey form in 1-10 May 2021. The study group sample was randomly selected and consisted of people aged 15 and over. IFA and ISA scales were administered to the participants via an online questionnaire and it took an average of 15 minute to complete the questionnaire.

Data Analysis

Pearson correlation coefficient was used for the linguistic equivalence of TIAS, which is to determine the consistency between the Turkish and English forms. In order to test the construct validity of the TIAS, factor analysis was applied to 287 sections of the dataset consisting of 587 people. Afterwards, confirmatory factor analysis was applied to the section of 300 people. The Cronbach Alpha internal consistency coefficient was tested in the reliability studies. SPSS 26.0 statistical program was used for the validity and reliability analysis. Further, modeling was made for the relationship and harmony of the dimensions with the AMOS program and the goodness of fit values (Chi-square/freedom of degrees, RMSEA, NFI, NNFI, CFI, GFI and AGFI) were calculated.

FINDINGS

In this part of the study, evaluations are made for The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS). In this context, the findings obtained as a result of validity and reliability studies are included.

Linguistic Equivalence Study of TIAS

The English and Turkish forms of the TIAS were administered to 25 postgraduate students at the department of Psychology from Üsküdar University three weeks apart in Turkish and English. After the applications, the Pearson correlation coefficient was calculated. The time interval between the two tests is specified as 2 to 4 weeks or 3 to 6 weeks according to different opinions in the literature (Ergin, 1995; Özgüven, 1994).

It was made for two applications with Instagram Feed Addiction and Instagram Story Addiction scales. When the Pearson correlation coefficients were examined, the lowest value for both scales was .40 and the highest value was .82, and the correlation coefficient between the total scores of the items in the Turkish and English forms was also found to be positive and significant (r: .77; p<0.001). In addition, according to the independent group t-test for both scales, it was determined that there was no significant difference between the two applications (t: .34; df: 23; p>0.05). The results obtained showed that the consistency between the two applications of the scales was at an acceptable level.

Validity and Reliability Study of TIAS

Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA) is frequently applied as one of the statistical calculation techniques made in accordance with a large number of variables within the scope of the construct validity of scale development (Balcı, 2001; Bryman and Cramer, 1997; Büyüköztürk, 2018; Hovardaoğlu and Sezgin, 1998; Kalaycı, 2010; Kleinbaum, Kupper and Muller, 1998). When the literature is examined, there are some techniques used to determine whether the dataset is suitable for factor analysis. These are tests such as the Bartlett Test of Sphericity, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and the creation of the correlation matrix (Kalaycı, 2010; Tavşancıl, 2002).

Before applying EFA, Bartlett test and Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test were applied (Büyüköztürk, 2018). A KMO value of .90 and above is considered "excellent", between .80-.89 "very good", between .70-.79 as "good", between .60-.69 "moderate", .50-a range of .59 is considered "weak", and anything below that is considered "unacceptable" (Kalaycı, 2010; Sharma, 1996; Tutgun-Ünal & Deniz, 2015). Also, the Bartlett Sphericity value is expected to be significant. Accordingly, the KMO coefficient value of the Instagram Feed Addiction Scale was found to be ,902. The result of the Bartlett Test of Sphericity was found to be significant (X^2 =2747,466, df: 190 p=0.000). Whereas, the KMO coefficient value of the Story Addiction Scale was found to be ,902. The result of the Bartlett Test of Sphericity (X^2 =2747,466, df: 190 p=0.000). The result of the Bartlett Test of Sphericity (X^2 =2747,466, df: 190 p=0.000). The results showed that the data were suitable for factor analysis (Sharma, 1996).

Construct Validity Study of Instagram Feed Addiction Scale

Factor analysis for the construct validity of Instagram Feed Addiction (IFA) started with 20 items in the original scale form. After EFA was applied, since values with an eigenvalue greater than 1 were accepted for factor formation (Tinsley & Tinsley 1987), a 5-factor structure emerged in the first stage in IFA. When the item and size distributions in the rotation table were examined, it was found that 4 dimensions in the original scale were formed in the same way, but the other 2 dimensions were mixed. Therefore, it was tested manually with 4-factor EFA whether the two dimensions could be combined or not. Compliance was achieved in the first stage in line with the Varimax Rotation Table. Accordingly, the item loadings were found to be the highest .859 and the lowest .456 for 20 items. The explained variance ratio was found to be 60,31. The eigenvalues of the factors are given in Table 1.

IFA	Eigenvalue	Variance	Cumulative Variance
1.Dimension	7,73	38,67	38,67
2.Dimension	1,53	7,65	46,32
3.Dimension	1,48	7,43	53,76
4.Dimension	1,31	6,55	60,31

Table 1. IFA	Factor Structure and	Explained Variance Rates
--------------	----------------------	--------------------------

As seen in Table 1, the exploratory variance rate of the factor with an eigenvalue of 7,73 is 38.67%. The variance rate explained by the second factor with an eigenvalue of 1,53 was 7.65%, the rate of variance explained by the third factor with an eigenvalue of 1,48 was 7.43%, and the variance rate explained by the fourth factor with an eigenvalue of 1,31 was 6.55%. The total explained variance rate was 60,31%, which was acceptable. It is ideal when the explained variance rate revealed by factor analysis varies between 40% and 60% in social sciences (Büyüköztürk, 2002; Deniz & Tutgun-Ünal, 2019).

Another method used to determine the factor structure is the scree plot. According to this graph, the points where the slope starts to disappear are taken into account in determining the number of factors. The line graph of Instagram Feed Addiction, which is seen to be in a 4-dimensional structure, is shown in Figure 1.



After determining the number of factors, item factor loadings were examined by applying the varimax rotation technique. Accordingly, the factor loading value of each item was checked for compliance with the lower cut-off point of ,45 and the factor structure was released. Accordingly, the item factor loading values of the 4-dimensional scale are given in Table 2.

Table 2.	Factor	Loading	Values o	of Instagram	Feed	Addiction	(IFA)	Items
							· ·	

	Items	F1	F2	F3	F4
	18. I find it hard to share time for hobbies, rest, or exercise because I spend my time checking Instagram feed.	.756			
Relapse / Withdrawal / Conflict	17. I often see many contents of Instagram feed which cause me to neglect my work/lectures/study time.	.732			
(α=.90)	20. My family often complains because I spend too much of my time on Instagram (checking the feed).	.718			



	Items	F1	F2	F3	F4
	19. I find it hard to sleep early because I always see feed on Instagram.	.712			
	12. I decided to look at Instagram feed less often, but I did not manage to do it.	.692			
	16. I become anxious or I have problems if I am prohibited to check my Instagram (see the feed).	.689			
	13. I get easily irritated if I am prohibited from seeing the Instagram feed.	.647			
	11. I try to limit my time for Instagram (see the feed), but it does not work.	.627			
	15. I feel annoyed if someone else bothers me when I see Instagram feed.	.614			
	14. I often cancel appointments with other people because of Instagram (checking Instagram feed).	.537			
	10. I spend a lot of time looking at photo/video posts on Instagram feed.	.456			
Mood Modification	9. I see the contents of posts on the Instagram feed to reduce restlessness.		.859		
(α=.79)	8. I see the contents of the Instagram feed to forget about personal problems.		.842		
	7. I see the contents of Instagram feed posts to reduce feelings of guilt, anxiety, helplessness, or depression.		.615		
Salience (α=.71)	2. I often think about what is happening on Instagram when I do not access it.			.722	
	3. I keep thinking and feel curious when I do not see the contents of the Instagram feed.			.688	
	1. I often think of any photos/videos posted by others on the Instagram feed.			.650	
Tolerance (α=.60)	5. I commented on photos/videos posted by friends on Instagram feed to get feedback.				.695
	4. I post photos/videos on Instagram feed to attract others' attention.				.586
	6. I always think of what filters and captions for the photos/videos that I will post on Instagram Feed.				.557

When the item factor loading values were examined, the item loading values of the 4-factor structure of the scale took appropriate values. Items 1-10, which constitute separate factors in the original scale, formed a single factor together in the Turkish form. While naming the new factor, 3 words in the original scale were combined and named as "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict". Other factors were also found to be compatible. Accordingly, by adhering to the original scale, 1st, 2nd, 3rd items were named as "Salience"; 4th, 5th, 6th items were named as "Tolerance"; 7th, 8th, 9th items were named as "Mood Modification". On the other hand, while 10th item was under "Mood Modification" in the original scale, it was under the factor of "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict" in the Turkish



version. Considering the meaning of the item which describes excessive use, the distribution of this was found appropriate.

Then, in the confirmatory factor analysis performed with a different dataset of 300 people, the factorial structure obtained was tested. In other words, its accuracy and goodness-of-fit values were questioned by modeling.



Figure 2. Confirmatory Factor Analysis of Instagram Feed Addiction

Table 3. IFA Goodness-of-Fit Indexes				
Goodness-of-	Acceptable Goodness-of-Fit	IFA Goodness-of-Fit		
Fit Indexes	Index Values	Index Values		
X ² /sd	<5	515,031/164=3,14		
RMSEA	<0,08	0,08		
NFI	>0,90	0,81		
NNFI	>0,95	0,88		
CFI	>0,95	0,86		
GFI	>0,90	0,82		
AGFI	>0,85	0,77		

Table 3 shows the Instagram Feed Addiction goodness-of-fit index values. According to the findings obtained in the confirmatory factor analysis, Chi-square/degrees of freedom was: 3,14; RMSEA: 0,08; NFI: 0,81; NNFI: 0,88; CFI: 0,86; GFI:0,82 and AGFI: 0,77. Thus, these goodness-of-fit index values were found acceptable. It was concluded that the Turkish version of IFA consisted of 4 factors.

Construct Validity Study of Instagram Story Addiction Scale

Factor analysis was performed for construct validity studies with 22 items in the original scale. In the factor analysis performed without any intervention, the eigenvalue value created more than 1 factor and 4 factors emerged. However, in the comparison with the original scale, item factor distributions did not show a appropriate structure. For example, the 1st and 2nd items and the 3rd and 4th items formed a factor together in the original scale,



and in this study, they were all distributed into separate factors. Similarly, the 18th item formed a factor together with the 2nd and 4th items. In order to obtain a more meaningful structure, EFA was performed manually with 3 factors. Accordingly, the factor loading of an item was found to be low. Item 1 was eliminated with a load of .29, and EFA was performed again without including Item 1 and the appropriate structure was obtained. Accordingly, the explained variance rates obtained in the 3-factor structure of the Instagram Story Addiction Scale are given in Table 4.

ISA	Eigenvalue	Variance	Cumulative Variance	
1.Dimension	9,49	45,20	45,20	
2.Dimension	1,99	9,49	54,69	
3.Dimension	1,33	6,34	61,04	

As seen in Table 4, the variance rate explained by the 1st factor with an eigenvalue of 9.49 is 45.20%. The variance rate explained by the 2nd factor with an eigenvalue of 1.99% is 9.49%, and the variance rate explained by the 3rd factor with an eigenvalue of 1.33 is 6.43%. The total explained variance rate was found to be 61.04%. The scree plot, which is another technique to determine the factor structure, is shown in Figure 3.



Table 5. Factor Loading Values of Instagram Story Addiction (ISA) Items

	Items	F1	F2	F3
Relapse / Withdrawal / Conflict (α=.93)	15. I tried to less watching others' Instagram stories, but it did not work.	.756		
	14. I decide to see the contents of Instagram stories less often, but it didn't work.	.732		
	20. I watch Instagram stories too much that I neglect work/lectures/study time.	.718		
	22. I find it hard to sleep early because I always check Instagram stories.	.712		
	21. I find it hard to spend my time into hobbies, rest, or exercise because of Instagram stories.	.692		
	8. I feel there is an urge to continue checking Instagram stories continuously.	.689		



	Items	F1	F2	F3
	12. I spend a lot of time watching others' Instagram stories.	.647		
	16. I get irritated easily if I am prohibited from watching Instagram stories.	.627		
	10. I keep thinking and feel curious when I do not see Instagram stories.	.614		
	13. I check Instagram stories the first time I wake up.	.537		
	17. I feel annoyed if someone else is bothering me when I'm looking at the contents of Instagram stories.	.456		
	11. I feel bored if I do not see the contents of Instagram stories.			
	9. I often think about what others upload on Instagram stories.			
	19. I get nervous if I am prohibited from watching Instagram stories.			
Mood Modification	6. I check the content of Instagram stories to forget personal problems.		.859	
(a=.89)	7. I see the contents of posts on the Instagram stories to reduce restlessness.		.842	
	5. I check the content of Instagram stories to reduce feelings of guilt, anxiety, helplessness, or depression.		.615	
Salience /	2. I often plan to do a live stream (live stream) on Instagram.			.722
$(\alpha = .67)$	18. I often cancel appointments with others because I see Instagram stories.			.688
	4. I give comment on my friends' Instagram stories to get feedback.			.650
	3. I make Instagram stories about my activities to get others' attention.			

When Table 5 is examined, the dimensional structure of the original ISA scale differed by combining some dimensions in the Turkish Version. It was observed that semantic integrity was achieved in the combination of factors. Item 1 was eliminated from the scale because its loading value was low. 2nd, 3rd, 4th, 18th items were formed by the combination of two separate dimensions in the original scale and were named "Salience/Tolerance". Although 18th item was under the "Withdrawal" dimension in the original scale, it was found to be significant under the "Salience/Tolerance" dimension in the Turkish version, since the item's content describes frequent use. The "Mood Modification" dimension, which includes the 5th, 6th, 7th items, is formed by the combination of the same items in the Turkish form. 8th, 9th, 10th, 11st, 12nd, 13rd, 14th, 15th, 16th, 17th, 19th, 20th, 21st and 22nd items were gathered together in a single factor. These items, which formed 3 different factors in the original scale, formed a factor called "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict" because they were combined in the Turkish scale.

The model confirmatory factor analysis created to confirm the 3-factor structure obtained after the EFA was verified. The CFA model made with a dataset of 300 people is shown in Figure 4. The goodness of fit values of the model are given in Table 6.





Figure 4. Confirmatory Factor Analysis of Instagram Story Addiction

Table 6. ISA Goodness-of-Fit Indexes					
Goodnes-of-Fit	Acceptable Goodnes-of-Fit	ISA Goodnes-of-Fit Index			
Indexes	Index Values	Values			
X ² /sd	<5	782,537/186= 4,207			
RMSEA	<0,08	0,08			
NFI	>0,90	0,82			
NNFI	>0,95	0,84			
CFI	>0,95	0,88			
GFI	>0,90	0,87			
AGFI	>0,85	0,78			

Table 6 shows the Instagram Story Addiction goodness-of-fit index values. According to the findings obtained in the confirmatory factor analysis, Chi-square/degrees of freedom value was: 4,20; RMSEA: 0,08; NFI: 0,82; NNFI: 0,84; CFI: 0,88; GFI:0,87 and AGFI: 0,78. Thus, these goodness-of-fit index values were found acceptable. It was concluded that the Turkish version of the ISA consisted of 3 factors.

Since The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) consists of two scales, validity and reliability studies of both scales were carried out. For the reliability studies of the Instagram Feed Addiction Scale, the internal consistency coefficient Cronbach Alpha values were calculated for each factor. Accordingly, these values given on the left side of Table 2 was found as .90 for the "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict" dimension, .79 for the "Mood Modification" dimension, .71 for the "Salience" dimension and .60 for the "Tolerance" dimension. The Cronbach Alpha values calculated for the Instagram Story Addiction Scale and included in Table 5 were found as .93 for the "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict" dimension, and .67 for "Salience/Tolerance" dimension.

Finally, the Pearson Correlation Coefficient values obtained as a result of the correlation test applied to the dimensions for IFA and ISA are given in Table 7 and Table 8, which show the relationship between the dimensions.



Subscale/Scale	Salience	Tolerance	Mood Modification	Relapse/Withdrawal/ Conflict
Tolerance	,350			
Mood Modification	,373	,314		
Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict	,543	,390	,543	
Instagram Feed Addiction (IFA)	,697	,572	,701	,939

Table 7. Instagram Feed Addiction Scale Correlations

Table 7 shows the coefficient values showing the relationship between Instagram Feed Addiction factors. Accordingly, it can be said that IFA has a relational structure within itself.

Table 8. Instagram Story Addiction Scale Correlations					
Subscale/Scale	Salience/ Tolerance	Mood Modification	Relapse/Withdrawal /Conflict		
Mood Modification	,461				
Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict	,525	,495			
Instagram Story Addiction (ISA)	,669	,648	,971		

 Table 8. Instagram Story Addiction Scale Correlations

Table 8 shows the coefficient values showing the relationship between Instagram Story Addiction factors. Accordingly, it can be said that ISA has a relational structure within itself.

CONCLUSION AND DISCUSSION

This study aimed to establish the validity and reliability of the Turkish version of The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS) developed by Sholeh and Rusdi (2019) in a Turkey sample. At the beginning of the study, linguistic equivalence studies of two scales named Instagram Feed Addiction and Instagram Story Addiction in TIAS were carried out. As a result of the exploratory factor analysis and confirmatory factor analysis, it was found that both scales partially paralleled the original scale structure, but differed in some points.

Firstly, the Turkish construct validity studies of the Instagram Feed Addiction Scale consisted of 20 items in the Turkish scale form. It was found that 6 dimensions in the original scale exhibited a structure as 4 dimensions in the Turkish scale, and the 4-dimensional scale structure was confirmed in the model established with CFA. Accordingly, in the Turkish scale form, 3 items constitute the "Salience" dimension, 3 items constitute the "Tolerance" dimension, 3 items constitute the "Mood Modification" dimension and the remaining 11 items constitute the "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict" dimension. As can be seen, 3 different dimensions in the original scale were combined into a single dimension in the Turkish form. The scale structure was found to be acceptable in the analyses made with EFA and CFA and the factors are related to each other. The Cronbach Alpha internal consistency coefficients of the factors were found to be the lowest .60 and the highest .90.

The other scale, Instagram Story Addiction, created a structure with 21 items in the Turkish form, although there were 22 items in the original form. Since the factor loading of the 1st item in the Turkish version of this scale was found to be low, it was eliminated from the scale. The 21-item Instagram Story Addiction Scale consisted of 6 factors in the original scale form, while some factors were combined in the Turkish scale form. It consisted of 3 factors and it was seen that one item was under a different dimension. Accordingly, the EFA results showed that 4 items constitute the "Salience/Tolerance" dimension, 3 items constitute the "Mood Modification" dimension, and the other 14 items constitute the "Relapse/Withdrawal/Conflict" dimension. With this structure, the model established in AMOS was validated with CFA and the reliability coefficients were found to be the lowest .67 and the highest .93. It was found that the 21-item and 3-factor structure of the ISA was relational and significant. The scales are in 5-point Likert type, graded between "Strongly disagree" and "Strongly agree".



All validity and reliability studies have shown that Turkish TIAS is a current, valid and reliable scale that can be used in studies to be conducted in Turkey. It is natural that some differences occur in the Turkish scale form compared to the original scale, because cultural differences may differentiate the answers given to the scale. On the other hand, it is thought that some of the deficiencies in the original scale, such as the low internal consistency of one dimension of the ISA, and the fact that the factor structure was not tested with confirmatory factor analysis, were eliminated in the Turkish scales. Thus, two scales in TIAS have been added to the literature so that they can be used to measure Instagram Addiction of social media users of various ages. Factors can be tested by remodeling in new research on different samples.

REFERENCES

- Amâncio M. & Doudaki V. (2017). Put it in your story: Digital storytelling in instagram and snapchat stories, Uppsala University.
- Balcı, A. (2001). Sosyal bilimlerde araştırma: Yöntem, teknik ve ilkeler [Research in the social sciences: Methods, techniques and principles]. İstanbul, Turkey: Pegem Publishing.
- Bayraktar, F. (2001). The role of internet usage on the development of adolescent. Unpublished master's thesis, Ege University, Social Sceinces Institute, İzmir, Turkey.
- Bryman, A. & Cramer, D. (1997). Quantitative data analysis with SPSS for windows: A guide for social scientists. Routledge, New York.
- Billieux, J., Schimmenti, A., Khazaal, Y., Maurage, P., & Heeren, A. (2015). Are we over pathologizing everyday life? A tenable blueprint for behavioral addiction research *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 4(3), 119–123. doi:10.1556/2006.4.2015.009
- Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2002). Sosyal bilimler için veri analizi el kitabı [Handbook of data analysis for social sciences]. Ankara, Turkey: PegemA Publishing.
- Büyüköztürk, Ş. (2018). Sosyal bilimler için veri analizi el kitabı [Handbook of data analysis for social sciences]. Ankara, Turkey: Pegem Atıf Index.
- Carbonell, X. & Panova, T. (2017). A critical consideration of social networking sites' addiction potential. *Addiction Research and Theory*, 25(1), 48–57.
- Choi, S.-W., Kim, D.-J., Choi, J.-S., Choi, E.-J., Song, W.-Y., Kim, S., & Youn, H. (2015). comparison of risk and protective factors associated with smartphone addiction and internet addiction. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 4, 308–314.
- Cramer S. & Inkster B. (2017). '*Status of mind: Social media and young people's mental health and wellbeing*'. Access: https://www.rsph.org.uk/static/uploaded/d125b27c-0b62-41c5- a2c0155a8887cd01.pdf
- Dalvi-Esfahania, M., Niknafs, A., Kuss, D.J., Nilashi, M. & Afrough, S. (2019). Social media addiction: Applying the DEMATEL approach. *Telematics and Informatics*, 43, October 2019, 101250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2019.101250
- Deniz, L. & Tutgun-Ünal, A (2016). Genelleştirilmiş problemli internet kullanımı ölçeği 2 (GPİKÖ2)'nin Türkçeye uyarlanması: Geçerlilik ve güvenirlik çalışmaları [The adaptation of generalized problematic internet use scale 2 (GPIUS 2) into Turkish: Validity and reliability studies]. *The Journal of Academic Social Science (ASOSJOURNAL)*, 4(23), 7–20.
- Deniz, L. & Tutgun Ünal, A. (2019). Sosyal medya çağında kuşakların sosyal medya kullanımı ve değerlerine yönelik bir dizi ölçek geliştirme çalışması [Development of a set of scales toward the use of social media and values of generations in social media age]. OPUS–Uluslararası Toplum Araştırmaları Dergisi [International Journal of Society Researches], 11(18), 1025–1057. DOI: 10.26466/opus.557240
- D'Souza, L., Samyukta, A., & Bivera, T. J. (2018). Development and validation of Test for Instagram Addiction (TIA). *The International Journal of Indian Psychology*, 6(3), 4-14.
- Ergin, D.Y. (1995). Ölçeklerde geçerlik ve güvenirlik [Validity and reliability of the scales]. *Marmara University Atatürk Education Faculty Journal*, 7, 125–148.
- Griffiths, M. (2009). A components' model of addiction within a biopsychosocial framework. *Journal of Substance Use*, *10*(4), 191–197.
- Griffiths, M D., Van Rooij, A. J., Kardefelt-Winther, D., Starcevic V., Kraly O., Pallesen S., Müller K., Dreier M., Carras M., Prause N., King D L., Aboujaoude E., Kuss D J., Pontes H M., Fernandez O L., Nagygyorgy K., Achab S., Billieux J., Quandt T., Carbonell X., Jacobsen S.L., Barnes N. G., (2020). Social media, gen z and consumer misbehavior: Instagram made me to do it. *Journal of Marketing Development And Competitiveness*, 143(3), 51–59.
- Hovardaoğlu, S. & Sezgin, N. (1998). Eğitimde ve psikolojide ölçme standartları [Measurement standards in education and psychology]. Ankara, Turkey: Association of Turkish Psychologists and ÖSYM Publishing.
- Kalaycı, Ş. (2010). SPSS uygulamalı çok değişkenli istatistik teknikleri [SPSS applied multivariate statistical techniques]. Ankara, Turkey: Asil Yayın Dağıtım.



- Kavaklı, M. ve İnan, E. (2021). Psychometric properties and correlates of the Turkish version of Instagram Addiction Scale (IAS). *Journal of Clinical Psychology Research*, 5(2), 86-97.
- Kırcaburun, K. (2017). Üniversite öğrencilerinde Instagram bağımlılığı, kişilik özellikleri ve kendini sevme arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi [Investigation of the relationship between self-liking, big five personality and instagram addiction among university students]. Master Thesis, Sakarya University Educational Science Institute, Sakarya, Turkey.
- Kırcaburun, K., ve Griffiths, M. D. (2018). Instagram addiction and the big five of personality: The mediating role of self-liking. *Journal of Behavioral Addictions*, 7(1), 158–170.
- Kırcaburun, K., ve Griffiths, M. D. (2019). Problematic Instagram use: The role of perceived feeling of presence and escapism. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction*, 1–13. Kleinbaum, D. G., Kupper, L. L. & Muller, K. E. (1988). Applied regression analysis and other multivariate methods (2nd ed.). Boston: PWS-KENT Publishing.
- Kuss, D. J. & Griffiths, M. D., Karila, L., Billieux, J. (2014). Internet addiction: A systematic review of epidemiological research for the last decade. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*, 20(25), 4026–4052. doi:10.2174/13816128113199990617
- Leong, L.Y., Hew, T.S., Ooi, K.B., Lee, V.H. & Hew, J.J. (2019). A hybrid SEM-neural network analysis of Social media addiction. Expert Systems with Applications, 133, 296–316.
- Longobardi, C., Settanni, M., Fabris, M. A. & Marengo, D. (2020). Follow or to be followed: Exploring the links between Instagram popularity. Social Media Addiction, Cyber Victimization, Subjective Happinies in Italian Adolescents, *Children and Youth Services Review*, 113.
- Lowe-Calverley, E., Grieve, R. & Padgett, C. (2019). A risky investment? Examining the outcomes of emotional investment in Instagram. *Telematics and Informatics*, 45, doi.org/10.1016/j.tele.2019.101299
- Metin, B., Pehlivan, R., & Tarhan, K. N. (2017). Üsküdar Gelişmeleri Kaçırma Korkusu Ölçeğinin geçerlilik ve güvenilirlik çalışması [Realiability and validity of Uskudar Fear of Missing Out Scale]. *The Journal of Neurobehavioral Sciences JNBS*, 4(2), 43–46.
- Montag, C., Blaszkiewicz, K., Sariyska, R., Lachmann, B., Andone, I., Trendafilov, B., & Markowetz, A. (2015). Smartphone usage in the 21st century: Who is active on WhatsApp? BMC Research Notes, 8, 1–6. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13104-015- 1280-z.
- Morahan-Martin, J. & Schumacher, P. (2000). Incidence and correlates of pathological Internet use among college students. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 16(1), 13–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0747-5632(99)00049-7
- Özgüven, İ. E. (1994). Psikolojik testler [Psychological tests]. Yeni Doğuş Matbaası, Ankara, Turkey.
- Ponnusamy, S., Iranmanesh, M., Foroughi, B. & Sunghyup, S.S. (2020). Drivers and outcomes of Instagram addiction: Psychological wellbeing as moderator. *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 2020, issue: 107.
- Preacher, K.J. & Mac Callum. R. C., (2002). Exploratory factor analysis in behavior genetics research: Factor recovery with small sample size. *Behavior Genetics*, 32(2), 153–161.
- Rozgonjuk, D., Sindermann, C., Elhai, J.D. & Montag, C. (2020). Fear of missing out (FoMO) and social media's impact on daily-life and productivity at work: Do WhatsApp, Facebook, Instagram, and Snapchat Use Disorders mediate that association? *Addictive Behaviours*, 110, doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106487
- Sharma, S. (1996). Applied Multivariate Techniques. John Wiley&Sons Inc, New York.
- Sholeh A. & Rusdi A. (2019). A new measurement of Instagram Addiction: Psychometric properties of The Instagram Addiction Scale (TIAS), *Proceedings of the 11th CISAK*, ISBN/ISSN 9-772338-169001
- Spence, A., Beasley, K., Gravenkemper, H., Hoefler, A., Ngo, A., Ortiz, D. & Campisi, J. (2020). Social media use while listening to a new material negatively affects a short-term memory in college students. *Physiology & Behaviour*, 227, /doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.113172
- Tankovska, H., (2021). '*Most popular social networks worldwide as of January 2021*', ranked by number of active users. Access: https://www.statista.com/statistics/272014/global-social-networks- ranked-by-number-of-users/
- Tarhan, N., & Nurmedov, S. (2019). *Bağımlılık, sanal veya gerçek bağımlılıkla başa çıkma* (7thed.) [Addiction, coping with virtual and real addiction]. İstanbul, Turkey: Timaş Yayınları.
- Tarhan, N., Ekinci, Y., & Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2021). Dijital sağlık okuryazarlığı: Dijital hastalıklar ve siberkondri [Digital health literacy: Digital diseases and cyberchondria]. İstanbul, Turkey: DER Yayınları.
- Tarhan, N., & Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2021). Sosyal medya psikolojisi [Social media psychology]. İstanbul, Turkey: DER Yayınları.
- Tavşancıl, E. (2002). Tutumların ölçülmesi ve SPSS ile veri analizi [Measuring attitudes and data analysis with SPSS]. Ankara, Turkey: Nobel Yayın Dağıtım.
- Tinsley. HEA., & Tinsley, DJ. (1987). Uses of factor analysis in counseling psychology research. J Couns Psychol, 34(4), 414–424.



- Tutar, C. (2020). Postmodern kentsel mekanda kültürel belleğin inşa süreci: Televizyon dizilerinde öne çıkan nostaljik eğilimler [Construction process of cultural memory in postmodern urban space: Prominent nostalgic trends in television series]. Akdeniz Üniversitesi İletişim Fakültesi Dergisi [The Journal of Akdeniz University's Faculty of Communication], 34, 102–121.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2019). İletişim Fakültesi öğrencilerinin sosyal medya bağımlılığının incelenmesi: Üsküdar Üniversitesi örneği [Social media addiction of communication faculty students: Üsküdar University sample]. Kastamonu İletişim Araştırmaları Dergisi [Kastamonu Communication Research Journal], 2, Spring 2019, E-ISSN: 2667-727X.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2020a). A comparative study of social media addiction among Turkish and Korean university students. *Journal of Economy Culture and Society*, (62), 307–322. DOI: 10.26650/JECS2020-0064
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2020b). Social media addiction of New Media and Journalism Students. *TOJET: The Turkish* Online Journal of Educational Technology, 19(2), 1–12. ISSN: 2146–7242.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. (2021). Social media generations' levels of acceptance of diversity. *TOJET: The Turkish Online* Journal of Educational Technology, 20(2), 155–168. ISS1N: 2146–7242.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. & Deniz, L. (2015). Development of the Social Media Addiction Scale. Online Academic Journal of Information Technology (AJIT-e), 6(21), 51–70.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. & Deniz, L. (2016). Üniversite öğrencilerinin sosyal medya bağımlılığının incelenmesi [Investigation of social media addiction of university students]. *Route Educational and Social Science Journal (RESSJOURNAL)*, ISSN: 2148-5518, 3(2), 155–181.
- Tutgun-Ünal, A. & Deniz, L. (2020). Sosyal medya kuşaklarının sosyal medya kullanım seviyeleri ve tercihleri [Social media usage levels and preferences of social media generations]. OPUS-Uluslararası Toplum Araştırmaları Dergisi [International Journal of Society Researches], 15(22), 125–144. DOI: 10.26466/opus.626283
- Wang, B-Q., Yao, N-Q., Zhou, X., Liu, J. & Lv, Z-T. (2017). The association between attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder and internet addiction: A systematic review and meta analysis. *BMC Psychiatry*, DOI 10.1186/s12888-017-1408-x
- Wegmann, E., Oberts, U., Stodt, B. ve Brand, M. (2017). Online-Specific fear of missing out and internet-use expectancies contribute to symptoms of internet-communication disorder. *Addtictive Behaviours Reports*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abrep.2017.04.001
- Yılmaz, M. (2020, Şubat 24). '*Türkiye'nin sosyal medya kullanıcı sayısı belli oldu'*. Access: https://www.webtekno.com/turkiye-instagram-twitter-facebook-kullanici-sayisi-h86431.html
- Young, K. S. (1998). Internet addiction: The emergence of a new clinical disorder. *CyberPsychology & Behavior*, 1(3), 237–244.



The Complex Image of Turkey on Chinese Media: Through the Lens of Xinhua News Agency

Austin AO US Agency for Global Media austinaoresearch@hotmail.com

Abstract

The past decade saw the rise of Turkey as an influential regional power. Numerous international news platforms have increased their coverage of the country, including the Chinese media. As one of China's "Big Three" staterun news organizations, Xinhua News Agency offers comprehensive coverage of Turkey, reflecting the various ways China often perceives Turkey. Ankara's role—at times a strategic partner and advocate and at other times a critical geographical player and regional influencer—has contributed to Turkey's complex and sometimes conflicting image viewed by the Chinese audience. Previous research involving content analysis of the increased Chinese media coverage on the country has remained inconclusive. By analyzing Xinhua's news reports on Turkey at selected points throughout the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic, this paper discusses the framework Xinhua uses in its coverage of Turkey and how it may have shaped Turkey's complex national image in Chinese media. The implications of these findings will contribute to the sub-field of China-Europe relations and international journalism.

Keywords: Xinhua News Agency, News Coverage, National Image, Turkey, China, Sino-Turkish Relations

Introduction

The past decade saw the rise of Turkey as an influential regional power. The Turkish-speaking region, including Turkey and North Cyprus, connects the East and the West geographically, culturally, and economically. In the past decade, Turkey has received increasing media attention on numerous international news platforms. In the meantime, as China continues to expand its global influence, its interests in the region have significantly grown. Historically, the root of Sino-Turkish relations can be traced back 2000 years, long before most of today's modern countries came into existence. Nevertheless, this age-old connection is now rife with potential conflicts and disagreements against the backdrop of complex and ever-evolving international geopolitics, despite common interests between the two nations. On the one hand, China uses the Cyprus question as leverage to enhance its economic priorities in the region; on the other hand, the Uyghur issue is regarded as a "bottleneck" for bilateral relations. Strategically, Turkey is seen as a crucial player in China's "Belt and Road Initiative." However, the Chinese media has also paid attention to its recent military actions in Northern Syria. In fact, despite the tremendous effort from both sides to improve economic and trade relations, the two nations do not seem to have achieved the expected results.

The Year 2021 marked the 50th Anniversary of modern China-Turkey diplomatic relations. While celebrations are publicized on the official website of the embassies in Beijing and Ankara, ordinary Chinese citizens appear to have scant knowledge of Turkey, which may seem paradoxical. A survey conducted in 2017 shows that 76.3% of Chinese respondents consider themselves at least somewhat ignorant in regard to Turkey. Moreover, only 15.9%

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



of respondents correctly named Ankara as its capital. Based on responses collected for this survey, the most recognized symbols of Turkey are Turkish kebob (27.5%), The Blue Mosque (12.8%), and Turkish coffee (10.6%). Since the 1980s, numerous communications scholars have examined the mass media's impact on public sensibilities. For example, Graber described the psychological processes for news audiences to choose and internalize information from the media. McNamara introduced the much-debated premise that media both reflect and shape public opinion and government actions. In addition, the critical social theory raised by Stockett and Kekkonen has provided ground for framing this issue in the media.

For Chinese viewers, state-run media is the dominant source of international news. Consequently, assessing the framework of China's news coverage of Turkey provides a perspective on Chinese media's intentions, mechanisms, and Turkey's national image in China. Much of Western academia believe it is of minimal value to apply communication theories to Chinese mainstream media due to it being run by the State. However, some scholars argue that as an authoritarian regime, the Chinese government can benefit from a more sophisticated media control strategy, permitting reporters to work aggressively on exposing low-level malfeasance to improve governance. Thus, following the dynamics of Chinese media can enrich our understanding of the Chinese government's strategic direction concerning the Turkish-speaking region. Furthermore, it provides research facts for foreseeing future trends.

In the studies of Sino-Turkish political communications, scholars from China, Turkey, and the West have long recognized the significance of research areas such as the military, diplomatic relations, religion, and trade. In recent years, the public's view and national image has been the focus of a group of Chinese and Turkish scholars such as Liu Zuokui, Zao Tao, Ulas Basa Gezgin, and R. Kutay Karaca. Those scholars have discussed the lack of public recognition and knowledge for each other among Chinese and Turkish media viewers. On media coverage research, Chinese scholar Tang Qingye has asserted in his paper that China's coverage was "positive and objective" based on his analysis of three major Chinese newspapers. The framework of the research, however, remains incomplete without adequate supporting analysis from English language academia. To date, scholars have performed little research addressing the current conditions of Sino-Turkish relations, especially during major global affairs such as the Covid-19 pandemic.

Methodology

As one of China's "Big Three" state-run media organizations, Xinhua News Agency is the country's most prominent and most influential news organization. In terms of worldwide correspondents, it is also the largest agency globally. This paper relies on a content analysis of Xinhua News Agency's coverage of Turkey during four selected time frames. It explains how Chinese mainstream media has shaped the national image of Turkey. To do this, the quantity and content of Turkey-related reports are examined.

The main keyword used in the report search is the Chinese word for "Turkey" (土耳其). The final selection from a much larger number of reports is made based on four two-month time frames. On March 11, 2021, Xinhua News reported on Turkey's first Covid-19 case. Based on the rise and evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic, reports from 9/11/2019 to 11/10/2019 (six months prior to the first reported case), from 3/11/2020 to 5/10/2020 (first two months of the pandemic), from 9/11/2020 to 11/10/2020 (six months into the pandemic) and 5/30/2021 to 7/29/2021 (two months before the presentation of this paper) are selected. The Covid-19 period was set as an anchor point for time frame selection for three reasons:

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



- 1. Covid-19 has been a global health crisis since early 2020. Monitoring the development offers us a fresh perspective on the most recent reports from Xinhua News Agency.
- The pandemic has impacted the Chinese media's editorial preference for Turkey in several ways. Observing and comparing reports produced during different phases of the Covid-19 pandemic will enable us to navigate the differences and results.
- 3. With the pandemic ongoing, this up-to-date analytical comparison will shed some light on the future trend of Xinhua News Agency's news framework.

Within the chosen time frames, 387 news reports on the official website of Xinhua News Agency are identified and collected for this content analysis.

		Table1		
Time Period	9/11/2019 to	3/11/2020 to	9/11/2020 to	5/29/2021 to
Category	11/10/2019	5/10/2020	11/10/2020	7/28/2021
Total Number of	144	80	68	05
News Reports	144	80	08	95
Covid	0	56	7	5
Sino-Turkish	16	6	2	14
Relations	10	0	2	14
Politics	14	2	21	6
Military	89	8	8	34
Disaster and	2	1	22	12
Emergency	5	1	22	12
Immigration	7	4	0	1
Culture and	5	2	2	1
Technology	5	2	2	1
Economy	5	1	4	5
Sports	5	0	2	17

Xinhua's News Coverage of Turkey

Table 1 displays the categorization of news reports on Turkey across the selected time frames. Notably, Xinhua's reports of Turkey have been comprehensive and have covered basic categories in media reporting. The available content is reflective of Turkey's major domestic and international affairs, usually covered by other mainstream international media. For example, in October 2019, Turkey launched a military offensive in northern Syria, resulting in 89 reports published on Xinhua News, many reflecting China's interest in the region. Similarly, in the early stages of the Covid-19 pandemic, Xinhua News Agency mainly focused on the live updates of Turkey's Covid-19 case count. By and large, this content was refreshed every few hours. Moving toward the end of 2020, when an earthquake hit Turkey and Greece, 22 reports were produced covering the natural disaster and subsequent fatalities. Most recently, Xinhua News offered a wide range of coverage on Turkey's military actions, including its arms deal with Russia, involvement in Afghanistan, and several other regional issues. Xinhua's news coverage of Turkey serves its viewers beyond China's own national interests. The most frequent topics include Turkey's military actions, domestic/international politics, and regional immigration issues. A considerable number of these issues are not directly related to China and are unfamiliar to Chinese viewers.



Country	Number of Reports	GDP Rankings
United States	10000 (maximum limit reached)	1
Japan	9408	2
Germany	7552	3
England	6687	5
Russia	6476	10
France	5611	6
India	4978	4
South Korea	4127	11
Iran	3974	25
Brazil	3493	7
Israel	3444	30
Italy	3123	8
Australia	2768	12
Turkey	2654	16
Spain	2135	13
Thailand	1927	24
Canada	1400	9
Mexico	1334	14
Saudi Arabia	1159	18
Belgium	1043	23

(1) The website of Xinhua News Agency typically maintains an archive of news reports for up to two years. This number reflects the search result at the point of this research. Moreover, these counts may include duplicate items due to reproduced reporting.

(2) The search results indicate that the number of news reports in the United States is 10,000 because it has reached the search engine's limit. The United States has significantly more reports than any other country.

Table A ranks the number of news reports produced for each of the major countries. Any discrepancies between the coverage ranking and the gross domestic product (GDP) ranking reflect whether or not a country's news coverage on Xinhua News is proportional to its economic status. While traditional global powers, such as United States, Japan, and Germany, garner the most attention, several other countries, including Russia, South Korea, Iran, and Turkey, have a higher exposure level than their GDP ranking might indicate. Unlike the other three countries, Turkey is not a traditional geopolitical partner to China. Moreover, the level of exposure has indicated Turkey's significant value to international news reporting for Xinhua News Agency.

Turkey's National Image on Xinhua News

Based on content analysis and peer discussions, conclusions can be drawn that the national images of Turkey on Xinhua News are as follows:

- Turkey is a partner of China (economic and cultural exchanges, Turkey's endorsement of China's vaccine program)
- Turkey is a key geographical player (military actions and regional conflicts)



• Turkey is a regional influencer (sports, culture, and technology development)

(1) Turkey as China's partner

Of the 144 reports from 9/11/2019 to 11/10/2019, 16 focus on the positive development of Sino-Turkish relations, highlighting Turkey's role as a partner of China and endorser of China's development programs. Three articles presented interviews with pro-China Turkish interviewees to emphasize their approval of China's international position. Highlighting its pro-government propaganda, Xinhua News Agency's attention to China's development, which is presented as lauded by the rest of the world, is evident through their selection of pro-China commentary.

TABLE 3					
专访:中国找到了正确的发展方向—	Exclusive Interview: China has found the right direction				
—访土耳其汉学家吉来	for development-an interview with Turkish sinologist				
	Giray Fidan				
专访:"不少国家都因能向中国大量出	Exclusive Interview: Many countries benefit from				
口而获益良多"——访土耳其学者阿	exporting to China—an interview with a Turkish scholar				
尔泰·阿特勒	Altay Atli				
再次参加进博会旨在发掘中国大市	We are participating in the CIIE again to open up the big				
场——访土耳其家电巨头倍科电器	Chinese market—interview with the Greater China CEO of				
大中华区总裁	Beko				

During the early phases of the pandemic, Xinhua's focus shifted to Turkey's domestic situation, with 56 reports on Coronavirus. Meanwhile, the reports on Sino-Turkish relations decreased to six from 3/11/2020 to 5/10/2020 and just two from 9/11/2020 to 11/10/2020. Until recently, Xinhua News Agency's coverage of Sino-Turkish relations increased to include fourteen articles, focusing on both governmental communications and civil affairs. As a result, Xinhua's coverage on the Covid-19 pandemic has decreased, with seven reports from 9/11/2020 to 11/10/2020 and five reports from 5/30/2021 to 7/29/2021. With the pandemic continuing, it is estimated that Covid-related coverage will remain at this level.

Based on the above summary of Xinhua's coverage on Sino-Turkish relations, it is clear that Turkey is portrayed as a supporter and partner of China. While pro-China scholars mostly support the narrative, any anti-China groups and political activities in Turkey are dismissed. Communication scholars have long agreed that the media's role in China is significantly different from that of the West. David Shambaugh pointed out that the Chinese media remains an essential instrument in the party-state's toolbox of control. At the same time, the system is being impacted by the Chinese public. This mechanism is evident in how Xinhua News reports emphasize the role of Turkey as China's partner and supporter.

The Covid-19 pandemic has brought another opportunity for Xinhua News Agency to enhance this framework. During the pandemic, Xinhua continues to stress that China, despite having its own challenges and difficulties, is helping Turkey fight the virus. For example, several reports during the early stage of Covid-19 highlighted talks between the two governments, indicating China's commitment to assisting Turkey with pharmaceutical supplies. Recently, a report introduced the clinical trial of China's Covid-19 vaccine in Turkey.

A central part of Turkey's role in Chinese media relies on the country's unique position on the international stage. As early as 2017, when the Turkish constitutional referendum was held, some scholars pointed out that Turkey, despite being a member of NATO, wanted to build leverage to force concessions from the US and Europe. The

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



"directionless and friendless" approach has resulted in relations tightening between China and Turkey. As Turkey's image in Chinese media is depicted as a strong regional power favoring China's increasing influences, conflicts of interest between the two countries are often not within the news framework.

(2) Turkey as a key geographical player

In 2019, Turkey launched a military offensive in Syria, inciting criticism from major global powers. Although Beijing joined the global condemnation of attacks launched by Ankara, Xinhua's coverage, which typically reflects China's call on Turkey to halt the military incursion, is generally neutral. Out of 144 reports from 9/11/2019 to 11/10/2019, 89 focus on Turkey's military actions. Notably, among these reports, many news sources relied upon Syrian media instead of Turkish media. These citations were crucial in forming an impression of Turkey's military actions. Compared to the reports on Sino-Turkey relations, Turkey is often depicted as an aggressive invader who brought tragedy to the Syrian people.

	TABLE 4
叙媒:土耳其军队对叙东北部"叙利	Syrian media: Turkish army launches attacks on targets of
亚民主军"目标发动袭击	"Syrian Democratic Army" in northeastern Syria
叙媒: 土耳其袭击"叙民主军"	Syrian media: Turkey attacks "Syrian Democratic Army"
叙利亚强烈谴责土耳其在叙北部展	Syria strongly condemns Turkey's military operations in
开军事行动	northern Syria
叙利亚谴责土耳其在军事行动中致	Syria condemns Turkey's military operations that caused
平民死伤	civilian deaths and injuries
叙外交部:土耳其在叙军事行动使	Syrian Ministry of Foreign Affairs: Turkey's military
土丧失阿斯塔纳担保国地位	operations in Syria deprived Turkey of its status as a
	guarantor of Astana
叙媒称土耳其占领叙北部边境重镇	Syrian media claim that Turkey occupied Ras al-Ain, an
拉斯艾因	important town on the northern border of Syria
叙利亚要求美国和土耳其立刻从叙	Syria demands that the U.S. and Turkey immediately
撤军	withdraw their troops from Syria

This coverage supports the framework of China's official position in the Turkish involvement in Syria. As a newcomer to the region, scholars believe that the Chinese government strives not to make the classic superpower mistake of being dragged into an interminable war in West Asia. As Xinhua News Agency directly mirrors the government's focus on the regional issue, the coverage reflects China's caution.

(3) Turkey as a regional influencer

An additional theme that connects Turkey and Chinese viewers is the attention to Turkey's soft powers, including culture, technology, and sports. Of all the selected time frames, there have been ten reports on culture and technology, and 24 on sports. Although the coverage on these topics is not as frequent as politics, military, and immigration, Xinhua News provides an incredible range of reports, such as the Turkish city that reads the most, 3D printing masks, and the successful test of Turkey's first "flying car."

For a long time, scholars of Turkish studies have seen explicit links between Turkey and its cultural influence in the Middle Eastern World. The term "Soft power" refers to piquing interest, capturing the imagination, and gaining admiration. In history, the role of soft power was discovered by Turkey's intelligentsia at an early point. The earliest



generation of writers used the allure of consent and the might of persuasion to promote establishing a nation-state of the Turkification of language.

In modern times, Turkey seeks to promote its soft power, specifically in the Middle East and Central Asia. However, due to its involvement in international politics and military actions, the Turkish national image has been complex and sometimes biased in these areas. Some Turkish Scholars believe that Turkey's soft power strategy should be purely engaged in country branding. Such strategies should be based on Turkey's self-recognition and to what extent others view Turkey's complicated position. In addition, several scholars point out that Turkey should be cognizant of its potential and be capable of operationalizing and projecting its soft power to increase regional and global influences.

With the development of technology, the spread of culture, and the influence of sports, Turkey has extended its influences beyond the Middle Eastern and Central Asia. Its achievements in these areas have led to more exposure on media of other regions, including China's Xinhua News. As a Chinese state-run media, Xinhua's coverage of culture, technology, and sports traditionally focuses on major global powers and several neighboring countries of China which have closer ties to Chinese viewers. Consequently, Turkey's increasing exposure will enhance the recognition of Turkey's national image among Chinese viewers.

Conclusion

Xinhua News Agency has adopted a unique approach in reporting on Turkey. Positive reports involve Turkey's advocacy for China to take on more responsibilities in global affairs. Conversely, negative rhetoric gets applied to Turkey's military actions in Syria. The coverage of Turkey is mainly dependent on the way China perceives its own national interests. Moreover, media coverage plays an essential role in forming Turkey's complex image in the eyes of the Chinese public.

Xinhua News Agency often discloses their selections of news sources; however, the interest-based editorial preference is evident. The media sources aim to indicate the discourse about China's perspectives on the news. The news coverage reflects and reinforces the government's and public's mixture of interest in relations with Turkey. The only exception is in soft power: culture, technology, and sports.

As the Sino-Turkish relationship evolves, the news coverage of China on Turkish media also needs to be further investigated. It is necessary that the comparison be observed and analyzed. In addition, analysis of Turkey-related content on the emerging Chinese media will offer a new perspective to this research.

References

- Altinay, H. (2008). Turkey's soft power: An unpolished gem or an elusive mirage? *Insight Turkey*. (Vol. 10, No. 2): 55-66.
- Graber, Doris. (1988). Processing the news: How people tame the information tide. Addison-Wesley Longman Ltd.
- Horizon Technology, International Relations Division. (2016). Survey: Turkey in the eyes of Chinese people. (中国人眼中的土耳其调查).

Lorentzen, P. (2014). China's strategic censorship. The American Political Science. (April 2014): 402-414.

Manheim, J. and Albritton, R. (1984). Changing national images: International public relations and media agenda setting. *The American Political Science Review* (Sept. 1984): 641-657.

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



- Beng, Phar Kim. (2008). Turkey's potential as a soft power: A call for conceptual clarity. *Insight Turkey*. (Vol. 10, No. 2): 21-40.
- Shafak, E. (2006). Accelerating the flow of time: soft power and the role of intellectuals in Turkey. *World Literature Today*. (Feb. 2006): 24-26.
- Shambaugh, D. (2007). China's propaganda system: Institutions, processes and efficacy. *The China Journal*. (Jan. 2007): 25-58.
- Temiz, Kadir. (2018). An illustration of Sino-Turkish relations: The Cyprus question. *Insight Turkey* (Winter 2018): 81-98.
- Yellinek, R. (2017). Why are relations tightening between China and Turkey? Begin-Sadat Center for Strategic Studies. (Sept. 1, 2017).

Commented [S1]: Not sure which is the surname



The Effectiveness of Blended Learning on Students Achievement at SQU

Mohamed E. Ammar (amar@squ.edu.om); Ali S. Al Musawi (asmusawi@squ.edu.om) College of Education, SOU, Oman

Abstract

This study aimed to investigate the effectiveness of using Blended Learning (BL) in developing students' Achievement. The research methodology was based on a pre-post control group experimental research design. The sample consisted of 31 students in the control group and 30 in the experimental group, who were enrolled in an introductory educational technology course (TECH3007) at Sultan Qaboos University (SQU). The data collection instrument was an achievement test. The results revealed that there are a statistically significant difference at the level of 0.05 between the mean scores of the experimental group students in the post application of the achievement test in favor of the post application. In light of these results, a set of recommendations were presented, such as: paying attention to spreading BL among both students and faculty members at SQU, preparing the infrastructure, and spreading awareness towards the using of BL in all university courses.

Keywords: Blended learning, Achievement, SQU, Oman

Introduction

It becomes obvious that the nature of the present time is knowledge expansion and technological development and their increasing impact on education systems. Depending on the traditional single-source model of teaching and learning has become unacceptable for its inadequacy. There is a need to use modern and sophisticated instructional strategies supported by innovative technologies especially e-learning resources and forms. Indeed, most educational institutions have realized the importance of e-learning courses delivery and their effective provision through the Internet (Azmi, 2014). However, Blended Learning (BL) is a common denominator between different e-learning styles. It is based on integrating learning methods and strategies with e-learning tools (Abu Mousa et al, 2014). Usually combining technologies in the instructional process improves its quality and enables the teacher to generate new learning environments (Al-Azawi & Shakkah, 2018).

Al-Mukhaini (2017) defines BL as "an educational method related to the integration of both the the traditional and technology-based environment in various forms" (p. 31). Pachler & Daly (2011) indicate that BL means the combination of different technologies based on the Internet, and different teaching approaches (p. 24). Al-Sharman (2015) believes that it is "a type of education that combines the traditional method of teaching with e-learning through the Internet" (p. 30). Richey (2013) defines it as "an educational design formula that combines face-to-face and e-learning, so that they are organized together as an educational method that benefits learning in different ways" (p. 23). Littlejohn & Pegler (2007) define BL as "a model for learning focuses on student learning through the provision of e-learning along with specific elements within the traditional course (p. 22). Milheim (2006) defines it as "a learning style that combines traditional classroom education and online learning features in an integrated model taking advantage of the possibilities available to each of them the instructional process (p.44). Therefore, it could be said that all the previous definitions agreed that the main feature of BL is the combination of traditional teaching methods and Internet based methods. The current research looks at BL as a type of learning in which e-learning where its elements and features are integrated with the elements and features of traditional f2f education using Internet tools of Moodle[®] platform to achieve learning activities for lectures, practical lessons, and training sessions in both traditional and virtual classrooms.

BL has distinctive characteristics (Abdel-Aty, 2016, pp. 22-23; Kaur, 2013, p. 615) as follows:

- 1. Integrated learning style where traditional education and e-learning are merged together in the design of educational situations using traditional AV aids and online learning.
- 2. Communication based learning style where a combination of synchronous and asynchronous communication exists between teacher and student.
- 3. Functional learning style as it employs technology and selects appropriate educational means to solve classroom's problems in terms of management and activities.
- 4. Balanced meaningful learning style as it combines and focuses, at the same time, on the appropriate application of educational technology, and the improvement the of objectives' and learners' achievement.
- 5. Systematic learning style by following the systems approach in teaching and learning and having different inputs, outputs and processes.



In addition, the use of the BL style in the field of education and training achieves multiple educational benefits which were identified in the literature (Al-Sharman, 2015, pp. 39-48; Kuteit, 2015, p. 159; Hew & Cheung, 2014, p. 9-10; Kaur, 2013, p. 614-615). It was found that BL saves time, effort and cost compared to traditional education alone or electronic education alone. It raises motivation, improves the students' academic achievement and takes into account the individual differences among them. The literature shows that BL eases forms of delivery and application in various places and environments and links learning inside and outside the classroom. It also enables the teacher to follow up on the students' performance by keeping opportunities available for them to meet each other.

In this study, the experimental treatment of BL may contribute to achieve a set of advantages by easing the communication with students, providing a continuous feedback and interactive environment that maintains the students' motivation, overcoming both traditional and e-learning styles' shortcomings and enabling the students to freely express their ideas and participate within their pace and ability to learn. Further, the blended learning environment of the current research is described as a teaching and learning style that is:

- 1. Meaningful that combines traditional and e-learning education in order to develop the students' achievement at the College of Education, SQU.
- 2. Integrated that combines traditional education using a computer lab, and e-learning through the university's Moodle[®] platform prepared for this purpose.
- 3. Asynchronous that provides e-learning content anywhere, at any time, and on any device connected to the Internet.
- 4. Interactive that allows f2f interaction with the teacher during traditional teaching and learning time.
- 5. Individualized that presents teaching and learning depending on the student's ability to learn the content according to his/her pace, attention and achievement.

Study Problem

At SQU, the introduction to educational technologies (TECH3007) course is the basic service courses to prepare the College of Education undergraduates in the field of technology. It aims to provide students with an understanding of innovative and latest technological applications with a special focus on studying theory and practice related to Internet applications so they acquire the basic skills in integrating these applications in teaching their various disciplines (SQU, 2021). Despite this well stated objective, the course implementation experiences many difficulties as evinced through the analysis of the course surveys conducted by the students at the end of each semester. A significant number of students expressed their dissatisfaction with the course pointing out the shortage in practical skills due to the short time of the practical sessions which does not commensurate with the required skills' training. They went on to attribute this difficulty to the different self-paced learning time required by students, insufficient time necessary to interact with their teachers in addition to the multiplicity of skills within each unit. The teachers, on the other side, complained that they do not have the privilege of enough time to individualize their students' learning and to train them separately because of the lack of time, and the large number of students. To further investigate the causes of the problem, the two researchers interviewed a sample of (31) students and the results showed low skills to integrate computer software and Internet technologies in their discipline, the gap between the learned skills and the those which are required for their field teaching practice, in addition to the predominance of the theoretical side over the practical. The students repeated the same previouslymentioned reasons as the main causes for these difficulties. Based on this pilot study, the researchers sought the results of specialized studies to find an appropriate educational strategy that have proven to be effective in developing technological skills and academic achievement; a strategy that may be useful in treating the aforementioned research problem.

The researchers found that BL has unique features which makes it the best strategy to investigate for its effectiveness to provide solutions for some of the pre-mentioned difficulties. First, it merges traditional teaching with e-learning according to the educational situation requirements without a limit for blending options of e-learning tools and traditional methods (Al-Mukhaini, 2017). Second, BL is also characterized by a balanced focus between the appropriate application of educational technology, and the achievement of educational goals (Yalcinkaya, 2015). Third, it saves time, efforts and cost, stimulates motivation and prevents boredom (Al-Sharman, 2015). Kuteit (2015) adds that BL is easy to apply in various places and environments as it can be adapted to the learners' individual differences and special needs to their academic achievement. Many studies such as; Al Musawi & Ammar (2021); Issa (2020); Adli, (2020); Al-Hiyari (2019); Ansiu (2018); Al-Sayed (2016); Hamid (2016); Khalifa (2015); Al-Hinnawi (21014); Marin & Nieto (2012); Poon (2012) have proven the effectiveness of using blended learning in developing many skills and improving achievement of undergraduate students. They have recommended the adoption of BL model for university education. It was also recommended for adoption at higher education level by conferences such as the 1st international conference of the Omani Society for Educational Technologies (OSET, 2010) and the 3rd World Conference (AWERC, 2012).



Study importance

The study is important in terms of raising the students' performance, professional competence and technological skills in faculties of education by showing the extent to which BL is effective on their academic achievement. The results of the research may contribute to direct attention of the universities and MOE in Oman and elsewhere to the importance of using blended learning in education and training.

Study objective, question and hypothesis

The current study aims to find out the effectiveness of BL on students' achievement at the College of Education of SQU. In particular, it seeks to answer the following question: "how effective is using blended learning in developing the achievement of students of the College of Education at SQU?". The current research seeks to verify the following hypothesis: "There are statistically significant differences at the 0.05 level between the mean scores of the experimental group students and the mean scores of the control group students in the post application of the academic achievement test in favor of the experimental group."

Methodology

Method

The study applied quasi-experimental method of an experimental/control group with pre and post measurement.

Study design

The research experiment was conducted according to the steps shown in Table 1.

Table 1. Study design						
Item	Pre-application	Treatment	Post-application			
Arrangements		3 Weeks				
		4 hrs./week, divided over				
	Sunday 20/2/2019	two days	Wednesday 6/3/2019			
	-	1 researcher taught both				
		groups				
Experimental group		BL method using Moodle [®]				
	A abjavament test	platform	A abjavament test			
Control group	Acmevement test	Traditional teaching method	Acmevement test			
		in a computer lab				

Table 1. Study design

Study Community and Sample

The study population is all the College of Education, SQU the students who were registered to study in TECH3007 course during the Spring semester 2019; and numbered at 143 students, divided into four sections. Two sections (10 and 20) students were selected as a research sample. Their number was 61 students. Section 10 was the experimental with 30 students, and section 20 was the control group with 31 students.

Research tool

The academic achievement test was the research tool used in this study and prepared by the researchers as described in the following procedures:

- 1. The preliminary form of the test was first prepared consisting of (25) multiple choice items with four alternatives for each item. The number of items was chosen by determining the relative weight of the course skills. The grade assigned to each question was one.
- 2. The test was then applied to an exploratory sample of the research, with the aim of verifying the validity and reliability of the test.
- 3. The validity of the test was calculated in two ways:
 - a. Logical validity: the test was presented to five reviewers specializing in educational technology from faculty members at the College of Education, SQU to survey their views on the extent to which the test vocabulary is appropriate for its objectives, the course content, clarity and accuracy of its instructions. The percentage of the concordance coefficient between the reviewers' responses was calculated, and it resulted in 80% of the reviewers agreeing to delete five items due to the similarity between them and other items. After making the proposed modifications in the wording of some test items; the final test form became (20) item.
 - b. Internal consistency validity: after the test application to the exploratory sample, the researchers calculated the degree of correlation of each item with the total test score. The results showed that all the values of the calculated correlation coefficients are statistically significant at the 0.05 level. This confirmed the validity of the test.



4. The reliability of the achievement test was calculated using the Kuder–Richardson formula (KR-21) after applying it to the exploratory sample. Table 2 shows the statistical data of the test.

No. of responses Means SD Variance						
				Coefficient		
20	15.3	4.51	20.3401	0.9148		

Table 2 shows that the test reliability coefficient value equals (0.9148), which is a large value that can be trusted. It is also possible to be assured of the results that will be obtained after applying the experimental treatment to the research sample.

- 1. To calculate the duration of the test time, the response time of each student was recorded. Then, the highest and lowest quartiles were separated for these times, and the average performance time was calculated for each of the two quartiles. The value of the two averages was (46), (26) minutes respectively. Then, the average performance time was calculated for each of the two quartiles and the result indicated that the test performance time value is (36) minutes. This time was raised to (40) minutes to be the approved test time.
- 2. To calculate the ease and difficulty coefficients, the correct answers and the wrong answers were calculated for each test item. The values of the corrected ease coefficients were then calculated using correction-for-guessing formula. The values of the calculated ease coefficients ranged between the two values (0.41), (0.72) which are acceptable average values for the ease and difficulty coefficients.
- 3. To calculate the discriminatory coefficients, the UL (upper vs. lower 27% technique) Index was applied where the scores of the students were arranged in descending order and (27%) of the scores of the sample students were separated to the highest quartile, and (27%) of the scores of the sample students were separated to the lowest quartile. It was found that the values of the discriminatory coefficients ranged between (0.42), (0.71), which indicates that the test items has a discriminatory degree that can be trusted.
- 4. The final form of the test was prepared based on the opinions of the reviewers and the modifications made to it. It included the name/data of the student, date/time of the test and the overall test score. Then the test items were 20 items.

BL environment design and development

The researchers relied on the model Huang & Zhou (2005, p. 303),) to design and produce the blended learning environment for this experiment as shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Huang & Zhou model (2005) used to design and develop BL environment of the current research

Research variables

- 1. The independent variable: BL.
- 2. The dependent variable: achievement.



Research limitations

This research was limited to the following:

- 1. Students of the College of Education at SQU who are registered in sections (10) and (20) to study (TECH3007) Course in the Spring semester of the academic year 2018/2019.
- 2. Use of Moodle[®] as a platform to present the e-learning resources used in teaching students.

Results and discussion

To answer the main research question and test the validity of the research hypothesis, the achievement test was applied to the students of both the experimental and control groups. The mean scores were then calculated as well as the standard deviations. Table 3 presents the descriptive statistics, and the "t" value for the scores of the students of the two groups in the post application of the achievement test

Table 5. Descriptive statistics, and the t-test of the post application of the achievement test							
Group	N	Mean	SD	t- value	df	Sig.	Effect size (di)
Experimental	30	17.1	1.37339	0.152	12.057	0.00	1.7
Control	31	10.7667	2.52823	9.153	12.057	0.00	1./

Table 3. Descriptive statistics, and the t-test of the post application of the achievement test

Table 3 findings indicate that the difference between the mean scores of the students of the experimental and control groups in the post application of the achievement test is statistically significant at the 0.05 level, in favor of the students of the experimental group. Thus, the validity of the main hypothesis of the research is verified and accepted. The effect size (di) was also calculated and the results shown in Table 3 indicate that the value of di equals to (1.7) which means that the performance mean of the experimental group by (1.7) of standard deviation units; and the effect size is large. The researchers attribute this result to a number of reasons, including:

- 1. Diversity of e-learning resources provided in the BL environment and used by the students of the experimental group were not available to the students of the control group. This allowed the experimental group students to have multiple alternatives, allowing them to select according to what suits them.
- 2. Availability of resources to the students of the experimental group on the Moodle[®] platform at anytime and anywhere which wasn't the case for the students of the control group. This setting has facilitated and helped the students of the experimental group in accessing information, re-explaining the topics, and repeating the explanation and presentation more than once according to their abilities and pace of learning; this contributed significantly to the increase in their academic achievement.
- 3. Classroom meeting time in the experimental group was more focused on discussion, dialogue, and implementation of skills, as a large part of their basic learning was conducted through Moodle[®] whereas it included basic explanation of ideas, discussions and activities. This in turn needs more time to clarify in order to complete their achievement of the learning objectives and skills acquisition.
- 4. Individual differences among students in the experimental group were better met as they learned in a BL environment that was suitable for their learning characteristics. This may have contributed positively to the improved achievement by these students as compared to their colleagues of the control group.

This result is consistent with the findings of Al Musawi, & Ammar (2021) study regarding the effectiveness of BL at its various blending ratios in developing the academic achievement of students of the College of Education at SQU. It also substantiates the results of Adli (2020), Al-Hiyari (2019) and Ansiu (2018) studies which have proved the effectiveness of BL in developing the cognitive achievement of female students and English language and geography learners. (), which confirmed its results. This result also confirms Hamid (2016) study findings in that statistically significant differences exist between the mean scores of the BL class group and the traditional class group in the post application of the achievement test for students of the College of Education in favor of the BL class group

Conclusion, recommendations and suggestions

The current study aims to find out the effectiveness of BL on students' achievement at the College of Education of SQU. It was thought that BL can solve some existing problems as it combines the traditional teaching with elearning tools strengths while maintaining the students' motivation and improving their achievement. The study found that this is evident by conducting a field experiment and supports many previous studies findings on both global and regional levels. Therefore, it seems it is in the interest of the policymakers at the Omani universities and educational institutions to spread, plan and implement BL among both students and faculty members. This becomes obvious specifically in the education and other programs characterized by theoretical and practical knowledge that requires more time to elaborate on discussion and inquiries.



We recommend that these educational institutions should focus on the technological infrastructure but more importantly they need to emphasize the awareness and change acceptance towards the recognition of BL in university courses. It is needless to say that these institutions should assess the training needs of their academic communities and design programs based on the BL environment using the Huang and Zhou (2005) model explained in this study. Learning programs based on the BL environment should be designed using active and self-learning theories. Colleges of Education are in need to update and develop their students' skills to use and interact with BL techniques.

Taking in consideration the study limitations, we suggest that researchers investigate the effectiveness of BL in developing students' skills and attitudes in various courses and specializations, in addition to studying the features and techniques of e-learning in activating BL strategies. We also suggest to expand the use of the BL environment to develop various research variables related to the academic courses of the university.

References

Abdel-Aty, M. (2016). Blended Learning Technology. Alexandria: Educational Library.

- Abu Mousa, M., Al-Sous, A. & Abdel Salam, S. (2014). Blended Learning Between Traditional and E-Learning. Amman: Academics Press.
- AWERC- Academic World Education and Research Center (2012, October). 3rd World Conference on Learning, Teaching and Educational Leadership. Brussels, Belgium.
- Adli, A. (2020). The effects of a program based on integrating blended and flipped learning on achievement, self-efficacy, and learning to swim on belly crawl for beginners, Journal of Comprehensive Education Research, 1, 1-27.
- Al-Azawi, M. & Shakkah, R. (2018). Embedding augmented and virtual reality in educational learning method: present and future. In 2018 9th International Conference on Information and Communication Systems (ICICS). pp. 218-222.
- Al Musawi, A. and Ammar, M. (2021). The effect of different blending levels of traditional and e-learning delivery on academic achievement and students' attitudes towards blended learning at SQU, Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology, 20(2), 127-139. Available: http://www.tojet.net/articles/v20i2/20213.pdf
- Al-Hinnawi, H. (2014). The effect of using collaborative blended learning strategy in developing the skills of producing computerized educational lessons and their innovative design among technology students in Gaza, Journal of Scientific Research in Education, 15(3), 235-281.
- Al-Hiyari, L. (2019). The effect of using the blended learning strategy on the achievement of University of Jordan students in English language, Educational Sciences Studies, 46(2), 23-34.
- Ali, A. (2017). The effect of using blended learning and problem-solving strategies in developing the skills of using cloud computing applications in scientific research among graduate students. Arab Research Journal of Specific Education, 8, 175-220.
- Al-Mukhaini, M. (2017). Utilizing Blended Learning in Designing Educational Websites. Amman: Safa Press.
- Al-Sayed, I. (2016). The impact of the use of blended learning in teaching a computer course on the development of some PowerPoint skills of female students of the General Diploma, Industrial Materials Division, and their attitudes towards it, Faculty of Education Journal, 27(106), 1-56.
- Al-Sharman, A. (2015). Blended Learning and Flipped Learning: Blended Flipped Learning. Amman: March Press.
- Ansiu, A. (2018). The effect of using the blended learning strategy on the achievement of University of Jordan students in the subject of Jordan's geography, Jordanian Educational Journal, 3 (4), 26-45.
- Azmi, N. (2015). E-learning Technology. Cairo: Arab Thought Press.
- Hamid, A. (2016). The effectiveness of flipped and blended classes in developing the skills of designing educational webpages for female students of the College of Education, Islamic University of Gaza, (unpublished master's thesis), the Islamic University, College of Education, Palestine.
- Hew, K.F. &Cheung, W.S. (2014). Using Blended Learning: Evidence-Based Practices. New York: Springer. Available: https://www.springer.com/gp/book/9789812870889
- Huang, R. & Zhou, Y. (2005). Designing Blended Learning focused on Knowledge Category and Learning Activities Case Studies from Beijing Normal University, In the Book of Blended Learning. Available from: http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.92.194 8&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- Issa, J. (2020). The effect of using blended learning on the development of e-learning applications among students of the University of Bisha and their attitudes towards it, Egyptian Society for Educational Computers Journal, 8(1), 1-37.
- Kaur, M. (2013). Blended learning its challenges and future. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 93, 612–617. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.09.248



- Khalifa, Z. (2015). The effect of the electronic interaction pattern in blended learning on acquiring the skills of using and producing some technological innovations and attitudes towards it among non-native Arabic language diploma students in light of their needs, Educational Technology Studies and Research, 1-93.
- Khan, B. (2005). Managing e-Learning Strategies: Design, Delivery, Implementation and Evaluation. Hershey, PA, USA: Idea Group Inc. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.4018/978-1-59140-634-1

Kuteit, G. (2015). Modern Learning and Teaching Technologies. Amman: Culture Press.

- Littlejohn, A. & Pegler, C. (2007). Preparing for blended e-learning. London: Routledge. Available: https://www.routledge.com/preparing-for-blended-e-learning/Littlejohn-Pegler/p/book/9780415403610
- Marin, D.P. & Nieto, I.P (2012). A Case Study on the Use of Blended Learning to Encourage Computer Science Students to Study. The Journal of Science Education and Technology, 21, 74-82. doi: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-011-9283-6
- Milheim, W.D. (2006). Strategies for the Design and Delivery of Blended Learning Courses. Educational Technology: The Magazine for Managers of change in Education, 46(6), 44-47. Available: https://www.jstor.org/stable/44429352
- OSET- Oman Society of Educational Technology (2010, December). Recommendations of the First Omani International Conference on Educational Technologies "Blended and Mobile Learning: Potential and Challenges", Muscat, Oman.
- Pachler, N. & Daly, C. (2011). Key issues in e-learning: Research and practice. London: Continuum Publishing. Available: https://www.amazon.com/Key-Issues-Learning-Research-Practice-ebook/dp/B00OG4DZJ4
- Poon, J. (2012). Use of blended learning to enhance the student learning experience and engagement in property education, Property Management, 30(2), 129-156. doi: https://doi.org/10.1108/02637471211213398
- Richey, R.C. [Ed.] (2013). Encyclopedia of Terminology for Educational Communications and Technology. New York: Springer. Available: https://www.springer.com/gp/book/9781461465720
- SQU- SQU (2021). TECH3007 Course Description. Retrieved from website https://portal.squ.edu.om/web/guest/course-description
- Yalcinkaya, D. (2015). Why is blended learning for vocationally oriented language teaching? Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 174, 1061 1068. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.795



The Evaluation of Hong Kong Students' Perception of Online Teaching Practice in Higher Education

Hon Keung YAU

City University of Hong Kong, Department of Advanced Design and Systems Engineering, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong honkyau@cityu.edu.hk

Chung To AU

City University of Hong Kong, Department of Advanced Design and Systems Engineering, Kowloon Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong chungtoau2-c@my.cityu.edu.hk

ABSTRACT

During the coronavirus pandemic, online learning practice has been adopted by universities in Hong Kong. It becomes the major teaching and learning method throughout these years. At the beginning of the epidemic, all stakeholders such as colleges, students, professors are not familiar with the online learning platform. The teaching quality and learning experience are being doubted, which would affect the public confidence in higher education. Therefore, universities have started to develop online learning practice in a systematic way. It is aimed at helping students to overcome the challenges, which could help to improve the learning experience. During the online learning and teaching period, online lectures or tutorial with live streaming through ZOOM or other online learning platforms such as Microsoft Teams, Blackboard Collaborate, and Panopto have been implemented. It may probably become a practice to replace face-to-face classes in the future. As the students' needs should always be the first priority of a university, the learning outcomes to students should be maximized. So, students' perceptions on the Online Teaching Practice should be considered.

The students' perceptions on the Online Teaching Practice could be influenced by different factors. In this project, the factors that have an impact on students' perceptions on the online teaching practice would be surveyed and discussed to investigate the effectiveness of online learning. By using different methods to analyze the survey data, the main factors that affected students' perceptions of online teaching practice could be shown. The findings of this project would provide valuable insight to academic units of universities in providing effective distance education.

INTRODUCTION

In recent years, especially after the outbreak of COVID-19, the usage of online teaching practice grows rapidly. In this social distancing era, online activities including online education are rapidly evolving (Arch Pathol Lab Med, 2020). Traditional teaching activities occur in classrooms or lecture halls. However, it is changing under the pandemic. The development of online teaching becomes a highlighted topic in universities. Most of the classes in higher education of Hong Kong have been changed from face-to-face to online distance classes. The way of teaching practice has been changed significantly. In this new generation of higher education, we will apply different technologies in our regular learning. For examples, live streaming software, online meeting software, recordings platforms. These learning tools are parts of higher education and provide effective learning environment to students. In this paper, some dimensions are based on the technology acceptance model and Information System Success Model developed by Davis in 1989 and DeLone & McLean in 1992, respectively. These dimensions are used for investigating students' perception of online teaching practice in higher education. The result could help the public and universities to understand university students' attitudes toward online teaching practice and provide some factors that have consequential impacts on students' perception on the teaching mode.

Three sub research questions are formulated in response to the research question:

1) Do student's personal backgrounds such as gender, age, GPA performance, way of learning online and prior online learning experience affect students' perception of online teaching practice in higher education?

2) What are the relationships between the factors in the technology acceptance model (TAM) and students' perception on online teaching practice?

3) How is the attitude of students toward online teaching practice?

THE STUDY

Technology Acceptance Model (or TAM)

TAM is developed by David (1986). TAM could be used to explain or predict people's acceptance on technology.



It is a model that has been used by many researchers to study the people's perception toward different technologies or system.



Figure 1.1 The Technology Acceptance Model (Davis 1989)

Information System Success Model



Figure 1.2 Information Systems Success Model (DeLone & McLean 1992)



TOJET: The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology – September 2021 Special Issue for IETC, ITEC, ITICAM, IQC, IWSC & INTE-2021



Figure 1.3 Information Systems Success Model (DeLone & McLean 2002, 2003)

According to the updated model proposed by (DeLone & McLean) in 2002 and 2003, there are 6 items: information, system and service quality, intention to use, user satisfaction, and net benefits. The 6 items affect each other as shown as above. A system consists of information, system quality and service. They could affect the intension of using the system. Finally, users would decide the system is good or not by seeing the benefits.



Figure 1.4 Combined Research Model (Al-Momani, 2014)

From the figure 1.4, the external factors include Technology Factor and Student Factor. Technology factor could explain as quality of the technology. In this project, the quality of the software used in online teaching practice would be treated as technology factor. TF and SF will influence the PU and PEU and then influence the ATT. In this study, this model will be a reference for further analysis.

Development of Hypothesis

Different factors may affect the student's perception toward online teaching practice. Also, there may contain some relationship among each factor. Al-Momani provided some hypothesis in 2014 that the perception could be affect by multiple external factors. I am going to make some hypothesis below which are for the analysis in this study. The details would be discussed in Chapter 5 after analysis.





Figure 1.5 Research model in this study

Gender:

H1: Male students rate higher in PEU of online teaching practice

Field of Study:

H2: Science/Engineering Students rate higher in PEU of online teaching practice

Technology Factor:

H3: Technology Factors (TF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Usefulness (PU) of online teaching practice H4: Technology Factors (TF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) of online teaching practice **Student Factor:**

H5: Student Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Usefulness (PU) of online teaching practice H6: Student Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) of online teaching practice **PU and PEU:**

H7: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) and Perceived Usefulness (PU) in online teaching practice

ATT:

H8: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Usefulness (PU) and

Attitude (ATT) toward online teaching practice

H9: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) and

Attitude (ATT) toward online teaching practice

BI:

H10: There is a positive relationship between ATT and BI

FINDINGS

The concept of the questionnaire used in this study is based on a model which has been used to investigate the factors that affect the acceptance of information technologies. The model is known as technology acceptance model (TAM) (Davis, 1989; Davis, Bagozzi, & Warshaw, 1989). Students' perceived ease of use, usefulness and their attitude toward a particular technology would be measured in the questionnaire. Also, the questionnaire also examines two groups of factors which are technology factors and student factors.

Population and Sample

Since the questionnaires are distributed and collected digitally, the target of this study is to collect 200 completed questionnaires. The questionnaires which are invalid would not be used to analyzed.



Personal background data of respondents









Figure 2.2 Pie Chart of Respondent's University



Figure 2.3 Pie Chart of Field of Study

Figure 2.4 Pie Chart of Respondent's GPA

ANALYSIS OF RESULT

PEU

1. Relationship between Gender and PEU

				Indepen	dent Sam	ples Test				
		Levene's Test Varia	for Equality of nces				t-test for Equality	of Means		
							Mean Std. Error		95% Confidence Interval of the Difference	
		F	Sig.	t	df	Sig. (2-tailed)	Difference	Difference	Lower	Upper
PEU	Equal variances assumed	41.681	<.001	7.390	198	<.001	2.27083	.30729	1.66484	2.87681
	Equal variances not assumed			5.251	56.984	<.001	2.27083	.43245	1.40485	3.13680

Table 3.1: T-Test for Gender on PEU

From table 4.17, the significance value under Levene's Test is less than 0.05. It means that the variances between two groups are assumed not equal. Then, the value of significance under is less than 0.01 which less than 0.05. Therefore, there are a significant difference between the male and female from the data of this study, which means males and females have different perceptions on the ease of use toward online teaching. Also, from table 4.16, the mean of male is higher than the mean of female.

Therefore, the hypothesis H1: Male students rate higher in PEU of online teaching practice is supported/accepted.

2. Relationship between Field of Study and PEU

ANOVA

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	304.576	б	50.763	16.281	.000
Within Groups	601.744	193	3.118		
Total	906.320	199			

Table 3.2: one way ANOVA for Field of Study on PEU



Firstly, according to Table 4.19, the value of significance is smaller 0.05. It means the field of study group has a significant different on PEU. Secondly, according to table 4.18, Engineering and Science students get the highest mean on PEU.

Therefore, H2: Science/Engineering Students rate higher in PEU of online teaching practice is supported/accepted.

3. Relationship between TF and PU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is + 0.485 with p-value smaller than 0.01. It shows that the relationship between TF and PU is positive and significant. Therefore, *H3: Technology Factors (TF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Usefulness (PU) of online teaching practice*, is accepted/supported.

4. Relationship between TF and PEU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is + 0.882 which is larger than 0.5 with p-value smaller than 0.01. It shows that the relationship between TF and PEU is strongly positive and significant. Therefore, *H4: Technology Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) of online teaching practice*, is accepted/supported.

5. Relationship between SF and PU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is -0.254. It shows that the relationship between SF and PU is negative. Also, the value of the coefficient is relatively low. Therefore, *H5: Student Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Usefulness (PU) of online teaching practice* is rejected.

6. Relationship between SF and PEU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is 0.228. It shows that the relationship between SF and PEU is weakly positive. However, the value of the coefficient is relatively low which is lower than 0.3. Therefore, *H6: Student Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) of online teaching practice* is rejected.

7. Relationship between PU and PEU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is + 0.632 which is larger than 0.5 with p-value smaller than 0.01. It shows that the relationship between PU and PEU is strongly positive and significant. Therefore, *H7: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) and Perceived Usefulness (PU) in online teaching practice*, is accepted/supported.

8. Relationship between ATT and PU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is + 0.935 which is larger than 0.5 with p-value smaller than 0.01. It shows that the relationship between PU and ATT is strongly positive and significant. Therefore, *H8: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Usefulness (PU) and Attitude (ATT) toward online teaching practice*, is accepted/supported.

9. Relationship between ATT and PEU

According to Table 4.1, Pearson correlation coefficient is + 0.643 which is larger than 0.5 with p-value smaller than 0.01. It shows that the relationship between PEU and ATT is strongly positive and significant. Therefore, *H9: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) and Attitude (ATT) toward online teaching practice* is accepted/supported.



		Technology_F actor	Student_Fact or	PU	PEU	ATT
Technology_Factor	Pearson Correlation	1	.308**	.485**	.882**	.492**
	Sig. (2-tailed)		<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001
	N	200	200	200	200	200
Student_Factor	Pearson Correlation	.308**	1	254**	.228**	258**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001		<.001	.001	<.001
	N	200	200	200	200	200
PU	Pearson Correlation	.485**	254**	1	.632**	.935**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001	<.001		<.001	<.001
	N	200	200	200	200	200
PEU	Pearson Correlation	.882**	.228**	.632**	1	.643**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001	.001	<.001		<.001
	N	200	200	200	200	200
ATT	Pearson Correlation	.492**	258**	.935**	.643**	1
	Sig. (2-tailed)	<.001	<.001	<.001	<.001	
	N	200	200	200	200	200

Correlations

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 4.1 Result of Pearson Correlation

Result model of the correlation among variables



Figure 4.2 Result model of the correlation among variables

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

1 Discussion on Gender Difference

From the result in this study, the hypothesis H1 is supported. It is found that male may probably tend to think that the online teaching software is user-friendly and easy to use. From the study written by Shaouf & Altaqqi (2018), they claimed that there are differences on attitude, and satisfaction toward technology-related and internet-related activities with different gender. In fact, there are research showing that biological and characteristic differences exist between different gender (Kadijevich, 2000; Li & Kirkup, 2007). Why females tend to think that the technologies in online teaching practice is not easy to use?

Females are probably less interested to technology. In school, the number of female students in a technology course is relatively lower than the number of males. It is found that females are less enjoyable to learn the usage of internet or computer than males (Kaino, 2008). It would be the reason of why the H1 is supported. Females would be less interested in the software used in online teaching practice. Even if there are some new functions in Zoom which could make the learning more effective or fun, they might not be interested and feel hard to use. Therefore, students' perceived ease of use of online teaching would be different between gender.

2 Discussion on Field of Study

From the result, we could find that Science and Engineering students are more positive on the ease of use of online teaching software. It could be explained by the nature of their major. For the students who studying in Science and



Engineering, they gain more exposure in innovative and technological things in their daily life. For example, a Computer Science student is required to learn new programming or innovation in order to create a product. Technology is an important part of their academic life. They are probably more interested in technology (Arya College, 2019). And they are more knowledgeable in technology. When they start learning through an online teaching software, they could easily adapt to it. However, for other students such as Social Science students, they use less technology in their academic life. Also, they are more focusing on face-to-face discussion in the lectures. They are not required to be knowledgeable in technology or internet (Katrina, 2007). Therefore, they would tend to think the software is not easy to use. This study is not indicating the students who are not studying Science/Engineering find many difficulties in online teaching practice as the item with lowest mean in PEU which is Creative Media still gets '3'. It means that they think the ease of using online teaching software is neutral.

3 Discussion on Technology Factor

It is found that Technology Factor has strong relationship with PEU and PU. It is also similar to the result of the study written by DeLone & McLean (1992) and Al-Momani (2014). Technology factor group is indicating the quality of the software used in online teaching practice. The quality of the software would affect students' PEU and PU. It is because if the interface is well-designed, the ease of use would be increased. Also, if the software's functions are suitable and helpful for learning, the PU would be increased. Therefore, it is concluded that the Technology Factor do has positive relationship with Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) and Perceived Usefulness (PU).

4 Discussion on Student Factor

In this study, it is found that the Student Factor does not have strong positive relationship with PU and PEU. It is not matched with the findings from Al-Momani in 2014. After investigation on the descriptive data in Student Factor group, the question SF8 which gets a highest standard deviation could be the reason. SF8 is 'I have a fun interacting with educational technology rather than non-education technology'. The result of SF8 shows that not all students think that the educational technology is fun. Although they may think the software is useful for learning, they might feel bored when using the software. Since the software is for learning and academic purposes, it is acceptable to say the software is not fun. Therefore, we could not find a strong relationship between Student Factor and Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) and Perceived Usefulness (PU).

5 Discussion on Relationships between PEU and PU

From the result 4.6.5, It is found that there is a strong positive correlation between PEU and PU. This finding is matched the findings from the study of Venkatesh & Morris & Davis in 2000. After the analysis, we could conclude that students' perceived ease of use of the technology used in online teaching practice has a strong positive relationship with the ease of use of the technology used in online teaching practice. Therefore, the hypotheses H7 is accepted.

6 Discussion on Attitude

It is found that PEU and PU have strong positive relationship with Attitude. It is because student's attitude toward online teaching practice is affected by the PU and PEU. It is suggested that students would probably feel better toward the technology used in the learning activity when they think the technology is useful and easy to use. For example, there is an item in PU group, 'Easy to review my previous lectures in E-learning software.'. Students would have positive attitude toward the online teaching if they could review the lectures easily. They would think the online teaching is favorable to their learning and study. It is supported that PU and PEU have positive relationship with ATT. Therefore, H8 and H9 is accepted.

7 Discussion on BI

It is found that the ATT has positive relationship with BI. Students who have positive attitude toward online teaching would tend to support the development of online teaching.

It is because when students are enjoyable in online teaching and they think online teaching are beneficial to their learning, they would think developing online teaching is a right decision. They would prefer implementing online teaching practice in the future. Since the technology is favorable to their study, they would think the online teaching is worth to implement. Therefore, H10 is supported.

Summary

This study examines Hong Kong Students' Perception of Online Teaching Practice in Higher Education. The perceptions of students measured through this study has been presented. The perception is measured by a combined model using modified TAM (Technology Acceptance Model) and Information System Success Model.

In this report, it is found that the perception could be affected by different factor group. Also, some of the factor


groups affect each other. In this report, personal background including genders, field of study, have been investigated and analyzed. Also, the relationship among the factors in TAM have been compared. The result is shown this report.

The survey shows some of the factors have significant different. Also, the result of the survey has supported/rejected the hypotheses in this study. It shows that there are relationships among some of the factors. You may refer to below:

Gender:	
H1: Male students rate higher in PEU of online teaching practice	Accepted
Field of Study:	
H2: Science/Engineering Students rate higher in PEU of online	Accepted
teaching practice	
Technology Factor:	
H3: Technology Factors (TF) have a positive effect on the	Accepted
Perceived Usefulness (PU) of online teaching practice	
H4: Technology Factors (TF) have a positive effect on the	Accepted
Perceived Ease of Use (PEU) of online teaching practice	
Student Factor:	
H5: Student Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived	<u>Rejected</u>
Usefulness (PU) of online teaching practice	
H6: Student Factors (SF) have a positive effect on the Perceived	<u>Rejected</u>
Ease of Use (PEU) of online teaching practice	
PU and PEU:	
H7: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Ease of	<u>Accepted</u>
Use (PEU) and Perceived Usefulness (PU) in online teaching	
practice	
ATT:	
H8: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Usefulness	<u>Accepted</u>
(PU) and Attitude (ATT) toward online teaching practice	
H9: There is a positive relationship between Perceived Ease of	Accepted
Use (PEU) and Attitude (ATT) toward online teaching practice	
BI:	
H10: There is a positive relationship between ATT and BI	Accepted

Table 5.1 Results of the Hypotheses

Implication for Practice

This project has investigated the relationship between technology factor, student factor, perceived ease of use, usefulness, and other personal background factors. These factors could help to understand the perception of student toward online teaching practice. Therefore, students' intension and perception could be found though the factors mentioned in this study.

After the analysis in this study, we could understand that technology factor which represents the quality of the technology used in online teaching practice such as Zoom could be an essential factor to affect students' perception. Student's perception should always be the main concern in teaching arrangement as the student's requirement will affect the quality of teaching. Also, we could see that the technology factor and perceived usefulness is inseparable as the quality of technology could affect the usefulness of the software. It also affects the perception of students toward online teaching practice.

The factors and their relationship could be a reference for the academic unit of universities or course leader, to improve the online teaching practice. Or to decide whether the online teaching should be implement/developed in the future or not. The students' perception is important in the decision.

Limitation of Study

Firstly, the sample size is not large enough to provide a better result. Due to the distance learning, the questionnaire could not be distributed to more student. Also, most of the students are from City University of Hong Kong. Students from other universities could not be reached easily due to online teaching arrangement. If the sample size is larger, the result of this study would be more convincing to represent general students in Hong Kong.



Secondly, the major of respondents is uneven. Since the questionnaires are distributed mainly to my classmates, which are studying in Engineering/Science, the number of Engineering/Science students are much more than others. If I have more time, I will try to reach the students from other colleges to get more data.

REFERENCES

1. Calvin Cheng, Cheung, R., & amp; Calvin Wan. (2010). Notice of RETRACTION: E-learning in higher education — a case study in Hong Kong. 2010 IEEE International Conference on Advanced Management Science (ICAMS 2010). doi:10.1109/icams.2010.5552834

2. XIONG, W., JIANG, J., & MOK, K. H. (2020). Hong Kong University students' online learning experiences under the Covid-19 pandemic. Higher Education Policy Institute - Blog.

https://www.hepi.ac.uk/2020/08/03/hong-kong-university-students-online-learning-experiences-under-the-covid-19-pandemic/

3. Al-Momani, 2014. Investigating the Students' Attitude Toward the use of E-Learning in Girne American University

4. Yang, Yi & Durrington, Vance. (2010). Investigation of Students' Perceptions of Online Course Quality. International Journal on E-Learning. 9. 341-361.

5. O'Malley, J., & McCraw, H. (1999). Students' perceptions of distance learning, online learning, and the traditional classroom. Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration, 2(4). Retrieved on October 11, 2020, from http://www.westga.edu/~distance/omalley24.html

6. Peters, L. (2001). Through the Looking Glass: Student Perceptions of Online Learning. The Technology Source, September/October 2001. Retrieved from http://ts.mivu.org/default.asp?show=article&id=907

7. Schönwetter, D., & Francis, H. (2003). Student Perceptions of Learning Success with Technology. McGraw Hill Ryerson. Retrieved from http://www.mcgrawhill.ca/highereducation/images/allstudents.pdf

8. Rafaeli, S. and F. Sudweeks. 'Networked Interactivity', Universal Journal of Educational Research

8(12A): 7607-7615, 2020 7615 Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication 2(4), 1997.

9. Khan,B.H. "A Framework for Web-Based Learning". In B.H. Khan (Ed), Web-based Traning. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Educational Technology Publications (2001)

10. Govindasamy, T. "Successful im-plementation of e-Learning; Pedagogical considerations". The Internet and Higher Education, 4(3-4), 287-299, 2002.

11. Saade F. & Bahli B. (2005). The impact of cognitive absorption on perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use in on-line learning: an extension of the technology acceptance model. Information & Management 42. pp. 317–327.

12. DeLone, W.H., and McLean, E.R., 2003, "The DeLone and McLean Model of Information Systems Success: A Ten-year Update", Journal of Management Information Systems, vol 19, pp. 9-30.

13. Nordin, NurHaiza & Nordin, NurNaddia. (2020). Impact of Pandemic COVID-19 to the Online Learning: Case of Higher Education Institution in Malaysia. Universal Journal of Educational Research. 8. 7607-7615. 10.13189/ujer.2020.082546.

14. Some Hong Kong universities to retain online learning next semester. (2020, August 03). Retrieved April 02, 2021, from https://www.scmp.com/news/hong-kong/education/article/3090480/coronavirus-some-hong-kong-universities-still-have-online

15. Harasim, L. "Shift Happens Online Education as a New Paradigm in Learning", Internet and Higher Education, Vol (3), pp 41-61, 2000

16. Mangal S. K., Mangal U. (2009). Computer-assisted and Computer-managed Instructions. Essentials of Educational Technology. PHI Learning Private Limited. New Delhi. 530-542.

17. Personal computer and Internet penetration. (March 2020). Social Surveys Section. Thematic Household Survey Report No. 69. Census and Statistics Department.

18. "Over 220 Universities and Research Labs Gain Easy and Secure Wi-Fi Access to the Internet". 2 October 2012. Retrieved 1 April 2020.

19. Sanjay Mukhopadhyay, Adam L. Booth, Sarah M. Calkins, Erika E. Doxtader, Samson W. Fine, Jerad M. Gardner, Raul S. Gonzalez, Kamran M. Mirza, Xiaoyin (Sara) Jiang; Leveraging Technology for Remote Learning in the Era of COVID-19 and Social Distancing: Tips and Resources for Pathology Educators and Trainees. Arch Pathol Lab Med 1 September 2020; 144 (9): 1027–1036. doi: https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2020-0201-ED

20. Simonson, M. and Berg, . Gary A. (2016, November 7). Distance learning. Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/distance-learning

21. Berg, G. A. and Simonson, . Michael (2016, November 7). Distance learning. Encyclopedia Britannica. https://www.britannica.com/topic/distance-learning

22. Kelly SM. Zoom's massive 'overnight success' actually took nine years. CNN. 2020.

https://www.cnn.com/2020/03/27/tech/zoom-appcoronavirus/index.html Accessed Mar 23, 2021.Google Scholar

23. Zoom Video Communications, Inc. Zoom video tutorials. https://support.zoom.us/hc/en-



us/articles/206618765-Zoom-Video-Tutorials. Accessed April 3, 2021.

24. Some Hong Kong universities to retain online learning next semester. (2020, August 03). Retrieved Feb 02, 2021, from https://www.scmp.com/news/hong-kong/education/article/3090480/coronavirus-some-hong-kong-universities-still-have-online

25. Schedule and Join Zoom meetings in Moodle. (n.d.). Retrieved April 01, 2021, from

https://www.its.hku.hk/services/communication/conferencing/zoom/join-zoom-meeting-in-moodle#students 26. CUHK edtech. (n.d.). Retrieved Feb 06, 2021, from https://help.edtech.cuhk.edu.hk/docs/blackboards-zoom-integration

27. CityU Support. (n.d.). Zoom faq. Retrieved Feb 06, 2021, from

https://www.cityu.edu.hk/csc/deptweb/support/faq/Zoom_faq.html

28. Zoom teaching good practices and FAQs. (n.d.). Retrieved Feb 06, 2021, from

http://cei.hkust.edu.hk/zoom-teaching-good-practices-and-faqs

29. Student guide for zoom meeting - hong kong polytechnic ... (n.d.). Retrieved February 6, 2021, from https://www.polyu.edu.hk/TEAL/images/content/User_Guides/student/Student_Guide_for_Zoom_meeting_ver3 2.pdf

30. User guides. Retrieved Feb 06, 2021, from https://www.polyu.edu.hk/its/emc/teams/user-guides/

31. Microsoft. (n.d.). Microsoft teams: Online & amp; Remote CLASSROOM: Microsoft education. Retrieved Feb 06, 2021, from https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/education/products/teams

32. Ibrahim, Roslina & Leng, N & Yusoff, R & Samy, G & Masrom, Suraya & Rizman, Z. (2017). E-LEARNING ACCEPTANCE BASED ON TECHNOLOGY ACCEPTANCE MODEL. Journal of Fundamental and Applied Sciences. 9. 871-889. 10.4314/jfas.v9i4s.50.

33. Babbie, Earl R. (2010). The practice of social research (12th ed.). Belmont, Calif: Wadsworth Cengage. ISBN 978-0-495-59841-1. OCLC 317075477

34. Patton, M. Q. (2001). Qualitative research and evaluation and methods (3rd ed.). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.

35. W. C. Leung and Q. Li, Distance Learning in Hong Kong, Journal of Distance Education Technologies, vol. 4, issue 3, Jul.-Sep. 2006, pp. 1-5.

36. Ng, D.T.K., Reynolds, R., Chan, H.M.Y., Li X.H., & Chu, S.K.W. (in press). Business (Teaching) as Usual amid the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Case Study of Online Teaching Practice in Hong Kong. Journal of Information Technology Education: Research.

37. Lewis, A. (1994), Oppenheim, A. (1992). Questionnaire Design, Interviewing and Attitude Measurement, London, Pinter. Pp 303. £14.99 paperback, £39.50 hardback. ISBN 185567 0445 (pb), 185567 0437 (hb). J. Community. Appl. Soc. Psychol., 4: 371-372. https://doi.org/10.1002/casp.2450040506

38. J. M., & Presser, S. (1986). Quantitative applications in the social sciences, No. 07-001.Survey questions: Handcrafting the standardized questionnaire. Sage Publications, Inc.

39. Sivo, Stephen A.; Saunders, Carol; Chang, Qing; and Jiang, James J. (2006) "How Low Should You Go? Low Response Rates and the Validity of Inference in IS Questionnaire Research," Journal of the Association for Information Systems: Vol. 7 : Iss. 6 Article 17. DOI: 10.17705/1jais.00093

40. Lietz P. Research into Questionnaire Design: A Summary of the Literature. International Journal of Market Research. 2010;52(2):249-272. doi:10.2501/S147078530920120X

41. Fraenkel, J. K., & Wallen, N. E. (Eds.). (2003). How to design and evaluate research in education. The McGraw-Hill Company, Inc. New York.

42. Venkatesh, V., Speier, C. and Morris, M.G. (2002), "User acceptance enablers in individual decision making about technology: toward an integrated model", Decision Sciences. 33(9). pp. 297-316.

43. Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. MIS Quarterly 27(3), 425-478

44. Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly, 13, 319-340.

45. Cheung, Ronnie & Vogel, Doug. (2013). Predicting user acceptance of collaborative technologies: An extension of the technology acceptance model for e-learning. Computers & Education. 63. 160–175. 0.1016/j.compedu.2012.12.003

46. Hong Kong Education Bureau (2020, April 2). Suspending Classes without Suspending Learning – e-Learning

47. Hong Kong Association for Computer Education (2020). Survey for Suspending Classes without Suspending Learning.

48. Edwards, P., Jackson, P., Chalmers, M., Bowker, G., Borgman, C., Ribes, D., Burton, M., & Calvert, S. (2013), Knowledge Infrastructures: Intellectual Frameworks and Research Challenges. Report from NSF/Sloan Foundation Workshop, Ann Arbor, MI (May 2012

49. Van Teijlingen, E., & Hundley, V. (2002). The importance of pilot studies. Nursing Standard (through 2013), 16(40), 33.



50. Anderson, J. C., & Gerbing, D. W. (1988). Structural equation modeling in practice: A review and recommended two-step approach. Psychological Bulletin, 103(3), 411–423. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.103.3.411

51. Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. Journal of Marketing Research, 18(1), 39–50. https://doi.org/10.2307/3151312

52. Graham Hole. (2009). Using SPSS to perform t-tests. Research skills, pp.1-10

53. Levine D., Ramsey P. & Smidt R.(2001). Applied Statistics for Engineers and Scientists Using Microsoft Excel and MINITAB. New Jersey: Prentice-Hall.

54. Nunnally, J.C. (1978) Psychometric theory. 2nd Edition, McGraw-Hill, New York.

55. DeLone, W.H., and McLean, E.R. 1992. "Information Systems Success: The Quest for the Dependent Variable," Information Systems Research (3:1), pp 60-95.

56. DeLone, W.H., and McLean, E.R. 2002. "Information Systems Success Revisited," in: Proceedings of the 35th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences (HICSS 02). Big Island, Hawaii: pp. 238-249.

57. DeLone, W.H., and McLean, E.R. 2003. "The DeLone and McLean Model of Information Systems Success: A Ten-Year Update," Journal of Management Information Systems (19:4), Spring, pp 9-30.

58. Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Publishers.

59. Shaouf, A. and Altaqqi, O. (2018), "The Impact of Gender Differences on Adoption of Information Technology and Related Responses: A Review ", International Journal of Management and Applied Research, Vol. 5, No. 1, pp. 22-41.

60. Kadijevich, D. (2000). Gender Differences in Computer Attitude among Ninth-Grade Students. Journal of Educational Computing Research, 22(2), pp.145-154.

61. Li, N., & Kirkup, G. (2007). Gender and Cultural Differences in Internet Use: A study of China and the UK. Computers & Education, 48(2), pp.301

62. Kaino, Luckson. (2008). Technology in Learning: Narrowing the Gender Gap?. Eurasia Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education. 4. 10.12973/ejmste/75348.

63. Meyer, Katrina. (2007). Student perceptions of face-to-face and online discussions: The advantage goes to. Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks. 11. 10.24059/olj.v11i4.10.

64. Arya College (2019). Technology Benefits for Engineering Students In the Education



What He Would Say If ...

Silvio Morganti

UVI - "Unione Volontari per l'Infanzia e l'Adolescenza", Milan, Italy

Verena Zudini

Department of Mathematics and Geosciences, University of Trieste, Italy vzudini@units.it

ABSTRACT

What Vygotsky (also spelled Vygotskij) would say if he saw the world today ... Our paper was conceived as a possible/impossible interview with Lev S. Vygotsky (1896-1934), the founder and most significant representative of the cultural-historical school, an evergreen figure in the field of education for his studies on the dynamics involved in learning processes (collaboration and the sharing of knowledge between teacher and learner, the mediating role of the former for the latter's successful task completion, the use of tools), as well as on human cognitive abilities (mental processes in their development and the dialectical relationship between normality and pathology). A 360-degree panorama of questions and answers, giving Vygotsky the floor on today's world, from the topicality of the COVID-19 pandemic to the use of digital technologies, school, education and play, with forays into the psychology of art. The interview was carried out on the basis of knowledge drawn from primary and secondary sources, referring to Vygotsky's biography and his writings, and partly by imagining the form and content of his hypothetical reflections concerning certain aspects of our time, so distant from the 1930s in which he lived.

Keywords: Vygotsky/Vygotskij, education, mathematics education, digital technologies, distance/remote teaching and learning, COVID-19



Figure 1. L. S. Vygotskij (Source: https://it.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lev_Semënovič_Vygotskij)

Let us begin our chat with a question that is unavoidable given the current situation: as founder of the culturalhistorical school, what is your opinion on the COVID-19 pandemic? We are probably not mistaken in considering historical materialism and dialectical materialism as theoretical pillars of your reasoning.

Indeed, I am well aware of Friedrich Engels's argument that the human being also arises through differentiation. Not only individually, through differentiation from a single egg-cell to the most complicated organism that nature produces, but also historically. When, after thousands of years of effort, the differentiation of the hand from the foot and the upright position were finally acquired, then the human became distinctly different from the ape.

I could therefore hypothesise that COVID-19 also arose through differentiation and, with its numerous variants, again through differentiation, attempts to lay the foundations and premises for its survival, with all due respect for the vaccines invented by humans.

There is no doubt that viruses (including COVID-19) are also part of nature, but in nature, as Engels maintains, there is nothing that is eternal except matter, which is eternally in transformation, eternally in motion.



I think I can offer you some words of comfort: viruses, like human beings, are not eternal. So what? Let us differentiate our behaviour in such a way as to leave no room for the "differentiated" aggression of any kind of viral threat. Perhaps operational protocols grounded in a culture of respect could become behavioural and cultural-historical variables of a certain effectiveness in terms of an adequate quality of life, both for humans and for every other living being. Even viruses have the right to the freedom to be what they are, provided that this same freedom does not act against the freedom of other living beings, men and women in particular. An interactive game that should be played according to shared rules. But would COVID-19 respect them? And would we, more committed as we are than any other animal to harming nature and the environment in which we all live?

Thank you. In addition to this, we would be interested to know your opinion on digital technologies, what you think of computers, and everything that goes with them (software, programs and apps, platforms, social media, etc.), all of which have become irreplaceable in today's life, even more so as a result of the pandemic, also in terms of their use for teaching purposes, if we think of distance learning, which has become fundamental in these difficult times. In this respect, the concepts of "stimulus-means" and "zone of proximal development" seem to be of particular interest.

First of all, let us see what we mean by "stimulus-means". To illustrate the concept, I like to recall the case of Buridan's ass: the hungry animal is faced with two stacks of hay, one on the right and the other on the left, and, unable to choose which to go to, dies of starvation. The two equivalent stimuli (the two stacks) produce two equal but opposite reactions and the animal's behaviour is inhibited.

A human being, on the other hand, could toss a coin and choose between the two stimuli according to the result of the toss. A human thus creates, on his/her own initiative, a stimulus that he/she uses (so it is a means, a tool) to establish a new stimulus-response relationship and so allow his/her behaviour to unfold in a different direction. Hence, we see the dual function of stimuli-means/tools: on the one hand, externally oriented, they enable action and thus the solution of a practical problem; on the other hand, internally oriented, they control and direct this action.

In fact, the creation and use of tools is a peculiarity of the human species, and the presence of created stimuli alongside those given is the distinctive feature of human psychology, through which the dialectical (qualitative) leap is made, compared to animals, in the ways of interacting with the environment, in the relationship between stimulus and reaction, a leap which is represented at a neurophysiological level by a functional modification of the brain, specifically by the formation of new brain connections. An illustrative example in this sense is the knot on the handkerchief that serves to remind you that something must be done (a certain task, a certain action). When you see the knot in the handkerchief, it works as an external stimulus that acts on a trace deposited in the memory, in your brain, a trace connected to a trace relative to another stimulus (the delivery of the task to be performed).

Can you clarify the concept of "tool"?

Tools can be external (I am thinking of technical, i.e., material tools, used to solve practical problems, such as a shovel to cultivate a field or a branch to draw a sign in the sand to mark out a path) or internal, which may have been external previously, but have then been internalised (psychological, i.e., symbolic tools, that is, mental constructs, also called signs). Internalised tools are, in particular, those that are distinctive and characteristic of the human mind, products of human culture and an integral part of the social activity in which they operate. I am thinking of the "classic" example (valid in my time as well as in your current era) of the compass, a tool created at a certain moment in human history and used in geometry to draw circumferences. The operations of the compass can be carried out by holding it physically with one hand, but they can also be "visualised" internally.

Here then is the point: the human being possesses a specific and original potentiality that puts him/her in a position (only if he/she so wishes and desires) to modify reality to his/her own advantage when this same reality presents itself in such terms as to constitute an operational constraint. The computer, a "new" tool which characterises the daytime flow of your present life, can assume the characteristics of an effective stimulus-means on condition that its use is inserted in a strategic plan that has an applicative and existential sense whose ultimate aim is to improve the quality of life of its user. Incidentally, I have seen that you use the computer to do geometry, applying what is called "dynamic geometry software" (DGS) - also to draw circumferences, which we were talking about earlier.

Might there not be a risk that ancient and modern tools lead to a kind of personal "shirking of responsibility"?

Any tool (whether "ancient", such as the compass, or "modern", such as those offered by computer environments, like dynamic geometry software) can lead to the avoidance of responsibility, if it is used in an uncritical manner, thus inhibiting critical-constructive thinking and blocking any necessary creative pathway, which is normally indispensable for reaching a solution to the problem.

I am thinking of the school sector. It should be noted, in fact, that the presence of a tool does not in itself lead to an improvement in teaching performance. Changes in education are, in fact, the result of a more general change, so it is Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



necessary to completely rethink teaching practice so as to integrate the tool effectively. I would like to emphasise, in this context, the importance of the process of "internalising" the tools (which become psychological tools or signs, such as language, calculation systems, mnemonic techniques, algebraic symbol systems, writing, charts, diagrams, etc.) and the role that the teacher plays in this process as a "cultural mediator", to the extent that the teacher not only demonstrates the concrete act of using a tool to carry out a task but, through his/her guidance, enables the generation (and evolution) of new meanings related to the actual use of the tool itself (a process that has been defined as "semiotic mediation").

The use of a given tool - in relation to the notion of which one can then think of the proposed distinction between, on the one hand, the object itself, called an "artifact" (in general, a material object such as a compass, but also a software program), and, on the other hand, the different modes of use that a user can (and must) put in place to obtain a given effect through the object itself, so that, from this point of view, "tool" indicates the projection of the subject onto the artifact, that is, the unity of the artifact and the patterns of use elaborated by a given subject in relation to the artifact itself and to situations - certainly makes it possible to construct meanings linked to it and to the signs deriving from it (for example, the names of the commands in the case of the "modern" computer tool). The transition to disciplinary meanings (e.g., mathematical meanings - i.e., the educational objective) requires, however, a specific intervention on the part of the teacher, who uses the tool as a mediator of meanings according to his/her own educational aims.

Your reply came naturally to the world of schools and teaching.

I believe that the school performs a fundamental role in the psychic development of children (and adolescents) precisely because it represents the main place of cultural mediation in which the child (and adolescent) finds himself/herself in his/her own life, the main social context where, in general, the learner must be shown and taught the use of the tools necessary to make him/her autonomous in his/her own education (in my day, the book or the compass; in your current era, also the computer, the tablet, in general any digital technology, as a "new" tool that mediates thought and learning). After 1933, and especially in the context of the new collaborations begun at the Herzen Pedagogical Institute in Leningrad, I systematically addressed the problem of the relationship between education and psychic development.

First of all, I do not see the relationship between teacher and learner as a mechanical process of unidirectional transmission of information from the former to the latter, but rather as a circular process of teaching by the teacher and learning by the learner. I think that education should not be understood as a unidirectional teacher-learner relationship, in which the latter merely learns passively what is transmitted to him/her, but as a dynamic and fluid process, neither rigid nor predetermined, in which teacher and learner actively interact in the construction of knowledge. It is a process in which the teacher is responsible for mediating and assisting the student's learning, supporting him/her through social interaction at the moment of cooperative construction of awareness, knowledge and competence; the mediation activity implemented by the teacher must be flexible, in response to the feedback he/she receives from the student in the moment of learning, and the amount of support he/she provides must be modulated appropriately, and may, depending on the conditions, also vary significantly (from explicit instructions to vague hints).

If we understand you correctly, the notion of "proximal development" seems to be of particular relevance here ... Certainly. I would like to emphasise once again the interpersonal and social character of education. In the framework of my conception, the notion of "zone of proximal development" is therefore particularly relevant, that is to say, that area of mental activity that the child (or adolescent) can produce with the help of adults (in this context, especially teachers) or more able companions and which is added to the mental activity that he/she could produce alone. Let me be more precise: in general, the zone of proximal development is the area between the child's spontaneous performance and the performance enhanced by the introduction of stimuli-means. Hence my criticism of the use of cognitive development assessment tools, in particular intelligence tests (and the same assessment questionnaires that you use a lot at the present time in your schools) limited to spontaneous performance, without an analysis of the potential (proximal development) that could be expressed with the help of an adult figure or a more able companion.

Here one could, in fact, open up a whole discussion on the actual applicability of my principles to what have been defined as "classroom realities" (that is, authentic classroom contexts), on the illustration of operational models, on examples of lesson structuring and dynamic assessment procedures (which should take place while students are engaged in the learning activity), as well as on strategies aimed at the inclusion of students at risk or from different socio-cultural-economic backgrounds and on the use of technological tools to foster not only the cognitive but also the social processes involved. These are all points that you who have come after me have explored in depth, but on which, in the specific context of this interview, I would not like to comment.

And what is your opinion on distance learning, which we have already mentioned in passing?

I could put the question in these terms: does distance learning - a didactic-pedagogic procedure that has characterised the era of the COVID-19 pandemic - adequately respond to the needs of the school population (students and teachers)? What I would like to say, in the context of our chat, is that distance learning is perhaps a particular stimulus-means as well, and here too everything depends on the use made of it by teachers, parents and adult reference figures. As a new Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



technology it can be regarded either as a positive and critical-constructive variable or, on the contrary, as a tool that interferes with the articulation of a correct two-way and multi-way communication process.

Considering that I am aware of the discussion you have had on the use of distance learning, on the criticalities it has shown in practice at a social and learning level, starting from the lack of physicality that distinguishes it, I would like to reiterate that it would be a good idea for the people involved (students, teachers, parents) to be fully conscious of the fact that they are the directors of the development of a (multi-way) relational process, the purpose of which can be summed up once again in the motto "let us act to improve the quality of life" of each actor who is called upon to play his/her role on the existential stage: student, teacher, parent.

Indeed, education can be conceived as an art form that uses specific and original tools. One of these tools (and perhaps the main one) is play, an activity that especially children are engaged in on a daily basis. What is your take on this?

The fact that a child plays should always be interpreted as the imaginative and illusory realisation of unrealisable desires. Imagination is a new phenomenon that is not present in the consciousness of very young children; it is completely absent in animals and is a form of specifically human conscious activity. Like every function of consciousness, it originates in action. The old saying that children's play is imagination becoming action can be reversed: we can say that the imagination of children and adolescents who go to school is play without action.

Play without action, OK. But let us explore the concept of "play" as an educational tool available to parents and teachers. Education also means promoting respect for certain rules, which are essential for learning to become socially competent people. This respect is itself an element of active teaching, aimed at forming citizens who will be free and aware, even if they have learned to respect the basic rules of civil coexistence. But are there games without rules?

A game involving an imaginary situation is, in fact, based on rules. It seems to me that we could go further and posit the non-existence of a game without rules and without a particular attitude of the child towards these same rules. Let us explore this idea further. Take any form of game that involves an imaginary situation. The imaginary situation already entails rules of behaviour, even if we are not dealing with a game with rules which have already been formulated in advance. A girl imagines herself as a mother and the doll as her daughter. She must then follow the rules of maternal behaviour. In the game, then, the child is free. But it is an illusory freedom.

Earlier we were talking about education as a form of art. Given that you have dealt extensively with art, a question we would like to ask you in this connection concerns the reason why one work of art or another arouses our personal interest, our particular form of emotion. In a nutshell: either we like it or we don't. Why?

We will never be able to say exactly why we like this or that work of art; it is almost impossible, in a few words, to express, even in part, what the essential and most important aspects of this experience are: and, as Plato already noted in the dialogue *Ion*, it is precisely poets who know least of all how they manage to create.

It does not require particular psychological penetration to realise that the deepest causes of the artistic phenomenon are hidden in the unconscious.

In short, it is not what is beautiful that is beautiful, but what is liked is beautiful - we might say.

We would have had many more questions to ask our interlocutor, but ... dum loquimur, fugerit invida aetas ...

TO LEARN MORE

Angelini, A. (Ed.) (2002). Pionieri dell'inconscio in Russia. Napoli: Liguori.

- Bartolini Bussi, M. G., & Mariotti, M. A. (2008). Semiotic mediation in the mathematics classroom: Artifacts and signs after a Vygotskian perspective. In L. D. English (Ed.), Handbook of international research in mathematics education (II ed., pp. 746-783). New York: Routledge.
- Caprin, C., & Zudini, V. (2015). Lev Vygotskij, figura e opera da (ri)scoprire. Un contributo alle teorie dell'educazione. QuaderniCIRD, 11, 32-55.

Dixon-Krauss, L. (Ed.) (1998). Vygotskij nella classe. Potenziale di sviluppo e mediazione didattica. Trento: Erickson.

Engels, F. (1954). Dialectics of nature. Moscow: PROGRESS Publishers. https://archive.org/details/dialecticsofnature/.

Keiler, P. (2015). Lev Vygotskij - ein Leben für die Psychologie. Überarbeitete, aktualisierte, neu formatierte und mit einem Vorwort versehene Version der Originalausgabe von 2002. Weinheim: Beltz.

- Kozulin, A., Gindis, B., Ageyev V. S., & Miller, S. M. (Eds.) (2003). Vygotsky's educational theory in cultural context. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mariotti, M. A., & Maffia, A. (2018). From using artefacts to mathematical meanings: The teacher's role in the semiotic mediation process. DdM, 4, 50-64.

Copyright © The Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology



Mecacci, L. (2017). Lev Vygotskij. Sviluppo, educazione e patologia della mente. Firenze: Giunti.

Mecacci, L. (2019). Storia della psicologia. Dal Novecento a oggi. Roma-Bari: Laterza.

- Morganti, S., & Zudini, V. (2021). DAD: Some historical-epistemological considerations on its judicious use. TOJET, 20(3), 66-71.
- Platone (1966-1967). Opere. Bari: Laterza (Preface by G. Giannantoni; Translations by M. Valgimigli, L. Minio-
- Paluello, A. Zadro, P. Pucci, F. Adorno, F. Sartori, C. Giarratano, A. Maddalena, G. Sillitti).
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1971). The psychology of art. Cambridge, MA, and London: M.I.T. Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Vygotsky, L. S. (1987-1999). The collected works of L. S. Vygotsky. New York: Kluwer and Plenum.